e-ISSN 1897-4279

April 2022, vol. 80, number 4

ISSN 0022-9032



3.108

KARDIOLOGIA POLSKA

The Official Peer-reviewed Journal of the Polish Cardiac Society since 1957



Clinical use of intracoronary imaging modalities in Poland. Optimization criteria after implantation of stents into non-left main stem lesions, see p. 512

REVIEWS

Vitamin D and coronary artery disease

Common challenges in unprotected left main percutaneous coronary intervention

ORIGINAL ARTICLES

Whole blood viscosity association with thrombus burden

Outcome comparison of different approaches to aortic root aneurysm

Influence of a proctoring process on the effectiveness of chronic total occlusion percutaneous coronary interventions

Left bundle branch area pacing in very elderly patients

BALKAN-AF survey: Adherence to the 4S-AF Scheme

Management and outcomes of patients with myocardial infarction



https://journals.viamedica.pl/kardiologia_polska

Kieszonkowe wytyczne ESC

Aplikacja mobilna Kieszonkowe wytyczne ESC

- Wszystkie wytyczne od 2014 roku dostępne w jednym miejscu
- Bieżąca aktualizacja o nowo ukazujące się wytyczne ESC
- Możliwość korzystania przy łóżku pacjenta
- Łatwa nawigacja
- Możliwość tworzenia zakładek z wybranymi przez użytkownika zagadnieniami
- Możliwość skalowania tekstu

Aplikacja dostępna bezpłatnie dla wszystkich użytkowników:







Kieszonkowe

wytyczne

Komisja do spraw wytycznych postępa

> ESC European Society of Cardiology

www.ptkardio.pl

ESC



KARDIOLOGIA Polska

Polish Heart Journal

EDITORIAL BOARD

Editor-in-Chief Anetta Undas

Associate Editors

Grzegorz Gajos Maciej Lesiak Mateusz Siedliński Maciej Sterliński Katarzyna Stolarz-Skrzypek

Zeszyty Edukacyjne Associate Editor Piotr Rozentryt

Past Editors-in-Chief

Jerzy Jakubowski Ryszard Fenigsen Włodzimierz Januszewicz Mariusz Stopczyk Marek Sznajderman Leszek Ceremużyński Piotr Kułakowski Krzysztof J Filipiak

Statistical Consultant Maciej Polak

Managing Editor Anna Młynarczyk phone: +48 667 009 166

Social Media Editor Paweł Rostoff

Address

Kardiologia Polska ul. Prądnicka 80, bud M–IX, p. 41 31–202 Kraków phone: +48 126 143 004 e-mail: kardiologiapolska@ptkardio.pl www.kardiologiapolska.pl

Polskie Towarzystwo Kardiologiczne ul. Stawki 3 A lok. 1–2 00–193 Warszawa

Publisher



VM Media sp. z o.o. VM Group sp.k., Grupa Via Medica ul. Świętokrzyska 73 80–180 Gdańsk phone: +48 58 320 94 94 e-mail: journals@viamedica.pl https://journals.viamedica.pl

ISSN 0022-9032 e-ISSN 1897-4279

Copyright©2022 Polskie Towarzystwo Kardiologiczne



The official peer-reviewed journal of the Polish Cardiac Society since 1957

Indexed in Chemical Abstract Service (CAS), CrossRef, EBSCO, EMBASE, Free Medical Journals, Google Scholar, Index Copernicus (IC), Index Scholar, MEDLINE, Polish Medical Library (GBL), Scopus, Polish Ministry of Science and Higher Education, Ulrich's Periodicals Directory, Web of Science

INTERNATIONAL SCIENTIFIC BOARD

Sevket Balta Ankara, Turkey Eugene Braunwald Boston, MA, United States Michel Bertrand Lille, France Günter Breithardt Münster, Germany John Camm London, United Kingdom Gheorghe-Andrei Dan Bucharest, Romania William McKenna London, United Kingdom Lionel H Opie Cape Town, South Africa Eric Prystowsky Indianapolis, IN, United States Patric Serruys London, United Kingdom John Taylor London, United Kingdom Frans Van de Werf Leuven, Belgium Salim Yusuf Hamilton, ON, Canada

NATIONAL SCIENTIFIC BOARD

Andrzej Beręsewicz Andrzej Bochenek Grażyna Brzezińska-Rajszys Andrzej Budaj Stefan Chłopicki Andrzej Cieśliński Barbara Cybulska Jarosław Drożdż lacek Dubiel Dariusz Dudek Robert J Gil Piotr Hoffman Zbigniew Kalarus Jarosław D Kasprzak Maria Krzemińska-Pakuła Bohdan Lewartowski Andrzej Lubiński Bohdan Maruszewski Przemysław Mitkowski

Krzysztof Narkiewicz Grzegorz Opolski Tomasz Pasierski **Ryszard Piotrowicz** Édyta Płońska-Gościniak Piotr Podolec Lech Poloński Piotr Ponikowski Witold Rużyłło Andrzej Rynkiewicz Tomasz Siminiak Janina Stępińska Michał Tendera Adam Torbicki Maria Trusz-Gluza Adam Witkowski Jerzy K Wranicz Henryk Wysocki Tomasz Zdrojewski

Opinions presented in the articles not necessarily represent the opinions of the Editors.

Subscription rates: Paper subscription, 12 issues incl. package and postage individual 150€ Paper subscription, 12 issues incl. package and postage institutional 250€ Payment should be made to: Fortis Bank Polska SA, Gdańsk, Poland, Acc.: PL 15 1600 1303 0004 1007 1035 9001; SWIFT: PPABPLPK.

Single issues, subscriptions orders and requests for sample copies should be send to e-mail: prenumerata@viamedica.pl Electronic orders option available at: https://journals.viamedica.pl/ kardiologia_polska/user/subscriptions

Advertising: For details on media opportunities within this journal please contact the advertising sales department, ul. Świętokrzyska 73, 80–180 Gdańsk, Poland, phone: +48 58 320 94 94; e-mail: dsk@viamedica.pl.

The Editors accept no responsibility for the advertisement contents.

All rights reserved, including translation into foreign languages. No part of this periodical, either text or illustration, may be used in any form whatsoever. It is particularly forbidden for any part of this material to be copied or translated into a mechanical or electronic language and also to be recorded in whatever form, stored in any kind of retrieval system or transmitted, whether in an electronic or mechanical form or with the aid of photocopying, microfilm, recording, scanning or in any other form, without the prior written permission of the publisher. The rights of the publisher are protected by national copyright laws and by international conventions, and their violation will be punishable by penal sanctions.

Editorial policy and information for authors available on https://journals.viamedica.pl/kardiologia_polska/about/submissions#authorGuidelines.

Polish Ministry of Education and Science score: 100 pts.



18. Zjazd Polskiego Towarzystwa Nadciśnienia Tętniczego

Nadciśnienie tętnicze, otyłość, styl życia i zaburzenia nastroju – problemy pacjentów w dobie pandemii i powrót do skutecznej terapii

Gdańsk, 20-22 października 2022 roku



Konferencja jest skierowana tylko do osób uprawnionych do wystawiania recept lub osób prowadzących obrót produktami leczniczymi – podstawa prawna: Ustawa z dnia 6 września 2001 r. Prawo farmaceutyczne (t. j. Dz.U. z 2019 r. poz. 499).







Table of contents

EDITORIAL	
Hyperviscosity and high thrombus burden: Is it time to re-evaluate an old but still gold pathophysiological concept? Emanuele Cecchi, Beatrice Bacchi, Lucia Mannini	405
All that glitters is not gold J Scott Rankin	407
REVIEW	
Low levels of vitamin D and coronary artery disease: Is it time for therapy? Monica Verdoia, Rocco Gioscia, Matteo Nardin, Andrea Rognoni, Giuseppe De Luca	409
Percutaneous coronary intervention to treat unprotected left main: The common (un-answered) challenges Mila Kovacevic, Francesco Burzotta, Ilija Srdanovic, Milovan Petrovic, Carlo Trani	417
ORIGINAL ARTICLE	
The association between whole blood viscosity and high thrombus burden in patients with non-ST elevation myocardial infarction Tufan Çınar, Faysal Şaylık, Tayyar Akbulut, Suha Asal, Murat Selçuk, Vedat Çiçek, Ahmet Lütfullah Orhan	429
Outcome comparison of different approaches to aortic root aneurysm Radosław Gocoł, Jarosław Bis, Marcin Malinowski, Łukasz Morkisz, Mikołaj Jodłowski, Tomasz Darocha, Joanna Ciosek, Wojciech Wojakowski, Marek A Deja	436
Influence of a long-term proctoring process on the effectiveness of chronic total occlusion percutaneous coronary interventions Katarzyna Żelazowska-Chmielińska, Wojciech Wąsek, Mirosław Ferenc, Bogumił Kamiński, Tomasz Przerwa, Paweł Krzesiński	445
Feasibility and safety of left bundle branch area pacing in very elderly patients (≥80 years) Zhixin Jiang, Yifan Chen, Chongchong Chen, Meng Chen, Yuanyuan Chen, Tian Wu, Wen Yang, Xiujuan Zhou, Qijun Shan	452
Adherence to the 4S-AF Scheme in the Balkan region: Insights from the BALKAN-AF survey Monika Koziel-Siołkowska, Miroslav Mihajlovic, Milan Nedeljkovic, Nikola Pavlovic, Vilma Paparisto, Ljilja Music, Elina Trendafilova, Anca Rodica Dan, Zumreta Kusljugic, Gheorghe-Andrei Dan, Gregory YH Lip, Tatjana S Potpara, on behalf of the BALKAN-AF Investigators	461
Management and predictors of clinical events in 75 686 patients with acute myocardial infarction Piotr Jankowski, Roman Topór-Mądry, Mariusz Gąsior, Urszula Cegłowska, Marek Gierlotka, Jacek Kubica, Zbigniew Kalarus, Maciej Lesiak, Wojciech Wojakowski, Jacek Legutko, Radosław Sierpiński, Tomasz Zdrojewski, Jarosław Pinkas, Jarosław Kaźmierczak, Przemysław Mitkowski, Adam Witkowski	468
SHORT COMMUNICATION	
Comparison of fusion imaging and two-dimensional angiography to guide percutaneous pulmonary vein interventions Sebastian Góreczny, Gareth J Morgan, Daniel McLennan, Rizwan Rehman, Jenny E Zablah	476
The use of remote monitoring of patients with cardiac implantable electronic devices in Poland Mateusz Tajstra, Maciej Dyrbuś, Marcin Grabowski, Jakub K Rokicki, Marcin Nowak, Mariusz Gąsior	479
Genotype-phenotype correlations in Polish patients with hypertrophic cardiomyopathy: Preliminary report Tadeusz Osadnik, Anna Frycz-Kurek, Mateusz Lejawa, Martyna Fronczek, Justyna Małyszek-Tumidajewicz, Wioletta Szczurek-Wasilewicz, Karolina Maciol-Skurk, Mariusz Gąsior, Bożena Szyguła-Jurkiewicz	482

Psychological burden of the COVID-19 pandemic 6 months after the outbreak — the voice of the young doctors' generation: An international survey

Katarzyna Czerwińska-Jelonkiewicz, Anna Beneria, Jordi Bañeras, Przemysław Kwasiborski, Poonam Velagapudi, Nkechinyere Ijioma, Maria Trêpa, Chala Fekadu, Christophe Vandenbriele, Maria Stratinaki, Han Naung Tun, Diego Araiza Garaygordobil, Monica Verdoia, Sara Moscatelli, Anastasia Shchendrygina, Alice Wood, Victoria Johnson, Sebastian Reinstadler, Milica Aleksic, Michał Pazdernik, Alex Rosenberg, on behalf of the COVID-19 — Young Doctors Working Group 485

520

CLINICAL VIGNETTE Intravascular lithotripsy for ostial left main coronary artery disease 489 Michał Kosowski, Piotr Kübler, Wiktor Kuliczkowski, Wojciech Zimoch, Jędrzej Reczuch, Krzysztof Reczuch, Marcin Protasiewicz High-risk percutaneous coronary angioplasty with rotational atherectomy and left ventricular assist device of chronically occluded left ascending artery in an obese patient with very low ejection fraction 491 Artur Pawlik. Rafał Januszek. Łukasz Rzeszutko. Stanisław Bartuś. Leszek Brvniarski 493 Ultrasound diagnostics of dilated thoracic lymphatic vessels in a newborn with PIEZO-1 defect Jacek Kuźma, Wojciech Mądry, Magdalena Zarlenga, Bożena Kociszewska-Naiman, Mariusz Kuśmierczyk, Maciej Aleksander Karolczak, Jacek Pająk, Michał Zawadzki, Michał Buczyński Edge-to-edge mitral repair with the Pascal system in a patient with corrected tetralogy of Fallot 495 and bilateral hip joint contractures due to poliomyelitis Aleksandra Mioduszewska, Adam Witkowski, Patrycjusz Stokłosa, Jerzy Pręgowski 497 Atrioventricular sequential pacemaker implantation in an adult patient with a Fontan circulation Krzysztof Boczar, Andrzej Ząbek, Lidia Tomkiewicz-Pająk, Jacek Gajek, Agnieszka Sławuta, Maciej Dębski, Barbara Małecka 499 Chronic thromboembolic pulmonary hypertension complicated by left main compression syndrome Sylwia Sławek-Szmyt, Aleksander Araszkiewicz, Marek Grygier, Dariusz Zieliński, Maciej Lesiak, Tatiana Mularek-Kubzdela 501 Giant left ventricular aneurysm following arterial switch operation Michał Buczyński, Maciej Aleksander Karolczak, Barbara Motylewicz, Wojciech Mądry, Mariusz Kuśmierczyk, Katarzyna Szymańska-Beta, Paulina Kopacz, Michał Zawadzki, Jacek Kuźma The extracorporeal membrane oxygenation as a bridge to delayed minimally invasive surgical treatment of a postinfarction papillary muscle rupture 503 Karolina Żbikowska, Katarzyna Kurnicka, Ryszard Wojdyga, Ewelina Pirsztuk, Jakub Zieliński, Marcin Zygier, Dariusz Zieliński, Krzysztof Wróbel Unusual cardiac magnetic resonance findings in a young patient, years after the diagnosis 505 of hypertrophic cardiomyopathy Karolina Dorniak, Agnieszka Sabisz, Edyta Szurowska, Kamil Gorczewski, Rafał Pawlaczyk, Marta Żarczyńska-Buchowiecka 507 Massive atrial thrombus in sinus rhythm cardiac amyloidosis is not a wild goose chase? Piotr Gościniak, Bartłomiej Baumert, Justyna Rajewska-Tabor, Joanna Jędrzychowska-Baraniak, Małgorzata Pyda, Bogusław Machaliński EXPERT OPINION Clinical use of intracoronary imaging modalities in Poland. Expert opinion of the Association 509 of Cardiovascular Interventions of the Polish Cardiac Society Tomasz Pawłowski, Jacek Legutko, Janusz Kochman, Tomasz Roleder, Jerzy Pręgowski, Zbigniew Chmielak, Jacek Kubica, Andrzej Ochała, Radosław Parma, Marek Grygier, Dariusz Dudek, Wojciech Wojakowski, Stanisław Bartuś, Adam Witkowski, Robert Gil

MEMORIAL ARTICLE

Barbara Werner, MD, PhD (1924-2022). In memoriam

Bożena Werner

Hyperviscosity and high thrombus burden: Is it time to re-evaluate an old but still gold pathophysiological concept?

Emanuele Cecchi¹, Beatrice Bacchi², Lucia Mannini³

¹General Cardiology Unit, Department of Cardiac Thoracic and Vascular Medicine, Azienda Ospedaliero-Universitaria Careggi, Florence, Italy ²Cardiac Surgery Unit, Department of Cardiac Thoracic and Vascular Medicine, Azienda Ospedaliero-Universitaria Careggi, Florence, Italy ³Center for Atherothrombotic Diseases, Department of Cardiac Thoracic and Vascular Medicine, Azienda Ospedaliero-Universitaria Careggi, Florence, Italy

Related article

by Çınar et al.

Correspondence to:

Emanuele Cecchi, MD, PhD, Department of Cardiac Thoracic and Vascular Medicine, Azienda Ospedaliero--Universitaria Careggi, Viale Morgagni, 85 50134 Florence, Italy, phone: +39 055 794 95 77, e-mail: emanuelececchi@virgilio.it Copyright by the Author(s), 2022 DOI: 10.33963/KP.a2022.0077

Received: March 21, 2022

Accepted: March 21, 2022 Early publication date: March 23, 2022 The existence of an association between hyperviscosity and acute myocardial infarction (AMI) has been previously analyzed and reported, in particular in young patients, either in the acute phase [1] and during follow-up [1, 2].

In AMI patients, thrombotic lesions are a common finding on angiography and can increase the rate of procedural complications and the incidence of in-hospital major adverse cardiac events, thus affecting short- and longterm outcomes [3]. The prediction of high thrombus burden (HTB) in the infarct-related artery could help to improve procedural success and related clinical outcomes in these patients.

The article by Çınar et al. [4] reports an association between high values of whole blood viscosity (WBV) at both high and low shear rates and HTB on angiography in non-ST elevation myocardial infarction (NSTEMI) patients. Moreover, patients with HTB also exhibited higher values of hematocrit, triglycerides, baseline cardiac troponin I, and total protein. These results are consistent with a previous study performed in our Institution in which, among the hemorheological variables analyzed (WBV at high and low shear rates, plasma viscosity, and the erythrocyte deformability index), higher values of hematocrit and of WBV at low shear rate were found in patients with ST-elevation myocardial infarction (STEMI) with respect to NSTEMI and unstable angina. This suggests a role of these parameters in favoring STEMI occurrence during acute coronary syndromes (ACS) [5]. Our results and those by Çınar et al. [4] strengthen the concept that hemorheological variables play an important role in the pathogenesis of ACS. Moreover, these results are also supported by previous histologic findings showing that transmural AMI was frequently associated with the presence of reddish thrombi, rich in erythrocytes and fibrin, while unstable angina was characterized more often by whitish or greyish thrombi, rich in platelets [6], which suggests a role of high hematocrit values in the formation of complete thrombotic occlusions.

The need for a simple and reliable tool in everyday clinical practice to predict the amount of thrombus on angiography is a heartfelt theme for cardiologists and is also confirmed by the validation of the CHA₂DS₂--VASc score for predicting HTB in patients with either STEMI [7] or NSTEMI [8], regardless of the presence of atrial fibrillation.

In particular, in NSTEMI patients, receiver-operating characteristics analysis revealed the cut-off value of CHA₂DS₂-VASc score >2 as a predictor of HTB with a sensitivity of 74% and a specificity of 61% with an area under curve of 0.71. In that study, increased baseline serum C-reactive protein levels, lower serum albumin levels (representing the counterpart of increased values of acute phase proteins) and decreased lymphocyte counts (indicating the left shift of the formula due to the increase

in neutrophils) were also additional independent predictors of HTB [8].

Another interesting finding of the study by Çınar et al. [4] is that, in patients with HTB, hyperviscosity is not only a determinant factor in thrombus pathogenesis but can also affect microvascular perfusion. In fact, in that study HTB was associated with an increased risk of distal embolization, no-reflow phenomenon, and a lower percentage of postprocedural thrombolysis in myocardial infarction (TIMI) flow >II and of TIMI Myocardial Blush Grade >II. This suggests that hemorheological variables can contribute to the occurrence of the no-reflow phenomenon after successful restoration of epicardial coronary blood flow, possibly causing greater myocardial damage. These results are in line with another study performed by our group, in which we demonstrated, in STEMI patients, a correlation between blood viscosity and infarct size, expressed by the peak values of 2 cardiac biomarkers, creatine kinase, and cardiac troponin I [9]. In this latter study, we also hypothesized that increased neutrophils in response to myocardial necrosis could cause further myocardial damage also by contributing to the no-reperfusion phenomenon, as previously demonstrated [10, 11] and recently confirmed in a cardiac magnetic resonance study conducted in STEMI patients [12]. Furthermore, in agreement with data reported by Çınar et al. [4] we also demonstrated that alterations of hemorheological variables were found in relation to the achievement of a final TIMI flow less than 3, which in turn was associated with an increased infarct size [5].

In conclusion, the study by Çınar et al. [4] reinforces previous evidence on the role of hemorheological variables in ACS patients and underlies the possible impact of an alteration of blood viscosity in patients with NSTEMI and, in particular, the importance of pre-operative evaluation in these patients.

Moreover, the article by Çınar et al. [4] together with those performed in our Institution could also have an important impact on primary prevention during cardiological evaluations, guiding the search for primary or secondary causes of polycythemia, and their possible treatment. Finally, it may also aid the search for other determinants of blood viscosity in order to reduce the risk of STEMI or at least of procedural complications in case of ACS.

Article information

Conflict of interest: None declared.

Open access: This article is available in open access under Creative Common Attribution-Non-Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) license, allowing to download articles and share them with others as long as they credit the authors and the publisher, but without permission to change them in any way or use them commercially. For commercial use, please contact the journal office at kardiologiapolska@ptkardio.pl.

REFERENCES

- Caimi G, Hoffmann E, Montana M, et al. Haemorheological pattern in young adults with acute myocardial infarction. Clin Hemorheol Microcirc. 2003; 29(1): 11–18, indexed in Pubmed: 14561899.
- Caimi G, Valenti A, Lo Presti R. Acute myocardial infarction in young adults: evaluation of the haemorheological pattern at the initial stage, after 3 and 12 months. Ann Ist Super Sanita. 2007; 43(2): 139–143, indexed in Pubmed: 17634662.
- Sianos G, Papafaklis MI, Daemen J, et al. Angiographic stent thrombosis after routine use of drug-eluting stents in ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction: the importance of thrombus burden. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2007; 50(7): 573–583, doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2007.04.059, indexed in Pubmed: 17692740.
- Çınar T, Şaylık F, Akbulut T, et al. The association between whole blood viscosity and high thrombus burden in patients with non-ST elevation myocardial infarction. Kardiol Pol. 2022; 80(4): 429–435, doi: 10.33963/KP.a2022.0043, indexed in Pubmed: 35152394.
- Cecchi E, Liotta AA, Gori AM, et al. Comparison of hemorheological variables in ST-elevation myocardial infarction versus those in non-ST-elevation myocardial infarction or unstable angina pectoris. Am J Cardiol. 2008; 102(2): 125–128, doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2008.03.026, indexed in Pubmed: 18602507.
- Mizuno K, Satomura K, Miyamoto A, et al. Angioscopic evaluation of coronary-artery thrombi in acute coronary syndromes. N Engl J Med. 1992; 326(5): 287–291, doi: 10.1056/NEJM199201303260502, indexed in Pubmed: 1728732.
- Seyis S, Kurmuş Ö, Kiliç S, et al. CHA2DS2-VASc score predicts intracoronary thrombus burden in patients with ST-elevation myocardial infarction. Biomed Res. 2017; 28(18): 8050–8054.
- Satılmış S, Durmuş G. Predictive accuracy of CHADS-VASc score in determining the high thrombus burden in patients with non-ST-elevation myocardial infarction. Acta Cardiol. 2021; 76(2): 140–146, doi: 10.1080/00015385.2019.1707934, indexed in Pubmed: 31900050.
- Cecchi E, Liotta AA, Gori AM, et al. Relationship between blood viscosity and infarct size in patients with ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction undergoing primary percutaneous coronary intervention. Int J Cardiol. 2009; 134(2): 189–194, doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2008.01.039, indexed in Pubmed: 18495262.
- Kosuge M, Kimura K, Ishikawa T, et al. Relation between white blood cell counts and myocardial reperfusion in patients with recanalized anterior acute myocardial infarction. Circ J. 2004; 68(6): 526–531, doi: 10.1253/circj.68.526, indexed in Pubmed: 15170086.
- Sezer M, Okcular I, Goren T, et al. Association of haematological indices with the degree of microvascular injury in patients with acute anterior wall myocardial infarction treated with primary percutaneous coronary intervention. Heart. 2007; 93(3): 313–318, doi: 10.1136/hrt.2006.094763, indexed in Pubmed: 16940390.
- Arcari L, Cimino S, Filomena D, et al. Peak white blood cell count, infarct size and myocardial salvage in patients with reperfused ST-elevation myocardial infarction: a cardiac magnetic resonance study. J Cardiovasc Med (Hagerstown). 2021; 22(3): 228–230, doi: 10.2459/JCM.000000000001033, indexed in Pubmed: 32639330.

All that glitters is not gold

J Scott Rankin

Heart and Vascular Institute, West Virginia University, Morgantown, WV, United States

Related article

by Deja et al.

"All that glisters is not gold — Often have you heard that told. Many a man his life hath sold But my outside to behold. Gilded tombs do worms enfold. Had you been as wise as bold, Young in limbs, in judgment old, Your answer had not been inscrolled Fare you well. Your suit is cold"

> William Shakespeare, Merchant of Venice, Act II Scene 7

Correspondence to:

Prof. J Scott Rankin, MD, PhD, Heart and Vascular Institute, West Virginia University, 1 Medical Center Drive, Morgantown, WV 26506, United States, phone: 615 969 1543, e-mail: jsrankinmd@cs.com Copyright by the Author(s), 2022

DOI: 10.33963/KP.a2022.0095

Received: April 4, 2022

Accepted: April 5, 2022

Early publication date: April 5, 2022 Mister Hugh H Bentall was an innovative cardiothoracic surgeon, participating in the first cardiopulmonary bypass cases in Europe [1] and inventing potassium cardioplegia [2]. He also was an expert on 18th century English tallcase clocks (Figure 1) and an excellent educator at the Royal Postgraduate Medical School, Hammersmith Hospital, London. But it was his invention of composite aortic valve-root conduit replacement [3] that sustains his name in current clinical practice almost 60 years later. Most of us learned about his operation in the 1970s, and it has been a mainstay of cardiac surgery for the past half-century. The procedure, however, is limited by its inclusion of a valve prosthesis in the aortic position, with consequent valve-related complications. One might argue that the Bentall procedure should no longer be considered the "gold standard" treatment for aortic root aneurysms. The excellent follow-up data presented in the current issue by the Katowice group would support this view.

In assessing outcomes in 204 patients with aortic root aneurysms managed surgically over a 10-year period, Gocol and associates [4] have contributed importantly to current knowledge. It is appropriate to start with a comment about the biostatistics used in this study. Single-center series have advantages, primarily related to detailed understanding by the authors of every aspect of each patient's course. The disadvantage, of course, is a small sample size. With only 23 deaths, 6 reoperations, and 30 other events in the entire study, any multivariable analysis could only support 2-3 variables — an inadequate number for proper risk adjustment (and the full multivariable model is never presented). However, a descriptive review of the data always is valuable, and several concepts are evident in this series. First, selection bias is present with older patients being selected for bio-Bentall procedures, which is standard. Without a proper multivariable analysis, much of the inferior survival associated with bio-Bentall operations could have been related to older age at baseline. However, tissue valves tend to deteriorate faster beyond 10 years, so even more significant decrements in bio-Bentall outcomes are likely past the duration of this study.

The most striking finding of this analysis is the dearth of valve-related complications after aortic valve repair (valve-sparing root replacement). This observation is consistent with other reports [5, 6], and if a composite major adverse cardiac event (MACE) outcome



Figure 1. London tall-case clock from 1770 selected by Mr. Bentall for the author in 1986 — still gracing the author's entry hall almost 40 years later while keeping perfect time

were to be analyzed [7], valve repair likely would win hands down. Moreover, the mechanical Bentall group was younger, so proper risk adjustment might have lowered associated survival, and especially with longer follow-up, accumulating valve-related complications might have compromised survival [8]. So, the data clearly suggest the superiority of valve repair for aortic root aneurysms, as compared to Bentall procedures employing either type of prosthetic valve. The Katowice group should be complemented on achieving an approximately 50% repair rate in their series. Even in experienced centers, the rule is 27% repair for aortic insufficiency [9, 10] in recent years. However, the goal of cardiac surgical practice now should be to increase repair rates for all patients with aortic insufficiency toward 90%, as in the case of mitral repair [11]. The advent of aortic ring annuloplasty could help in that regard [12, 13], but expanding aortic valve repair clearly is an appealing next developmental step. In summary, one must conclude that Mister Bentall's reputation and contributions may still "glitter", but his operation no longer is the "gold standard" for management of aortic root aneurysms.

Article information

Conflict of interest: None declared.

Open access: This article is available in open access under Creative Common Attribution-Non-Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) license, allowing to download articles and share them with others as long as they credit the authors and the publisher, but without permission to change them in any way or use them commercially. For commercial use, please contact the journal office at kardiologiapolska@ptkardio.pl.

REFERENCES

- Aird I, Melrose DG, Cleland WP, et al. Assisted circulation by pump-oxygenator during operative dilatation of the aortic valve in man. BMJ. 1954; 1(4874): 1284–1287, doi: 10.1136/bmj.1.4874.1284.
- Melrose DG, Dreyer B, Bentall HH, et al. Elective cardiac arrest. Lancet. 1955; 269(6879): 21–22, doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(55)93381-x, indexed in Pubmed: 14382605.
- Bentall H, De Bono A. A technique for complete replacement of the ascending aorta. Thorax. 1968; 23(4): 338–339, doi: 10.1136/thx.23.4.338, indexed in Pubmed: 5664694.
- Gocoł R, Bis J, Malinowski M, et al. Outcomes comparison of different approaches to aortic root aneurysm. Kardiol Pol. 2022; 80(4): 436–444, doi: 10.33963/KP.a2022.0045, indexed in Pubmed: 35152397.
- Aicher D, Fries R, Rodionycheva S, et al. Aortic valve repair leads to a low incidence of valve-related complications. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg. 2010; 37(1): 127–132, doi: 10.1016/j.ejcts.2009.06.021, indexed in Pubmed: 19643618.
- Price J, De Kerchove L, Glineur D, et al. Risk of valve-related events after aortic valve repair. Ann Thorac Surg. 2013; 95(2): 606–12; discussion 613, doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2012.07.016, indexed in Pubmed: 22959573.
- Jabagi H, Chan V, Ruel M, et al. Aortic valve repair decreases risks of VRE in Al at 10 years: a propensity score-matched analysis. Ann Thorac Surg. 2021 [Epub ahead of print], doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2021.06.020, indexed in Pubmed: 34228974.
- de Meester C, Pasquet A, Gerber BL, et al. Valve repair improves the outcome of surgery for chronic severe aortic regurgitation: a propensity score analysis. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2014; 148(5): 1913–1920, doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2014.02.010, indexed in Pubmed: 24656668.
- Yang LT, Michelena HI, Scott CG, et al. Outcomes in chronic hemodynamically significant aortic regurgitation and limitations of current guidelines. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2019; 73(14): 1741–1752, doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2019.01.024, indexed in Pubmed: 30846339.
- Alashi A, Khullar T, Mentias A, et al. Long-Term outcomes after aortic valve surgery in patients with asymptomatic chronic aortic regurgitation and Preserved LVEF: impact of baseline and follow-up global longitudinal strain. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging. 2020; 13(1 Pt 1): 12–21, doi: 10.1016/j. jcmg.2018.12.021, indexed in Pubmed: 30772216.
- Rankin JS, Grau-Sepulveda M, Shahian DM, et al. The impact of mitral disease etiology on Operative mortality after mitral valve operations. Ann Thorac Surg. 2018; 106(5): 1406–1413, doi: 10.1016/j. athoracsur.2018.04.053, indexed in Pubmed: 29777670.
- Rankin J, Wei L, Downey R, et al. Aortic valve repair using geometric ring annuloplasty. Operative Techniques in Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgery. 2021; 26(2): 173–188, doi: 10.1053/j.optechstcvs.2020.11.008.
- Gerdisch MW, Reece TB, Emerson D, et al. Early results of geometric ring annuloplasty for bicuspid aortic valve repair during aortic aneurysm surgery. AATS 2021 [Presented May 1, 2021; in press].

Low levels of vitamin D and coronary artery disease: Is it time for therapy?

Monica Verdoia^{1, 2}, Rocco Gioscia¹, Matteo Nardin³, Andrea Rognoni¹, Giuseppe De Luca⁴

¹Division of Cardiology, Ospedale degli Infermi, ASL Biella, Biella, Italy

²Department of Translational Medicine, Università del Piemonte Orientale, Novara, Italy

³Department of Medicine, Spedali Civili Brescia, Italy

⁴Clinical and Experimental Cardiology Unit, AOU Sassari, Italy

Correspondence to:

Giuseppe De Luca, MD, PhD, Director Clinical and Experimental Cardiology Unit, AOU Sassari, Sassari, Associate Professor of Cardiology, University of Sassari, Sassari, Italy, phone: +39 079 229 162, e-mail: gdeluca@uniss.it Copyright by the Author(s), 2022

DOI: 10.33963/KP.a2022.0079

Received: March 20, 2022

Accepted: March 23, 2022

Early publication date: March 24, 2022

ABSTRACT

The association between vitamin D and the prevalence and severity of coronary artery disease (CAD), major established cardiovascular risk factors, and acute ischemic events has been consistently demonstrated in large-scale observational studies and meta-analyses, with relevant prognostic implications. The rise in prevalence of hypovitaminosis D in recent years, reaching pandemic proportions, has pointed to the importance of the identification and optimization of the indications and strategies for the therapeutic use of vitamin D, with particular relevance for cardiovascular health. However, vitamin D supplementation has provided so far inconsistent results in primary prevention, with even fewer data reported in patients with established CAD. The present review aims to provide an updated overview of the available evidence and potential therapeutic applications of vitamin D in patients with CAD.

Key words: vitamin D, atherosclerosis, inflammation, thrombosis, pharmacological therapy

INTRODUCTION

Vitamin D is a secosteroid mainly involved in the homeostasis of calcium and bone tissue but also displaying a broad spectrum of systemic hormonal effects, including both the modulation of the expression of about 3% of the human genome, and "acute", non--genomic-dependent effects, mediated by the regulation of intracellular calcium [1].

Several large-scale studies have previously demonstrated that vitamin D deficiency is associated with the development of atherosclerosis and its thrombotic complications, which increases the risk of cardiovascular events and mortality [2–5].

Inadequate levels of vitamin D deficiency or insufficiency, defined as <20 ng/ml, have reached dramatic prevalence in the last years, exceeding 50% in certain areas and subsets of population, and especially among elderly and more frail subjects, with chronic comorbidities, renal failure, diabetes, and inflammatory disease [6, 7]. This has attracted attention to the consequences of vitamin D deficiency in the pathogenesis of coronary artery disease (CAD) and potential benefits of vitamin D supplementation.

However, there is still much uncertainty about the underlying pathophysiological mechanisms. The results of the studies conducted so far to assess the cardioprotective benefits of vitamin D are still unclear and make it impossible to reach a general consensus, develop consistent guidelines, and use vitamin D on a large scale as a pharmacological therapy.

The present review provides an update on the existing evidence and the current indications for the supplementation with vitamin D in patients with CAD, focusing on potential future perspectives.

VITAMIN D DEFICIENCY: A PANDEMIC DISORDER

Severe vitamin D deficiency can cause rickets and osteomalacia, which are rarely observed in developed countries. However, less severe

Table	 Derivates 	of vitamin l	D with	clinical	indications

Compound	Clinical indication
Calcidiol 3,25(OH)D3	Renal osteodystrophy
Calcitriol 4,1,25(OH)	Renal osteodystrophy
Calcipotriol 5, 22-ene-26, 27-dehy- dro-1,25(OH)2D3	Psoriasis
Doxercalciferol 6, 1α(OH)D2	Secondary hyperparathyroidism
Alfacalcidol 7,1α(OH)D3	Osteoporosis
Tacalcitol 8, 1α, 24(OH)2D3	Psoriasis
Oxacalcitriol 10, 22-oxa-1, 25(OH)2D3	Psoriasis
Falecalcitriol 11, 1,25(OH)2-26, 27-F6-D3	Secondary hyperparathyroidism

deficiency is more frequent and associated with osteoporosis and the risk of bone fractures [8]. Vitamin D deficiency is currently considered a global health problem [9, 10], especially in low- and middle-income countries, where it affects about 50% of adults and 90% of infants. In the USA, up to 37% of adults and up to 46% of dark-skinned infants suffer from this condition [9]. A recent analysis considering mostly Nordic and western European populations found significant variability between countries [10]. In fact, when restricted to the adult population, Nordic countries appear to have a lower incidence of vitamin D deficiency, most probably due to increased vitamin supplementation or food fortification compared to lower-latitude countries.

VITAMIN D METABOLIC PATHWAY

Cholecalciferol, the form of vitamin D named D3, is synthetized in the skin from 7-dehydrocholesterol upon irradiation with ultraviolet waves (ultraviolet B light [UV-B]) (Figure 1) [11]. 7-dehydrocholesterol is part of the metabolic pathway that controls the synthesis of cholesterol in human cells. By absorbing ultraviolet radiation, 7-dehydrocholesterol turns into pre-vitamin D3, which, because of its molecular instability, subsequently converts to cholecalciferol that is expelled in the extracellular space, binding to a carrier (vitamin D-binding protein). Although production of vitamin D3 in the skin is its primary source in humans, it can be derived from food, such as fish oil or mushrooms, in the form of ergocalciferol (Figure 2) [12]. Skin synthesis of vitamin D3 rises proportionally with the intensity of the UV radiation. It also reduces proportionally with sunblock usage or the quantity of melanin encountered in the skin, i.e., in higher-latitude-living populations, during months with reduced sun exposure, or in patients with darker skin [11, 13, 14]. However, cholecalciferol is not biologically active; thus, vitamin D is hydroxylated in the liver cells to form 25(OH)D followed by 1α-hydroxylation [11]. The active hormonal form is produced in this last step of 1a-hydroxylation mainly in the kidneys and at other extrarenal sites, resulting in a compound named 1,25(OH)2D3 [15–17].

Table 2. Vitamin D and atherosclerosis: mechanistic links

Lipid profile		Reduces total cholesterol Reduces LDL-C Reduces triglycerides Increases HDL-C
Endothelial adhesion and activation	•	Reduces vascular cell adhesion molecule 1 Reduces E-selectin
Vascular tone and endothelial function	:	Increases the level of nitric oxide Reduces the level of reactive oxygen species released
Inflammation and atherosclerosis		Reduces proinflammatory type 1 cytokines: IL-12, IL-6, IL-8, IFN-gamma, TNF-alpha Increase anti-inflammatory type 2 cytokines: IL-4, IL-5, and IL-10 Reduces oxidative stress through reducing cathepsin, IL-6 and adiponectin
Coagulation and platelet aggre- gation		Increases trombomodulin expression Reduces tissue factor expression Reduces PAI-1 expression Reduces thrombospondin expression Increases the level of nitric oxide Decreases ADP-induced aggregation
Arterial smooth muscle cells		Decreases production of angiotensin II Decreases oxidative stress Inhibits cellular senescence Reduces tissue factor expression

Abbreviations: ADP, adenosine diphosphate; HDL-C, high density lipoprotein cholesterol; IFN, interferon; IL, interleukin; LDL-C, low density lipoprotein cholesterol; PAI-1, plasminogen activator inhibitor-1; TNF, tumor necrosis factor

MECHANISMS OF ACTION AND ITS IMPLICATIONS IN THE PATHOPHYSIOLOGY OF ATHEROSCLEROSIS

The hormonal form of vitamin D, which is a lipid-soluble molecule, is transported in the blood bound to a serum protein named vitamin D-binding protein (DBP) [18]. At molecular level, vitamin D in the form of 1,25(OH)2D3 exerts its actions by binding to a membrane-bound and cytoplasmic receptor, the vitamin D receptor (VDR), which can be found in almost all human tissue, including the cardiovascular system [11, 19]. Binding of vitamin D to its VDR is critical for its action because 1.25 dihydroxy vitamin D, the active form, penetrates the cell membrane and binds to VDR [20]. This vitamin D-VDR complex acts with the retinoic acid receptor and forms important heterodimers that activate elements of vitamin D response elements by initiation of the cascade of molecular interactions regulating the suppression and transcription of specific genes [21]. In total, VDR has a direct action on the expression of more than 1000 genes [22], approximately 3% of the genome [12]. Ways in which vitamin D acts non-genomically have also been identified, such as through intracellular signaling molecules, generation of second messengers, and activation of specific protein kinases [23]. The change in the chemical structure of cholecalciferol leads to the emergence of new molecules, which, surprisingly, can bind to VDR.

Vitamin D deficiency has been consistently associated with the prevalence and severity of CAD and acute ischemic events. In fact, vitamin D has been shown to promote endothelial function and to counteract inflammation and oxidative stress, thus preventing the development of atherosclerosis and its thrombotic complications [24–27].

In the ARIC study, vitamin D levels were measured in 11 945 participants, and an association with the incidence of coronary heart disease among white-skinned participants was reported [28].

In the LURIC Study, in a large cohort of subjects (n = 1801) referred for coronary angiography, 92% of individuals had suboptimal levels of vitamin D, which was associated with an increased all-cause mortality and cardiovascular mortality [29]. The Framingham Offspring Study found that individuals with 25(OH)D <37.5 nmol/l had a hazard ratio of 1.62 for the development of cardiovascular disease (CVD) compared to those with a level of \geq 37.5 nmol/l [30].

In a large cohort study enclosing over 1400 patients undergoing coronary angiography, Verdoia et al. showed that lower circulating 25(OH)D was independently related with the prevalence and extent of CAD, especially for patients with values <10 ng/ml [3].

Furthermore, calcitriol levels have been inversely associated with coronary artery calcifications, thus serving as an early marker of coronary atherosclerosis [2].

In fact, vitamin D can directly improve the endothelial health and function, promoting the production of nitric oxide and reducing the exposure of proteins responsible for the adhesion of leukocytes and platelets. This prevents the inflammatory response and thrombotic phenomena. In addition, the inhibition of the extravasation and activation of macrophages and the antioxidant properties can prevent lipid oxidation and the production of foam cells, which contribute to plaque progression and instability [1, 24]. Indeed, levels of 25(OH)D in healthy volunteers are independently associated with various measures of endothelial function, arterial stiffness, and coronary flow reserve. In a subgroup of participants with vitamin D deficiency, normalization of 25(OH)D levels at 6 months was associated with a significant increase in reactive hyperemia indices, and in other studies, treatment with vitamin D improved arterial stiffness [2].

Moreover, vitamin D has been shown to lower tissue factor, downregulate the pro-thrombotic plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 and thrombospondin-1 mRNA expression, and upregulate thrombomodulin, thus accounting for its antithrombotic properties [31].

Additionally, the vitamin D receptor has been also identified in platelets, which suggests a direct regulatory effect. In effect, platelet activation is a calcium-dependent process, and calcitriol has been shown to display also a "rapid" non genomic action, mediated by the modulation of intracellular calcium. In fact, hypovitaminosis D has been previously linked to an enhanced platelet reactivity and a reduced effectiveness of antiplatelet drugs [25].

VITAMIN D AND CARDIOVASCULAR RISK FACTORS

Vitamin D has displayed a positive interaction with major cardiovascular risk factors and was related to the levels of blood pressure and a "healthier" metabolic profile [5, 32, 33].

A Mendelian randomization study suggested a link between vitamin D deficiency and hypertension risk [34], which was further confirmed by experimental evidence in animal studies [35]. In effect, vitamin D promotes the production of nitric oxide, a potent vasodilator, and downregulates the activity of the renin-angiotensin system, thus lowering the blood pressure and positively interacting with anti-hypertensive drugs [36].

Moreover, vitamin D has been shown to lower the glycemia levels in patients with diabetes and to protect against diabetes through the regulation of insulin synthesis and secretion or through direct action on pancreatic beta-cells function [37].

The levels of 25(OH)D have also been shown to condition the lipid asset, which is associated with lower levels of circulating cholesterol and a less atherogenic lipid profile and prevents the formation of foam cells with potentiating the effectiveness of statins [38–40],

Furthermore, vitamin D deficiency could be even more frequent among subjects at increased cardiovascular risk, due to comorbidities, aging or renal failure, or unhealthy lifestyle. In fact, low 25(OH)D concentrations can be enhanced by obesity, air pollution, or limited outdoors activity, which are associated with worse cardiovascular outcomes [41].

VITAMIN D SUPPLEMENTATION IN CAD: CURRENT EVIDENCE

Although several studies have linked lower levels of vitamin D with more severe cardiovascular disease and increased mortality [42–44], controversies still exist about using vitamin D supplementation in cardiovascular prevention [45, 46].

The ViDA (Vitamin D Assessment) study in New Zealand, which randomized over 5 000 subjects, showed an increase in serum 25(OH)D concentrations with the supplementation, although it was ineffective in reducing the primary outcome of incident CVD and death [47].

In the recent VITAL trial [48], which randomized over 25 000 healthy subjects to two groups with either n–3 fatty acid or vitamin D3 supplementation, no prognostic difference was observed at a 5-year follow-up.

However, heterogeneity in these strategies, with inadequate dosing and duration of the treatment and the failure to achieve optimal levels of vitamin D, as summarized in Table 3, could have determined the negative findings of most of the trials.

Moreover, increased benefits could be expected when focusing on higher-risk populations, such as patients with

Table 3. Vitamin D supplementation in primary and secondary prevention

Study name	Patients (n)	Inclusion criteria	Vitamin D dosing	Follow-up duration	Study outcome and results
Secondary prevention					
Sokol et al. [49]	90	CAD (angiographic) and vitamin D <30 ng/ml	ergocalciferol (50 000 IU/week)	12 weeks	No difference in blood pressure and all markers of endothelial function
Bahrami et al. [50]	80	CAD (angiographic) and vitamin D <30 ng/ml	Vitamin D 50 000 IU/ week	8 weeks	Decreased systolic and diastolic blood pressure, waist circumference and fat percentage
Aslanabadi et al. [51]	99	Patients undergoing elective PCI	300 000 IU dose of cholecalciferol given before PCI	In-hospital	Periprocedural myocardial injury: no difference
Wu et al. [29]	90	CAD (angiographic)	Calcitriol (0.5 µg/day)	6 months	CAD (SYNTAX score) and C-reactive protein significantly decreased
Shaseb et al. [52]	95	T2DM with ischemic heart disease	Single dose of chole- calciferol (300 000 IU, i.m.)	8 weeks	Glycemic status: HbA1c was reduced by 0.48%
Witham et al. [53]	75	Patients with a prior history of MI	Two high-doses of orally administered cholecalciferol (100 000 IU)	6 months	Vascular function (reactive hyperemia index, systolic BP, diastolic BP) and cholesterol levels: no difference. C-re- active protein: reduced significantly
Farrokhian et al. [54]	60	T2DM patients with coronary artery disease.	50 000 IU cholecalciferol every second week	6 months	Significant attenuation in vascular inflammation and improved glycemic status
Schleithoff et al. [55]	123	Participants with heart failure	Vitamin D3, 2000 IU/d	Average 1.3 years	Reduced the inflammatory milieu
Primary prevention					
Aloia et al. [56]	27	Postmenopausal women	Vitamin D3, 400 IU/d	2 years	No difference in MACE
Ott et al. [57]	86	Postmenopausal women	Vitamin D3, 1000 mg/d	2 years	No difference in MACE
Komulainen et al. [58]	227	Women in early postmenopau- se who were non-osteoporotic	Vitamin D3, 300 and 100 IU/d	5 years	No difference in MACE
STOP IT/Gallagher et al. [59]	489	Women aged 65-77 years with femoral neck density in normal range (SD, ≤2) for their age	Calcitriol, 0.25 µg twice daily	3 years	No difference in MACE
Trivedi et al. [60]	2686	Participants aged 65–85 years	Vitamin D3, 100 000 IU/4 months	5 years	No difference in MACE
RECORD/Grant et al. [26]	5292	Participants aged ≥70 years who had had a low trauma, osteoporotic fracture in the previous 10 years	Vitamin D3, 800 IU daily	Median (IQR), 3.8 (3.1–4.3) years	No difference in MACE
Brazier et al. [61]	172	Ambulatory women aged >65 years	Vitamin D3, 400 IU twice daily	1 years	No difference in MACE
WHI/Jackson et al. [62]	36282	Women aged 50–79 years with no evidence of a medical condition	Vitamin D3, 400 IU/d	12 years	No difference in MACE, improvement in hip bone density
Berggren et al. [63]	199	Participants aged ≥70 years who had femoral neck fractures	Vitamin D3, 800 IU/d	1 year	No difference in MACE
Zhu et al. [64]	120	Women aged 70–80 years	Vitamin D3, 1000 IU/d	5 years	No difference in MACE
Prince et al. [65]	302	Women aged 70–90 years	Vitamin D3, 1000 IU/d	1 year	No difference in MACE, reduction in falls
Vital D/Sanders et al. [66]	2256	Women aged ≥70 years at high risk of fracture	Vitamin D3, 500 000 IU/year	Median (IQR), 2.96 (2.92–3.00)	Increased falls, no difference in MACE
Lehouck et al. [67]	182	Current of former smokers with COPD	Vitamin D, 100 000 IU/ month	1 year	Reduced COPD exacerbations in vitamin D deficient patients
VITDISH/Witham et al. [68]	159	Participants aged ≥70 years with isolated systolic hyper- tension	Vitamin D, 100 000 IU/month	1 year	MACE, blood pressure, arterial stiff- ness, endothelial function, cholesterol level, glucose level, and walking distance: no difference
OPERA/Wang et al. [69]	60	Stages 3–5 chronic kidney disease and left ventricle hypertrophy	Paricalcitol, 1 µg/d	1 year	No impact of left ventricular mass, improved secondary hyperparathy- roidism
Baron et al. [70]	2259	Participants aged 45–75 years who had ≥1 colorectal adenoma	Vitamin D3, 1000 IU∖d	3 years	Adverse events: no difference
EVITA/Zitterman et al. [71]	400	Participants aged 18–79 years who were classified as having New York Heart Association functional class ≥II	Vitamin D3, 4000 IU/d	3 years	No difference in mortality
VIDA/Scragg et al. [47]	5110	Vitamin D insuficient patients	Cholecalciferol (100 000 IU/month)	Median follow-up = 3.3 years	No beneficial effects of cholecalciferol supplementation on CVD risk or mortality

Table 3 (cont.)	. Vitamin D sup	plementation in	primary and	secondary	prevention
-----------------	-----------------	-----------------	-------------	-----------	------------

Study name	Patients (n)	Inclusion criteria	Vitamin D dosing	Follow-up duration	Study outcome and results
J-DAVID/Shoji et al. [72]	954	Patients on hemodialysis	Alfacalcidol, 0.5 µg/d	Median (IQR), Vitamin D: 4.0 (2.6–4.0)a; Placebo: 4.0 (3.5–4.0)	no difference in selected cardiovascular events
VITAL/Manson et al. [25]	754	All women	Calcium (1000 mg/day) + cholecalciferol (400 IU/day)	Average of seven years	No significant changes in CAC score
Gulseth et al. [73]	62	Subjects with T2DM	Single dose of 400,000 IU oral vitamin D3	4 weeks	No change in insulin sensitivity or insulin secretion
Jorde et al. [74]	438	Overweight or obese subjects	Vitamin D (3) 40 000 IU per week (DD group), vitamin D 20 000 IU per week (DP group)	12 months	Glucose tolerance, blood pressure or serum lipids: no change
BEST-D trial /Clarke et al. [75]	305	Elderly	cholecalciferol (4000 IU or 2000 IU)	12 months	No significant changes in CVD risk factors
Seibert et al. [76]	106	Healthy subjects	cholecalciferol (2000 IU/day)	12 weeks	No difference in mortality, major cardiovascular events and invasive cancer
Forouhi et al. [77]	340	Patients with high risk of diabe- tes type 2	Ergocalciferol (100,000 IU/month) or chole- calciferol (100 000 IU/ month)	4 months	Improvements in pulse wave velocity, no difference in other cardiometa- bolic parameters

Abbreviations: CVD, cardiovascular disease; IQR, interquartile range; IU, international units; MACE, major adverse cardiovascular events; PCI, percutaneous coronary intervention; S, supplementary; T2DM, type 2 diabetes mellitus

Endothelial adhesion and activation # reduces vascular cell adhesion molecule 1 (VCAM-1) # reduces E-selectin Vascular tone and endothelial function • increases the level of nitric oxide • reduces the level of reactive oxygen species released Inflammation and atherosclerosis # reduces proinflammatory type 1 cytokines: IL-12, IL-6, IL-8, IFN-gamma, TNF-alpha # increase anti-inflammatiory type 2 cytokines: IL-4, IL-5, and IL-10 # reduces oxidative stress through reducing cathepsin, IL-6 and adiponectin Arterial smooth muscle cells • decreases production of angiotensin II • decreases oxidative stress • inhibits cellular senescence • reduces tissue factor expression

established cardiovascular disease. In the randomized controlled trial: the Randomised Evaluation of Calcium Or vitamin D (RECORD), treatment with cholecalciferol prevented cardiac failure among 5292 older people but did not appear to protect against myocardial infarction or stroke [78].

In addition, Le et al. [79] explored the effects of vitamin D on cardiac function in mice with post-myocardial infarction, showing a significant reduction in the fibrotic scar area and wall thinning in the animals receiving calcitriol supplementation, mediated by a reduction of fibrosis and enhanced myocytes differentiation. Thus, these data could further reinforce the incoming evidence of the potential benefits of using vitamin D in patients with left ventricular dysfunction and heart failure [80].

In a study in which calcitriol was administered over 6 months (0.5 mg/day) in patients with stable CAD, improvements were noted in the SYNTAX score and cardiometabolic variables [81].

Moreover, Bonakdaran et al. [82] reported that calcitriol supplementation could improve metabolic parameters and the control of cardiovascular risk factors among 119 patients with diabetes, suggesting that inadequate activation of vitamin D to its active metabolite, calcitriol, could represent a cause of the failure of major trials.

In fact, Saghir Afifeh et al. [83] previously reported a prevalence of calcitriol deficiency of about 10% in the patients with CAD, even despite adequate levels of vitamin D.

FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

Thus, future trials specific for subsets of higher-risk patients are certainly warranted to define whether a more tailored approach with vitamin D supplementation could be beneficial. Nevertheless, considering the positive effects on reducing overall mortality, cancer and functional status, consistently demonstrated in different trials and meta-analyses, and the safety, tolerability and low cost of vitamin D supplementation, such a strategy should certainly be considered, in particular in subjects at higher risk of deficiency [46, 84].

Such strategy should certainly be further reinforced in the context of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic. In fact, the role of vitamin D in the modulation of the immune system and inflammation, and the prevention of thrombotic events, has been suggested. Vitamin D was reported to lower the rate of complications and improve the outcomes for infected patients [85]. Moreover, in addition to empowering the immune defense, vitamin D could prevent of contagion, by lowering the expression of the ACE-2 enzyme [86], thus leading the scientific societies to recommend the maintenance of adequate levels of vitamin D, and especially among subjects with increased risk for complications, as in patients with CAD [87, 88]. Moreover, the exact definition of the optimal vitamin D levels to reduce the cardiovascular risk and the appropriate dosing of pharmacological therapy, still need to be settled by experts' agreement. Possibly, the achievement of levels higher than expected is required to observe the cardioprotective effects of vitamin D, especially in those severely deficient subjects [89].

Finally, a tailored approach to vitamin D supplementation, accounting for the differential mechanisms of deficiency and comorbidities conditioning its effectiveness [90], certainly represents a promising option, which should be further assessed in future randomized trials.

Supplementary material

Supplementary material is available at https://journals.viamedica.pl/kardiologia_polska.

Article information

Conflict of interest: None declared.

Open access: This article is available in open access under Creative Common Attribution-Non-Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) license, allowing to download articles and share them with others as long as they credit the authors and the publisher, but without permission to change them in any way or use them commercially. For commercial use, please contact the journal office at kardiologiapolska@ptkardio.pl.

REFERENCES

- Rosen CJ, Adams JS, Bikle DD, et al. The nonskeletal effects of vitamin D: an Endocrine Society Scientific statement. Endocr Rev. 2012; 33(3): 456–492, doi: 10.1210/er.2012-1000, indexed in Pubmed: 22596255.
- Norman PE, Powel JT. Vitamin D and cardiovascular disease. Circ Res. 2014; 114(2): 379–393, doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.113.301241, indexed in Pubmed: 24436433.
- Verdoia M, Schaffer A, Sartori C, et al. Vitamin D deficiency is independently associated with the extent of coronary artery disease. Eur J Clin Invest. 2014; 44(7): 634–642, doi: 10.1111/eci.12281, indexed in Pubmed: 24829065.
- Verdoia M, Schaffer A, Barbieri L, et al. Novara Atherosclerosis Study Group (NAS). Impact of gender difference on vitamin D status and its relationship with the extent of coronary artery disease. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis. 2015; 25(5): 464–470, doi: 10.1016/j.numecd.2015.01.009, indexed in Pubmed: 25791862.
- Lavie CJ, DiNicolantonio JJ, Milani RV, et al. Vitamin D and cardiovascular health. Circulation. 2013; 128(22): 2404–2406, doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIO-NAHA.113.002902, indexed in Pubmed: 24276875.
- Wahl DA, Cooper C, Ebeling PR, et al. A global representation of vitamin D status in healthy populations. Arch Osteoporos. 2012; 7: 155–172, doi: 10.1007/s11657-012-0093-0, indexed in Pubmed: 23225293.
- Isaia G, Giorgino R, Rini GB, et al. Prevalence of hypovitaminosis D in elderly women in Italy: clinical consequences and risk factors. Osteoporos Int. 2003; 14(7): 577–582, doi: 10.1007/s00198-003-1390-7, indexed in Pubmed: 12856111.
- Chang SW, Lee HC. Vitamin D and health the missing vitamin in humans. Pediatr Neonatol. 2019; 60(3): 237–244, doi: 10.1016/j.pedneo.2019.04.007, indexed in Pubmed: 31101452.
- Roth DE, Abrams SA, Aloia J, et al. Global prevalence and disease burden of vitamin D deficiency: A roadmap for action in low- and middle-income countries. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2018; 1430(1):44–79, doi: 10.1111/nyas.13968, indexed in Pubmed: 30225965.
- Cashman KD, Dowling KG, Škrabáková Z, et al. Vitamin D deficiency in Europe: pandemic? Am J Clin Nutr. 2016; 103(4): 1033–1044, doi: 10.3945/ajcn.115.120873, indexed in Pubmed: 26864360.

- Christakos S, Dhawan P, Verstuyf A, et al. Vitamin D: metabolism, molecular mechanism of action, and pleiotropic effects. Physiol Rev. 2016; 96(1): 365–408, doi: 10.1152/physrev.00014.2015, indexed in Pubmed: 26681795.
- Bouillon R, Marcocci C, Carmeliet G, et al. Skeletal and extraskeletal actions of vitamin D: current evidence and outstanding questions. Endocr Rev. 2019; 40(4): 1109–1151, doi: 10.1210/er.2018-00126, indexed in Pubmed: 30321335.
- Hsu S, Hoofnagle AN, Gupta DK, et al. Race, ancestry, and vitamin D metabolism: the multi-ethnic study of atherosclerosis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2020; 105(12): e4337–e4350, doi: 10.1210/clinem/dgaa612, indexed in Pubmed: 32869845.
- Weishaar T, Rajan S, Keller B. Probability of vitamin D deficiency by body weight and race/ethnicity. J Am Board Fam Med. 2016; 29(2): 226–232, doi: 10.3122/jabfm.2016.02.150251, indexed in Pubmed: 26957379.
- Jones G, Prosser DE, Kaufmann M. The activating enzymes of vitamin D metabolism (25- and 1α-hydroxylases). In: Feldman D, Pike WJ, Bouillon R, Giovannucci E, Goltzman D, Hewison M. ed. Vitamin D, 4th ed. Academic Press, Cambridge 2018.
- Saponaro F, Saba A, Zucchi R. An update on vitamin D metabolism. Int J Mol Sci. 2020; 21(18): 6573, doi: 10.3390/ijms21186573, indexed in Pubmed: 32911795.
- Haussler MR, Whitfield GK, Haussler CA, Sabir MS, Khan Z, Sandoval R, Jurutka PW. 1, 25- dihydroxyvitamin d and klotho: a tale of two renal hormones coming of age. In: Litwack G. ed. Vitamins & hormones: vitamin D hormone. Academic Press, Cambridge 2016: 165–230.
- Bikle DD. Vitamin D metabolism, mechanism of action, and clinical applications. Chem Biol. 2014; 21(3): 319–329, doi: 10.1016/j.chembiol.2013.12.016, indexed in Pubmed: 24529992.
- Bouillon R, Pauwels S. The Vitamin D-Binding Protein. In Vitamin D, 4th ed.; Feldman, D., Pike, W.J., Bouillon, R., Giovannucci, E., Goltzman, D., Hewison, M., Eds. In: Feldman D, Pike WJ, Bouillon R, Giovannucci E, Goltzman D, Hewison M. ed. Vitamin D, 4th ed. Academic Press, Cambridge 2018.
- 20. Carlberg C. Nutrigenomics of vitamin D. Nutrients. 2019; 11(3): 676, doi: 10.3390/nu11030676, indexed in Pubmed: 30901909.
- De Castro LCG. The vitamin D endocrine system [article in Portuguese]. Arq Bras Endocrinol Metabol. 2011; 55(8): 566–575, doi: 10.1590/s0004-27302011000800010, indexed in Pubmed: 22218438.
- 22. Carlberg C. Vitamin D: a micronutrient regulating genes. Curr Pharm Des. 2019; 25(15): 1740–1746, doi: 10.2174/1381612825666190705193 227, indexed in Pubmed: 31298160.
- 23. Hii CS, Ferrante A. The non-genomic actions of vitamin D. Nutrients. 2016; 8(3): 135, doi: 10.3390/nu8030135, indexed in Pubmed: 26950144.
- Verdoia M, De Luca G. Potential role of hypovitaminosis D and vitamin D supplementation during COVID-19 pandemic. QJM. 2021; 114(1): 3–10, doi: 10.1093/qjmed/hcaa234, indexed in Pubmed: 32735326.
- Verdoia M, Pergolini P, Rolla R, et al. Novara Atherosclerosis Study Group (NAS). Vitamin D levels and high-residual platelet reactivity in patients receiving dual antiplatelet therapy with clopidogrel or ticagrelor. Platelets. 2016; 27(6): 576–582, doi: 10.3109/09537104.2016.1149159, indexed in Pubmed: 27540959.
- Verdoia M, Nardin M, Rolla R, et al. Novara Atherosclerosis Study Group (NAS). Cholecalciferol levels, inflammation and leukocytes parameters: results from a large single-centre cohort of patients. Clin Nutr. 2021; 40(4): 2228–2236, doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2020.09.054, indexed in Pubmed: 33121835.
- 27. de la Guía-Galipienso F, Martínez-Ferran M, Vallecillo N, et al. Vitamin D and cardiovascular health. Clin Nutr. 2021; 40(5): 2946–2957, doi: 10.1016/j. clnu.2020.12.025, indexed in Pubmed: 33397599.
- Michos ED, Misialek JR, Selvin E, et al. 25-hydroxyvitamin D levels, vitamin D binding protein gene polymorphisms and incident coronary heart disease among whites and blacks: The ARIC study. Atherosclerosis. 2015; 241(1): 12–17, doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2015.04.803, indexed in Pubmed: 25941991.
- Thomas GN, ó Hartaigh B, Bosch JA, et al. Vitamin D levels predict all-cause and cardiovascular disease mortality in subjects with the metabolic syndrome: the Ludwigshafen Risk and Cardiovascular Health (LURIC) Study. Diabetes Care. 2012; 35(5): 1158–1164, doi: 10.2337/dc11-1714, indexed in Pubmed: 22399697.

- Wang TJ, Pencina MJ, Booth SL, et al. Vitamin D deficiency and risk of cardiovascular disease. Circulation. 2008; 117(4): 503–511, doi: 10.1161/CIR-CULATIONAHA.107.706127, indexed in Pubmed: 18180395.
- Aihara K, Azuma H, Akaike M, et al. Disruption of nuclear vitamin d receptor gene causes enhanced thrombogenicity in mice. J Biol Chem. 2004; 279(34): 35798–35802, doi: 10.1074/jbc.M404865200, indexed in Pubmed: 15205460.
- 32. Verdoia M, Nardin M, Rolla R, et al. Novara Atherosclerosis Study Group (NAS). Association of lower vitamin D levels with inflammation and leucocytes parameters in patients with and without diabetes mellitus undergoing coronary angiography. Eur J Clin Invest. 2021; 51(4): e13439, doi: 10.1111/eci.13439, indexed in Pubmed: 33112413.
- Nardin M, Verdoia M, Schaffer A, et al. Novara Atherosclerosis Study Group (NAS). Vitamin D status, diabetes mellitus and coronary artery disease in patients undergoing coronary angiography. Atherosclerosis. 2016; 250: 114–21, doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2016.05.019, indexed in Pubmed: 27205868.
- Vimaleswaran KS, Cavadino A, Berry DJ, et al. LifeLines Cohort Study investigators. Association of vitamin D status with arterial blood pressure and hypertension risk: a mendelian randomisation study. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol. 2014; 2(9): 719–729, doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(14)70113-5, indexed in Pubmed: 24974252.
- Li YC, Kong J, Wei M, et al. 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D(3) is a negative endocrine regulator of the renin-angiotensin system. J Clin Invest. 2002; 110(2): 229–238, doi: 10.1172/JCI15219, indexed in Pubmed: 12122115.
- Verdoia M, Nardin M, Rolla R, et al. Novara Atherosclerosis Study Group (NAS). Vitamin D levels condition the outcome benefits of renin-angiotensin system inhibitors (RASI) among patients undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention. Pharmacol Res. 2020; 160: 105158, doi: 10.1016/j. phrs.2020.105158, indexed in Pubmed: 32841717.
- Wolden-Kirk H, Overbergh L, Christesen HT, et al. Vitamin D and diabetes: its importance for beta cell and immune function. Mol Cell Endocrinol. 2011; 347(1-2): 106–120, doi: 10.1016/j.mce.2011.08.016, indexed in Pubmed: 21889571.
- Verdoia M, Viglione F, Boggio A, et al. Novara Atherosclerosis Study Group (NAS). Relationship between vitamin D and cholesterol levels in STEMI patients undergoing primary percutaneous coronary intervention. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis. 2021, doi: 10.1016/j.numecd.2021.11.014, indexed in Pubmed: 35078678.
- Oh J, Weng S, Felton SK, et al. 1,25(OH)2 vitamin D inhibits foam cell formation and suppresses macrophage cholesterol uptake in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Circulation. 2019; 120(8): 687–698, doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.109.856070, indexed in Pubmed: 19667238.
- Verdoia M, Pergolini P, Rolla R, et al. Novara Atherosclerosis Study Group (NAS). Impact of high-dose statins on vitamin D levels and platelet function in patients with coronary artery disease. Thromb Res. 2017; 150: 90–95, doi: 10.1016/j.thromres.2016.12.019, indexed in Pubmed: 28068529.
- Wortsman J, Matsuoka LY, Chen TC, et al. Decreased bioavailability of vitamin D in obesity. Am J Clin Nutr. 2000; 72(3): 690–693, doi: 10.1093/ajcn/72.3.690, indexed in Pubmed: 10966885.
- Verdoia M, Nardin M, Rolla R, et al. Novara Atherosclerosis Study Group (NAS). Prognostic impact of Vitamin D deficiency in patients with coronary artery disease undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention. Eur J Intern Med. 2020; 83: 62–67, doi: 10.1016/j.ejim.2020.08.016, indexed in Pubmed: 32830035.
- Verdoia M, Schaffer A, Sartori C, et al. Vitamin D deficiency is independently associated with the extent of coronary artery disease. Eur J Clin Invest. 2014; 44(7): 634–642, doi: 10.1111/eci.12281, indexed in Pubmed: 24829065.
- Kunadian V, Ford GA, Bawamia B, et al. Vitamin D deficiency and coronary artery disease: a review of the evidence. Am Heart J. 2014; 167(3): 283–291, doi: 10.1016/j.ahj.2013.11.012, indexed in Pubmed: 24576510.
- Mao X, Hu B, Zhou Z, et al. Vitamin D levels correlate with lymphocyte subsets in elderly patients with age-related diseases. Sci Rep. 2018; 8(1): 7708, doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-26064-6, indexed in Pubmed: 29769621.
- Zhang Y, Fang F, Tang J, et al. Association between vitamin D supplementation and mortality: systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ. 2019; 366: 14673, doi: 10.1136/bmj.14673, indexed in Pubmed: 31405892.
- 47. Khaw KT, Stewart AW, Waayer D, et al. Effect of monthly high-dose vitamin D supplementation on falls and non-vertebral fractures: secondary and

post-hoc outcomes from the randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled ViDA trial. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol. 2017; 5(6): 438–447, doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(17)30103-1, indexed in Pubmed: 28461159.

- Manson JE, Cook NR, Lee IM, et al. VITAL Research Group. Vitamin D supplements and prevention of cancer and cardiovascular disease. N Engl J Med. 2019; 381(1): 33–44, doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1809944, indexed in Pubmed: 30415629.
- Sokol SI, Srinivas V, Crandall JP, et al. The effects of vitamin D repletion on endothelial function and inflammation in patients with coronary artery disease. Vasc Med. 2012; 17(6): 394–404, doi: 10.1177/1358863X12466709, indexed in Pubmed: 23184900.
- Bahrami LS, Ranjbar G, Norouzy A, et al. Vitamin D supplementation effects on the clinical outcomes of patients with coronary artery disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Sci Rep. 2020; 10(1): 12923, doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-69762-w, indexed in Pubmed: 32737345.
- Aslanabadi N, Jafaripor I, Sadeghi S, et al. Effect of vitamin D in the prevention of myocardial injury following elective percutaneous coronary intervention: a pilot randomized clinical trial. J Clin Pharmacol. 2018; 58(2): 144–151, doi: 10.1002/jcph.989, indexed in Pubmed: 28841229.
- 52. Shaseb E, Tohidi M, Abbasinazari M, et al. The effect of a single dose of vitamin D on glycemic status and C-reactive protein levels in type 2 diabetic patients with ischemic heart disease: a randomized clinical trial. Acta Diabetol. 2016; 53(4): 575–582, doi: 10.1007/s00592-016-0843-3, indexed in Pubmed: 26873242.
- Witham MD, Dove FJ, Khan F, et al. Effects of vitamin D supplementation on markers of vascular function after myocardial infarction — a randomised controlled trial. Int J Cardiol. 2013; 167(3): 745–749, doi: 10.1016/j. ijcard.2012.03.054, indexed in Pubmed: 22459388.
- Farrokhian A, Raygan F, Bahmani F, et al. Long-term vitamin D supplementation affects metabolic status in vitamin D-deficient type 2 diabetic patients with coronary artery disease. J Nutr. 2017; 147(3): 384–389, doi: 10.3945/jn.116.242008, indexed in Pubmed: 28122931.
- Schleithoff SS, Zittermann A, Tenderich G, et al. Vitamin D supplementation improves cytokine profiles in patients with congestive heart failure: a double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled trial. Am J Clin Nutr. 2006; 83(4): 754–759, doi: 10.1093/ajcn/83.4.754, indexed in Pubmed: 16600924.
- Aloia JF, Dhaliwal R, Shieh A, et al. Calcium and vitamin d supplementation in postmenopausal women. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2013; 98(11): E1702–E1709, doi: 10.1210/jc.2013-2121, indexed in Pubmed: 24064695.
- Ott SM, Chesnut CH. Calcitriol treatment is not effective in postmenopausal osteoporosis. Ann Intern Med. 1989; 110(4): 267–274, doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-110-4-267, indexed in Pubmed: 2913914.
- Komulainen M, Kröger H, Tuppurainen MT, et al. Prevention of femoral and lumbar bone loss with hormone replacement therapy and vitamin D3 in early postmenopausal women: a population-based 5-year randomized trial. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1999; 84(2): 546–552, doi: 10.1210/jcem.84.2.5496, indexed in Pubmed: 10022414.
- 59. Gallagher JC, Fowler SE, Detter JR, et al. Combination treatment with estrogen and calcitriol in the prevention of age-related bone loss. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2001; 86(8): 3618–3628, doi: 10.1210/jcem.86.8.7703, indexed in Pubmed: 11502787.
- Trivedi M, Faridi MM, Aggarwal A, et al. Oral vitamin D supplementation to mothers during lactation-effect of 25(OH)D concentration on exclusively breastfed infants at 6 months of age: a randomized double-blind placebo-controlled trial. Breastfeed Med. 2020; 15(4): 237–245, doi: 10.1089/bfm.2019.0102, indexed in Pubmed: 32181677.
- Brazier M, Grados F, Kamel S, et al. Clinical and laboratory safety of one year's use of a combination calcium + vitamin D tablet in ambulatory elderly women with vitamin D insufficiency: results of a multicenter, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. Clin Ther. 2005; 27(12): 1885–1893, doi: 10.1016/j.clinthera.2005.12.010, indexed in Pubmed: 16507374.
- Jackson RD, Wright NC, Beck TJ, et al. Calcium plus vitamin D supplementation has limited effects on femoral geometric strength in older postmenopausal women: the Women's Health Initiative. Calcif Tissue Int. 2011; 88(3): 198–208, doi: 10.1007/s00223-010-9449-x, indexed in Pubmed: 21253715.
- 63. Berggren M, Stenvall M, Olofsson B, et al. Evaluation of a fall-prevention program in older people after femoral neck fracture: a one-year follow-up.

Osteoporos Int. 2008; 19(6): 801–809, doi: 10.1007/s00198-007-0507-9, indexed in Pubmed: 18030411.

- 64. Zhu K, Austin N, Devine A, et al. A randomized controlled trial of the effects of vitamin D on muscle strength and mobility in older women with vitamin D insufficiency. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2010; 58(11): 2063–2068, doi: 10.1111/j.1532-5415.2010.03142.x, indexed in Pubmed: 21054285.
- 65. Lewis JR, Radavelli-Bagatini S, Rejnmark L, et al. The effects of calcium supplementation on verified coronary heart disease hospitalization and death in postmenopausal women: a collaborative meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. J Bone Miner Res. 2015; 30(1): 165–175, doi: 10.1002/jbmr.2311, indexed in Pubmed: 25042841.
- Sanders KM, Stuart AL, Williamson EJ, et al. Annual high-dose oral vitamin D and falls and fractures in older women: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA. 2010; 303(18): 1815–1822, doi: 10.1001/jama.2010.594, indexed in Pubmed: 20460620.
- Lehouck An, Mathieu C, Carremans C, et al. High doses of vitamin D to reduce exacerbations in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a randomized trial. Ann Intern Med. 2012; 156(2): 105–114, doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-156-2-201201170-00004, indexed in Pubmed: 22250141.
- Witham MD, Price RJG, Struthers AD, et al. Cholecalciferol treatment to reduce blood pressure in older patients with isolated systolic hypertension: the VitDISH randomized controlled trial. JAMA Intern Med. 2013; 173(18): 1672–1679, doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2013.9043, indexed in Pubmed: 23939263.
- Wang AY, Fang F, Chan J, et al. Effect of paricalcitol on left ventricular mass and function in CKD — the OPERA trial. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2014; 25(1): 175–186, doi: 10.1681/ASN.2013010103, indexed in Pubmed: 24052631.
- Baron JA, Barry EL, Mott LA, et al. A trial of calcium and vitamin D for the prevention of colorectal adenomas. N Engl J Med. 2015; 373(16): 1519–1530, doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1500409, indexed in Pubmed: 26465985.
- Zittermann A, Ernst JB, Prokop S, et al. Effect of vitamin D on all-cause mortality in heart failure (EVITA): a 3-year randomized clinical trial with 4000 IU vitamin D daily. Eur Heart J. 2017; 38(29): 2279–2286, doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehx235, indexed in Pubmed: 28498942.
- Shoji T, Inaba M, Fukagawa M, et al. J-DAVID Investigators. Effect of oral alfacalcidol on clinical outcomes in patients without secondary hyperparathyroidism receiving maintenance hemodialysis: the J-DA-VID randomized clinical trial. JAMA. 2018; 320(22): 2325–2334, doi: 10.1001/jama.2018.17749, indexed in Pubmed: 30535217.
- Gulseth HL, Wium C, Angel K, et al. Effects of vitamin D supplementation on insulin sensitivity and insulin secretion in subjects with type 2 diabetes and vitamin d deficiency: a randomized controlled trial. Diabetes Care. 2017; 40(7): 872–878, doi: 10.2337/dc16-2302, indexed in Pubmed: 28468770.
- 74. Jorde R, Sneve M, Figenschau Y, et al. Effects of vitamin D supplementation on symptoms of depression in overweight and obese subjects: randomized double blind trial. J Intern Med. 2008; 264(6): 599–609, doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2796.2008.02008.x, indexed in Pubmed: 18793245.
- 75. Clarke R, Newman C, Tomson J, et al. Estimation of the optimum dose of vitamin D for disease prevention in older people: rationale, design and baseline characteristics of the BEST-D trial. Maturitas. 2015; 80(4):426–431, doi: 10.1016/j.maturitas.2015.01.013, indexed in Pubmed: 25721698.
- Seibert E, Lehmann U, Riedel A, et al. Vitamin D3 supplementation does not modify cardiovascular risk profile of adults with inadequate vitamin D status. Eur J Nutr. 2017; 56(2): 621–634, doi: 10.1007/s00394-015-1106-8, indexed in Pubmed: 26621634.
- 77. Forouhi NG, Menon RK, Sharp SJ, et al. Effects of vitamin D2 or D3 supplementation on glycaemic control and cardiometabolic risk among

people at risk of type 2 diabetes: results of a randomized double-blind placebo-controlled trial. Diabetes Obes Metab. 2016; 18(4): 392–400, doi: 10.1111/dom.12625, indexed in Pubmed: 26700109.

- Ford JA, MacLennan GS. RECORD Trial Group. Cardiovascular disease and vitamin D supplementation: trial analysis, systematic review, and meta-analysis. Am J Clin Nutr. 2014; 100(3): 746–755, doi: 10.3945/ajcn.113.082602, indexed in Pubmed: 25057156.
- Le TYL, Ogawa M, Kizana E. Vitamin D improves cardiac function after myocardial infarction through modulation of resident cardiac progenitor cells. Heart Lung Circ. 2018; 27(8): 967–975, doi: 10.1016/j.hlc.2018.01.006, indexed in Pubmed: 29573957.
- Busa V, Dardeir A, Marudhai S, et al. Role of vitamin D supplementation in heart failure patients with vitamin d deficiency and its effects on clinical outcomes: a literature review. Cureus. 2020; 12(10): e10840, doi: 10.7759/cureus.10840, indexed in Pubmed: 33173646.
- Wu Z, Wang T, Zhu S, et al. Effects of vitamin D supplementation as an adjuvant therapy in coronary artery disease patients. Scand Cardiovasc J. 2016; 50(1): 9–16, doi: 10.3109/14017431.2015.1103893, indexed in Pubmed: 26440923.
- Bonakdaran S, Nejad AF, Abdol-Reza V, et al. Impact of oral 1,25-dihydroxy vitamin D (calcitriol) replacement therapy on coronary artery risk factors in type 2 diabetic patients . Endocr Metab Immune Disord Drug Targets. 2013; 13(4): 295–300, doi: 10.2174/18715303113136660047, indexed in Pubmed: 24180458.
- Saghir Af, Verdoia M, Nardin M, et al. Novara Atherosclerosis Study Group (NAS). Determinants of vitamin D activation in patients with acute coronary syndromes and its correlation with inflammatory markers. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis. 2021; 31(1): 36–43, doi: 10.1016/j.numecd.2020.09.021, indexed in Pubmed: 33308994.
- Amrein K, Schnedl C, Holl A, et al. Effect of high-dose vitamin D3 on hospital length of stay in critically ill patients with vitamin D deficiency: the VITdAL-ICU randomized clinical trial. JAMA. 2014; 312(18): 1932, doi: 10.1001/jama.2014.13204, indexed in Pubmed: 25268295.
- Kaya MO, Pamukçu E, Yakar B. The role of vitamin D deficiency on COVID-19: a systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. Epidemiol Health. 2021; 43: e2021074, doi: 10.4178/epih.e2021074, indexed in Pubmed: 34607398.
- Ferrario CM, Jessup J, Chappell M, et al. Effect of angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibition and angiotensin II receptor blockers on cardiac angiotensin-converting enzyme 2. Circulation. 2005; 111(20): 2605–2610, doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.104.510461, indexed in Pubmed: 15897343.
- Annweiler C, Souberbielle JC. Vitamin D supplementation and COVID-19: expert consensus and guidelines [article in French]. Geriatr Psychol Neuropsychiatr Vieil. 2021; 19(1): 20–29, doi: 10.1684/pnv.2020.0907, indexed in Pubmed: 33350389.
- Ulivieri FM, Banfi G, Camozzi V. Vitamin D in the Covid-19 era: a review with recommendations from a G.I.O.S.E.G. expert panel . Endocrine. 2021;72(3): 597–603, doi: 10.1007/s12020-021-02749-3, indexed in Pubmed: 33999367.
- Michos ED, Cainzos-Achirica M, Heravi AS, et al. Vitamin D, calcium supplements, and Implications for cardiovascular health: JACC focus seminar. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2021; 77(4): 437–449, doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2020.09.617, indexed in Pubmed: 33509400.
- Bilezikian JP, Formenti AM, Adler RA, et al. Vitamin D: dosing, levels, form, and route of administration: does one approach fit all? Rev Endocr Metab Disord. 2021; 22(4): 1201–1218, doi: 10.1007/s11154-021-09693-7, indexed in Pubmed: 34940947.

Percutaneous coronary intervention to treat unprotected left main: Common (un-answered) challenges

Mila Kovacevic^{1, 2}, Francesco Burzotta^{3, 4}, Ilija Srdanovic^{1, 2}, Milovan Petrovic^{1, 2}, Carlo Trani^{3, 4}

¹Faculty of Medicine, University of Novi Sad, Novi Sad, Serbia

²Institute of Cardiovascular Diseases of Vojvodina, Cardiology Clinic, Sremska Kamenica, Serbia

³Dipartimento di Scienze Cardiovascolari, Fondazione Policlinico Universitario A Gemelli IRCCS, Rome, Italy

⁴Università Cattolica del Sacro Cuore, Rome, Italy

Correspondence to:

Francesco Burzotta, MD, PhD, Institute of Cardiology, Fondazione Policlinico Universitario A Gemelli IRCCS, Università Cattolica del Sacro Cuore, A. Gemelli 1, 00168 Rome, Italy, phone: +39 063 301 54 187, e-mail: francesco.burzotta@unicatt.it Copyright by the Author(s), 2022 DOI: 10.33963/KPa2022.0078

Received: March 22, 2022

Accepted: March 22, 2022

Early publication date: March 23, 2022

ABSTRACT

Percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI) with drug-eluting stent (DES) implantation is a widely adopted strategy to obtain myocardial revascularization in patients with unprotected left main (LM) disease. Although thoroughly investigated across scientific literature, LM PCI offers patient-specific technical options and poses many operative challenges that cannot be fully addressed by the published studies. Therefore, we have summarized and discussed in this review possible options related to PCI in LM patients. First, functional and imaging assessment for LM is still evolving and requires increased dedication to identify patients requiring revascularization and to enhance the results in the case of PCI performance. Second, specific coronary atherosclerosis patterns of LM involvement (like an isolated ostial disease of one of its bifurcation branches, extensive disease jeopardizing both branches, etc.) pose specific challenges for DES implantation so that careful selection of technical options (stepwise provisional single stent, upfront 2-stent strategy, when and how apply "kissing ballooning") is required. Third, despite improvement of technical circulatory support devices may come into play.

Key words: left main bifurcation, PCI, ostial disease, and stenting techniques

INTRODUCTION

To date, unprotected left main (LM) percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI) is strongly recommended only in patients with a low (≤22) Synergy Between PCI With Taxus and Cardiac Surgery (SYNTAX) score (class I recommendation) [1]. Yet, progress in PCI techniques is continuously ongoing and, in real-world practice, PCI is offered to many LM patients with a wide spectrum of anatomic complexities. Many specific issues related to LM PCI are not standardized and are heterogeneously approached by different centers and operators. In this paper, we discuss the main unanswered questions that pose challenges in the everyday clinical practice of PCI in patients with ULM.

WHAT ROLE SHOULD FUNCTIONAL AND IMAGING PLAY IN THE ASSESSMENT IN LM DISEASE

According to the current guidelines for myocardial revascularization, angiographic LM stenosis with a cut-off value of \geq 50% should be scheduled for revascularization [1]. However, two-dimensional coronary angiography often poorly correlates with actual anatomic (morphological) and functional status [2, 3]. Therefore, supporting imaging and functional assessment in LM treatment should be done more frequently than in any other coronary bed, also due to the amount of supplied myocardium by LM. Various forms of clinical presentation may be crucial in selecting one or both of them. While imaging techniques can be applied in both chronic and acute coronary syndromes, a functional assessment is mainly oriented to chronic coronary syndrome.

When facing problems in the assessment of LM stenosis significance by angiography, functional evaluation with hyperemic or non-hyperemic tests [4] aims to find eligible patients for safe PCI deferral. Thus, in patients with chronic coronary syndrome (CCS), a fractional flow reserve (FFR) value of >0.8 and instantaneous wave-free ratio (iFR) value of >0.89 are considered to be cut-off values for safe revascularization deferral [5–7]. The same FFR cut-off value could be also used in the estimation of LM severity in patients with NSTEMI [8], while ST elevated acute coronary syndrome should be the reason not to perform a functional assessment. When performing FFR, it is important to highlight that equalization of guiding catheter and wire pressures should be done with a disengaged guiding catheter and that adenosine should be administered as a continuous intravenous infusion with a disengaged guiding catheter throughout all measurements [5]. Furthermore, estimation of LM significance should be done by measuring FFR towards both, left anterior descending (LAD) and left circumflex (LCX), given that FFR or iFR values could be confounded by the concomitant presence of downstream disease, especially LAD [5]. Except to evaluate LM significance, functional assessment tools can be used to navigate intervention and valuate final results [9].

On the other hand, intravascular imaging techniques can be used not only for the assessment of stenosis significance but also for morphological plaque evaluation, particularly in the setting of acute coronary syndrome, and for PCI result optimization as well.

Intravascular ultrasound (IVUS) is used for evaluation of complete LM, from the ostium, across the trunk, and toward distal LM bifurcation, having class lla recommendation for use in LM PCI [1]. According to IVUS measurement of the LM minimal lumen area (MLA), revascularization may be safely deferred if MLA is >6 mm² while treatment is recommended if MLA is <4.5 mm² [6, 10]. Of course, MLA may differ and should be tailored by ethnicity and body mass index [11]. A recently published study of IVUS guidance in LM PCI provides prognostic benefits concerning angiography guidance, particularly when following a detailed protocol with predefined optimization criteria (stent expansion and apposition, proximal stent deformation, plaque burden, and dissection at stent edges) [12].

Optical coherence tomography (OCT) as a junior imaging technique has higher axial resolution compared to IVUS, allowing higher image quality and plaque morphology assessment, better distinguishing fine details including residual thrombus, minor edge dissections, and tissue prolapse, which usually have a benign course [13, 14]. Due to the inability to achieve complete blood clearance even with a disengaged guiding catheter and reduced penetration rate, accurate vessel sizing could be limited, thus OCT is discouraged in ostial LM disease. Conversely, OCT assessment is feasible in distal LM lesions [15]. A small study recently reported the feasibility of OCT guidance to support the decision to defer revascularization in low-risk patients with angiographically-intermediate distal LM lesions [16]. Notably, despite the adoption of very conservative OCT parameters prompting revascularization, very few events occurred in deferred patients.

When moving from lesion assessment to PCI optimization, OCT potential is increasingly recognized. Due to the ability of 3D reconstruction, OCT has an advantage in the visualization of struts hanging over the side branch ostium, in the estimation of wire position and wire recrossing point. OCT is accepted as a feasible and safe imaging tool in the distal LM PCI setting, particularly for the detection and correction of acute stent underexpansion and malapposition [17]. The recently published LEft Main Oct-guided iNterventions (LEMON) study, showed that OCT-derived information regarding stent optimization changed procedural strategy in 26% of the studied LM PCI patients [18]. Furthermore, a large retrospective multicenter study comparing OCT with IVUS and angiography in patients who underwent distal LM stenting allowed researchers to document that intravascular imaging was superior to angiography for distal LM stenting, with no difference between OCT and IVUS [19].

Figures 1 and 2 describes the main features of LM functional and imaging assessment.

HOW TO MANAGE ISOLATED OSTIAL LEFT ANTERIOR OR LEFT CIRCUMFLEX ARTERY DISEASE?

One of the most challenging atherosclerotic plaque distribution patterns in LMB is certainly ostial disease of one of its branches. Although described and defined as apparently simple Medina 0.1.0 or Medina 0.0.1 by angiography, the involvement of distal LM disease in these circumstances is often not easy to estimate. According to an IVUS study, isolated ostial LAD and ostial LCX disease were far less common than when appreciated by simple angiography [20]. Similar observations have been collected more recently by OCT [15]. In other words, any time isolated LAD or LCX stenosis is encountered, the main concern to guide therapy is related to the proper assessment of distal LM anatomy.

Concerning the stenting technique, the common choice is between the ostial branch stenting and crossover stenting from LM to the diseased branch (according to either provisional or inverted provisional).

Ostial stenting can pose difficulties with stent positioning, which can lead to the longitudinal geographical miss. If positioned too distal, there is a concern of missing the diseased ostium, and if placed too proximal, it can produce free-floating struts in front of the side branch (SB) ostium, inducing a higher risk for thrombosis and restenosis.

Furthermore, even when properly done, "nailing" the LAD ostium can cause damage to LCX ostium, mostly by shifting/displacement of the carina although the snow-



Figure 1. The main features of the left main imaging assessment

Abbreviations: IVUS, intravascular ultrasound; LM, left main; OCT, optical coherence tomography; PCI, percutaneous coronary intervention



Figure 2. The main features of the left main functional assessment

Abbreviations: ACS, acute coronary syndrome; CCS, chronic coronary syndrome; FFR, fractional flow reserve; iFR, instantaneous wave-free ratio; NSTEMI, non-ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction; STEMI, ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction; other — see Figure 1

plow phenomenon (plaque shifting), spasm, and dissection could be seen as well. According to Medina et al. [21], among all features, the presence of the vulnerable carina, spiky carina, morphology described as an "eyebrow" sign on IVUS, was recognized as the only independent predictor of the LCX damage after ostial LAD stenting. Unexpectedly, although the mean stent protrusion in front of the LCX ostium was 2.48 mm (2.8 mm in the group with LCX damage and 2.3 mm in the group without LCX damage), it was not recognized as an independent predictor of LCX damage [21].

However, if the longitudinal geographical miss is recognized, it can be solved either by crossover stenting or with a 2-stent technique, depending on the level and the degree of longitudinal geographical miss. Otherwise, when not recognized immediately, it can cause obliteration of LCX ostium due to fenestrated restenosis. Converting to the 2-stent technique seems to be the best solution as it is shown in Figure 3.

The prevalence of vulnerable carina or "eyebrow" sign is described to be higher in bifurcation lesions with smaller bifurcation angles (LAD-D for example), compared to LMB [22]. Not only in ostial LAD stenting but also in crossover bifurcation stenting, the presence of the "eyebrow" sign is a powerful predictor of SB damage [22].

When all the prerequisites for ostial stenting are met, including proper distal guidewire position and guiding catheter engagement, 3 additional techniques can help to avoid the longitudinal geographical miss.

One of them is the very well-known Szabo technique [23], which was used for aorto-ostial lesions at first and then modified to use for ostial bifurcation lesion stenting. This technique requires a second anchor guidewire which will pass through the last proximal stent strut. The stent is



Figure 3. Tight ostial LCX stenosis caused by fenestrated restenosis after ostial LAD stenting with stent struts protruding into the LM. Successful treatment with the mini-Culotte technique. **A.** Ostial LCX stenosis after ostial LAD stenting; **B.** OCT run from LAD showing stent struts protruding into the LM in front of LCX ostium; **C.** Fenestrated restenosis at the LCX ostium; **D.** Final angiography result after PCI (DES 4.0 × 28 mm from LM toward the LCX-mini Culotte technique with a previously implanted stent in LAD); **E–F.** Final OCT run from LAD, showing good stent apposition, short stent overlap in LM (mini Culotte), widely open both SBs and centered carina

Abbreviations: DES, drug-eluting stent; LAD, left anterior descending; LCX, left circumflex; SB, side branch; other — see Figure 1

Figure 4. Crossover stenting in isolated ostial LCX disease. A. LM bifurcation Medina 0.0.1 (AP-CAU view); B. OCT run from LAD before PCI showing tight lesion at the level of LCX and no significant stenosis of ostial LAD and distal LM; C. Crossover stenting (DES 3.5×38 mm) from LM toward LCX (AP-CRA view); **D.** POT with 4.5 × 12 mm (AP-CAU view); E. Kissing with NC balloons 3.25×15 mm (LCX) and 2.75 × 12 mm (LAD) balloons; **F.** Repeated POT with 4.5×12 mm; G. Final angiography result (AP-CAU view); H. Final OCT run showing widely open SB (LAD) and perfect stent apposition in LCX and LM

Abbreviations: POT, proximal optimization technique; other — see Figures 1 and 3

advanced over both the primary and the anchor guidewire which is placed in the SB and used to stop the advancement of the stent just at the ostium of the target vessel.

When high mobility of the stent is noticed (due to bobbing or to-and-fro motion of the stent caused by cardiac contraction), other alternatives like the buddy balloon technique [24] or rapid transcoronary pacing [25] have been proposed to increase the chance to deliver the stent in the appropriate location.

In conclusion, despite experience and tricks, precise ostial stenting (notwithstanding its apparent simplicity) should be regarded as a technique associated with a good final result that is difficult to achieve. Accordingly, crossover stenting is often adopted not only in ostial LAD but also in ostial LCX disease as it is shown in Figure 4. According to a small study comparing ostial versus crossover stenting in ostial LAD disease, crossover stenting was associated with numerically lower MACE rates (10.1 vs. 21%; P = 0.2) and target vessel revascularization (TVR) rates (5.6% vs. 21%; P = 0.04) in comparison to ostial stenting [26]. Another retrospective study confirmed those results and showed that PCI strategy (ostial stenting) was an independent predictor of 1-year MACE (HR 2.561; 95% Cl, 1.041–6.299; P = 0.021) [27].

Figure 5 summarizes the options to be considered for ostial LAD and LCX treatment.

Figure 5. Ostial side branch disease — choosing between ostial versus crossover stenting Abbreviations: see Figures 1, 3 and 4

WHEN TREATING LEFT MAIN WITH A SINGLE STENT, IS "KISSING" MANDATORY?

The most commonly adopted technique in LM stenting is the stepwise provisional single stent technique. According to this approach, recommended by the European Bifurcation Club (EBC) [28], a stent is implanted in the main vessel (with the size selected according to the distal reference) and appropriate postdilation of the proximal stent segment (lying in the left main) is done with a properly sized balloon according to the proximal optimization technique (POT) technique. These simple steps might imply some challenges in the specific setting of LM where differences in the size of proximal and distal references might be major (so that the stent expansion limits might be reached) and balloons needed might be large (beyond 5 mm). If properly done, with a balloon positioned exactly at the level of the carina, reaching, but not exceeding the proximal stent edge in the absence of ostial coverage [29], POT is known to expand the stent's side cells so that further interventions (like wire and balloon advancement) on the side branch are facilitated. For instance, such partial removal of stent struts from the side branch ostium is sometimes so effective (Figure 6) that the question about the real need to dilate the side branch in the presence of good angiographic results does exist.

While kissing balloon inflation (KBI) is considered to be an obligatory step in the 2-stent strategy, in the provisional single stent strategy, there is conflicting evidence about its usefulness, not only in non-LM but also in LMB (Table 1). Although it is shown that KBI can reduce the incidence of SB restenosis, it does not influence clinical outcomes and is not recommended to be used systematically [30, 31]. Furthermore, the benefit of KBI in terms of MACE reduction has not been confirmed in the recently published sub-analysis of the EXCEL trial [32] investigating the influence of final KBI in the distal LMB.

Notably, there is some evidence that only POT can be considered a protective factor for TLF while both KBI and the joint action of POT and KBI do not affect TLF reduction [34]. However, the lack of randomized trials that investigate the synergism of POT and KBI, as well as a low rate of POT and not reported rate of POT in a majority of trials, may influence the heterogenicity of results (Table 1).

Importantly, although the advantages of systematic KBI in provisional single stenting are not recognized, there was no penalty in the clinical outcome either (Table 1).

However, not only kissing but also the quality of kissing might influence its efficacy and SB opening [35]. More recently, a large registry on ULM PCI with last-generation stents looking at the technique for KBI showed that only short overlap KBI (<3 mm) was associated with a lower rate of target lesion revascularization compared with no KBI (2.6% vs. 5.4%; P = 0.034), while long overlap was not (6.8% vs. 5.4%; P = 0.567) [36].

Longer proximal balloons overlap, and the use of SC balloons can cause overstretching of proximal MB that becomes oval, which should be fixed with repeated POT. With this re-POT, we aim to restore the round shape of proximal MB, to achieve better stent expansion, to fix malapposition and a "bottleneck" effect if present, thus regaining the fractal geometry of LM [37].

Figure 6. Feasibility of SB opening with properly done POT after crossover stenting in distal LM (Medina 1.1.0). **A.** LMB Medina 1.1.0; **B.** Implantation of DES 4.0×24 mm in LM-LAD; **C.** Stent boost for precise POT balloon positioning; **C1.** POT with NC balloon 5.0×15 mm; **D.** Final angiography result; **E.** Final OCT showing wide SB opening (upper picture) and perfect adaptation of the stent of the 2 diameters of LM and LAD (bottom picture)

Abbreviations: see Figures 1, 3, 4

Study/first author	Study design	No. of patients	% LM	KBI (N)	POT (%)	Follow- -up, months	% MI KBI vs. no KBI	% Cardiac death KBI vs. no KBI	% TLR KBI vs. no KBI	% MACEb KBI vs. no KBI
COBIS II [61]	Registry	1901	25.9	620	NA	36	0.6 vs. 1.8	0.6 vs. 1.2	5.8 vs. 6.6	6.8 vs. 8.6ª
NORDIC III [62]	RCT	477	8.0	238	NA	6	0.4 vs. 1.3	0.8 vs. 0.0	1.3 vs. 1.7	2.1 vs. 2.5
AOI-LMCA [63]	Registry	738	100	578 ^d	NA	48	2.6 vs. 6.4	6.3 vs. 9.1	10.7 vs. 14.3	17.0 vs. 21.3
SMART-STRATEGY [64]	RCT	258	44.1	130	NA	12	0 vs. 0	0.8 vs. 0.0	5.4 vs. 7.8	9.2 vs. 9.4
CORPAL [65]	RCT	244	8.2	124	31	12	0.8 vs. 0.8	1.6 vs. 0.8	4 vs. 1.7	9.0 vs. 6.0
ASAN-MAIN [66]	Retro- spective	413	100	95	NA	24	0 vs. 0.7	4.6 vs. 3.9	8.1 vs. 4.8	12.5 vs. 8.5
Gao [67]	Retro- spective	790	100	230	NA	48	5.7 vs. 7.5	3.5 vs. 3.0	3.5 vs. 5.0	7.8 vs. 10
I-BIGIS [68]	Retro- spective	2849	13.1	1176	NA	22.4	4.9 vs. 3.4	2.9 vs. 2.7	10.7 vs. 8.9	14.5 vs. 12.7
Hariki [69]	Retro- spective	76	7.9	33	NA	25.9	NA	NA	9.1 vs. 12.8	6.1 vs. 2.6
Rain-cardiogroup VII [36]	Registry	2099	NA ^e	755	NA	16	7.3 vs. 5.3	6.1 vs. 6.6 ^f	5.3 vs. 3.2	15 vs. 12.4
EXCEL [32]	RCT	430	100	175	NA	48	8.4 vs. 5.6	4.8 vs. 3.6 10 vs. 9.3 ^f	9.5 vs. 9.5	17.5 vs. 15.9 ^c
COBIS III [33]	Retro- spective	2194	31.1	509 ^d	28.7	60	2.4 vs. 1.5	2.8 vs. 3.0	3.5 vs. 4.0	6.7 vs. 7.0
Chevalier et al. [34]	Registry	4180	13.6	1517	37.7	12	1.0 vs. 1.9	1.8 vs. 1.6	2.4 vs. 2.7%	4.5 vs. 4.7

Table 1. Effect of KBI vs. no KBI in provisional single stent technique in the trials that included LMB

^aP <0.05. ^bMACE-Target lesion failure (defined as a composite of cardiac death, target vessel MI, or target lesion revascularization). ^cPrimary endpoint (death, MI, stroke); ^dSB opening; ^e26.7% in the overall RAIN-GROUP VII population that included 2742 patients. ^fAII-cause death

Abbreviations: KBI, kissing balloon inflation; LM, left main; MACE, major adverse cardiac events; MI, myocardial infarction; NA, not applicable; POT, proximal optimization technique; RCT, randomized clinical trial; SB, side branch; TLR, target lesion revascularization

Another technique for SB opening in crossover stenting is POT-side-rePOT [38, 39]. This technique consists in single balloon dilatation of SB ostium after the first POT and properly done distal rewiring, followed by repeated POT. Although simple and feasible, with a reduction of SB obstruction from 26% to 3.3% in the experimental model [38], it can distort the stent, usually on the opposite wall, especially if the SB is of a bigger diameter; the larger the balloon, the larger the stent deformation.

However, in LMB, especially in true LMB, with a large amount of jeopardized myocardium in the SB territory, the only acceptable SB opening technique would be kissing, practiced in a refined way, in a joint action of POT, distal SB rewiring, and done with short proximal overlap and followed with re-POT. Only in this way, complete struts clearance in front of SB ostium and relocation of carina in the center can be obtained, thus improving wall shear stress [40].

Nevertheless, when dealing with LM trifurcation disease, which is distinct due to the presence of 2 SBs, 2 carinas, at least four angles, in provisional single stent technique, after essential POT, two-step kissing or triple balloon kissing ("trissing") is advisable for side branches opening and relocation of both carinas [41].

WHICH TECHNIQUE FOR LEFT MAIN BIFURCATION WITH EXTENSIVE DISEASE IN BOTH BRANCHES?

One of the most frequently asked questions in LM PCI, especially in the presence of extensive disease in both branches, defined as true LM bifurcation (Medina 1.1.1, Medina 1.0.1, or Medina 0.1.1), is whether to select upfront the two stent technique or to downgrade it to a single stent technique and in what circumstances.

A recently conducted meta-analysis of nine randomized controlled trials with 3265 patients, evaluating long-term outcomes (\geq 1 year) according to treatment strategy for coronary bifurcation lesions concluded that provisional single stenting was associated with lower all-cause mortality (2.94% vs. 4.23%; risk ratio: 0.69; 95% Cl, 0.48–1.00; P = 0.049) [42].

However, when focusing on LM bifurcation lesions only, the first and until recently the only randomized trial conducted in these subgroup of patients, DKCRUSH-V showed superior results with the double kissing (DK) crush technique over the provisional single stent technique [43], therefore DK crush is considered as preferred option to treat true LMB (Class of recommendation IIb, level of evidence B) [1].

On the other hand, the recently published EBC MAIN trial [44] compared the stepwise provisional single stent strategy, which could convert into two stents as a bailout (patients with <TIMI 3 flow in SB, >90% of ostial pinching of SB, threatened SB closure or dissection > type A), with

the upfront 2-stent technique in true distal LMB. It showed that there was no difference in the primary composite endpoint at 1 year (14.7% in stepwise provisional single stent vs. 17.7% in the upfront 2 stent group). There was no significant difference in any of the individual components of the primary endpoint.

Comparing those 2 trials (Table 2), the DK CRUSH-V population had a higher mean SYNTAX score in comparison to the EBC MAIN trial (31 vs. 23), with a higher SB lesion length (16 vs 7 mm), which is why almost half of the patients in DK CRUSH-V were converted from a single to 2-stent technique (47.1% of patients). By comparison, in the EBC MAIN trial, only 22 % of patients randomized to a single stent strategy converted to two stent strategy (Culotte or T/TAP equally).

The contradictory results of the ten RCTs evaluating outcomes between 1 versus 2 stents in bifurcation lesions that included LMB (Table 2), may be explained by the diversity of the study population, which not only presented true LMB lesions but also by disease complexity and the extent, presence of calcium, and unfavorable angles which can influence the outcome [45–48], as well as heterogenicity of double stenting techniques.

Furthermore, when it comes to stenting optimization techniques, although there are also conflicting results (Table 3), it is important to underline that unlike in the provisional single stent technique, where kissing is optional, in two stent strategy, it is shown that final KBI can influence outcomes and should be considered mandatory [36]. In the 2-stent subgroup of patients included in the large RAIN-CARDIOGROUP VII registry, final KBI was associated with lower rates of TVR (7.8% vs. 15.9%; P = 0.030) and target lesion revascularization (7.3% vs. 15.2%; P = 0.032), thus demonstrating the necessity of applying KBI in 2 stent techniques [36]. Importantly, KBI is done in a specific manner (sequential kissing with non-compliant balloons with short proximal overlap [40]).

Consequently, the stepwise provisional single stent strategy may be a reasonable option to treat the majority of true LMB lesions, of course, bearing in mind the complexity and the extent of the disease, discrepancy in SB diameters, and presence of unfavorable angles, which can make operators convert to two stent strategy if needed. Thus, in complex LMB with diffusely diseased, calcified SB and particularly with unfavorable SB take-off, when SB damage could be expected after MB stenting or SB needed to be treated first, we should start with an upfront 2 stent technique. In all other circumstances, and when there is no damage of SB after MB stenting, we should continue with a single stent strategy. However, if the result in SB is not satisfactory (dissection >type A, impaired flow), then proceeding to a 2-stent technique is mandatory (either Culotte or T/TAP, mainly based on bifurcation angle), followed by obligatory sequences of POT, kissing and re-POT.

Study/year	No of pts	1 ^c end- -point	True bif. % (1 vs. 2 stents)	LMB, %	2-stent technique, %	SB lesion length, mm	SB stenosis diameter % (1 vs. 2 stents)	% of pts with B angle < 70 ^c (or avg degree)	Cross- -over from 1 to 2 stents, %	KBI 1 vs. 2 stents	Follow- -up, years	MI 1 vs. 2 stents, %	Death 1 vs. 2 stents, %	TLR 1 vs. 2 stents, %	Primary end-point 1 vs. 2 stents, %
NORDIC 2013 [70]	413	MACE (CD, NPMI, TVR, ST)	72 (77 vs. 67)ª	0.7	Crush (50) Culotte (21) Other (29)	2	NA	63 vs. 66	4.4	32 vs. 74	5	4.0 vs. 7.9	5.9 vs. 10.4	11.3 vs. 15.3	15.1 vs. 21.8
BBK 1 2015 [71, 72]	202	All-cause de- ath, MI or TLR	68.3	0	T stent	10.2	53.8	(49.9 vs. 47.6)	18.8	100 vs. 100	Ŋ	NA	7.9 vs. 10.0	16.2 vs. 16.3	22.8 vs. 22.9
PERFECT 2015 [73]	419	CD, MI or TVR	86.6	0	Crush (99)	9.3	55.2	NA	28.2	79 vs. 96	-	14.1 vs. 14.1	1.0 vs. 1.4	3.4 vs. 1.9	18.5 vs. 17.8
NORDIC BALTIC Bifurcation IV 2015 [74]	446	MACE (CD, NPMI, TLR and def ST)	100	2	Culotte (67) T-stent (7) Other (26)	5.8	45.8	49.3 vs. 48.9	3.7	36.1 vs 91.2	2	5.1 vs. 3.1	2.3 vs. 2.2	9.2 vs. 6.2	12.8 vs. 8.4
BBC1 2016 [75, 76]	500	Death	83.2 (81 vs. 84)	0	Crush (68) Culotte (30) Other (2)	NA	NA	85 vs. 87 ^d	2.8	29 vsc 76	2	3.6 vsc 11.2 ^a	0.4 vsc 0.8	5.6 vsc 7.2 ^e	8.0 vs 15.2 ^a
EBC TWO 2016 [77]	202	Death, MI or TVR	100	0	Culotte	10.3	54.5	NA	16	94 vs. 96	-	4.9 vs. 10.3	2.0 vs. 1.1	2.9 vs. 1.0 ^f	7.7 vs. 10.3
SMART STRATEGY 2016 [78]	258	TVF (CD, spont. MI or TVR)	66.3	44.2	TAP	NA	NA	NA	7	26 vs. 69	m	0 vs. 3.1	0.8 vs. 3.1 ^b	8.6 vs. 11.5	11.7 vs. 20.8ª
DK CRUSH II 2017 [79]	370	CD, MI or TVR	100	16.7	DK Crush	15	NA	NA	29	79.2 vs. 100	Ŋ	3.2 vs. 3.8	3.2 vs. 2.2 ^b	16.2 vs. 8.6 ^a	23.8 vs. 15.7
DK CRUSH-V 2017 [43]	482	CD, TVMI, or TLR	100	100	DK Crush	16	65.6 (65.3 vs. 65.8)	(79.7 vs. 76.3)	47.1	78.9 vs. 99.6ª	-	2.9 vs. 0.4 ^{ac}	2.1 vs. 1.2 ^b	7.9 vs. 3.8	10.7 vs. 5.0 ^a
EBC MAIN 2021 [44]	467	Death MI TLR	100	100	Culotte (53) T/TAP (32) DK crush (5)	٢	53.6 (51.9 vs. 55.4)	(80.4 vs. 82.3)	22	89 vs. 93	-	10 vs. 10.1	3.0 vs. 4.2	6.1 vs. 9.3	14.7 vs. 17.7
^a P <0.05. ^b Cardiac death. Abbreviations: CABG, co	^{.c} Target ves ronary arte	ssel MI. ^d Bifurcatio ry bypass grafting	n angle <60%. "Tarç 3; CD, cardiac death,	jet vessel 1 LMB, left u	failure (TVR with PCI main bifurcation; NF	or CABG or MI, non-pro-	postprocedural TIN cedural MI; ST, sten	11<3 in either MB (at thrombosis; TVA	or SB). ^f Targe: Ml, target ves	t vessel revascular sel MI; TVR, target	ization vessel reva.	scularization; othe	er — see Table 1		

Table 2. Trials on single stent vs. 2-stents in bifurcation lesions

Table 3. Effect of KBI vs. no KBI in the 2-stent technique in the studies that included the left main bifurcation

Study/first author	Study design	Num- ber of patients	% left main	KBI, n	РОТ, %	Follo- w-up months	% MI KBI vs. no KBI	%Cardiac death KBI vs. no KBI	% TLR KBI vs. no KBI	% MACE KBI vs. no KBI
Ge et al. [80]	Observational	181	26.5	116	NA	9	10.3 vs. 13.9	1.7 vs. 0.0	9.5 vs. 24.6ª	19.8 vs. 38.5 ^{a,d}
Grundeken et al. [81]	Registry	745	5.6	624	NA	б	5.0 vs 4.6	1.7 vs 4.6ª	4.7 vs 2.9	9.2 vs 10.1 ^e
RAIN-CARDIOGRO- UP VII [36]	Registry	439	NA ^b	321	NA	16	vs 6.0	6.6 vs. 3.9°	7.3 vs 15.2ª	16.6 vs 24.9 ^f
EXCELsubstudy [32]	Substudy from RCT	329	100	235	NA	48	13.5 vs 14.4	7.4 vs 10 8.6 vs. 17.4 ^{a,c}	17.3 vs 14.1	19.8 vs 25.8 ⁹

^aP < 0.05. ^b26.7% in the overall RAIN-GROUP VII population that included 2742 patients. ^cAll-cause death. ^dMACE-cardiac death, MI and TVR. ^eTarget vessel failure (TVF) — cardiac death, any MI and TVR; ^dMACE — all-cause death, MI, TLR, and stent thrombosis. ^gMACE — death, MI, or stroke

Abbreviations: see Tables 1 and 2

WHAT ABOUT HEMODYNAMIC STABILITY DURING LM PCI?

One of the most challenging situations in terms of possible hemodynamic compromise and poor clinical outcome is, for sure, LM PCI in the setting of absent right coronary artery (RCA) support. The definition of absent RCA support varies throughout the published data, with chronic total occlusion (CTO) being the most common. Although the majority of patients with LM disease and RCA CTO are scheduled for coronary artery bypass grafting (CABG) [49], it is not an infrequent situation to deal with LM PCI in this particular setting. The current data support the fact that patients with concomitant RCA CTO have a worse outcome and a higher mortality rate in comparison to patients without RCA CTO [50-52], with RCA CTO as an independent predictor of 3-year cardiac mortality in LM PCI (HR 2.15 [1.02–4.05]; P = 0.043) [51]. Furthermore, it is shown that the recanalization of RCA CTO significantly improves long-term survival [52].

Contrary to previous retrospective trials and registries, the recently published data by Skorupski et al. [53] failed to demonstrate the impact of RCA support on prognosis in patients undergoing LM PCI and exhibited a low risk of both acute hemodynamic compromise and late adverse outcome. However, the study population enrolled by Skorupski et al. [53] was characterized by the broad definition of absent RCA support, including patients not only with RCA CTO (only 14.3% of patients) but also with significant stenosis or recessive (non-dominant) RCA. Furthermore, the average SYNTAX score of 21, EuroSCORE II of 1.45%, and preserved ejection fraction (mean value around 55%) definitely influenced the results in this trial.

When faced with significant RCA stenosis in patients selected for LM PCI, it has also been shown that PCI on significant (>70%) RCA stenosis during the same hospitalization might reduce the rate of 30-day cardiovascular death [54].

Altogether, these data imply that the relevance of RCA support is strongly predisposed and influenced by the clinical condition of the patients (acute vs. chronic

Figure 7. Factors that might be assessed when considering hemodynamic support during left main PCI planning Abbreviations: LV, left ventricle; RCA, right coronary artery; other — see Figure 1

coronary syndrome), left ventricular ejection fraction, and complexity of LM PCI (Figure 7).

Thus, in the case of complex LM PCI in the setting of poor/absent RCA support (RCA stenosis or CTO), an individual approach to each patient is recommended. In complex, diffusely diseased LM PCI with reduced EF, which is considered a "high-risk PCI", the use of short-term mechanical circulatory support ("protected" PCI) is advisable to increase procedural safety [55, 56]. Furthermore, in patients with a large area of jeopardized myocardium due to RCA disease (significant stenosis of dominant proximal RCA) undergoing LM PCI, it is recommended not to leave untreated, since it is shown that it may result in impaired late outcome despite successful protected PCI [56, 57]. Despite the conflicting result of the use of MCS in high-risk PCI, except in the prevention of hemodynamic collapse, short-term MCS (preferably "axial flow pump" as Impella, HeartMate PHP, iVAC2I) should provide adequate time to achieve optimal and complete revascularization (or a reasonable level of revascularization completeness) [58, 59].

CONCLUSIONS

According to the current evidence about the most challenging issues in LM PCI summarized in this review and concerning the amount of myocardium at risk and possible consequences, it is important to highlight several crucial points:

- pragmatic use of functional assessment and imaging techniques in LM evaluation, guidance, and final result assessment;
- if weighing between stenting techniques, the stepwise provisional single stent is preferable over the two stent technique;
- different techniques can be used for SB opening, but POT cannot be omitted;
- in ostial SB disease, do not hesitate to perform crossover stenting.

Concerning all the mentioned above points, it is obvious that LM PCI should be done only by an experienced intervention cardiologist [60] familiar with all bifurcation techniques, intracoronary imaging, and mechanical circulatory support devices.

Article information

Conflict of interest: FB, CT, ER, and CA received speakers' fees from Abbott, Medtronic, Terumo, and Abiomed.

Open access: This article is available in open access under Creative Common Attribution-Non-Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) license, allowing to download articles and share them with others as long as they credit the authors and the publisher, but without permission to change them in any way or use them commercially. For commercial use, please contact the journal office at kardiologiapolska@ptkardio.pl.

REFERENCES

- Neumann FJ, Sousa-Uva M, Ahlsson A, et al. ESC Scientific Document Group. 2018 ESC/EACTS Guidelines on myocardial revascularization. Eur Heart J. 2019; 40(2): 87–165, doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehy394, indexed in Pubmed: 30165437.
- Isner JM, Kishel J, Kent KM, et al. Accuracy of angiographic determination of left main coronary arterial narrowing. Angiographic-histologic correlative analysis in 28 patients. Circulation. 1981; 63(5): 1056–1064, doi: 10.1161/01.cir.63.5.1056, indexed in Pubmed: 7471365.
- Toth G, Hamilos M, Pyxaras S, et al. Evolving concepts of angiogram: fractional flow reserve discordances in 4000 coronary stenoses. Eur Heart J. 2014; 35(40): 2831–2838, doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehu094, indexed in Pubmed: 24644308.
- Patel P, Rao R, Sethi P, et al. Functional assessment of coronary artery lesions-old and new kids on the block. Int J Angiol. 2021; 30(1): 40–47, doi: 10.1055/s-0041-1723942, indexed in Pubmed: 34025094.
- Modi BN, van de Hoef TP, Piek JJ, et al. Physiological assessment of left main coronary artery disease. EuroIntervention. 2017; 13(7):820–827, doi: 10.4244/EIJ-D-17-00135, indexed in Pubmed: 28606883.
- Milasinovic D, Stankovic G. Towards a common pathway for the treatment of left main disease: contemporary evidence and future directions: Left main disease treatment. AsiaIntervention. 2021; 7(2): 85–95, doi: 10.4244/AIJ-D-21-00022, indexed in Pubmed: 34913011.
- Warisawa T, Cook CM, Rajkumar C, et al. Safety of revascularization deferral of left main stenosis based on instantaneous wave-free ratio eval-

uation. JACC Cardiovasc Interv. 2020; 13(14): 1655–1664, doi: 10.1016/j. jcin.2020.02.035, indexed in Pubmed: 32417088.

- Layland J, Oldroyd KG, Curzen N, et al. FAMOUS–NSTEMI investigators. Fractional flow reserve vs. angiography in guiding management to optimize outcomes in non-ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction: the British Heart Foundation FAMOUS-NSTEMI randomized trial. Eur Heart J. 2015; 36(2): 100–111, doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehu338, indexed in Pubmed: 25179764.
- Nam CW, Hur SH, Koo BK, et al. Fractional flow reserve versus angiography in left circumflex ostial intervention after left main crossover stenting. Korean Circ J. 2011; 41(6): 304–307, doi: 10.4070/kcj.2011.41.6.304, indexed in Pubmed: 21779282.
- de la Torre Hernandez JM, Hernández Hernandez F, Alfonso F, et al. LITRO Study Group (Spanish Working Group on Interventional Cardiology). Prospective application of pre-defined intravascular ultrasound criteria for assessment of intermediate left main coronary artery lesions results from the multicenter LITRO study. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2011; 58(4): 351–358, doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2011.02.064, indexed in Pubmed: 21757111.
- Mintz GS, Lefèvre T, Lassen JF, et al. Intravascular ultrasound in the evaluation and treatment of left main coronary artery disease: a consensus statement from the European Bifurcation Club. EuroIntervention. 2018; 14(4): e467–e474, doi: 10.4244/EIJ-D-18-00194, indexed in Pubmed: 29688182.
- de la Torre Hernandez JM, Garcia Camarero T, Baz Alonso JA, et al. Outcomes of predefined optimisation criteria for intravascular ultrasound guidance of left main stenting. EuroIntervention. 2020; 16(3): 210–217, doi: 10.4244/EIJ-D-19-01057, indexed in Pubmed: 32011286.
- Prati F, Guagliumi G, Mintz GS, et al. Expert's OCT Review Document. Expert review document part 2: methodology, terminology and clinical applications of optical coherence tomography for the assessment of interventional procedures. Eur Heart J. 2012; 33(20): 2513–2520, doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehs095, indexed in Pubmed: 22653335.
- Radu MD, Räber L, Heo J, et al. Natural history of optical coherence tomography-detected non-flow-limiting edge dissections following drug-eluting stent implantation. EuroIntervention. 2014; 9(9): 1085–1094, doi: 10.4244/EIJV9I9A183, indexed in Pubmed: 24064426.
- Burzotta F, Dato I, Trani C, et al. Frequency domain optical coherence tomography to assess non-ostial left main coronary artery. EuroIntervention. 2015; 10(9): e1–e8, doi: 10.4244/EJJV10I9A179, indexed in Pubmed: 25599698.
- Dato I, Burzotta F, Trani C, et al. Optical coherence tomography guidance for the management of angiographically intermediate left main bifurcation lesions: Early clinical experience. Int J Cardiol. 2017; 248: 108–113, doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2017.06.125, indexed in Pubmed: 28709701.
- Cortese B, Burzotta F, Alfonso F, et al. Role of optical coherence tomography for distal left main stem angioplasty. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv. 2020; 96(4): 755–761, doi: 10.1002/ccd.28547, indexed in Pubmed: 31631525.
- Amabile N, Rangé G, Souteyrand G, et al. Optical coherence tomography to guide percutaneous coronary intervention of the left main coronary artery: the LEMON study. EuroIntervention. 2021; 17(2): e124–e131, doi: 10.4244/EIJ-D-20-01121, indexed in Pubmed: 33226003.
- Cortese B, de la Torre Hernandez JM, Lanocha M, et al. Optical coherence tomography, intravascular ultrasound or angiography guidance for distal left main coronary stenting. The ROCK cohort II study. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv. 2022; 99(3): 664–673, doi: 10.1002/ccd.29959, indexed in Pubmed: 34582631.
- Oviedo C, Maehara A, Mintz GS, et al. Intravascular ultrasound classification of plaque distribution in left main coronary artery bifurcations: where is the plaque really located? Circ Cardiovasc Interv. 2010; 3(2): 105–112, doi: 10.1161/CIRCINTERVENTIONS.109.906016, indexed in Pubmed: 20197513.
- Medina A, Martín P, Suárez de Lezo J, et al. Vulnerable carina anatomy and ostial lesions in the left anterior descending coronary artery after floating-stent treatment. Rev Esp Cardiol. 2009; 62(11): 1240–1249, doi: 10.1016/s1885-5857(09)73351-1, indexed in Pubmed: 19889335.
- Suárez de Lezo J, Medina A, Martín P, et al. Predictors of ostial side branch damage during provisional stenting of coronary bifurcation lesions not involving the side branch origin: an ultrasonographic study. EuroIntervention. 2012; 7(10): 1147–1154, doi: 10.4244/EIJV7I10A185, indexed in Pubmed: 22030298.
- 23. Szabo S, Abramowitz B, Vaitkus P. New technique for aorto-ostial stent placement. Am J Cardiol. 2005; 96: 212H.

- Chen GC, Lu XM, Song YM, et al. A 3-year experience of a simple, novel technique for accurate ostial/non-ostial coronary stenting: The buddy balloon anchor stent technique. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv. 2018; 92(6): 1147–1152, doi: 10.1002/ccd.27667, indexed in Pubmed: 30019847.
- Mallek K, Dalton RT, Pareek N, et al. Rapid transcoronary pacing to facilitate ostial stent placement. JACC Cardiovasc Interv. 2021; 14(10): e111–e112, doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2021.02.010, indexed in Pubmed: 33933390.
- Rigatelli G, Zuin M, Baracca E, et al. Long-term clinical outcomes of isolated ostial left anterior descending disease treatment: ostial stenting versus left main cross-over stenting. Cardiovasc Revasc Med. 2019; 20(12): 1058– 1062, doi: 10.1016/j.carrev.2019.01.030, indexed in Pubmed: 30797760.
- Yang ZK, Hu J, Ding FH, et al. One-year outcome of single-stent crossover versus accurate ostial stenting for isolated left anterior descending ostial stenosis. Coron Artery Dis. 2022; 31(1): e67–e72, doi: 10.1097/MCA.00000000001071, indexed in Pubmed: 34010192.
- Burzotta F, Lassen JF, Louvard Y, et al. European Bifurcation Club white paper on stenting techniques for patients with bifurcated coronary artery lesions. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv. 2020; 96(5): 1067–1079, doi: 10.1002/ccd.29071, indexed in Pubmed: 32579300.
- Dérimay F, Rioufol G, Nishi T, et al. Optimal balloon positioning for the proximal optimization technique? An experimental bench study. Int J Cardiol. 2019; 292: 95–97, doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2019.05.041, indexed in Pubmed: 31130279.
- Zhong M, Tang B, Zhao Q, et al. Should kissing balloon inflation after main vessel stenting be routine in the one-stent approach? A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized trials. PLoS One. 2018; 13(6): e0197580, doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0197580, indexed in Pubmed: 29949587.
- Liu G, Ke X, Huang ZB, et al. Final kissing balloon inflation for coronary bifurcation lesions treated with single-stent technique: A meta-analysis. Herz. 2019; 44(4): 354–362, doi: 10.1007/s00059-017-4647-1, indexed in Pubmed: 29181563.
- Kini AS, Dangas GD, Baber U, et al. Influence of final kissing balloon inflation on long-term outcomes after PCI of distal left main bifurcation lesions in the EXCEL trial. EuroIntervention. 2020; 16(3): 218–224, doi: 10.4244/EIJ-D-19-00851, indexed in Pubmed: 31763982.
- Lee C, Nam CW, Cho YK, et al. 5-year outcome of simple crossover stenting in coronary bifurcation lesions compared with side branch opening. JACC: Asia. 2021; 1(1): 53–64, doi: 10.1016/j.jacasi.2021.04.002.
- Chevalier B, Mamas MA, Hovasse T, et al. Clinical outcomes of the proximal optimisation technique (POT) in bifurcation stenting. EuroIntervention. 2021; 17(11): e910–e918, doi: 10.4244/EIJ-D-20-01393, indexed in Pubmed: 33970107.
- Burzotta F, Trani C. In bifurcation PCI, as in everyday life, the consequences of kissing may not always be the same. EuroIntervention. 2016; 11(11): e1209–e1213, doi: 10.4244/EJJV11111A240, indexed in Pubmed: 26865437.
- Gaido L, D'Ascenzo F, Imori Y, et al. Impact of kissing balloon in patients treated with ultrathin stents for left main lesions and bifurcations: an analysis from the RAIN-CARDIOGROUP VII study. Circ Cardiovasc Interv. 2020; 13(3): e008325, doi: 10.1161/CIRCINTERVENTIONS.119.008325, indexed in Pubmed: 32102566.
- Burzotta F, Lassen JF, Lefèvre T, et al. Percutaneous coronary intervention for bifurcation coronary lesions: the 15 consensus document from the European Bifurcation Club. EuroIntervention. 2021; 16(16): 1307–1317, doi: 10.4244/EIJ-D-20-00169, indexed in Pubmed: 33074152.
- Finet G, Derimay F, Motreff P, et al. Comparative analysis of sequential proximal optimizing technique versus kissing balloon inflation technique in provisional bifurcation stenting: fractal coronary bifurcation bench test. JACC Cardiovasc Interv. 2015; 8(10): 1308–1317, doi: 10.1016/j. jcin.2015.05.016, indexed in Pubmed: 26315733.
- Derimay F, Finet G, Souteyrand G, et al. Benefit of a new provisional stenting strategy, the re-proximal optimisation technique: the rePOT clinical study. EuroIntervention. 2018; 14(3): e325–e332, doi: 10.4244/EIJ-D-17-00941, indexed in Pubmed: 29553940.
- Murasato Y, Finet G, Foin N. Final kissing balloon inflation: the whole story. EuroIntervention. 2015; 11 Suppl V: V81–V85, doi: 10.4244/EUV11SVA18, indexed in Pubmed: 25983179.
- 41. Kovacevic M, Burzotta F, Elharty S, et al. Left main trifurcation and its percutaneous treatment: what is known so far? Circ Cardiovasc Interv.

2021; 14(3): e009872, doi: 10.1161/CIRCINTERVENTIONS.120.009872, indexed in Pubmed: 33685210.

- 42. Ford TJ, McCartney P, Corcoran D, et al. Single- versus 2-stent strategies for coronary bifurcation lesions: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized trials with long-term follow-up. J Am Heart Assoc. 2018; 7(11): e008730, doi: 10.1161/JAHA.118.008730, indexed in Pubmed: 29802145.
- Chen SL, Zhang JJ, Han Y, et al. Double kissing crush versus provisional stenting for left main distal bifurcation lesions: DKCRUSH-V randomized trial. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2017; 70(21): 2605–2617, doi: 10.1016/j. jacc.2017.09.1066, indexed in Pubmed: 29096915.
- 44. Hildick-Smith D, Egred M, Banning A, et al. The European Bifurcation Club Left Main Coronary Stent study: a randomized comparison of stepwise provisional vs. systematic dual stenting strategies (EBC MAIN). Eur Heart J. 2021; 42(37): 3829–3839, doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehab283, indexed in Pubmed: 34002215.
- Medina A, Lezo JS, Pan M. A new classification of coronary bifurcation lesions. Rev Esp Cardiol. 2006; 59(2): 183, doi: 10.1016/s1885-5857(06)60130-8.
- Burzotta F, Lassen JF, Banning AP, et al. Percutaneous coronary intervention in left main coronary artery disease: the 13th consensus document from the European Bifurcation Club. EuroIntervention. 2018; 14(1): 112–120, doi: 10.4244/EIJ-D-18-00357, indexed in Pubmed: 29786539.
- 47. Chen SL, Sheiban I, Xu Bo, et al. Impact of the complexity of bifurcation lesions treated with drug-eluting stents: the DEFINITION study (Definitions and impact of complEx biFurcation lesions on clinical outcomes after percutaNeous coronary IntervenTIOn using drug-eluting steNts). JACC Cardiovasc Interv. 2014; 7(11): 1266–1276, doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2014.04.026, indexed in Pubmed: 25326748.
- 48. Chen SL, Santoso T, Zhang JJ, et al. Clinical outcome of double kissing crush versus provisional stenting of coronary artery bifurcation lesions: the 5-year follow-up results from a randomized and multicenter DKCRUSH-II study (randomized study on double kissing crush technique versus provisional stenting technique for coronary artery bifurcation lesions). Circ Cardiovasc Interv. 2017; 10(2): e004497, doi: 10.1161/CIRCINTERVEN-TIONS.116.004497, indexed in Pubmed: 28122805.
- Christofferson RD, Lehmann KG, Martin GV, et al. Effect of chronic total coronary occlusion on treatment strategy. Am J Cardiol. 2005; 95(9): 1088– 1091, doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2004.12.065, indexed in Pubmed: 15842978.
- Capodanno D, Di Salvo ME, Tamburino C. Impact of right coronary artery disease on mortality in patients undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention of unprotected left main coronary artery disease. EuroIntervention. 2010; 6(4): 454–460, doi: 10.4244/EIJ30V6I4A77, indexed in Pubmed: 20884432.
- Migliorini A, Valenti R, Parodi G, et al. The impact of right coronary artery chronic total occlusion on clinical outcome of patients undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention for unprotected left main disease. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2011; 58(2): 125–130, doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2011.02.050, indexed in Pubmed: 21718907.
- 52. Takagi K, lelasi A, Chieffo A, et al. Impact of residual chronic total occlusion of right coronary artery on the long-term outcome in patients treated for unprotected left main disease: the Milan and New-Tokyo registry. Circ Cardiovasc Interv. 2013; 6(2): 154–160, doi: 10.1161/CIRCINTERVEN-TIONS.112.000079, indexed in Pubmed: 23572491.
- Skorupski WJ, Grygier M, Araszkiewicz A, et al. The impact of right coronary artery support on outcomes of patients with unprotected left main disease undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention. Kardiol Pol. 2021; 79(6): 631–637, doi: 10.33963/KP.15972, indexed in Pubmed: 33909388.
- Lee CH, Chong SZ, Hsueh SK, et al. Residual right coronary artery stenosis after left main coronary artery intervention increased the 30-day cardiovascular death and 3-year right coronary artery revascularization rate. J Interv Cardiol. 2020; 2020: 4587414, doi: 10.1155/2020/4587414, indexed in Pubmed: 32607081.
- Burzotta F, Crea F. "Protected" PCI: time to act. Minerva Cardioangiol. 2018; 66(5): 547–550, doi: 10.23736/S0026-4725.18.04704-7, indexed in Pubmed: 29687701.
- Burzotta F, Kovacevic M, Trani C. Right coronary artery patency as a modulator for unprotected left main PCI risk: myth or reality? Kardiol Pol. 2021; 79(6): 609–611, doi: 10.33963/KP.a2021.0031, indexed in Pubmed: 34076884.

- Aurigemma C, Burzotta F, Chieffo A, et al. IMP-IT Investigators. Clinical impact of revascularization extent in patients undergoing impella-protected PCI enrolled in a nationwide registry. JACC Cardiovasc Interv. 2021; 14(6): 717–719, doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2021.01.017, indexed in Pubmed: 33736787.
- Chieffo A, Dudek D, Hassager C, et al. Joint EAPCI/ACVC expert consensus document on percutaneous ventricular assist devices. EuroIntervention. 2021; 17(4): e274–e286, doi: 10.4244/EJY21M05_01, indexed in Pubmed: 34057071.
- Gaba P, Gersh BJ, Ali ZA, et al. Complete versus incomplete coronary revascularization: definitions, assessment and outcomes. Nat Rev Cardiol. 2021; 18(3): 155–168, doi: 10.1038/s41569-020-00457-5, indexed in Pubmed: 33067581.
- Xu Bo, Redfors B, Yang Y, et al. Impact of operator experience and Volume on outcomes after left main coronary artery percutaneous coronary intervention. JACC Cardiovasc Interv. 2016; 9(20): 2086–2093, doi: 10.1016/j. jcin.2016.08.011, indexed in Pubmed: 27765302.
- Song YB, Hahn JY, Yang JH, et al. Differential prognostic impact of treatment strategy among patients with left main versus non-left main bifurcation lesions undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention: results from the COBIS (Coronary Bifurcation Stenting) Registry II. JACC Cardiovasc Interv. 2014; 7(3): 255–263, doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2013.11.009, indexed in Pubmed: 24529936.
- 62. Niemelä M, Kervinen K, Erglis A, et al. Nordic-Baltic PCI Study Group. Randomized comparison of final kissing balloon dilatation versus no final kissing balloon dilatation in patients with coronary bifurcation lesions treated with main vessel stenting: the Nordic-Baltic Bifurcation Study III. Circulation. 2011; 123(1): 79–86, doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONA-HA.110.966879, indexed in Pubmed: 21173348.
- Nishida K, Toyofuku M, Morimoto T, et al. AOI LMCA Stenting Registry Investigators. Prognostic impact of final kissing balloon technique after crossover stenting for the left main coronary artery: from the AOI-LMCA registry. Cardiovasc Interv Ther. 2019; 34(3): 197–206, doi: 10.1007/s12928-018-0522-0, indexed in Pubmed: 29691767.
- 64. Song YB, Hahn JY, Song PS, et al. Randomized comparison of conservative versus aggressive strategy for provisional side branch intervention in coronary bifurcation lesions: results from the SMART-STRATEGY (Smart Angioplasty Research Team-Optimal Strategy for Side Branch Intervention in Coronary Bifurcation Lesions) randomized trial. JACC Cardiovasc Interv. 2012; 5(11): 1133–1140, doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2012.07.010, indexed in Pubmed: 23174637.
- Pan M, Medina A, Suárez de Lezo J, et al. Coronary bifurcation lesions treated with simple approach (from the Cordoba & Las Palmas [COR-PAL] Kiss Trial). Am J Cardiol. 2011; 107(10): 1460–1465, doi: 10.1016/j. amjcard.2011.01.022, indexed in Pubmed: 21414600.
- Ahn JM, Lee PH, Park DW, et al. Benefit of final kissing balloon inflation mandatory after simple crossover stenting for left main bifurcation narrowing. Am J Cardiol. 2017; 119(4): 528–534, doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2016.11.002, indexed in Pubmed: 28007298.
- Gao Z, Xu Bo, Yang YJ, et al. Effect of final kissing balloon dilatation after one-stent technique at left-main bifurcation: a single center data. Chin Med J (Engl). 2015; 128(6): 733–739, doi: 10.4103/0366-6999.152468, indexed in Pubmed: 25758264.
- Biondi-Zoccai G, Sheiban I, De Servi S, et al. To kiss or not to kiss? Impact of final kissing-balloon inflation on early and long-term results of percutaneous coronary intervention for bifurcation lesions. Heart Vessels. 2014; 29(6): 732–742, doi: 10.1007/s00380-013-0416-0, indexed in Pubmed: 24077644.
- Hariki H, Shinke T, Otake H, et al. Potential benefit of final kissing balloon inflation after single stenting for the treatment of bifurcation lesions-insights from optical coherence tomography observations. Circ J. 2013;77(5): 1193–1201, doi: 10.1253/circj.cj-12-0848, indexed in Pubmed: 23446003.

- Maeng M, Holm NR, Erglis A, et al. Nordic-Baltic Percutaneous Coronary Intervention Study Group. Long-term results after simple versus complex stenting of coronary artery bifurcation lesions: Nordic Bifurcation Study 5-year follow-up results. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2013; 62(1): 30–34, doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2013.04.015, indexed in Pubmed: 23644088.
- Ferenc M, Gick M, Kienzle RP, et al. Randomized trial on routine vs. provisional T-stenting in the treatment of de novo coronary bifurcation lesions. Eur Heart J. 2008; 29(23): 2859–2867, doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehn455, indexed in Pubmed: 18845665.
- Ferenc M, Ayoub M, Büttner HJ, et al. Long-term outcomes of routine versus provisional T-stenting for de novo coronary bifurcation lesions: five-year results of the Bifurcations Bad Krozingen I study. EuroIntervention. 2015; 11(8): 856–859, doi: 10.4244/EJJV1118A175, indexed in Pubmed: 26696453.
- Kim YH, Lee JH, Roh JH, et al. Randomized comparisons between different stenting approaches for bifurcation coronary lesions with or without side branch stenosis. JACC Cardiovasc Interv. 2015; 8(4): 550–560, doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2015.01.016, indexed in Pubmed: 25907082.
- 74. Kumsars I, Holm NR, Niemelä M, et al. Nordic Baltic bifurcation study group. Randomised comparison of provisional side branch stenting versus a two-stent strategy for treatment of true coronary bifurcation lesions involving a large side branch: the Nordic-Baltic Bifurcation Study IV. Open Heart. 2020; 7(1): e000947, doi: 10.1136/openhrt-2018-000947, indexed in Pubmed: 32076558.
- Behan MW, Holm NR, de Belder AJ, et al. Coronary bifurcation lesions treated with simple or complex stenting: 5-year survival from patient-level pooled analysis of the Nordic Bifurcation Study and the British Bifurcation Coronary Study. Eur Heart J. 2016; 37(24): 1923–1928, doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehw170, indexed in Pubmed: 27161619.
- Hildick-Smith D, de Belder AJ, Cooter N, et al. Randomized trial of simple versus complex drug-eluting stenting for bifurcation lesions: the British Bifurcation Coronary Study: old, new, and evolving strategies. Circulation. 2010; 121(10): 1235–1243, doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.109.888297, indexed in Pubmed: 20194880.
- 77. Hildick-Smith D, Behan MW, Lassen JF, et al. The EBC TWO study (European Bifurcation Coronary TWO): a randomized comparison of provisional t-stenting versus a systematic 2 stent culotte strategy in large caliber true bifurcations. Circ Cardiovasc Interv. 2016; 9(9): e003643, doi: 10.1161/CIR-CINTERVENTIONS.115.003643, indexed in Pubmed: 27578839.
- Song YB, Park TK, Hahn JY, et al. Optimal strategy for provisional side branch intervention in coronary bifurcation lesions: 3-year outcomes of the SMART-STRATEGY randomized trial. JACC Cardiovasc Interv. 2016; 9(6): 517–526, doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2015.11.037, indexed in Pubmed: 27013152.
- 79. Chen SL, Santoso T, Zhang JJ, et al. Clinical outcome of double kissing crush versus provisional stenting of coronary artery bifurcation lesions: the 5-year follow-up results from a randomized and multicenter DKCRUSH-II study (randomized study on double kissing crush technique versus provisional stenting technique for coronary artery bifurcation lesions). Circ Cardiovasc Interv. 2017; 10(2): e004497, doi: 10.1161/CIRCINTERVEN-TIONS.116.004497, indexed in Pubmed: 28122805.
- Ge L, Airoldi F, lakovou I, et al. Clinical and angiographic outcome after implantation of drug-eluting stents in bifurcation lesions with the crush stent technique: importance of final kissing balloon post-dilation. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2005; 46(4): 613–620, doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2005.05.032, indexed in Pubmed: 16098424.
- Grundeken MJ, Lesiak M, Asgedom S, et al. Clinical outcomes after final kissing balloon inflation compared with no final kissing balloon inflation in bifurcation lesions treated with a dedicated coronary bifurcation stent. Heart. 2014; 100(6):479–486, doi: 10.1136/heartjnl-2013-304912, indexed in Pubmed: 24430096.

The association between whole blood viscosity and high thrombus burden in patients with non-ST elevation myocardial infarction

Tufan Çınar¹, Faysal Şaylık², Tayyar Akbulut², Suha Asal¹, Murat Selçuk¹, Vedat Çiçek¹, Ahmet Lütfullah Orhan¹

¹Department of Cardiology, Sultan II. Abdulhamid Han Training and Research Hospital, Istanbul, Turkey ²Department of Cardiology, Van Training and Research Hospital, Van, Turkey

Correspondence to:

Tufan Çinar, MD, Department of Cardiology, Sultan II Abdulhamid Han Training and Research Hospital, Tibbiye Street 34668, Uskudar, Istanbul, Turkey, phone: +90 216 542 2020, e-mail: drtufancinar@gmail.com Copyright by the Author(s), 2022

DOI: 10.33963/KP.a2022.0043

Received: November 21, 2021

Accepted: February 12, 2022 Early publication date: February 13, 2022

ABSTRACT

Background: Prior studies showed that patients with elevated whole blood viscosity (WBV) had a higher risk of arterial thrombosis, acute stent thrombosis, and left ventricular apical thrombus presence after acute coronary syndrome. This investigation aimed to determine the association between WBV and high thrombus burden (HTB) in non-ST elevation myocardial infarction (NSTEMI) patients treated with percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI).

Methods: This retrospective cohort investigation included data from consecutive 290 NSTEMI patients who received PCI at a tertiary institution. Patients with grade 1–3 thrombus burden were categorized as having low thrombus burden (LTB) (n = 178), whereas those with grade 4–5 thrombus burden were classified as having HTB (n = 112). WBV at high shear rate (HSR) and low shear rate (LSR) were estimated using hematocrit (HTC) and total protein levels.

Results: Patients with HTB had higher WBV at both LSR and HSR. In HTB patients, the frequency of infarct-related artery (IRA) reference vessel diameter, distal embolization, and no-reflow was also higher. Multivariable logistic regression models indicated that WBV at LSR (odds ratio [OR], 1.028; 95% confidence interval [CI], 1.014–1.043; P < 0.001) and HSR (OR, 1.606; 95% CI, 1.334–1.953; P < 0.001) were independent predictors of HTB in NSTEMI patients. Notably, the area under the curve value of WBV at both shear rates was greater than that of its components, including total protein and HTC.

Conclusion: This is the first study showing that WBV at both shear rates is a significant predictor of HTB in NSTEMI patients.

Key words: whole blood viscosity, thrombus burden, high, non-ST elevation myocardial infarction

INTRODUCTION

The main underlying cause of acute coronary syndrome (ACS) is atherosclerotic plaque erosion or injury, which leads to thrombus formation due to the exposure of thrombogenic plaque components to cellular constituents of the blood flow [1]. Notably, excessive thrombus development is a strong predictor of poor outcomes in individuals with ACS [2]. High thrombus burden (HTB) is commonly detected in ST-elevation myocardial infarction (STEMI) patients [2]. Besides that, the presence of HTB is also related to worse clinical outcomes, such as an increased risk of myocardial infarction, no-reflow, and stent thrombosis, in patients with non-ST elevation myocardial infarction (NSTEMI) [3]. Thus, predicting HTB in the infarct-related artery (IRA) before the interventional procedure may assist physicians in improving short- and long-term outcomes of NSTEMI patients.

Whole blood viscosity (WBV) is termed as internal resistance of blood flow that is closely associated with endothelial shear stress (ESS) [4]. It had long been noted that both higher ESS and blood viscosity might trigger the thrombus formation [5]. WBV is also a crucial element of Virchow's triad, which is the primary mechanism for thrombi. Since it is believed to be an appropriate indicator of blood flow,

WHAT'S NEW?

Patients with high whole blood viscosity (WBV) were more likely to develop arterial thrombosis or acute stent thrombosis. In this research, WBV at low shear rate (LSR) and high shear rate (HSR) were found to be independent predictors of high thrombus burden (HTB) in non-ST elevation myocardial infarction (NSTEMI) patients. Notably, the area under the curve value of WBV was greater at both shear rates than that of its components, including total protein and hematocrit. This is the first study to indicate that WBV at both shear rates is a significant predictor of HTB in patients with NSTEMI.

WBV has been evaluated in several cohort settings. It has been demonstrated that patients with elevated WBV have a higher risk of arterial thrombosis, acute stent thrombosis, and left ventricular apical thrombus presence after ACS [6–8]. However, to the best of our knowledge, no data suggest that WBV is also associated with HTB in patients with NSTEMI undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI). As a result, this investigation aimed to determine the association between WBV and HTB in NSTEMI patients treated with PCI.

METHODS

Data collection

The NSTEMI was accepted as persistent angina pectoris for more than 20 minutes with a rise in cardiac troponin I level beyond the upper normal limit in the context of non-ST segment elevation on a surface electrocardiogram [9]. The current study was related to the data from consecutive NSTEMI patients who had PCI at a tertiary hospital. Initially, the medical records of consecutive NSTEMI cases who were treated with PCI were screened retrospectively. Patients who had an acute infection, end-stage chronic liver disease, autoimmune illness, and those who underwent hemodialysis or peritoneal dialysis were not included. Additionally, patients with moderate to severe cardiac valvular disease and cardiac valve surgery were excluded. Lastly, to calculate WBV, hematocrit (HTC) levels should be between 32% and 53%, and plasma protein levels should be between 54 g/l and 95 g/l; thus, those who were not in the range of specified limits were excluded from the study (Figure 1). All patients' baseline characteristics, comorbidities, and previous medications were obtained from the hospital database. Our study design was evaluated and approved by the Local Ethics Commission (no. 2021/21).

Laboratory examination

Following admission to our center, all blood samples were obtained from the antecubital vein. All hematologic parameters, including white blood cell count, HTC, and hemoglobin, were determined using a hematology analyzer (Beckman Coulter, FL, US). All biochemical parameters,

Figure 1. Flow chart of the study participants

including total protein levels, were determined using the conventional methods.

Calculation of WBV

As suggested by De Simone et al. [10], WBV at a high shear rate (HSR) (208 sec⁻¹) and a low shear rate (LSR) (0.5 sec⁻¹) were determined using HTC (percent) and total protein (g/l) levels; WBV at HSR (208 sec⁻¹) = $(0.12 \times \text{HTC}) + (0.17 \times [\text{total protein-2.07]})$ and WBV at LSR (0.5 sec⁻¹) = $(1.89 \times \text{HTC}) + (3.76 \times [\text{total protein-78.42}])$.

Coronary angiography and PCI

Conventional coronary angiography (CAG) was performed by an experienced operator utilizing either a trans-radial or a trans-femoral approach. In very high-risk NSTEMI patients, an urgent CAG (within 2 hours) was performed to accomplish revascularization [9]. CAG was performed within 24 hours of hospital admission in high-risk NSTEMI patients [9]. Before the CAG procedure, all patients were treated with 300 mg of acetylsalicylic acid and a loading dose of P₂Y₁₂ inhibitors. The choice to use a glycoprotein IIb/IIIa receptor inhibitor was left to the discretion of the attending cardiologist as per hospital protocol. The PCI technique was carried out in accordance with the current European Society of Cardiology NSTEMI guidelines [9]. Two experienced operators who were blinded to the clinical data meticulously evaluated the angiographic scans of all patients. In this investigation, angiographic thrombus burden was graded as the followings: grade 0: no thrombus, grade 1: possible thrombus (reduced contrast density, haziness, irregular lesion contour), grade 2: the greatest dimension of thrombus was less than 1/2 vessel diameter, grade 3: the greatest dimension of thrombus was more than 1/2 but less than <2 vessel diameter, grade 4: the greatest dimension of thrombus was more than 2 vessel diameter, and grade 5: total vessel occlusion by a thrombus [11]. Grade 5 angiographic thrombus burden was reclassified after restoring antegrade flow through guidewire or small balloon dilatation. Based on the final thrombus burden, the patients who had grade 1-3 thrombus burden were classified as low thrombus burden (LTB) and those who had grade 4-5 thrombus burden were classified as HTB, as suggested in prior studies [11, 12]. The thrombolysis in myocardial infarction (TIMI) flow grade classification was used to determine the TIMI flow after PCI [13]. Patients were divided into four categories according to the final TIMI myocardial blush grade (TMBG) as follows: grade 0: no myocardial blush, grade 1: minimum myocardial blush, grade 2: moderate myocardial blush, and grade 3: normal myocardial blush. The TIMI flows 0, I, and II were regarded as no-reflow [14].

Statistical analysis

All statistical analyses were performed using R-software v. 3.6.3 (R statistical software, Institute for Statistics and Mathematics, Vienna, Austria). The Kolmogor-

ov-Smirnov test was used to determine normality. Continuous variables with a normal distribution were presented as the arithmetical mean (SD), whereas those without a normal distribution were given as the median (interguartile range [IQR]). Categorical variables were presented as numbers and percentages. The independent Student's t-test and Mann-Whitney U tests were used to compare continuous variables between the groups. The χ^2 test or Fisher's exact test was performed to compare categorical variables, as appropriate. The Kruskal-Wallis test was employed to compare WBV at both shear rates based on the thrombus burden grade. For post-hoc comparisons between the subgroups, the Dunn's procedure with Bonferroni correction was used. Univariable logistic regression analysis was used to detect the association of variables with HTB. A multivariable logistic regression analysis was performed with clinically relevant variables that had a P-value <0.1 in univariable logistic regression analysis. To avoid multicollinearity, WBV at LSR and HSR were entered into two different multivariable models separately with the same cofounders. Since multicollinearity was detected between HTC, total protein, and WBV (variance inflation factor >3, tolerance <0.1), we did not enter HTC and total protein in the multivariable models. Receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve analysis was used to calculate the best cutoff values of WBV at HSR and LSR for detecting patients with HTB. ROC curve comparisons were calculated using the DeLong test between variables to compare the discrimination ability for HTB. A 2-sided P < 0.05 was considered significant.

RESULTS

The final study comprised 290 NSTEMI cases. In all, 231 patients (73.4%) were male with a mean age (SD) of 63.4 (12.4) years. Patients were divided into two groups based on the thrombus burden; those with HTB (n = 112 cases) and those with LTB (n = 178 cases). The total in-hospital mortality rate was 5.5% (n = 16 cases).

Table 1 displays baseline properties, previous medications, and laboratory results of all patients. There was only one significant difference between the groups with respect to family history of coronary artery disease (CAD) and Killip class >2 on admission. Other baseline characteristics were comparable between groups. The previous medications between the groups were not different. In terms of laboratory results, patients with HTB exhibited greater HTC, triglyceride, baseline cardiac troponin I, total protein, WBV at LSR and HSR. Furthermore, the lymphocyte and high-density lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterol levels in these individuals were lower. Other laboratory results did not differ between the groups.

When we compared WBV at HSR and LSR according to the grades of thrombus burden, there were statistically significant differences in WBV at both shear rates from grade 1 thrombus burden through grade 5 thrombus burden (P < 0.001, for all comparisons) (Table 2). In *post-hoc* comparisons, patients with grade 4 and 5 thrombus burden

Table 1. Baseline features and laboratory resul	Ilts of all patients according	g to high and low thrombus b	urden
---	--------------------------------	------------------------------	-------

	High thrombus burden (n = 112)	Low thrombus burden (n = 178)	P-value
Age, years	63.2 (12.6)	65.2 (16.8)	0.28
Male sex, n (%)	86 (76.8)	127 (71.3)	0.38
Body mass index, kg/m ²	25.6 (2.2)	25.4 (2.6)	0.63
Risk factors, n (%)			
Diabetes mellitus	15 (13.4)	29 (16.3)	0.62
Hypertension	66 (58.9)	115 (64.6)	0.40
Hyperlipidemia	31 (27.7)	68 (38.2)	0.09
Smoking	70 (62.5)	106 (59.6)	0.71
Previous history of CAD	43 (38.4)	79 (44.4)	0.38
Family history of CAD	30 (26.8)	28 (15.7)	0.03
Congestive heart failure	27 (24.1)	50 (28.1)	0.54
Cerebrovascular event	5 (4.5)	5 (2.8)	0.52
LV ejection fraction, %	48.6 (7.2)	47.6 (6.9)	0.19
Killip class >2	22 (19.6)	17 (9.6)	0.02
Previous medications, n (%)			
Acetylsalicylic acid	42 (37.5)	72 (40.4)	0.71
P ₂ Y ₁₂ inhibitors	21 (18.8)	38 (21.3)	0.70
Beta-blockers	42 (37.5)	74 (41.6)	0.57
ACE inh/ARBs	62 (55.4)	94 (52.8)	0.76
Statin	17 (15.2)	45 (25.3)	0.06
Laboratory data			
White blood cell count, 10 ³ /µl	9.6 (8.1–11.7)	9.7 (7.2–11.6)	0.32
Hemoglobin, g/dl	13.6 (1.9)	13.8 (2.4)	0.65
Hematocrit, %	44.5 (4.3)	39.7 (6.3)	<0.001
Neutrophil, 10³/µl	7.1 (4.9–9.3)	6.3 (5–8.8)	0.47
Lymphocyte, 10³/µl	1.7 (1.2–2.1)	2 (1.4–2.5)	0.01
Platelet, 10³/μl	246 (93)	242 (76)	0.62
Serum creatinine, mg/dl	0.9 (0.8–1)	0.9 (0.8–1.1)	0.13
LDL cholesterol, mg/dl	104 (38)	110 (44)	0.16
HDL cholesterol, mg/dl	35 (31–42)	39 (35–46)	<0.001
Triglycerides, mg/dl	119 (75–179)	104 (77–123)	0.03
Baseline troponin I, ng/ml	8 (2.4–14)	5 (2.3–6.5)	0.01
Total protein, g/l	72 (6)	69 (8)	0.01
Albumin, mg/dl	4.4 (4.1–4.6)	4.2 (3.8–4.5)	0.01
WBV at LSR	62 (46–75)	45 (38–61)	<0.001
WBV at HSR	17.2 (1.2)	16.3 (1.5)	<0.001
In-hospital mortality, n (%)	11 (9.8)	5 (2.8)	0.02

Continuous variables are presented as median (IQR) or mean (SD), nominal variables presented as frequency (%)

Abbreviations: ACE inh/ARBs, angiotensin converting enzyme/angiotensin receptor blockers; CAD, coronary artery disease; HDL, high-density lipoprotein; HSR, high shear rate; IQR, interquartile range; LV, left ventricle; LDL, low-density lipoprotein; LSR, low shear rate; SD, standard deviation; WBV, whole blood viscosity

Table 2. Whole blood viscosity at both shear rates according to the thrombus burden grade

	Thrombus burden grade					
	Grade 1	Grade 2	Grade 3	Grade 4	Grade 5	
WBV at HSR	14.4 (1.2)	15.9 (1.6)	16.5 (1.4)	17.1 (1)	19.3 (0.5)	<0.001
WBV at LSR	41.4 (32.6-42.3)	43 (35.5–54.6)	46.9 (39.3-64)	59.2 (44.5–72.4)	84.1 (79.9–86.8)	< 0.001

Continuous variables are presented as median (IQR) or mean (SD)

Abbreviations: see Table 1

had higher WBV at both shear rates than those with grade 3, 2, and 1 thrombus burden (P < 0.05, for all comparisons).

Table 3 presents the angiographic data for all patients based on thrombus burden. In HTB patients, the frequency of IRA reference vessel diameter, distal embolization, and no-reflow was greater. These patients also showed lower postprocedural TIMI flow >II and TMBG >II. There was no difference between the groups with respect to the use of

glycoprotein Ilb/Illa receptor inhibitors and P_2Y_{12} treatments. Other angiographic results were also comparable between the groups.

Table 4 shows the results of univariable and multivariable logistic regression analyses for independent predictors of HTB. According to univariable logistic regression analysis, HTB was related to family history of CAD, HTC, Killip class >II, HDL cholesterol, triglyceride, baseline troponin I, total

Table 3. Angiographic findings and medications of all patients according to high and low thro`mbus burden

	High thrombus burden (n = 112)	Low thrombus burden (n = 178)	<i>P</i> -value
Culprit lesion location, n (%)			
LAD	49 (43.8)	95 (53.4)	
Cx	32 (28.6)	41 (23)	0.45
RCA	30 (26.8)	41 (23)	
LMCA	1 (0.9)	1 (0.6)	
CTO, n (%)	14 (12.5)	14 (7.9)	0.27
Multivessel disease, n (%)	41 (36.6)	46 (25.8)	0.07
IRA reference vessel diameter >4 mm	18 (16.1)	19 (10.7)	0.25
IRA lesion length, mm	32 (24–38)	25 (21–36)	0.01
Procedure, n (%)			
Direct stenting	0 (0)	8 (4.5)	
PTCA+stenting	108 (96.4)	167 (93.8)	0.06
Only PTCA	3 (2.7)	1 (0.6)	
CABG	1 (0.9)	2 (1.1)	
Glycoprotein IIb/IIIa inhibitors, n (%)	95 (85)	139 (78)	0.16
P ₂ Y ₁₂ inhibitors, n (%)			
Clopidogrel	94 (84)	143 (80)	
Ticagrelor	15 (13)	33 (19)	0.34
Prasugrel	3 (3)	2 (1)	
Postprocedural TIMI flow >2, n (%)	77 (69.8)	157 (88.2)	<0.001
TMBG >2, n (%)	54 (48.2)	116 (65.2)	0.01
Distal embolization, n (%)	8 (7.1)	3 (1.7)	0.03
No-reflow, n (%)	35 (31.2)	21 (11.8)	<0.001

Continuous variables are presented as median (IQR) or mean (SD), nominal variables are presented as frequency (%).

Abbreviations: CABG, coronary aorta bypass grafting; CTO, chronic total occlusion; Cx, circumflex artery; IRA, infarct-related artery; LAD, left anterior descending artery; LMCA, left main coronary artery; PTCA, percutaneous transluminal coronary angioplasty; RCA, right coronary artery; TIMI, thrombolysis in myocardial infarction; TMBG, TIMI myocardial blush grade; other — see Table 1

Table 4. Multivariable models for independent predictors of high thrombus burden

	Multivariable	Multivariable model ¹		Multivariable model ²		
	OR (95 %CI)	P-value	OR (95 %CI)	<i>P</i> -value		
Family history of CAD	2.386 (1.351–4.253)	0.012	2.411 (1.377–4.257)	0.01		
Lymphocyte	0.622 (0.472-0.805)	0.003	0.663 (0.508–0.853)	0.01		
Triglyceride	1.004 (1.002–1.008)	0.016	1.005 (1.002–1.008)	0.01		
Baseline troponin l	1.071 (1.022–1.121)	0.015	1.080 (1.033–1.131)	0.01		
WBV at LSR	_	_	1.028 (1.014–1.043)	<0.001		
WBV at HSR	1.606 (1.334–1.953)	<0.001	_	_		

Model¹: WBV at HSR was an independent variable with covariates in this model; Model²: WBV at LSR was an independent variable with covariates in this model Abbreviations: OR, odds ratio; CI, confidence interval; other — see Table 1

protein, IRA lesion length, WBV at LSR, and WBV at HSR. We constructed two separate multivariable models to determine whether WBV at LSR and HSR was an independent predictor of HTB. Multivariable logistic regression models indicated that family history of CAD, lymphocyte, triglyceride, baseline troponin I, WBV at LSR (odds ratio [OR], 1.028; 95% confidence interval [CI], 1.014–1.043; *P* <0.001), and WBV at HSR (OR, 1.606; 95% CI, 1.334–1.953; *P* <0.001) were independent predictors of HTB in NSTEMI patients. The use of glycoprotein IIb/IIIa receptor inhibitors and P₂Y₁₂ inhibitors were not associated with HTB in the logistic regression analysis (*P*-values = 0.152 and 0.338, respectively).

The area under the curve (AUC) values of WBV at LSR and HSR in a ROC analysis were 0.716 (95% CI, 0.659–0.771) and 0.767 (95% CI, 0.713–0.823), respectively (Figure 2). Notably, the AUC value of WBV at both shear rates was

greater than that of its components, including total protein (AUC, 0.605) and HTC (AUC, 0.615). To predict HTB in NSTEMI patients, the optimum value of WBV at LSR was >45.5 with 85% sensitivity and 52% specificity, while the ideal value of WBV at HSR was >16.7 with 82% sensitivity and 64% specificity.

DISCUSSION

This is the first report to suggest that WBV at both shear rates seems to be a significant determinant of HTB in NSTEMI individuals.

HTB is a clinical entity that can adversely affect both short- and long-term outcomes of NSTEMI patients with an increased risk for occurrence of no-reflow phenomenon, stent thrombosis, and intraventricular thrombus formation [7, 15, 16]. Additionally, a final TMBG after PCI was lower in coro-

Figure 2. Receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve analyses of whole blood viscosity (WBV) at high shear rate (HSR) and low shear rate (LSR), hematocrit, and total protein

naries with HTB, leading to the observation that even after successful reperfusion with PCI, residual ischemia may persist in such patients [17]. This was consistent with our findings, as the final TMBG >2 and TIMI flow >2 were lower, and the NR phenomenon was more prevalent in patients with HTB.

ACS is typically characterized by rupture of atherosclerotic plaque, and the aggregation of blood components on top of the rupture site, impeding flow to the segments distal to the occlusion. NSTEMI differs little in this context from STEMI, as it arises from incomplete obstruction of the coronary artery. The rupture of the atherosclerotic plaque is aggravated by localized elevation of shear stress and could be further demonstrated by the fact that nearly all plaque ruptures occur on the proximal "hill" of the plaque, where wall shear stress (WSS) is highest [18]. The WSS is calculated as shear rate multiplied by WBV, and shear rate is calculated as flow velocity divided by lumen diameter [19]. As shear rate, by definition, is a fixed value, WSS can only be increased by an increase in WBV. Due to the non-Newtonian nature of blood as a fluid, which is because it contains blood cells, its viscosity depends on shear stress. In our study, we found that elevated WBV in both shear stress settings was associated with an increased risk of HTB. This could be due to the tendency of red blood cells to aggregate in LSR areas, such as ruptured plaques, and persist in HSR areas distal to the lesion, causing slowing down blood flow and increasing thrombus burden [20].

Ideally, WBV can be measured using a "viscometer", which is expensive and proprietary laboratory equipment. However, most laboratory settings do not have access to these resources. Thus, de Simone and colleagues reported an equation for calculating WBV in an adequate accuracy relative to direct viscometer measurements, utilizing HTC and total protein levels [21]. This formula has been also investigated and validated in a variety of cohort settings [10, 22]. Specifically, changes in HTC and plasma protein levels were in most close relation to actual changes in mechanically measured WBV.

The importance of WBV had been investigated in prior studies. For example, it was demonstrated that high WBV at both shear rates was associated with worse outcomes for ACS patients undergoing PCI with an elevated risk for the no-reflow phenomenon, stent thrombosis, and the presence of apical thrombus [7, 23, 24]. It could also adversely affect the prognosis of acute pulmonary embolism and stroke patients [25, 26]. However, the association between WBV and HTB presence in NSTEMI patients has been unknown. In the present study, we showed that high WBV at HSR and LSR was independently associated with HTB in NSTEMI patients undergoing PCI. In our analysis of the data, we also clearly showed that the AUC of WBV was greater than HTC and total protein alone for predicting HTB, which could further demonstrate the value of WBV as a derived parameter.

The prediction of HTB is crucial in NSTEMI patients to increase procedure success rate and related clinical outcomes. Based on our results, patients with high WBV can be considered to have a high risk for HTB. Thus, some preventive measures, such as using glycoprotein IIb/IIIa inhibitors before PCI, can be applied to decrease the potential thrombus burden [27]. Furthermore, early stent implantation in a highly thrombotic environment may result in a greater risk of complications, such as distal embolization and peri-procedural MI. WBV may thus be estimated before invasive treatment of NSTEMI patients, and it may help us to determine the ideal time of the invasive procedure in such patients.

Limitations

There are a few limitations to our study. First, since only NSTEMI patients were included, the results might not be expanded to all ACS patients. Second, our study was conducted at a single tertiary care center. Therefore, the results might not be expanded universally. Third, although the extrapolation method we used in this study had been validated in previous investigations, a direct comparison of estimated and measured WBV in this specific patient group may strengthen our findings. Fourth, there might be some residual confounding factors even after multivariable analysis. Finally, prospective studies with a larger population are needed to confirm our findings.

CONCLUSION

The present study showed that WBV at both shear rates was an independent predictor of HTB in NSTEMI patients planned to undergo invasive treatment.
Article information

Conflict of interest: None declared.

Open access: This article is available in open access under Creative Common Attribution-Non-Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) license, allowing to download articles and share them with others as long as they credit the authors and the publisher, but without permission to change them in any way or use them commercially. For commercial use, please contact the journal office at kardiologiapolska@ptkardio.pl.

REFERENCES

- Crea F, Libby P. Acute coronary syndromes: the way forward from mechanisms to precision treatment. Circulation. 2017; 136(12): 1155–1166, doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.117.029870, indexed in Pubmed: 28923905.
- Sianos G, Papafaklis MI, Daemen J, et al. Angiographic stent thrombosis after routine use of drug-eluting stents in ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction: the importance of thrombus burden. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2007; 50(7): 573–583, doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2007.04.059, indexed in Pubmed: 17692740.
- Goto K, Lansky AJ, Nikolsky E, et al. Prognostic significance of coronary thrombus in patients undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention for acute coronary syndromes: a subanalysis of the ACUITY (Acute Catheterization and Urgent Intervention Triage strategY) trial. JACC Cardiovasc Interv. 2011; 4(7): 769–777, doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2011.02.019, indexed in Pubmed: 21777885.
- Cekirdekci El, Bugan B. Whole blood viscosity in microvascular angina and coronary artery disease: Significance and utility. Rev Port Cardiol (Engl Ed). 2020; 39(1): 17–23, doi: 10.1016/j.repc.2019.04.008, indexed in Pubmed: 32156449.
- Hathcock JJ. Flow effects on coagulation and thrombosis. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2006; 26(8): 1729–1737, doi: 10.1161/01. ATV.0000229658.76797.30, indexed in Pubmed: 16741150.
- Erdoğan G, Yenerçağ M, Arslan U. The relationship between blood viscosity and acute arterial occlusion. J Cardiovasc Emergencies. 2020; 6(1): 7–12, doi: 10.2478/jce-2020-0002.
- Ekizler FA, Cay S, Tak BT, et al. Usefulness of the whole blood viscosity to predict stent thrombosis in ST-elevation myocardial infarction. Biomark Med. 2019; 13(15): 1307–1320, doi: 10.2217/bmm-2019-0246, indexed in Pubmed: 31429589.
- Çırakoğlu ÖF, Aslan AO, Yilmaz AS, et al. Usefulness of whole blood viscosity estimated by de Simeone's formula to predict left ventricular thrombus formation within one year following acute anterior myocardial infarction. Biorheology. 2020; 57(1): 37–51, doi: 10.3233/BIR-200240, indexed in Pubmed: 32444531.
- Collet JP, Thiele H, Barbato E, et al. ESC Scientific Document Group. 2020 ESC Guidelines for the management of acute coronary syndromes in patients presenting without persistent ST-segment elevation. Eur Heart J. 2021; 42(14): 1289–1367, doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehaa575, indexed in Pubmed: 32860058.
- de Simone G, Devereux RB, Chinali M, et al. Association of blood pressure with blood viscosity in american indians: the Strong Heart Study. Hypertension. 2005; 45(4): 625–630, doi: 10.1161/01.HYP.0000157526.07977. ec, indexed in Pubmed: 15699438.
- Gibson CM, de Lemos JA, Murphy SA, et al. Combination therapy with abciximab reduces angiographically evident thrombus in acute myocardial infarction: a TIMI 14 substudy. Circulation. 2001; 103(21): 2550–2554, doi: 10.1161/01.cir.103.21.2550, indexed in Pubmed: 11382722.
- Tanboga IH, Topcu S, Aksakal E, et al. Determinants of angiographic thrombus burden in patients with ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction. Clin Appl Thromb Hemost. 2014; 20(7): 716–722, doi: 10.1177/1076029613483169, indexed in Pubmed: 23539672.

- Chesebro JH, Knatterud G, Roberts R, et al. Thrombolysis in Myocardial Infarction (TIMI) Trial, Phase I: A comparison between intravenous tissue plasminogen activator and intravenous streptokinase. Clinical findings through hospital discharge. Circulation. 1987; 76(1): 142–154, doi: 10.1161/01.cir.76.1.142, indexed in Pubmed: 3109764.
- Henriques JPS, Zijlstra F, van 't Hof AWJ, et al. Angiographic assessment of reperfusion in acute myocardial infarction by myocardial blush grade. Circulation. 2003; 107(16): 2115–2119, doi: 10.1161/01. CIR.0000065221.06430.ED, indexed in Pubmed: 12695301.
- Svilaas T, Vlaar PJ, van der Horst IC, et al. Thrombus aspiration during primary percutaneous coronary intervention. N Engl J Med. 2008; 358(6): 557–567, doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa0706416, indexed in Pubmed: 18256391.
- Gianstefani S, Douiri A, Delithanasis I, et al. Incidence and predictors of early left ventricular thrombus after ST-elevation myocardial infarction in the contemporary era of primary percutaneous coronary intervention. Am J Cardiol. 2014; 113(7): 1111–1116, doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2013.12.015, indexed in Pubmed: 24485697.
- Napodano M, Dariol G, Al Mamary AH, et al. Thrombus burden and myocardial damage during primary percutaneous coronary intervention. Am J Cardiol. 2014; 113(9): 1449–1456, doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2014.01.423, indexed in Pubmed: 24630783.
- Fukumoto Y, Hiro T, Fujii T, et al. Localized elevation of shear stress is related to coronary plaque rupture: a 3-dimensional intravascular ultrasound study with in-vivo color mapping of shear stress distribution. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2008; 51(6): 645–650, doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2007.10.030, indexed in Pubmed: 18261684.
- Davies PF. Hemodynamic shear stress and the endothelium in cardiovascular pathophysiology. Nat Clin Pract Cardiovasc Med. 2009; 6(1): 16–26, doi: 10.1038/ncpcardio1397, indexed in Pubmed: 19029993.
- Nader E, Skinner S, Romana M, et al. Blood Rheology: Key Parameters, Impact on Blood Flow, Role in Sickle Cell Disease and Effects of Exercise. Front Physiol. 2019; 10: 1329, doi: 10.3389/fphys.2019.01329, indexed in Pubmed: 31749708.
- de Simone G, Devereux RB, Chien S, et al. Relation of blood viscosity to demographic and physiologic variables and to cardiovascular risk factors in apparently normal adults. Circulation. 1990; 81(1): 107–117, doi: 10.1161/01.cir.81.1.107, indexed in Pubmed: 2297818.
- Gori T, Wild PS, Schnabel R, et al. The distribution of whole blood viscosity, its determinants and relationship with arterial blood pressure in the community: cross-sectional analysis from the Gutenberg Health Study. Ther Adv Cardiovasc Dis. 2015; 9(6): 354–365, doi: 10.1177/1753944715589887, indexed in Pubmed: 26082340.
- Yildirim A, Kucukosmanoglu M, Koyunsever NY, et al. Relationship between blood viscosity and no-reflow phenomenon in ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction performed in primary percutaneous coronary interventions. Biomark Med. 2021; 15(9): 659–667, doi: 10.2217/bmm-2020-0772, indexed in Pubmed: 34039016.
- Tekin Tak B, Ekizler FA, Cay S, et al. Relationship between apical thrombus formation and blood viscosity in acute anterior myocardial infarction patients. Biomark Med. 2020; 14(3): 201–210, doi: 10.2217/bmm-2019-0483, indexed in Pubmed: 31912743.
- Aksu E. Is it possible to estimate the mortality risk in acute pulmonary embolism by means of novel predictors? A retrospective study. Turkish Journal of Vascular Surgery. 2021; 30(1): 27–34, doi: 10.9739/tjvs.2021.836.
- Antonova N, Velcheva I. Hemorheological disturbances and characteristic parameters in patients with cerebrovascular disease. Clin Hemorheol Microcirc. 1999; 21(3-4): 405–408, indexed in Pubmed: 10711777.
- Cannon CP. Small molecule glycoprotein llb/llla receptor inhibitors as upstream therapy in acute coronary syndromes: insights from the TACTICS TIMI-18 trial. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2003; 41(4 Suppl S): 43S–48S, doi: 10.1016/s0735-1097(02)03018-8, indexed in Pubmed: 12644340.

Outcome comparison of different approaches to aortic root aneurysm

Radosław Gocoł¹, Jarosław Bis^{1, 2}, Marcin Malinowski^{1, 2}, Łukasz Morkisz¹, Mikołaj Jodłowski², Tomasz Darocha³, Joanna Ciosek⁴, Wojciech Wojakowski⁴, Marek A Deja^{1, 2}

¹Department of Cardiac Surgery, Upper-Silesian Heart Center, Katowice, Poland ²Department of Cardiac Surgery, Medical University of Silesia, Katowice, Poland ³Department of Anesthesiology and Intensive Care, Medical University of Silesia, Katowice, Poland ⁴3rd Division of Cardiology and Structural Heart Diseases, Upper-Silesian Heart Center, Katowice, Poland

Correspondence to:

Marek A Deja, MD, PhD, Department of Cardiac Surgery, Medical University of Silesia, Ziołowa 45/47, 40–635 Katowice, Poland, phone: +48 32 359 86 44, e-mail: mdeja@sum.edu.pl

Copyright by the Author(s), 2022 DOI: 10.33963/KP.a2022.0045

Received: September 7, 2021

Accepted: February 12, 2022

Early publication date: February 13, 2022

ABSTRACT

Background: The treatment of aortic root aneurysm remains challenging for both cardiac surgeons and cardiologists.

Aims: This study aimed to assess and compare the long-term outcomes of different approaches to aortic root replacement (ARR).

Methods: All elective patients operated for aortic root aneurysm with or without aortic regurgitation at our institution over a 10-year period were included. We excluded patients with any degree of aortic stenosis and with active endocarditis. We assessed mortality, freedom from reoperation, freedom from aortic valve regurgitation, and the rate of hemorrhagic and thromboembolic complications.

Results: Two hundred and four patients underwent elective aortic root replacement: 107 (53%) valve-sparing aortic root replacement (VSARR), 35 (17%) mechanical Bentall procedure (MB), and 62 (30%) Bio-Bentall procedure (BB). Early mortality for VSARR, BB, and MB group was 2.8%, 4.8%, and 0%, respectively (P = 0.40). Estimated 5-year survival was: 90.2% vs. 78.4% vs. 94.2%, respectively (P = 0.12), 5-year freedom from reoperation: 97.8%, 96.6%, and 96.8%, respectively (P = 0.99). Estimated 5-year freedom from complications was: 94.2%, 83.1% and 57.3% in the VSARR, BB and MB group, respectively (P < 0.001). On last follow-up echocardiography, 90.5%, 98.4%, and 97.1% (P = 0.08) of patients were free from aortic regurgitation grade 2 or higher. The median (IQR) aortic valve peak gradient was 9 (6–12) mm Hg, 12 (10–18) mm Hg and 16 (14–22) mm Hg, respectively (P < 0.001). Complications were predicted by mechanical Bentall (hazard ratio, 6.70 [2.54–17.63]; P < 0.001).

Conclusion: With the same mortality, freedom from reoperation, and a minimal late complication rate in comparison with mechanical Bentall and Bio-Bentall, VSARR might be the preferred approach to aortic root aneurysm.

Key words: aortic root aneurysm, aortic root replacement, Bio-Bentall, mechanical Bentall, valve-sparing

INTRODUCTION

The only effective treatment method for aortic root aneurysm is aortic root replacement (ARR) [1]. Currently, the "gold standard" for ARR is represented by the procedure proposed in 1968 by Bentall, which consists of the replacement of both the aortic root and the aortic valve with the use of a composite mechanical valved conduit [2]. In older patients, the available alternatives to the classical Bentall procedure include the ARR with the homograft [3], xenograft [4], or bio-conduit [5]. However, in younger patients who want to avoid the adverse effects of mechanical or biological aortic valve prostheses, the procedure of valve-sparing aortic root replacement (VSARR) has been proposed. This approach enables the replacement of the enlarged aortic root, with the preservation of the native aortic valve. Two main techniques of

WHAT'S NEW?

This analysis of long-term outcomes of different surgical approaches to aortic root aneurysm is the largest performed to date in Poland (and one of the largest in Europe). The analysis of mortality, freedom from reoperation, aortic valve regurgitation, and hemorrhagic and thromboembolic complications identified valve-sparing aortic root replacement as a surgical approach associated with low early morbidity and a very low rate of late hemorrhagic and thromboembolic complications.

VSARR are currently available in clinical practice: the aortic valve re-implantation introduced by David and Feindel in 1992 [6] and aortic root remodeling proposed by Sarsam and Yacoub in 1993 [7].

The selection of an approach to ARR is important both for patients, whose expectations it has to meet, and for their cardiologist.

Several studies on late outcomes of different approaches to ARR have been published recently; however, only a few include the direct comparison of these approaches [8, 9].

This study aimed to assess and compare the long-term outcomes of different approaches to ARR.

METHODS

The local Institutional Review Board did not consider the study to be a medical experiment. Therefore, approval was not required (no. KNW/0022/KB/284/17 dated December 12, 2017).

Study population

The study included patients who underwent an elective ARR with or without co-existing aortic valve regurgitation

at our institution from January 2010 to December 2020 but excluded those with aortic valve stenosis. Patients with acute aortic dissection or active endocarditis were also excluded. However, we included patients requiring additional surgical procedures (Figure 1).

The study group was divided into 3 subgroups, depending on the approach to ARR: VSARR, Bentall procedure with mechanical aortic valve prosthesis (MB), and Bentall procedure with biological aortic valve prosthesis (BB).

Clinical outcomes

We assessed mortality, freedom from reoperation, recurrence of aortic valve regurgitation, rate of hemorrhagic and thromboembolic complications, and infective endocarditis. The functional status was determined according to the New York Heart Association (NYHA) class. Aortic regurgitation was assessed by transthoracic echocardiography (TTE) and was classified according to the 4-grade scale: 0 — none or trivial, 1 — mild, 2 — moderate, 3 — moderately severe, 4–severe [10, 11]. Freedom from aortic valve regurgitation was defined as grade <2. Definitions of complications followed the guidelines for reporting morbidity and mortality [12]. Only major thromboembolic and hemorrhagic



Figure 1. Study cohort flow chart

complications requiring hospitalization were analyzed. Thromboembolic complications were defined as stroke, peripheral organ ischemia, or dysfunction of the prosthetic valve leaflet, whereas hemorrhagic complications as cardiac tamponade or any bleeding from the upper or lower gastrointestinal tract, intracranial bleeding, or hemarthrosis. Freedom from complications defined as freedom from reoperation, endocarditis, and thromboembolic, or hemorrhagic events was analyzed. Death was considered early when it occurred within 30 days of surgery.

Follow-up

Mortality, the occurrence of complications, and freedom from reoperation status were ascertained from one or more of the following: the patient's visit in the outpatient clinic, telephone contact with the patient or patient's relatives, National Registry of Cardiac Surgical Procedures (www. krok.csioz.gov.pl). This registry contains the mortality data obtained from the National Health Fund. Death from all causes and only reoperations due to aortic valve dysfunction were included in the analysis. Freedom from aortic valve regurgitation was assessed in the TTE performed during the follow-up visit or ascertained based on the latest TTE report available from the outpatient clinic.

Surgical technique

Before surgery, the TTE was performed to evaluate left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF), end-diastolic (LVEDV), and end-systolic (LVESV) volumes, the diameters of the left ventricular outflow tract (LVOT), aortic annulus, aortic root, and ascending aorta. Computed tomography was performed to plan accordingly the surgery on the aorta.

The decision about the type of ARR (valve-sparing vs. mechanical vs. biological Bentall) was made by the operating surgeon and the patient.

For aortic valve reimplantation, two types of vascular conduits were used: Vascutec Gelweave Valsalva (Vascutek, Renfrewshire, UK) and Hemashield (Maquet, Rastatt, Germany). For aortic root remodeling, two types of vascular conduits were used: Hemashield (Maquet, Rastatt, Germany) and Bioseal (Jotec Inc., Hechingen, Germany). For MB procedures we used 2 types of mechanical valved conduits: St. Jude Medical (SJM, St. Paul, MN, US) and Carbomedics Carbo-Seal (Sorin, Milano, Italy) and 2 types of bio-conduits (BB subgroup): Freestyle (Medtronic, Minneapolis, MN, US) and Biovalsalva biological valved conduit (Vascutek, Renfrewshire, UK) (Supplementary material, *Video S1*).

Statistical analysis

Data are presented as median (interquartile range [IQR]). Categorical data are expressed as a percentage. χ^2 or Fisher's exact tests were used where appropriate to compare proportions with post hoc comparisons using the z test. P-values were adjusted for multiple comparisons using the Bonferroni correction. To compare the groups, the Kruskal-Wallis H test for the independent sample with Bonferroni adjusted pairwise comparisons was used. Kaplan-Meier time to event curves were generated, and the 5-year event probability estimate with the standard error was reported. The groups were compared with the log-rank (Mantel-Cox) test. A P-value of less than 0.05 was considered significant. The predictors of mortality and complications were identified by the parsimonious multivariable Cox regression. The backward conditional method was used for variables selection with variables with score statistics below <0.1 retained in the model. In the case the final model did not include the variable of interest (i.e. Root replacement method), this variable was entered into the final model manually to assess its impact on the outcome.

IBM SPSS Statistics, version 27 (IBM Corp. Armonk, NY, US) was used for all statistical analysis except Kaplan-Meier analysis which was done using GraphPad Prism 9.1 (Graph-Pad Software, San Diego, CA, US).

RESULTS

Study cohort

Of the 493 patients who underwent the ARR procedure, only 204 patients (41.4%) met the inclusion criteria (Figure 1). The numbers of patients in particular study subgroups were: VSARR — 107 (52.5%), MB — 35 (17.1%), BB — 62 (30.4%) (Figure 2).



Figure 2. Surgical techniques of aortic root replacement. A. Valve-sparing aortic root replacement. B. Biological Bentall. C. Mechanical Bentall

Table 1. Clinical and echocardiographic characteristics.

Variable	All (n = 204)	VSARR (n = 107)	MB (n = 35)	BB (n = 62)	P-value
Clinical data					
Male gender, n (%)	181 (88.7)	94 (87.9)	32 (91.4)	55 (88.7)	0.85
Age, years, median (IQR)	55 (39–64)	52 (36–64) ^a	50 (39–59) ^b	60.5 (46.7–69)	0.02
BMI, kg/m², median (IQR)	27 (24–30)	27.0 (24–30)	28 (24–31)	27.5 (25–31)	0.56
NYHA, median (IQR)	2 (1–2)	2 (1–2) ^a	2 (1–3)	2 (2–3)	0.004
NYHA class, n (%)					0.02
1	70 (34.3)	44 (41.1) ^a	12 (34.3)	14 (22.6)	
	97 (47.5) 31 (15.2)	53 (49.5) 8 (7 5)ª	14 (40.0)	30 (48.4)	
IV	6 (2.9)	2 (1.9)	2 (5.7)	2 (3.2)	
BAV, n (%)	91 (44.6)	43 (40.2)	18 (51.4)	30 (48.4)	0.39
Marfan syndrome, n (%)	26 (12.7)	17 (15.9)	4 (11.4)	5 (8.1)	0.33
Coronary artery disease, n (%)	30 (14.7)	14 (13.1)	8 (22.9)	8 (12.9)	0.33
Reoperation, n (%)	15 (7.4)	4 (3.7) ^c	6 (17.1)	5 (8.1)	0.03
At least moderate mitral regurgi- tation, n (%)	30 (14.7)	12 (19.4)	6 (17.1)	12 (11.2)	0.32
At least moderate tricuspid regurgitation, n (%)	17 (8.3)	12 (11.2)	2 (5.7)	3 (4.8)	0.29
Arterial hypertension, n (%)	150 (73.5)	76 (71.0)	25 (71.4)	49 (79.0)	0.50
Atrial fibrillation, n (%)	27 (13.2)	11 (10.3)	5 (14.3)	11 (17.7)	0.38
Diabetes mellitus, n (%)	19 (9.3)	7 (6.5)	3 (8.6)	9 (14.5)	0.23
Chronic renal failure, GFR <50 ml/min, n (%)	9 (4.4)	4 (3.7)	1 (2.9)	4 (6.5)	0.63
EuroSCORE II, median (IQR)	3.38 (2.48-6.22)	3.41 (2.48-5.06)	4.8 (2.76–9.46)	2.89 (1.83-6.53)	0.08
Echocardiographic data					
Aortic regurgitation grade, median (IQR)	3.5 (3.0–4.0)	3.0 (2.0–4.0) ^{c,a}	4.0 (3.0–4.0)	4.0 (3.0-4.0)	<0.001
Aortic regurgitation grade, n (%)					0.001
0	12 (5.9)	11 (5.4) ^a	0	1 (1.6)	
2	10 (4.9) 18 (8.8)	9 (8.4) 14 (13.1)	1 (2.9)	0 3 (4 8)	
3	62 (30.4)	32 (29.9)	13 (37.1)	17 (27.4)	
4	102 (50)	41 (38.3) ^a	20 (57.1)	41 (66.1)	
LVOT, mm, median (IQR)	n = 145	n = 53	n = 35	n = 57	0.02
	24 (22–26)	25 (22.5–27.0) ^a	25 (23–27)	23 (21–25)	
Aortic annulus, mm, median (IQR)	n = 185 28 (26–30)	n = 93 27 (26–20)	n = 35 28 (26–31)	n = 57 28 (26–30)	0.54
Aortic root, mm, median (IQR)	50 (46–54)	50 (46–55) ^a	50 (47–55)	48 (44–52)	0.04
Ascending aorta, mm, median (IQR)	49 (40–55)	51 (46–56) ^a	51 (44–56) ^b	41.5 (36–50)	<0.001
LVEF, n (%)	55 (50–60)	55 (50–60)	53 (43–57)	55 (49.5–60)	0.13
LVEDV, ml, median (IQR)	n = 169 200 (160–253)	n = 81 195 (156–245)	n = 33 220 (162–310)	n = 55 198 (162–241)	0.23
LVESV, ml, median (IQR)	n = 169 94 (73–123)	n = 81 85 (65–123)	n = 33 100 (80–154)	n = 55 97 (75–123)	0.07

 $^{\rm a}P$ <0.05 VSARR vs. BB. $^{\rm b}P$ <0.05 MB vs. BB. $^{\rm c}P$ <0.05 VSARR vs. MB

Abbreviations: BAV, bicuspid aortic valve; BB, Bio-Bentall; BMI, body mass index; LVEDV, end-diastolic volume; LVEF, left ventricular ejection fraction; LVESV, end-systolic volume; LVOT, left ventricular outflow tract; MB, mechanical Bentall; NYHA, New York Heart Association; TAV, tricuspid aortic valve; VSARR, valve-sparing aortic root replacement

Patient characteristics

Detailed demographic and echocardiographic data are presented in Table 1. Patients in the MB subgroup were the youngest — median (IQR) age 50 (39–59) years, and those in the BB subgroup were the oldest — median (IQR) age 60.5 (46.7–69) years. All 3 groups did not differ with regard to co-morbidities. In the MB subgroup, a significantly higher rate of reoperations was noted — 6 patients (17.1%) vs. 4 patients (3.7%) in the VSARR subgroup and 5 patients (8.1%) in the BB subgroup (P = 0.03).

The echocardiographic data revealed a significantly lower grade of aortic valve regurgitation in the VSARR subgroup — median 3 (2–4) vs. the MB subgroup — median 4 (3–4) and the BB subgroup — median 4 (3–4) (P <0.001). Patients in the VSARR and MB subgroups had statistically larger diameters of LVOT, aortic root, and ascending aorta (Table 1).

Operative details

Detailed operative data are presented in Supplementary material, *Table S1*. In the VSARR subgroup, the remodeling procedure was performed in 53 (49.5%) patients and the reimplantation procedure in 54 (50.5%) patients. In the BB subgroup, the Freestyle xenograft was implanted in 59 (95.2%) patients and the BioValsalva biological valved conduit in 3 (4.8%) patients. In the MB subgroup, the

St. Jude Medical conduit was implanted in 13 (37.1%) patients and the Carbomedics Carbo-Seal conduit in 22 (62.9%) patients. There were fewer formal ascending aorta replacements in the BB subgroup — 31 patients (50%) vs. the VSARR subgroup — 97 (90.7%) patients and the MB subgroup — 35 (100%) patients (P < 0.001). The shortest cardiopulmonary bypass and cross-clamp times were recorded in the BB subgroup, and the longest in the VSARR subgroup (Supplementary material, *Table S1*).

Early outcomes

Early mortality in the whole study population was 2.9% (6 patients). The numbers for subgroups VSARR, BB, and MB were 2.8% (3 patients), 4.8% (3 patients), and 0%, respectively (P = 0.40). There were no significant differences between the subgroups as to the rate of postoperative bleeding, tamponade, stroke, renal failure, pneumonia, wound infection, and permanent pacemaker implantation (Supplementary material, *Table S1*). The shortest stay in the intensive care unit and the cardiac surgical ward was recorded in the VSARR subgroup — 2 (2–3) days and 8 (7–10) days, respectively (P = 0.003).

Late outcomes

Median follow-up was 52.4 (27.4–5.4) months.

Mortality: Twenty-three (11.6%) patients died during the follow-up period. Kaplan-Meier estimated 5-year survival with standard error (SE) was: 90.2 (3.2) % in the VSARR, 78.4 (5.6) % in the BB, and 94.2 (4) % in the MB subgroup (P = 0.12, log-rank test) (Figure 3A).

Reoperations: A reoperation was performed in 6 patients (2.9%) during the follow-up period. The number of reoperations was: VSARR–3 patients (2.8%) due to severe aortic valve regurgitation, BB — 2 patients (3.2%) due to endocarditis and MB — 1 patient (2.9%) due to endocarditis (P = 0.99). Kaplan-Meier estimated 5-year freedom from reoperation (SE) was: 97.8 (1.5) % in the VSARR, 96.6 (2.4) % in the BB subgroup, and 96.8 (3.2) % in the MB subgroup (P = 0.99, log-rank test) (Figure 3B, Table 2).

Complications: Kaplan-Meier estimated 5-year freedom from complication was: 94.2 (2.6) % in the VSARR, 83.1 (5.6) % in the BB, and 57.3 (9.7) % in the MB subgroup (P < 0.001, log-rank test) (Figure 3C, Table 2).

Hemorrhagic complications occurred in 13 patients (7.3%): nose bleeding in 8 (61.5%), cardiac tamponade in 3 (23.1%), hemarthrosis in 1 (7.7%), and hemorrhoids bleeding in 1 (7.7%). The hemorrhagic complication rate in particular subgroups was: VSARR — 1 patient (1%), BB — 3 patients (6.4%), and MB — 9 patients (27.3%) (*P* <0.001). Kaplan-Meier estimated 5-year freedom from hemorrhagic complications (SE) was: 99 (1)% in the VSARR, 92.2 (4.4) % in the BB, and 71.1 (8.9) % in the MB subgroup (*P* <0.001, log-rank test) (Figure 4A, Table 2).

Thromboembolic complications were recorded in 9 patients (5.1%): stroke in 8 (88.8%) and popliteal artery embolism in 1 (11.2%) (P <0.001). The thromboembolic complication rate was: VSARR — none, BB — 3 patients (6.4%), and MB — 6 patients (18.2%) (P < 0.001). Kaplan–Meier estimated 5-year freedom from thromboembolic complications (SE) was: 100% in the VSARR, 94.1 (4.2) % in the BB, and 78.2 (10) % in the MB subgroup (P < 0.001, log-rank test) (Figure 4B, Table 2).

The multivariable analysis showed that none of the approaches to ARR is a predictor of mortality: MB (hazard ratio [HR], 0.13; 95% confidence interval [CI], 0.09–1.36; P <0.13) and BB (HR, 1.35; 95% CI, 0.56–3.26; P <0.51). However, it revealed the following predictors of death: New York Heart Association (NYHA) functional class, LVEF, reoperation, and concomitant TV repair. Following predictors of complications were identified: the mechanical Bentall procedure (HR, 6.70; 95% CI, 2.54–17.63; P <0.001) and atrial fibrillation (HR, 2.83; 95% CI, 1.25–6.42; P <0.013) (Table 3).

Echocardiographic follow-up: Follow-up echocardiography for the assessment of the aortic valve regurgitation was performed in 93.8% of patients at the median of 46.8 (20.8–74.7) months after surgery. On last echocardiography, 98.1%, 98.4%, and 97.1% (P=0.91) patients were free from ≥grade 3 aortic valve regurgitation in VSARR, BB and MB subgroups respectively. Freedom from ≥grade 2 aortic regurgitation was 90.5%, 98.4%, and 97.1% (P=0.08).

Additionally, the echocardiographic follow-up revealed, that patients in the VSARR subgroup had the lowest median (IQR) aortic valve peak gradient of 9 (6–12) mm Hg, whereas in the BB and MB subgroups these medians of gradients were 12 (10–18) mm Hg and 16 (14–22) mm Hg, respectively (P <0.001) (Figure 5).

Discussion

The classic Bentall procedure currently represents the gold standard approach to ARR, particularly in younger patients, for whom it seems to be a lifelong solution [13]. In elderly patients, to avoid the need for oral anticoagulation, the BB procedure can be performed alternatively [13]. With a growing number of reports reporting a considerable ratio of thromboembolic complications after MB [14, 15], new stentless valves have been proposed for younger patients [16]. Moreover, VSARR procedures have been introduced to clinical practice [6, 7], which not only obviate the need for oral anticoagulation but also enable the preservation of the patient's native valve, thus ensuring a better hemodynamic profile in comparison to MB and BB. There is no consensus in the literature, whether during the ARR procedure the aortic valve should be repaired or replaced, and in the case of replacement, whether a mechanical or biological prosthesis should be preferred [17, 18]. Our analysis provides some guidance as to which approach to ARR yields the best outcomes and is associated with the lowest complication rate. Even though we have performed almost 500 ARR procedures during 10 years at our institution, we had to exclude patients with aortic valve stenosis to directly compare different approaches to ARR as in this group a VSARR procedure is usually not feasible and the



Figure 3. Kaplan-Meier curves after root replacement according to the surgical procedure. A. Survival. B. Freedom from reoperation. C. Freedom from complications (reoperation, endocarditis, hemorrhagic complications, and thromboembolic complications). Kaplan-Meier curves with 95% confidence interval. *P* from the log-rank (Mantel-Cox) test

Abbreviations: see Table 1

Table 2.	Complications	during the	follow-up	period
	complications	a a g a e		p c o a

Variable	All (n = 204)	VSARR (n = 107)	MB (n = 35)	BB (n = 62)	<i>P</i> -value
Aortic valve reoperation	6 (2.9)	3 (2.8)	1 (2.9)	2 (3.2)	0.99
Thromboembolic complications	9 (5.1)	0	6 (18.2)	3 (6.4)	< 0.001
Hemorrhagic complications	13 (7.3)	1 (1.0) ^a	9 (27.3) ^b	3 (6.4)	<0.001
Infective endocarditis	2 (1.0)	0	1 (2.9)	1 (1.6)	0.27

Data are presented as n (%); $^{\rm a}\!{\it P}\!<\!0.05$ VSARR vs. MB. $^{\rm b}\!{\it P}\!<\!0.05$ MB vs. BB

Abbreviations: see Table 1



Figure 4. Freedom from complications after root replacement according to the surgical procedure. A. Hemorrhagic complications. B. Thromboembolic complications; Kaplan-Meier curves with 95% confidence interval. P from the log-rank (Mantel-Cox) test

Abbreviations: see Table 1

Table 3. Multivariable analysis of risk factors for mortality and complications.

Risk factors	Multivariable analysis	
	HR (95% CI)	P-value
Predictors of mortality		
Root replacement method (vs. VSARR) Mechanical Bentall Biological Bentall	0.13 (0.09–1.36) 1.35 (0.56–3.26)	0.13 0.51
NYHA class (vs. NYHA I) NYHA II NYHA III NYHA IV	5.88 (1.25–27.63) 8.62 (1.742–42.59) 73.58 (13.49–401.27)	0.03 0.008 <0.001
LVEF	0.96 (0.92-1.0)	0.03
Concomitant tricuspid valve annuloplasty	7.02 (1.28–38.55)	0.03
Redo surgery	2.97 (0.98–9.07)	0.055
Predictors of complications		
Root replacement method (vs. VSARR) Mechanical Bentall Biological Bentall	6.70 (2.54–17.63) 2.19 (0.77–6.21)	<0.001 0.14
Atrial fibrillation	2.83 (1.25–6.42)	0.01
NYHA class III–IV	2.07 (0.96–4.50)	0.07

Abbreviations: CI, confidence interval; HR, hazard ratio; LVEF, left ventricular ejection fraction; NYHA, New York Heart Association; VSARR, valve-sparing aortic root replacement

pathology of the left ventricular wall muscle is different. All exclusions narrowed the study group to 204 patients; however, the selected study subgroups did not differ significantly as to baseline characteristics. The only difference was age, and it seems obvious, as the oldest patients were in subgroup BB and the youngest in subgroup MB. The baseline age heterogeneity seems to be inseparably associated with the analysis of different approaches to ARR



Figure 5. Aortic valve peak gradient at follow-up. Data are presented as median (IQR)

Abbreviations: see Table 1

and is present in several investigations published to date [17–19]. This is the consequence of age being one of the major factors impacting the choice of the valve prosthesis (biological vs. mechanical).

The assessment of early mortality did not reveal significant differences between the 3 subgroups (P = 0.40), and the overall mortality in the entire study group of 2.9% does not significantly differ from the early mortality of 1.9% reported by Yamabe et al. [20], who analyzed a large cohort of 371 patients.

Similarly, the estimated survival did not differ between the subgroups (P = 0.12, log-rank test). The best 5-year survival was noted in the MB subgroup, while the worst was in the BB subgroup (94.2% and 78.4%, respectively). Conversely, Bilkhu et al. [21], who analyzed 344 patients, reported the best 5-year survival in the VSARR group (100%) and the worst in the BB group (87%).

Interestingly, our analysis of freedom from reoperation also failed to reveal a significant difference between the subgroups (P = 0.99, log-rank test), and the proportion of patients who underwent reoperation during the follow-up period was rather low at 2.9%. In this regard, particularly good outcomes were noted in the VSARR subgroup where the 5-year freedom from reoperation (97.8%) was better in comparison to the 5-year freedom from reoperation of 87.9% reported by Badiu et al. [17].

This is the consequence of the small proportion of patients (1.9%) who developed severe aortic valve regurgitation during the follow-up. Notably, all 3 reoperations in the VSARR group were elective procedures performed due to severe aortic valve regurgitation, and all patients survived the surgery. In contrast, the reoperations in MB (1 patient) and BB subgroup (2 patients) were urgent procedures performed due to endocarditis with high operative risk, and 1 patient did not survive the surgery.

Considering that the comparison of early and late mortality, freedom from reoperation, and freedom from aortic valve regurgitation failed to demonstrate the advantage of any particular approach, it seems that the outcome which differs across the analyzed approaches is the rate of complications, both hemorrhagic and thrombo-embolic.

It is universally accepted that these complications not only substantially compromise the quality of life but also affect prognosis. Therefore, they should be taken into account while planning ARR surgery.

The analysis of complications that occurred during follow-up, revealed major differences between the assessed approaches. The VSARR procedures are associated with a very low risk of late complications both thromboembolic (0 patients) and hemorrhagic (1 patient, 1%), which translates into 99% estimated 5-year freedom from hemorrhagic complications and 100% estimated 5-year freedom from thromboembolic complications. Our results are in line with those published by Badiu et al. [17] who report in the VSARR group the 5-year freedom from hemorrhagic complications at 99.3%.

In our study, the highest rate of the above-mentioned complications was noted in the MB subgroup, where thromboembolic complications occurred in 18.2% of patients and hemorrhagic complications in 27.3%. This results in low estimated 5-year freedom from hemorrhagic and thromboembolic complications of 71.1% and 78.2%, respectively.

Similar low 7-year freedom from hemorrhagic and thromboembolic complications of 74.3% and 87.7%, respectively in the MB group was reported by Radu et al. [15].

The multivariable analysis confirmed that MB is an independent risk factor for complications (HR, 6.70; 95% Cl, 2.54–17.63; P <0.001).

In conclusion, based on our findings it seems that VSARR procedures represent the best option for patients undergoing ARR surgery. This approach is associated with low mortality, a low reoperation rate, and a very low rate of late complications. Among the analyzed approaches, VSARR is also favored by the lowest follow-up NYHA class and the lowest aortic valve peak gradient.

Study limitations

The major limitation of our study is its retrospective design and non-randomized assignment to the analyzed subgroups. This is a single-center study, and the selection of the approach to ARR was left at the discretion of the operating surgeon.

Conclusions

With the same mortality, freedom from reoperation, and a small complication rate in comparison with mechanical Bentall and Bio-Bentall, VSARR might be the preferred approach to aortic root aneurysm.

Supplementary material

Supplementary material is available at https://journals.viamedica.pl/kardiologia_polska.

Article information

Funding: The work was supported by the statutory funds from the Medical University of Silesia (PCN-1-006/N/0/K to MAD).

Conflict of interest: None declared.

Open access: This article is available in open access under Creative Common Attribution-Non-Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) license, allowing to download articles and share them with others as long as they credit the authors and the publisher, but without permission to change them in any way or use them commercially. For commercial use, please contact the journal office at kardiologiapolska@ptkardio.pl.

REFERENCES

- Hagl C, Strauch JT, Spielvogel D, et al. Is the Bentall procedure for ascending aorta or aortic valve replacement the best approach for long-term event-free survival? Ann Thorac Surg. 2003; 76(3): 698–703; discussion 703, doi: 10.1016/s0003-4975(03)00568-x, indexed in Pubmed: 12963181.
- Bentall H, De Bono A. A technique for complete replacement of the ascending aorta. Thorax. 1968; 23(4): 338–339, doi: 10.1136/thx.23.4.338, indexed in Pubmed: 5664694.
- Concha M, Casares J, Ross DN, et al. Homograft replacement of the aortic valve. Lancet. 1962; 2(7254): 487–929, doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(62)90345-8, indexed in Pubmed: 14494158.
- Kon ND, Westaby S, Amarasena N, et al. Comparison of implantation techniques using freestyle stentless porcine aortic valve. Ann Thorac Surg. 1995; 59(4):857–862, doi: 10.1016/0003-4975(95)00066-t, indexed in Pubmed: 7695409.
- Di Bartolomeo R, Botta L, Leone A, et al. Bio-Valsalva prosthesis: 'new' conduit for 'old' patients. Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg. 2008; 7(6):

1062-1066, doi: 10.1510/icvts.2008.187849, indexed in Pubmed: 18801801.

- David TE, Feindel CM. An aortic valve-sparing operation for patients with aortic incompetence and aneurysm of the ascending aorta. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 1992; 103(4): 617–21; discussion 622, indexed in Pubmed: 1532219.
- Sarsam MA, Yacoub M. Remodeling of the aortic valve anulus. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 1993; 105(3): 435–438, indexed in Pubmed: 8445922.
- Gocoł R, Malinowski M, Bis J, et al. Aneurysm of the aortic root and valvesparing aortic root replacement: long-term outcomes from a single Polish center. Kardiol Pol. 2020; 78(12): 1235–1242, doi: 10.33963/KP.15636, indexed in Pubmed: 33021352.
- Ouzounian M, Rao V, Manlhiot C, et al. Valve-Sparing root replacement compared with composite valve graft procedures in patients with aortic root dilation. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2016; 68(17): 1838–1847, doi: 10.1016/j. jacc.2016.07.767, indexed in Pubmed: 27765186.
- Boodhwani M, de Kerchove L, Glineur D, et al. Repair-oriented classification of aortic insufficiency: impact on surgical techniques and clinical outcomes. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2009; 137(2): 286–294, doi: 10.1016/j. jtcvs.2008.08.054, indexed in Pubmed: 19185138.
- Zoghbi WA, Adams D, Bonow RO, et al. Recommendations for Noninvasive Evaluation of Native Valvular Regurgitation: A Report from the American Society of Echocardiography Developed in Collaboration with the Society for Cardiovascular Magnetic Resonance. J Am Soc Echocardiogr. 2017; 30(4): 303–371, doi: 10.1016/j.echo.2017.01.007, indexed in Pubmed: 28314623.
- Akins CW, Miller DC, Turina MI, et al. Guidelines for reporting mortality and morbidity after cardiac valve interventions. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg. 2008; 33(4): 523–528, doi: 10.1016/j.ejcts.2007.12.055, indexed in Pubmed: 18313319.
- Erbel R, Aboyans V, Boileau C, et al. 2014 ESC Guidelines on the diagnosis and treatment of aortic diseases: Document covering acute and chronic aortic diseases of the thoracic and abdominal aorta of the adult. The Task Force for the Diagnosis and Treatment of Aortic Diseases of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). Eur Heart J. 2014; 35(41): 2873–2926, doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehu281, indexed in Pubmed: 25173340.

- Pantaleo A, Murana G, Di Marco L, et al. Biological versus mechanical Bentall procedure for aortic root replacement: a propensity score analysis of a consecutive series of 1112 patients. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg. 2017; 52(1): 143–149, doi: 10.1093/ejcts/ezx070, indexed in Pubmed: 28407120.
- Radu NC, Kirsch EWM, Hillion ML, et al. Embolic and bleeding events after modified Bentall procedure in selected patients. Heart. 2007; 93(1): 107–112, doi: 10.1136/hrt.2005.086009, indexed in Pubmed: 16803938.
- Mazzola A, Di Mauro M, Pellone F, et al. Freestyle aortic root bioprosthesis is a suitable alternative for aortic root replacement in elderly patients: a propensity score study. Ann Thorac Surg. 2012; 94(4): 1185–1190, doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2012.05.015, indexed in Pubmed: 22748645.
- Badiu CC, Deutsch MA, Sideris C, et al. Aortic root replacement: comparison of clinical outcome between different surgical techniques. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg. 2014; 46(4): 685–692, doi: 10.1093/ejcts/ezt647, indexed in Pubmed: 24497393.
- Yerokun BA, Vallabhajosyula P, Vekstein AM, et al. Long-term outcomes of aortic root operations in the United States among Medicare beneficiaries. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2021 [Epub ahead of print], doi: 10.1016/j. jtcvs.2021.02.068, indexed in Pubmed: 33814173.
- Lamana Fd, Dias RR, Duncan JA, et al. Surgery of the aortic root: should we go for the valve-sparing root reconstruction or the composite graft-valve replacement is still the first choice of treatment for these patients? Rev Bras Cir Cardiovasc. 2015; 30(3): 343–352, doi: 10.5935/1678-9741.20150028, indexed in Pubmed: 26313725.
- Yamabe T, Zhao Y, Kurlansky PA, et al. Assessment of long-term outcomes: aortic valve reimplantation versus aortic valve and root replacement with biological valved conduit in aortic root aneurysm with tricuspid valve. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg. 2021; 59(3): 658–665, doi: 10.1093/ejcts/ezaa389, indexed in Pubmed: 33230518.
- Bilkhu R, Youssefi P, Soppa G, et al. Aortic root surgery: does high surgical volume and a consistent perioperative approach improve outcome? Semin Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2016; 28(2): 302–309, doi: 10.1053/j. semtcvs.2016.04.016, indexed in Pubmed: 28043434.

Influence of a long-term proctoring process on the effectiveness of chronic total occlusion percutaneous coronary interventions

Katarzyna Żelazowska-Chmielińska¹, Wojciech Wąsek², Mirosław Ferenc³, Bogumił Kamiński⁴,

Tomasz Przerwa¹, Paweł Krzesiński¹

¹Department of Cardiology and Internal Diseases, Military Institute of Medicine in Warsaw, Warszawa, Poland ²Institute of Medical Sciences, Medical College of Rzeszów University, Rzeszów, Poland ³2nd Department of Cardiology and Angiology, University Heart Center Freiburg, Bad Krozingen, Germany ⁴SGH Warsaw School of Economics, Warszawa, Poland

Correspondence to:

Katarzyna Żelazowska--Chmielińska, MD, Military Institute of Medicine in Warsaw. Szaserów 128, 04–141 Warszawa, Poland. phone: +48 261 816 372, e-mail[.] katarzynazelazowska@gmail.com Copyright by the Author(s), 2022

DOI: 10.33963/KP.a2022.0042 **Received:**

December 3, 2021 Accepted: February 12, 2022

Early publication date: February 13, 2022

ABSTRACT

Background: Despite the complexity of the chronic total occlusion (CTO) percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI) procedures and unsatisfactory results in centers with low volume experience, the practice of training and certifying operators is not a routine.

Aims: The study aimed to identify factors influencing the effectiveness and complications of PCI CTOs during a proctoring program.

Methods: The study group consisted of 194 consecutive patients (226 PCI CTOs) as part of the proctoring program. The relationships between clinical and treatment parameters and the experience gained along with the duration of the proctoring program on the effectiveness and safety of the procedure were assessed.

Results: The multivariable analysis showed an independent effect of CTO morphology (odds ratio [OR], 0.38; 95% confidence interval [CI], 0.21–0.71; P < 0.01) and an independent effect of increasing operator's experience (OR, 2.62; 95% CI, 1.24–5.60; P = 0.01) on the effectiveness of the procedure. The increase in the efficiency of the PCI CTO, related to the treatment experience gained during the program, was observed especially in the first 50 procedures, treatment effectiveness increased from 55% to 72% (P < 0.05). The success of procedures was higher in months when ≥ 3 procedures were performed (75% vs. 52%; P < 0.001). Periprocedural complications occurred in 11 patients (4.9%). In the multivariable analysis, no independent factors influencing the risk of complications were identified.

Conclusions: The effectiveness of PCI CTO depended on lesion complexity and broadening operator's experience. No independent factors affecting the risk of complications were identified. The number of >50 procedures under the proctor's supervision should be considered in designing teaching programs.

Key words: chronic total occlusion, experience, percutaneous coronary intervention, proctoring, success

INTRODUCTION

The chronic total occlusion (CTO) percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI) is the most complex percutaneous coronary procedure [1, 2]. PCI CTO requires skills of a highly specialized operator and has high costs resulting from the need to use expensive, technologically advanced equipment. Technical complexity determines the higher complication rate (1.6% vs. 0.8%) and lower efficiency of PCI CTO (70% vs. 97%) compared to routine PCI [2–5]. As a result of the technological advancement made in recent years, these differences gradually disappear in the clinical

WHAT'S NEW?

In our study, we investigated whether lesion complexity and operator's experience gained during educational program under the proctor's supervision were independent factors influencing the success of percutaneous coronary intervention for chronic total occlusion (PCI CTO) determined in multivariable analysis. The supervision of a proctor significantly increased the effectiveness of training in a low-experienced center compared to the self-acquired experience presented in other studies. The increase in effectiveness was greatest during the first 50 procedures of the proctoring process, which may be a factor to consider in designing training programs. The success of PCI CTO procedures was higher in months when \geq 3 procedures were performed. Any independent factors affecting the risk of complications were not identified.

centers with the highest level experience, nonetheless, they remain in the centers with limited experience (91% vs. 54%) [1–3, 6–10].

Significant differences between centers concerning the effectiveness of treatments do not constitute a formal premise for the introduction of PCI CTO accreditation. The process of implementation of the PCI CTO procedure along with educating the operators is not standardized and not subject to routine evaluation. This remains in contradiction with the invasive cardiology practice in introducing complex interventions. For example, the left atrial appendage occluder implantation or the percutaneous implantation of aortic valve prostheses are not recommended in non-accredited centers [11, 12]. The process of training operators remains under strict supervision. It covers the theory, exercises on simulators, and a clinical phase under the proctor's supervision. Granting approval by the Food and Drug Association for the therapeutic use of new devices in the United States depends, among others, on the documentation of the training process effectiveness. Each of the training phases is assessed, and its completion is mandatory to obtain the operator's certificate. Otherwise, it is not possible to purchase equipment for procedures from the manufacturer [13–15].

Despite the complexity of PCI CTOs and unsatisfactory outcomes in centers with little experience, the practice of certifying centers and operators is not routine. The "CTO Club" indicates in their recommendations the key importance of the educational process [1, 2]. Among educational models, the practical hands-on training conducted with an experienced operator (proctor) is characterized by the highest efficiency. Initial experience shows that the effectiveness of the procedure obtained during the training is significantly higher and achieved much faster than in the case of independent education [16-18]. So far, the duration of such designed programs has not been determined. Therefore, this study aimed to assess the impact of the duration and other potential factors related to the proctor's training program on the effectiveness and complications of the PCI CTO.

METHODS

Study group

The study group consisted of consecutive patients who underwent PCI CTO in 2012–2017 at the Military Institute of Medicine in Warsaw as part of a proctored training program. A CTOs were defined as a total obstruction of the artery of at least 3 months duration with preserved but impaired native flow through the microchannels or bridging blood flow, and complete occlusion with retrograde filling of the peripheral artery from the collateral circulation. Data relating to the characteristics of the study group and endpoints were obtained from medical records, procedure descriptions, and angiographic films. The morphological characteristics of the occlusion were determined using the Japanese Chronic Total Occlusion (J-CTO) score. The J-CTO scale is a five-point scale consisting of entry shape, calcifications, bending >45%, occlusion length, and re-try lesion (one point for each) [19, 20]. Inclusion criteria were angina symptoms caused by exercise or $\geq 10\%$ induction of ischemia in the vascular area of the occluded coronary artery confirmed by imaging examinations. The exclusion criteria were the patient's refusal, uncorrected anemia, hemodynamic instability, respiratory failure, or other causes that prevented the patient from undergoing a potentially long endovascular procedure.

Design of the proctoring program

Four interventional cardiologists employed at the Department of Cardiology with \geq 15 years of procedural experience in percutaneous coronary interventions but with a limited experience in the PCI CTO participated in the proctor's training program. The process of qualifying patients, planning the treatment strategy, the educational process of the operators, and the team participating in the procedures, were managed by the proctor who is a well-known and respected operator in the field of CTO PCI and the head of one of the leading in this field cardiology centers in Europe.

The assumptions of the proctoring program included the proctor's supervision over each of the procedures. The proctor supervised all stages of the treatment, from patient qualification to the procedure, through comprehensive angiographic evaluation, and the selection of the appropriate treatment technique in all cases. The treatment strategy implemented during the program assumed the routine usage of the "antegrade wire escalation, antegrade dissection, re-entry" technique, and in the event of failure, the "retrograde, CART (controlled antegrade and retrograde subintimal tracking) and reverse CART" technique using guidewires and microcatheters tailored to perform PCI CTO. Contralateral injections were routinely used. We used guintiles of the number of treatments for subsequent periods assessing the effectiveness and complications of the procedure during the training program.

Informed consent was obtained from each patient. The study protocol conformed to the ethical guidelines of the 1975 Declaration of Helsinki as reflected in a priori approval by the institution's human research committee (Bioethics Committee of the Military Institute of Medicine No. 56/WIM/2017).

Aim of the study

The endpoint of the study was the success of the procedure, defined as the artery recanalization accompanied by a flow to the peripheral section (TIMI 3), completed with stent implantation.

The complex endpoint assessing the safety of the procedures included the occurrence of acute periprocedural complications. Death, resuscitated sudden cardiac arrest, myocardial infarction (MI), aortic dissection, tamponade, significant bleeding, and stroke were taken into consideration.

Statistical analysis

The study protocol assumed the separation, in the multivariable analysis, of clinical and periprocedural parameters and operators' experience gained as a result of the implementation of the program, independent factors affecting the endpoint of the study, and a complex endpoint assessing the safety of the procedures.

Continuous variables are presented as mean with standard deviation (SD) or median with interquartile range (IQR) and compared between the groups using Student's t-test or the Wilcoxon rank-sum test, respectively. Categorical variables were reported as frequency in a given group by number and percentage, and differences in frequencies were compared between successful and unsuccessful procedures using Fisher's exact test (for binary variables) or the χ^2 independence test (for variables having more than two levels, we used a simulated *P*-value). To identify independent factors predicting the effectiveness and complications of the procedure, the logistic regression model was used. The reported estimation results present models estimated including all variables that were hypothesized to be clinically significant (patient age, chronic kidney disease, previous coronary artery bypass grafting [CABG], previous PCI, ejection fraction [EF] <35%, J-CTO and the impact of the experience) — a single model was estimated, no statistical selection of variables was performed to avoid bias in the estimates of the reported p-values that could be introduced by model selection procedures. The statistical significance of parameters was used to analyze the estimation results, assuming the significance level of 0.05. Statistical analysis was performed with R 4.1.0 and Julia 1.6.2 software and their compliance was verified.

RESULTS

Clinical characteristics

The study group consisted of 194 patients aged mean (SD) 65 (10) years (75% men). More than half of the patients have had a previous myocardial infarction (50%) or angioplasty (PCI) (57%) and 13% had a history of CABG. The mean (SD) value of the EF was 51% (9%). The low ejection fraction (<35%) patients constituted 2.7% of the study group. Patients with diabetes mellitus constituted 42% and patients with chronic kidney disease 21% of the study group. A total of 226 coronary arteries underwent the procedure; 156 (69%) were effectively recanalized. The proctor performed the procedure in 81 out of 226 cases (35.8%) throughout the whole educational program. Four operators participating in the program were engaged in all performed procedures, either actively (in 145 procedures) or passively as assistants and observers. The distribution of the main risk factors did not differ between the groups of patients with successful and unsuccessful revascularization (Table 1).

Treatment characteristics

The CTO recanalization procedure was most often performed in the right coronary artery (RCA) (n = 128; 57%). The percentage of complex procedures (J-CTO \geq 2) was 37%. Out of all 226 procedures performed, the "antegrade" technique was used in 205 (90%), including the wire escalation technique in 156 cases (67%) (Table 1). The median (IQR) radiation dose was 2286 (1340–3496) mGy, the median (IQR) volume of contrast administered was 280 (200–400) ml. The morphological complexity of the occlusion (J-CTO \geq 2), the presence of calcifications, and the occlusion angle >45° occurred statistically significantly more often in the group of ineffective procedures. The effectiveness of the procedure in the J-CTO \geq 2 group (71% vs. 30%; *P* <0.01).

The endpoint of the study — the impact of clinical, angiographic, and periprocedural parameters, as well as growth in operators' experience, on the effectiveness of CTO recanalization procedures

An independent, statistically significant effect on success of the procedure was demonstrated for morphological com-

Table 1. Clinical and procedural characteristics in relation to the effectiveness of the procedure

Variable	All procedures	Successful procedure	Unsuccessful procedure	<i>P</i> -value
Number of procedures, n (%)	226 (100)	156 (100)	70 (100)	<0.01
Age, years, mean (SD)	65.29 (9.9)	64.93 (9.78)	66.09 (10.29)	0.43
Male gender, n (%)	169 (74.78)	114 (73.08)	55 (78.57)	0.48
Hypertension, n (%)	187 (82.74)	127 (81.41)	60 (85.71)	0.55
Diabetes mellitus, n (%)	95 (42)	65 (41.67)	30 (42.86)	0.14
Smoking, n (%)	78 (34.51)	53 (33.97)	25 (35.71)	0.92
Dyslipidemia, n (%)	138 (61.06)	91 (58.33)	47 (67.14)	0.27
CKD n (%)	48 (21,23)	36 (23 08)	12 (17.14)	0.41
Hemodialysis, n (%)	6 (3.09)	5 (3.21)	1 (1.42)	0.18
Previous MI. n (%)	114 (50.44)	73 (46.79)	41 (58.57)	0.14
Previous PCI, n (%)	128 (56.64)	86 (55.13)	42 (60)	0.59
Previous CABG, n (%)	30 (13.27)	19 (12.18)	11 (15.71)	0.61
Previous stroke. n (%)	16 (7.08)	11 (7.05)	5 (7.14)	1.00
EF. %. mean (SD)	51.39 (8.99)	51.53 (9.19)	51.1 (8.55)	0.2
CCS. n (%)				
0	2 (0.88)	0 (0)	2 (2.86)	0.11
1	63 (27.88)	44 (28.21)	19 (27.14)	
2	95 (42 04)	66 (39 10)	29 (41.43)	
3	36 (15 93)	27 (17 31)	9 (12 86)	
4	1 (0 44)	0 (0)	1 (1 43)	
CTO target vessel	. (0.1.1)	0 (0)	. (.1.6)	
Right coronary artery, n (%)	128 (56 6)	80 (51 28)	48 (68 57)	0.1
Left anterior descending artery, n (%)	34 (15 04)	24 (15 38)	10 (14 29)	
Left circumflex artery, n (%)	62 (27 43)	50 (32 05)	12 (17 14)	
Intermediate branch n (%)	1 (0 44)	1 (0.64)	0 (0)	
Venous graft n (%)	1 (0.44)	1 (0.64)	0 (0)	
Procedural technique	1 (0.11)	1 (0.01)	0(0)	
Antegrade, n (%)	205 (90 7)	152 (97 44)	53 (75 71)	<0.01
Wire escalation, n (%)	151 (66.8)	102 (0711.1)	33 (7517 1)	
Dual injection, n (%)	78 (34 5)			
Retrograde n (%)	21 (9.3)	4 (2.56)	17 (24 29)	
Anatomical factors	21 (010)	. (2150)	., ()	
J-CTO, n (%)				
0	75 (33.2)	56 (35.9)	19 (27,14)	<0.01
1	68 (30.09)	54 (34.62)	14 (20)	
2	40 (17.7)	25 (16.03)	15 (21.43)	
3	25 (11.06)	15 (9.62)	10 (14.29)	
4	13 (5.75)	4 (2.56)	9 (12.86)	
5	5 (2.21)	2 (1.28)	3 (4.29)	
J-CTO ≥2, n (%)	83 (36.73)	46 (29.49)	37 (52.86)	<0.01
J-CTO <2, n (%)	143 (63.27)	110 (70.51)	33 (47.14)	
Occlusion length, n (%)	94 (41.59)	59 (37.82)	35 (50)	0.11
Blunt stump/entry, n (%)	53 (23.45)	33 (21.15)	20 (28.57)	0.24
Calcifications, n (%)	73 (32.3)	43 (27.56)	30 (42.86)	0.03
Bending >45°, n (%)	58 (25.66)	26 (16.67)	32 (45.71)	< 0.001
Exposure factors	. ,			
Radiation dose, mGy, median (IOR)	2286 (1340-3496)	2183 (1253–3287)	2869 (1628–4090)	0.04
Radiation dose, mGy, in J-CTO <2, median (IOR)	1877 (981.5–3134.5)	1957 (1013–3185)	1678 (931–3064)	0.72
Radiation dose, mGy, in J-CTO ≥ 2 , median (IOR)	3047 (1895–4328)	2482 (1880–3880)	3404 (2263–4697)	0.03
Contrast volume, ml, median (IOR)	280 (200–400)	300 (200–400)	250 (165–400)	0.56
Contrast volume, ml, in J-CTO <2. median (IOR)	225 (160–350)	230 (150–350)	200 (160–300)	0.4
Contrast volume, ml, in J-CTO ≥2, median (IQR)	350 (225–500)	354.5 (280–457.5)	350 (200–500)	0.28

Abbreviations: CABG, coronary artery by-pass graft; CCS, Canadian Cardiovascular Society; CKD, Chronic kidney disease; CTO, chronic total occlusion; IQR, interquartile range; J-CTO, Japanese Chronic Total Occlusion score; EF, ejection fraction; MI, myocardial infarction; PCI, percutaneous coronary intervention; SD, standard deviation

 Table 2. Multivariable analysis of the influence of selected variables

 on the effectiveness of the treatment

	OR (95% CI)	<i>P</i> -value
Age	0.98 (0.94–1.01)	0.16
CKD	1.75 (0.78–4.16)	0.19
Previous CABG	0.88 (0.37-2.17)	0.78
EF <35%	1.01 (0.97–1.04)	0.74
J-CTO ≥2	0.38 (0.21-0.71)	0.002
Previous PCI	0.69 (0.37-1.29)	0.25
Operator experience	2.62 (1.24-5.60)	0.012

Abbreviations: CI, confidence interval; OR, odds ratio; other — see Table 1



Figure 1. Plot of the conditional probability of successful procedure as a function of the number of procedures

plexity of the lesion (J-CTO \geq 2) (odds ratio [OR], 0.38; 95% confidence interval [Cl], 0.21–0.71; *P* <0.01) and operator's experience (OR, 2.62; 95% Cl, 1.24–5.60; *P* = 0.01) (Table 2). A higher J-CTO score resulted in decreased success of CTO PCI, and experience gained during the proctoring program increased the effectiveness of the procedure. The remaining variables did not affect the success. The increase in the efficiency of CTO recanalization, related to the acquired procedural experience, was observed especially during the first 50 procedures (Figure 1). The treatment effectiveness increased between the first and the remaining quintiles of the program from 55% to 72% (*P* <0.05). In the months with more than 3 PCI CTOs performed, a higher percentage of successful recanalization was achieved compared to the months with less than 3 procedures (75% vs. 52%; *P* <0.001).

A composite endpoint assessing safety

Periprocedural complications occurred in the case of 11 patients (4.9%). One patient died, 3 patients experienced myocardial infarctions, 3 patients had tamponade, one patient had aortic dissections, and 3 patients were successfully resuscitated from sudden cardiac arrest. No patients experienced significant bleeding or stroke. No independent

 Table 3. Multivariable analysis of the influence of selected variables

 on the occurrence of complications

	OR (95% CI)	P-value
Age	1.02 (0.98–1.06)	0.32
CKD	1.09(0.43-2.64)	0.84
Previous CABG	0.52 (0.12–1.63)	0.32
EF <35%	1.00 (0.96–1.04)	0.92
J-CTO ≥2	0.83 (0.38–1.77)	0.64
Previous PCI	0.97 (0.47-2.02)	0.93
Operator experience	0.99 (0.41-2.68)	0.99

Abbreviations: see Table 1 and Table 2

factors affecting the risk of complications were identified in the multivariable analysis (Table 3). The absorbed median (IQR) radiation dose was significantly higher in complex occlusions (J-CTO <2 vs. J-CTO >2: 3047 (1895–4328) mGy vs. 1877 (981.5–3134.5) mGy; *P* <0.01). The median (IQR) volume of the administered contrast also was significantly higher in the case of complex procedures (350 [225–500] ml vs. 225 [160–350] ml; *P* <0.01).

In this study, the influence of the volume of contrast and radiation dose on the occurrence of complications was not assessed.

DISCUSSION

The complexity of CTO procedures and their complications require using proven educational programs and professional supervision at the implementation stage [1]. The recommendations of the "CTO Club" lead operators to "online" didactic programs that enable learning. These online programs start from the correct interpretation of angiographic images in the context of the use of appropriate treatment techniques, discuss differences regarding the technical properties of the angioplasty equipment and the principles of its selection depending on the angiographic image and the course of the procedure [2].

The measurable effect of the experience gained is the increase in operator effectiveness. For example, in a meta-analysis of 65 studies published in 2013, Patel et al. [21] showed an 11-year upward trend in the effectiveness of CTO recanalization from 68% to 79%. The similar dependence between the effectiveness and the number of recanalizations performed was documented in a seven-year registry of 94 000 procedures; their effectiveness in groups of operators performing 1–10, 11–50, >50 treatments per year was 58.4%, 65.6%, and 72.7%, respectively [18].

Theoretical knowledge of PCI CTO is not sufficient to obtain satisfactory treatment results even among experienced operators who do not have practical experience in CTO recanalization. An expert opinion of the Association of Cardiovascular Interventions of the Polish Cardiac Society emphasizes the role of experience in obtaining high efficiency of CTO PCI procedures, indicating the number of 50 procedures per year as the minimum that allows achieving sufficient effectiveness [22]. Due to the awareness of this fact, it was necessary to base the practical education process on direct consultations and substantive supervision at the operating table by operators-teachers experienced in performing such procedures. In 2017, Yamamoto et al. [16] published data on the impact of proctoring on the effects of CTO recanalization procedures in 2009-2016, demonstrating comparable effectiveness of recanalization among experienced and inexperienced operators after the completion of the proctor's program (96.9% vs. 90.5%; P = 0.12) [16]. The impact of the proctoring process on the increase in the effectiveness of PCI CTO was also documented by Sharma et al. [17] who reported on the effects of 232 procedures performed before proctoring and 355 procedures performed after the implementation of the proctoring program, showing an increase in the percentage of effective recanalizations from 62.1 to 77.5% (P<0.001). In particular, the effectiveness of procedures that were technically difficult due to the complex morphology of the occlusion increased (J-CTO \geq 2 from 49.5% to 70.7%; P < 0.001) [17].

PCI CTO proctoring programs find many enthusiasts. However, the framework of such programs, their form and duration, have not yet been defined. In this context, the results of the presented study provide new information. Over the course of the 6-year program, an effective increase in the efficiency of recanalization from 56% to 73% was documented in the first 18 months of the program. After the first 50 procedures, the impact of the proctoring process was not noticeable, and the effectiveness of the procedures remained unchanged for the next 4.5 years of the study. However, there is a noticeable dynamic increase in efficiency, which allowed for higher efficiency than in the already-discussed seven-year registry of 94 000 non-proctored procedures performed by inexperienced operators, where after 7 years the effectiveness of recanalization was 61.4% [18]. The results of the analysis by Brilakis et al. [3] from 2015, which documented the dynamics of the increase in the effectiveness of CTO recanalization procedures in the non-proctored program, indicated the decisive role of the first 20 procedures, at the same time flagging the importance of the number of procedures performed by operators (<5 = 53.1%, 5-1 = 62.1%, and >10 = 74.6%; P < 0.001). The results of the research of Brilakis et al. [3] correspond with the results obtained in our study. The lowest efficiency of recanalizations was recorded in the months when the number of procedures performed fell below three.

As far as we know, the results obtained in our study show for the first time the independent impact of the proctoring program on the success of CTO recanalization procedures. The study determined prognostic factors such as the timeframe of the program and the number of procedures that may influence the achievement of the best possible educational results. Among the analyzed parameters, only the morphological characteristics of the occlusion (J-CTO score) and the proctor's support during the first 50 procedures, were independent factors influencing the effectiveness of recanalizations. Contrary to the results of the PROGRESS-CTO, RECHARGE, and CASTLE studies, in this analysis, clinical factors did not influence the effectiveness of the procedure. The criterion of the patient's age >65 years, considered prognostically unfavorable for the success and safety of the procedure, and the history of coronary revascularization, which are included in the scales determining the effectiveness of CTO recanalization, lost their importance, perhaps due to the importance of gaining experience in the proctoring program [23–26].

This is particularly important given that the population included in this analysis was clinically more burdened than the populations presented in the meta-analysis; it was older (65 vs. 60), with a more common history of hypertension (83% vs. 54%), diabetes (42% vs. 22%), dyslipidemia (61% vs. 52%), previous MI (50% vs. 40%), PCI (56% vs. 21%), and CABG (13% vs. 10%) [27]. On the other hand, our analysis of the significance of individual components of the J-CTO score was consistent with the results of the PROGRESS, RECHARGE, and CASTLE studies, indicating the strongest impact of the presence of massive calcifications and occlusion within the tortuous segment of the vessel [23–26].

The relatively low percentage of procedures on anatomically complex occlusions (J-CTO score \geq 2) and procedures using the retrograde technique are unquestionable limitations of this study. Nevertheless, this characteristic of the studied group reflects the actual population of our center that begins the systematic introduction of this treatment technique.

Article information

Acknowledgments: We would like to thank our colleagues from the Cardiology and Internal Medicine Department of the Military Institute of Medicine in Warsaw for their assistance with the present study. This work was supported by the Science Grant awarded by the Ministry of Science and Higher Education (497/WIM).

Conflict of interest: None declared.

Open access: This article is available in open access under Creative Common Attribution-Non-Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) license, allowing to download articles and share them with others as long as they credit the authors and the publisher, but without permission to change them in any way or use them commercially. For commercial use, please contact the journal office at kardiologiapolska@ptkardio.pl.

REFERENCES

- Brilakis ES, Mashayekhi K, Tsuchikane E, et al. Guiding Principles for Chronic Total Occlusion Percutaneous Coronary Intervention: A Global Expert Consensus Document. Circulation. 2019; 140(5): 420–433, doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.119.039797, indexed in Pubmed: 31356129.
- Galassi AR, Werner GS, Boukhris M, et al. Percutaneous recanalisation of chronic total occlusions: 2019 consensus document from the EuroCTO Club. EuroIntervention. 2019; 15(2): 198–208, doi: 10.4244/EJJ-D-18-00826, indexed in Pubmed: 30636678.
- Brilakis ES, Banerjee S, Karmpaliotis D, et al. Procedural outcomes of chronic total occlusion percutaneous coronary intervention: a report from the NCDR (National Cardiovascular Data Registry). JACC Cardiovasc Interv. 2015; 8(2): 245–253, doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2014.08.014, indexed in Pubmed: 25700746.

- Nikolakopoulos I, Patel T, Jefferson BK, et al. Complications of chronic total occlusion percutaneous coronary intervention. Neth Heart J. 2021; 29(1): 60–67, doi: 10.1007/s12471-020-01502-1, indexed in Pubmed: 33111194.
- Karatasakis A, Brilakis ES. Chronic total occlusion percutaneous coronary intervention failure: Learning from failure. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv. 2019; 93(6): 1039–1040, doi: 10.1002/ccd.28274, indexed in Pubmed: 31025523.
- Christopoulos G, Karmpaliotis D, Alaswad K, et al. Application and outcomes of a hybrid approach to chronic total occlusion percutaneous coronary intervention in a contemporary multicenter US registry. Int J Cardiol. 2015; 198: 222–228, doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2015.06.093, indexed in Pubmed: 26189193.
- Sapontis J, Salisbury AC, Yeh RW, et al. Early Procedural and Health Status Outcomes After Chronic Total Occlusion Angioplasty: A Report From the OPEN-CTO Registry (Outcomes, Patient Health Status, and Efficiency in Chronic Total Occlusion Hybrid Procedures). JACC Cardiovasc Interv. 2017; 10(15): 1523–1534, doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2017.05.065, indexed in Pubmed: 28797429.
- Råmunddal T, Hoebers LP, Hoebers L, et al. Chronic total occlusions in Sweden — A report from the Swedish Coronary Angiography and Angioplasty Registry (SCAAR). PLoS One. 2014; 9(8): e103850, doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0103850, indexed in Pubmed: 25117457.
- Suzuki Y, Tsuchikane E, Katoh O, et al. Outcomes of Percutaneous Coronary Interventions for Chronic Total Occlusion Performed by Highly Experienced Japanese Specialists: The First Report From the Japanese CTO-PCI Expert Registry. JACC Cardiovasc Interv. 2017; 10(21): 2144–2154, doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2017.06.024, indexed in Pubmed: 29055764.
- Nikolakopoulos I, Vemmou E, Karacsonyi J, et al. Latest developments in chronic total occlusion percutaneous coronary intervention. Expert Rev Cardiovasc Ther. 2020; 18(7): 415–426, doi: 10.1080/14779072.2020.1787153, indexed in Pubmed: 32594784.
- Parma R, Zembala MO, Dąbrowski M, et al. Transcatheter aortic valve implantation. Expert Consensus of the Association of Cardiovascular Interventions of the Polish Cardiac Society and the Polish Society of Cardio-Thoracic Surgeons, approved by the Board of the Polish Cardiac Society.... Kardiol Pol. 2017; 75(9): 937–964, doi: 10.5603/KP.2017.0175, indexed in Pubmed: 28895996.
- Grygier M, Wojakowski W, Smolka G, et al. Left atrial appendage occlusion: consensus document of Association of Cardiovascular Interventions and Heart Rhythm Section of Polish Cardiac Society. Kardiol Pol. 2018; 76(3): 677–697, doi: 10.5603/KP.a2018.0057, indexed in Pubmed: 29441512.
- Kramer DB, Kesselheim AS, Kramer DB, et al. Regulation of medical devices in the United States and European Union. N Engl J Med. 2012; 366(9): 848–855, doi: 10.1056/NEJMhle1113918, indexed in Pubmed: 22332952.
- Dhruva SS, Redberg RF. FDA regulation of cardiovascular devices and opportunities for improvement. J Interv Card Electrophysiol. 2013; 36(2): 99–105, doi: 10.1007/s10840-012-9767-1, indexed in Pubmed: 23263896.
- Jarow JP, Baxley JH. Medical devices: US medical device regulation. Urol Oncol. 2015; 33(3): 128–132, doi: 10.1016/j.urolonc.2014.10.004, indexed in Pubmed: 25458071.
- Yamamoto M, Tsuchikane E, Kagase Ai, et al. Novel proctorship effectively teaches interventionists coronary artery chronic total occlusion lesions. Cardiovasc Revasc Med. 2018; 19(4): 407–412, doi: 10.1016/j. carrev.2017.10.015, indexed in Pubmed: 29169983.

- 17. Sharma V, Jadhav ST, Harcombe AA, et al. Impact of proctoring on success rates for percutaneous revascularisation of coronary chronic total occlusions. Open Heart. 2015; 2(1): e000228, doi: 10.1136/openhrt-2014-000228, indexed in Pubmed: 25852949.
- Habara M, Tsuchikane E, Muramatsu T, et al. Comparison of percutaneous coronary intervention for chronic total occlusion outcome according to operator experience from the Japanese retrograde summit registry. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv. 2016; 87(6): 1027–1035, doi: 10.1002/ccd.26354, indexed in Pubmed: 26719060.
- Tanaka H, Morino Y, Abe M, et al. Impact of J-CTO score on procedural outcome and target lesion revascularisation after percutaneous coronary intervention for chronic total occlusion: a substudy of the J-CTO Registry (Multicentre CTO Registry in Japan). EuroIntervention. 2016; 11(9): 981–988, doi: 10.4244/EJJV1119A202, indexed in Pubmed: 26788703.
- Morino Y, Abe M, Morimoto T, et al. Predicting successful guidewire crossing through chronic total occlusion of native coronary lesions within 30 minutes. JACC: Cardiovascular Interventions. 2011;4(2):213–221, doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2010.09.024.
- Patel VG, Brayton KM, Tamayo A, et al. Angiographic success and procedural complications in patients undergoing percutaneous coronary chronic total occlusion interventions: a weighted meta-analysis of 18,061 patients from 65 studies. JACC Cardiovasc Interv. 2013; 6(2): 128–136, doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2012.10.011, indexed in Pubmed: 23352817.
- Bryniarski L, Opolski MP, Wójcik J, et al. Chronic total occlusion percutaneous coronary intervention in everyday clinical practice - an expert opinion of the Association of Cardiovascular Interventions of the Polish Cardiac Society. Adv Interv Cardiol. 2021; 17(1): 6–20, doi: 10.5114/aic.2021.104763, indexed in Pubmed: 33868413.
- Christopoulos G, Kandzari DE, Yeh RW, et al. Development and Validation of a Novel Scoring System for Predicting Technical Success of Chronic Total Occlusion Percutaneous Coronary Interventions: The PROGRESS CTO (Prospective Global Registry for the Study of Chronic Total Occlusion Intervention) Score. JACC Cardiovasc Interv. 2016;9(1): 1–9, doi: 10.1016/j. jcin.2015.09.022, indexed in Pubmed: 26762904.
- Szijgyarto Z, Rampat R, Werner GS, et al. Derivation and Validation of a Chronic Total Coronary Occlusion Intervention Procedural Success Score From the 20,000-Patient EuroCTO Registry: The EuroCTO (CASTLE) Score. JACC Cardiovasc Interv. 2019; 12(4): 335–342, doi: 10.1016/j. jcin.2018.11.020, indexed in Pubmed: 30711551.
- 25. Danek BA, Karatasakis A, Karmpaliotis D, et al. Development and Validation of a Scoring System for Predicting Periprocedural Complications During Percutaneous Coronary Interventions of Chronic Total Occlusions: The Prospective Global Registry for the Study of Chronic Total Occlusion Intervention (PROGRESS CTO) Complications Score. J Am Heart Assoc. 2016; 5(10), doi: 10.1161/JAHA.116.004272, indexed in Pubmed: 27729332.
- Maeremans J, Spratt JC, Knaapen P, et al. Towards a contemporary, comprehensive scoring system for determining technical outcomes of hybrid percutaneous chronic total occlusion treatment: The RECHARGE score. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv. 2018; 91(2): 192–202, doi: 10.1002/ccd.27092, indexed in Pubmed: 28471074.
- Christakopoulos GE, Christopoulos G, Carlino M, et al. Meta-analysis of clinical outcomes of patients who underwent percutaneous coronary interventions for chronic total occlusions. Am J Cardiol. 2015; 115(10): 1367–1375, doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2015.02.038, indexed in Pubmed: 25784515.

Feasibility and safety of left bundle branch area pacing in very elderly patients (\geq 80 years)

Zhixin Jiang*, Yifan Chen*, Chongchong Chen, Meng Chen, Yuanyuan Chen, Tian Wu, Wen Yang, Xiujuan Zhou, Qijun Shan

Department of Cardiology, 1st Affiliated Hospital of Nanjing Medical University, Jiangsu Province Hospital, Nanjing, China *Both authors equally contributed to the study

Correspondence to:

Qijun Shan, MD, Department of Cardiology, 1st Affiliated Hospital of Nanjing Medical University, Jiangsu Province Hospital, 300, Guangzhou Road, Nanjing 210029, China, phone: +86 256 830 38 12, e-mail: qjshan@njmu.edu.cn

Xiujuan Zhou, MD, Department of Cardiology, 1st Affiliated Hospital of Nanjing Medical University, Jiangsu Province Hospital, 300, Guangzhou Road, Nanjing 210029, China, phone: +86 256 830 38 12, e-mail: zxjheart@163.com

Copyright by the Author(s), 2022 DOI: 10.33963/KP.a2022.0048

Received: October 12, 2021

Accepted: February 12, 2022

Early publication date: February 15, 2022

ABSTRACT

Background: Left bundle branch area pacing (LBBAP) has emerged as a promising physiologic pacing strategy. Though many clinical studies have established the feasibility and safety of LBBAP, the data for very elderly patients are lacking.

Aims: This study aimed to assess the feasibility and safety of LBBAP in very elderly patients (≥80 years).

Methods: Two hundred and forty consecutive patients who received LBBAP implantation were retrospectively enrolled in the present study. Inclusion criteria were patients with atrioventricular block, atrial fibrillation with a slow ventricular response, and heart failure with bundle branch block. The patients were divided into two groups: those aged \geq 80 years and those aged <80 years. LBBAP implantation was successfully performed in 48 of 53 (90.6%) very elderly patients and 162 of 187 (86.5%) counterparts. In the very elderly group, the mean (standard deviation [SD]) age was 84 (3) years, mean (SD) paced QRS duration was 112.4 (9.0), and the mean (SD) stimulus to R wave peak time was 82.0 (14.2) ms. Mean (SD) pacing thresholds and mean (SD) R wave sensing were 0.61(0.21) V and 12.1 (4.7) mV at implant. Pacing parameters in very elderly patients were similar to those in their counterparts. During a median follow-up of 6 months, pacing parameters remained stable. Five patients in the very elderly group developed complications (1 with septal perforation during the procedure, 1 with pocket hematoma, 1 with pacing threshold increase, and 2 with micro lead dislodgement during follow-up).

Conclusion: LBBAP is safe and effective in patients \geq 80 years old. LBBAP can be considered as an alternative method for delivering physiological pacing in this special population.

Key words: feasibility, left bundle branch area pacing, physiological pacing, very elderly patients, safety

INTRODUCTION

The proportion of very elderly patients requiring permanent pacemaker implantation (PPM) has increased due to improved therapeutic options for heart disease and augmented life expectancy [1]. It is also related to the pathomorphological changes that occur in the cardiac conduction system with advancing age and the coexistence of hypertension or ischemic heart disease [2]. In a recent study, severe complication rates and life prognosis after traditional PPM were reported to be similar between patients aged \geq and <85 years [3]. However, controversy over PPM in very elderly patients still occurs since they are burdened with many cardiovascular risk factors [4].

Left bundle branch area pacing (LBBAP) has emerged as an alternative method for delivering physiological pacing to achieve electrical synchrony of the left ventricle [5]. According to the experience in our center, since the target is much broader and the left bundle branch has fibers fanning on the subendocardial aspect of the left side of the interventricular septum, LBBAP is easier to perform than His bundle pacing (HBP). Though many

WHAT'S NEW?

The study demonstrates that left bundle branch area pacing (LBBAP) is safe and effective in patients ≥80 years old. Pacing thresholds and R wave sensing were similar to those in the control group and remained stable during follow-up. The complication rate was not higher than the in counterparts. LBBAP can be considered as an alternative method for delivering physiological pacing in this special population.

clinical studies have established the feasibility and safety of LBBAP [5–8], the data for very elderly patients are lacking. In this study, we explored the feasibility and safety of LBBAP in patients \geq 80 years old.

METHODS

Study population

Consecutive patients with a PPM indication who underwent LBBAP were retrospectively evaluated from April 2018 to December 2020. Inclusion criteria were patients with AVB, atrial fibrillation with a slow ventricular response, and heart failure with left bundle branch block (LBBB). Patients diagnosed with LBBB should meet the Strauss criteria: QRSd ≥130 ms in women, ≥140 in men, QS or rS in leads V1 and V2, and mid-QRS notching or slurring in 2 of leads V1, V2, V5, V6, I, and aVL. Then patients were divided into two groups: those aged ≥80 years and those aged <80 years as a control group (Supplementary material, *Figure S1*). The study protocol was approved by the Institutional Review Board of the 1st Affiliated Hospital of Nanjing Medical University, and all patients gave written informed consent.

LBBAP implantation procedure

The detailed implantation procedure was the same as those we have previously reported [9]. The custom ventricular pacing electrode (Minneapolis, MN 3830 electrode) was introduced transvenously into the right ventricle using a 7-Fr guiding catheter (Model C315-S10; Medtronic Inc., Dublin, Ireland). After positioning against the basal or middle ventricular septum, the ventricular lead was driven through the interventricular septum to catch the left bundle branch. Pre-implantation echocardiography was performed routinely to evaluate the thickness of the septum. During lead fixation, the paced QRS morphology and the impedance were carefully monitored. Sheath angiography is a useful way to avoid septum perforation. The penetration depth was assessed by injecting small amounts of contrast medium through the guiding catheter under fluoroscopy in left anterior oblique (LAO) 40-degree view (Supplementary material, Figure S2). An estimation of penetration depth was provided in combination with earlier knowledge of the lead tip dimension (10.8 mm from tip to ring) and the IVS wall thickness. Successful LBBAP was defined as unipolar paced QRS with RBBB-like morphology and with at least one of the following three conditions fulfilled: (1) LBB potentials; (2) selective LBB capture; (3) short and constant stimulus

to R wave peak time in surface leads V5–6 (RWPT) at highand low-output pacing or RWPT abruptly shortening more than 10 ms at high-output pacing.

Data collection

Baseline patient characteristics (especially the comorbidities, such as hypertension, coronary artery disease, and diabetes mellitus) and indications for PPM were documented. Baseline QRSd and the presence of BBB were also recorded. Paced QRSd (without the pacing artifact and the initial latency) and RWPT were recorded. According to the novel criterion described by Jastrzębski et al. [10], which suggested different optimal cut-off values of RWPT for LBB capture, the diagnosis was 83 ms in patients with narrow QRS and RBBB and 101 ms in patients with LBBB and non-specific intraventricular conduction disturbance; we differentiated between LBB pacing and LV septal pacing. Pacing threshold, R wave sensing, impedance, and pacing percentages were documented at implant, at 1-week follow-up, and at 1-, 6- and 12-month follow-up. Total fluoroscopy doses for LBBAP lead placement and procedure duration were also documented. Transthoracic echocardiography was performed at baseline and 6-month follow-up. Left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF), left ventricular end-systolic diameter (LVESD), and left ventricular end-diastolic dimension (LVEDD) were measured. Complications during the procedure such as pneumothorax, pericardial effusion, and septum perforation were recorded. Device-related infection, pocket hematoma, postoperative septum perforation, macro lead dislodgment, or micro lead dislodgement at any time during follow-up were recorded. Micro lead dislodgment was defined as failing to capture the left-sided conduction system resulting in a QS pattern in V1.

Statistical analysis

Continuous variables were expressed as mean (standard deviation [SD]) and compared by independent t-test if the data were normally distributed. Nonnormally distributed variables were expressed as the median with interquartile range (IQR) and compared by Mann-Whitney U-tests. Categorical variables were expressed as observed number and percentage values. Pearson's χ^2 test and Fisher's exact test were used to compare categorical variables. A linear mixed-effect model was used to analyze the repeated measurement data. All *P*-values were two-tailed, and *P*-values of <0.05 were considered significant. Statistical

Table 1. Patient characteristics

	Age <80 years (n = 187)	Age ≥80 years (n = 53)	<i>P</i> -value
Age, years, mean (SD)	66 (10)	84 (3)	<0.001ª
Male gender, n (%)	111 (59.4)	33 (62.3)	0.703
Hypertension, n (%)	96 (51.3)	41 (77.4)	0.001ª
Diabetes mellitus, n (%)	56 (29.9)	24 (45.3)	0.037ª
Coronary artery disease, n (%)	40 (21.4)	12 (22.6)	0.845
AF, n (%)	57 (30.5)	21 (39.6)	0.210
Renal failure, n (%)	13 (7.0)	2 (3.8)	0.532
Syncope, n (%)	29 (17.0)	9 (15.5)	0.795
NT-proBNP, pg/ml, median (IQR)	679.4 (199.1–2078.0)	804.2 (308.1–2033.0)	0.577
Baseline QRSd, ms, mean (SD)	130.1 (37.7)	121.5 (32.3)	0.106
LVEF, %, mean (SD)			
≥50%	62.8 (3.2)	63.1 (4.0)	0.601
<50%	34.3 (8.3)	41.9 (2.2)	<0.001ª
LVEDD, mm, mean (SD)	53 (9)	48 (5)	<0.001ª
IVS, mm, mean (SD)	10.1 (1.5)	10.5 (1.4)	0.089
Pacemaker indication			0.111
Atrioventricular block, n (%)	124 (66.3)	41 (77.4)	
AF with slow ventricular response, n (%)	26 (13.9)	8 (15.1)	
Heart failure with LBBB, n (%)	37 (19.8)	4 (7.5)	
LBBB, n (%)	44 (23.5)	8 (15.1)	0.188
RBBB, n (%)	22 (11.8)	14 (26.4)	0.008 ^a

ªP <0.05

Abbreviations: AF, atrial fibrillation; IVS, interventricular septum; LBBB, left bundle branch block; LVEDD, left ventricular end-diastolic dimension; LVEF, left ventricular ejection fraction; NT-proBNP, amino-terminal pro-brain natriuretic peptide; RBBB, right bundle branch block

analysis was performed using SPSS 24.0 (IBMCorp, Armonk, NY, US).

RESULTS

Baseline characteristics

Finally, 240 patients in total were enrolled in the present study and divided into 2 groups: those aged \geq 80 years (n = 53) and those aged <80 years (n = 187). Basic clinical details are demonstrated in Table 1. In the very elderly group, the mean (SD) age was 84 (3) years. The most common pacemaker indications were AVB (41 patients) followed by atrial fibrillation with a slow ventricular response (8 patients) and heart failure with LBBB (4 patients). Twenty-two patients had BBB (8 left BBB and 14 right BBB). The prevalence of diabetes mellitus, hypertension and RBBB in the very elderly group was higher than in counterparts (diabetes mellitus: 45.3% vs. 29.9%; P = 0.037; hypertension: 77.4% vs. 51.3%, P = 0.001; RBBB, 26.4% vs. 11.8%; P = 0.008). Other baseline demographics did not differ significantly between the two groups.

Procedural and pacing parameters

LBBAP implantation was successfully performed in 48 of 53 (90.6%) very elderly patients and 162 of 187 (86.5%) counterparts. No difference was observed between the two groups (86.5% vs. 90.6%; P = 0.445). Left ventricular septum pacing resulting in a relatively narrower QRSd was performed in those patients who failed LBBAP. The mean (SD) paced QRSd and mean (SD) RWPT were 112.4 (9.0) ms and 82.0 (14.2) ms in the very elderly group.

There were also no significant differences between the two groups. Fluoroscopy doses for LBBAP lead placement, procedure duration, and the depth of lead implantation were the same between the two groups (Table 2). Capture thresholds, R wave sensing, and lead impedance tested at implant showed no significant difference between the two groups (Table 3). According to the criterion described by Jastrzębski et al. [10], the success rate of LBBP, paced QRSd and RWPT were also summarized in Table 2. No significant difference was observed between the two groups.

For patients with BBB, the details of electrocardiographic characteristics were summarized in Table 4. In the very elderly group, LBBAP resulted in LBBB correction in 5 of 8 (62.5%) patients, and mean (SD) QRSd decreased from 144.6 (12.6) ms to 109.2 (7.9) ms (P < 0.001). In the aged <80 years group, LBBAP resulted in LBBB correction in 35 of 44 (79.5%) patients, and mean (SD) QRSd decreased from 170.0 (16.1) ms to 116.3 (9.1) ms (P < 0.001). No difference was observed in the LBBB correction rate (P = 0.366) between the two groups.

Follow-up

For the very elderly patients, all patients completed pre-discharge follow-up, and 27 patients completed 6-month follow-up. The median (interquartile range [IQR]), follow-up duration was 6 (4–12) months in the very elderly group and 6 (1–12) months in the counterparts. Capture thresholds, R wave sensing, impedance, and pacing percentage are summarized in Table 4 and Figure 3. Supplementary material, *Table S1* contains the test results of fixed effects. There

Table 2. Pacing parameters

	Age <80 years (n = 187)	Age ≥80 years (n = 53)	P-value
Successful LBBAP, n (%)	162 (86.5)	48 (90.6)	0.445
Paced QRSd, ms, mean (SD)	114.3 (10.0)	112.4 (9.0)	0.240
RWPT, ms, mean (SD)	81.3 (12.0)	82.0 (14.2)	0.750
Depth of lead, mm, mean (SD)	11.3 (1.9)	12.1 (2.0)	0.123
Implantation duration, min, mean (SD)	118 (41)	93 (49)	0.099
X ray exposure dose, mGy, median (IQR)	18 (5–33)	27 (5–62)	0.601
Successful LBBP, n (%)	108 (57.8)	29 (54.7)	0.693
Narrow QRS/RBBB	75 (54.3)	24 (53.3)	0.869
Paced QRSd, ms, mean (SD)	111.8 (10.8)	110.9 (8.9)	0.709
RWPT, ms, mean (SD)	72.6 (7.0)	73.4 (6.4)	0.614
LBBB/NIVCD	33 (67.3)	5 (62.5)	1.000
Paced QRSd, ms, mean (SD)	116.9 (11.2)	109.2 (7.9)	0.148
RWPT, ms, mean (SD)	80.6 (9.3)	71.4 (13.8)	0.062

Abbreviations: NIVCD, non-specific intraventricular conduction disturbance; RWPT, R wave peak time; other — see Table 1



Figure 1. Nonselective to selective left bundle branch area pacing and left bundle branch potential Abbreviation: LBBAP, left bundle branch area pacing

was no interaction between grouping factors and time factors (Threshold: F = 0.356; P = 0.839; Sensing: F = 0.970; P = 0.424; Impedance: F = 2.225; P = 0.065), which indicated the mean pacing parameters of the two groups were close and followed similar trends over time. There was no significant difference between groups (Threshold: F = 0.645;

P = 0.424; Sensing: F = 1.480; P = 0.225; Impedance: F = 0.319; P = 0.573). Time factors had an effect and the mean pacing parameters were statistically different over the time points (Threshold: F = 11.837; P < 0.001; Sensing: F = 13.617; P < 0.001; Impedance: F = 286.229; P < 0.001). Multiple pairwise comparisons were made, and the P-value

Table 3. Pacing parameters at implant and follow-up in two groups

	N (%)	Threshold, V/0.4 ms, mean (SD)	Sensing, mV, mean (SD)	Impedance, Ω, mean (SD)	Pacing percentage, %, median (IQR)
Age ≥80 years					
At implant	48 (100.0)	0.61 (0.21)	12.1 (4.7)	803 (147)	—
1 week	48 (100.0)	0.51 (0.12)	14.6 (4.1)	518 (131)	99.8 (88.6–100.0)
1 month	31 (64.6)	0.55 (0.11)	15.9 (3.4)	455 (57)	100.0 (73.9–100.0)
6 months	27 (56.3)	0.60 (0.13)	15.6 (5.3)	444 (51)	99.9 (97.8–100.0)
12 months	14 (29.2)	0.64 (0.13)	14.2 (2.7)	430 (39)	99.9 (78.4–100.0)
Age <80 years					
At implant	162 (100.0)	0.59 (0.18)	12.4 (6.5)	780 (166)	_
1 week	144 (88.9)	0.51 (0.13)	14.4 (4.0)	497 (102)	99.9 (96.1–100.0)
1 month	103 (63.6)	0.57 (0.12)	17.2 (6.3)	468 (79)	99.9 (93.9–100.0)
6 months	87 (53.7)	0.66 (0.17)	16.0 (5.1)	476 (88)	99.7 (84.6-100.0)
12 months	58 (35.8)	0.68 (0.18)	16.5 (5.6)	460 (68)	99.8 (87.4–100.0)



Figure 2. Dynamic changes of R wave peak time in surface leads V5–6 during left bundle branch area pacing procedure

were displayed in Supplementary material, *Tables S2–S4*. In the very elderly group, compared to baseline data, pacing thresholds and impedance decreased (mean [SD], 0.61 [0.21] V/0.4 ms vs. 0.51 [0.12] V/0.4 ms; P = 0.004; mean [SD], 803 [147] Ω vs. 518 [131] Ω ; P < 0.001), while R wave sensing increased (mean [SD], 12.1 [4.7] mV vs. 14.6 [4.1] mV; P = 0.005) in 1 week after implantation. Thereafter, pacing parameters remained stable over the follow-up period.

The echocardiographic parameters were presented in Supplementary material, *Table S5*. Eighteen patients in the very elderly group had echocardiography at 6-month follow-up. Compared to baseline, LVEF, LVEDD, and LVESD remained unchanged (mean [SD], LVEF: 62.2 [5.1] % vs. 62.3 [2.8] %; P = 0.941; mean [SD], LVEDD: 47.0 [4.5] mm vs. 46.1 [2.5] mm; P = 0.484; mean [SD], LVESD: 31.1 [4.2] mm vs. 31.0 [3.2] mm; P = 0.888) in 16 patients and 2 heart

Table 4. Electrocardiogram characteristics of patients with bundle branch block

	Age <80 years	Age ≥80 years	<i>P</i> -value
ALL (n)	66	22	
Successful LBBAP, n (%)	56 (84.8)	18 (81.8)	0.743
Baseline QRSd, ms, mean (SD)	162.1 (19.9)	145.9 (14.5)	0.002
Paced QRSd, ms, mean (SD)	117.4 (8.6)	110.6 (7.7)	0.004
RWPT, ms, mean (SD)	81.9 (11.4)	81.6 (15.4)	0.912
LBBB (n)	44	8	
Successful LBBAP, n (%)	35 (79.5)	5 (62.5)	0.366
Baseline QRSd, ms, mean (SD)	170.0 (16.1)	144.6 (12.6)	0.002
Paced QRSd, ms, mean (SD)	116.3 (9.1)	109.2 (7.9)	0.106
RWPT, ms, mean (SD)	83.0 (12.0)	71.4 (13.8)	0.054
RBBB (n)	22	14	
Successful LBBAP, n (%)	21 (95.5)	13 (92.9)	1.000
Baseline QRSd, ms, mean (SD)	148.5 (18.5)	146.5 (15.6)	0.740
Paced QRSd, ms, mean (SD)	119.3 (7.6)	111.2 (7.9)	0.005
RWPT, ms, mean (SD)	80.1 (10.3)	85.5 (14.6)	0.218

Abbreviations: see Table 2





	Age <80 years (n = 162)	Age ≥80 years (n = 48)	P-value
Complications during procedure			1.000
Septal perforation, n (%)	4 (2.5)	1 (2.1)	
Complications during follow-up			0.483
Pocket hematoma, n (%)	2 (1.2)	1 (2.1)	
Macro lead dislodgement, n (%)	1 (0.6)	0	
Micro lead dislodgement, n (%)	5 (3.1)	2 (4.2)	
Increase of pacing threshold, n (%)	1 (0.6)	1 (2.1)	

Table 5. Complications

failure patients with LBBB had improvements in LVEF of \geq 5%. In the <80-year-old group, fifty-seven patients with normal cardiac function had echocardiography at 6-month follow-up and parameters remained unchanged (mean [SD], LVEF: 61.8 [7.3] % vs. 62.3 [5.0] %; P = 0.452; mean [SD], LVEDD: 49.6 [4.9] mm vs. 48.7 [4.0] mm; P = 0.096; mean [SD], LVESD: 33.1 [5.3] mm vs. 32.4 [4.0] mm; P = 0.092). Seventeen heart failure patients with LBBB had echocardiography at 6-month follow-up. Compared to baseline, LVEF improved from 35.9 (9.5) % to 45.3 (13.1) % (mean [SD]; P = 0.006), LVEDD decreased from 61.0 (8.4) mm to 55.9 (8.8) mm (mean [SD]; P = 0.013), and LVESD decreased from 50.1 (9.3) mm to 43.4 (11.0) mm (mean [SD]; P = 0.010). Five patients had improvements in LVEF of \geq 5%, and eight patients had improvements in LVEF of \geq 10%.

Complications

No significant difference was observed in complications between the two groups (Table 5). In the very elderly group, one septal perforation occurred during the procedure confirmed by contrast medium leaking into the LV cavity, and the lead was repositioned slightly away from the initial site. No pneumothorax or pericardial effusion was observed. During follow-up, one patient on oral anticoagulation developed pocket hematoma 2-weeks after discharge and recovered after discontinuing anticoagulant therapy. One patient had an increase in pacing threshold (>1V) to 2.75 V /0.4 ms at 24-month follow-up. Two patients had micro lead dislodgement (Supplementary material, Figure S3). Pacing parameters remained stable in both patients during follow-up, no lead revision was attempted. Other device-related complications such as device-related infection and postoperative septum perforation were not observed during follow-up.

DISCUSSION

Around 25% of clinical trials investigating the effects of new methods of treatment for cardiovascular diseases still overlook very elderly patients, and recommendations for management derived from younger patients frequently lack evidence-based support for these patients. Although clinical results tend to confirm the positive effect of physiological cardiac pacing on echocardiographic and hemodynamic parameters, as well as on exercise capacity and quality of life of these patients, a prevalence of right ventricular apex pacing in very elderly patients can still be observed [11, 12]. In this study, we demonstrated that LBBAP can be safely and effectively used in very elderly patients.

The ideal physiological approach to ventricular pacing should engage the normal conduction through the His-Purkinje conduction system. Based on a systematic review of the available published literature, HBP is recommended as a class IIa indication in patients requiring ventricular pacing who have an LVEF of 36% to 50% and as a class IIb indication in patients with AVB at the level of the AV node [13]. LBBAP can effectively overcome some limitations of HBP, such as high pacing thresholds and low sensing. In the 2021 ESC guidelines [14], LBBAP is mentioned as a very promising technique. However, recommendations for using LBBAP cannot be formulated for lack of solid evidence. Special pathomorphological changes in very elderly patients are usually related to the changes that occur in the cardiac conduction system with advancing age and the coexistence of hypertension or ischemic heart diseases [4]. In the present study, the very elderly patients showed a higher prevalence of hypertension, diabetes mellitus, and RBBB. These baseline characteristic differences are consistent with a more advanced pathophysiological state.

In the first case of LBBAP reported by Huang et al. [15], the patient was a 72-year-old female who had heart failure with dilated cardiomyopathy. In the following studies, the feasibility and safety of LBBAP were demonstrated in patients with normal QRS complex and symptomatic bradycardia such as SND (age, 63.8 [11.4] years) or AVB (age, 55.1 [18.5] years) [16]. In the study of Vijayaraman et al. [5], the age was 75 (13.1) years. In a recent study, the researchers reported successful application of LBBAP in a 10-year-old child with LBBB and enlarged heart size [17]. In our study, the average age of the very elderly group was 84 (3) years. Paced QRSd, RWPT, pacing parameters, and procedure parameters were the same as those in the group of patients aged <80 years. Pacing parameters remained stable over follow-up.

In this vulnerable population, complications are worthy of attention. Physicians usually prejudge those elderly patients who may have higher complication rates due to their comorbidities. According to the published LBBAP studies, the overall incidence of lead dislodgments (1%) and septal perforations (1.7%) was low. In a single-center experience reported by Chen et al. [18], the procedure-related complications rate of LBBAP was only 1.63% (10/612) including 2 postoperative septum perforations, 2 postoperative lead dislodgements, 4 intraoperative septum injuries, and 2 intraoperative lead fractures. The incidence of micro lead dislodgement described by Ravi et al. [19] was relatively high, which was noted in 4 patients (7.0%). In a recent study, the novel continuous pace mapping technique described by Jastrzębski et al. [20] enabled real-time monitoring of lead behavior and depth, facilitated reaching the LBB capture area, and had the potential to limit the risk of septal perforation. In the current study, the complication rate in very elderly patients was not higher than in their counterparts. One patient in the very elderly group developed septum perforation during the procedure, and the lead was successfully revised. One patient's pacing threshold increased by more than 1V at 24-month follow-up, and in two patients micro lead dislodgement occurred, no lead revision was attempted.

Beyond the traditional use of LBBAP for symptomatic bradycardia, another potential application in the very elderly patients is HF with LBBB, which is a cardiac resynchronization therapy (CRT) indication according to the guidelines. The traditional cardiac venous CRT procedure is complicated and time-consuming. Additionally, about 10% of patients remain untreated owing to an unsuitable coronary sinus venous branch. In a recent report by Huang et al. [8], LBBAP was successfully performed in 61 of 63 patients with nonischemic cardiomyopathy (97%, mean age 68 [11] years, LVEF 33 [7.4]%), and QRSd narrowed significantly from 169 (16) ms to 118 (12) ms. In the present study, 2 of 4 heart failure patients with LBBB in the very elderly group achieved successful LBBAP and had improvements in LVEF of \geq 5% at 6-month follow-up.

In the study of Jastrzębski et al. [10], the authors used dynamic electrocardiogram maneuvers with output-dependent and refractoriness-dependent QRS morphological changes as the "gold standard" and found optimal V6 RWPT cut-off for LBB capture diagnosis. This criterion was relatively strict, and the cut-off value might be changed due to differences in population and implantation techniques. They measured the stimulus to RWPT in V6, but we measured stimulus to the RWPT in V5 or V6, decided by which was longer. It might also affect the results. In the present study, the success rate of LBBP was low diagnosed by the novel criterion in both groups. We were focused on the effectiveness and safety of LBBAP in elderly patients and attached more importance to minimizing its duration. Such an approach might increase the risk of complications, like septum perforation, in pursuit of the perfect LBBP for this vulnerable population.

Limitations

First, the sample size of heart failure patients with LBBB was small. This was a preliminary, single-center, and retrospective study, and further trials should be conducted in such patients. Second, the safety of LBBAP, compared between our two groups, might be better if using the Kaplan-Meier method. Uni and multivariate analysis may reveal the impact of age on the risk of LBBAP. However, the multivariate analysis could not be estimated owing to few patients with complications. Third, in this <1-year follow-up study the LBBAP appears safe in the very elderly, but complications that can be significant persist. Long-term data are needed to determine which elderly population subsets may benefit.

CONCLUSION

LBBAP is safe and effective in patients \geq 80 years old. Therefore, LBBAP can be considered an alternative method for delivering physiological pacing in this special population.

Supplementary material

Supplementary material is available at https://journals. viamedica.pl/kardiologia_polska.

Article information

Conflict of interest: None declared.

Open access: This article is available in open access under Creative Common Attribution-Non-Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) license, allowing to download articles and share them with others as long as they credit the authors and the publisher, but without permission to change them in any way or use them commercially. For commercial use, please contact the journal office at kardiologiapolska@ptkardio.pl.

REFERENCES

- Forman DE, Rich MW, Alexander KP, et al. Cardiac care for older adults. Time for a new paradigm. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2011; 57(18): 1801– 1810, doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2011.02.014, indexed in Pubmed: 21527153.
- Chow GV, Marine JE, Fleg JL. Epidemiology of arrhythmias and conduction disorders in older adults. Clin Geriatr Med. 2012; 28(4): 539–553, doi: 10.1016/j.cger.2012.07.003, indexed in Pubmed: 23101570.
- Matsuda Y, Masuda M, Asai M, et al. Comparison of prognosis and safety of pacemaker implantation in patients aged less than or 85 years and older. J Interv Card Electrophysiol. 2021; 61(1): 171–179, doi: 10.1007/s10840-020-00797-9, indexed in Pubmed: 32533276.
- Krzemień-Wolska K, Tomasik A, Wojciechowska C, et al. Prognostic factors in patients with an implanted pacemaker after 80 years of age in a 4-year follow-up. Gerontology. 2018; 64(2): 107–117, doi: 10.1159/000481504, indexed in Pubmed: 29136617.
- Vijayaraman P, Subzposh FA, Naperkowski A, et al. Prospective evaluation of feasibility and electrophysiologic and echocardiographic characteristics of left bundle branch area pacing. Heart Rhythm. 2019; 16(12): 1774–1782, doi: 10.1016/j.hrthm.2019.05.011, indexed in Pubmed: 31136869.
- Chen K, Li Y, Dai Y, et al. Comparison of electrocardiogram characteristics and pacing parameters between left bundle branch pacing and right ventricular pacing in patients receiving pacemaker therapy. Europace. 2019; 21(4):673–680, doi: 10.1093/europace/euy252, indexed in Pubmed: 30462207.
- Hou X, Qian Z, Wang Y, et al. Feasibility and cardiac synchrony of permanent left bundle branch pacing through the interventricular septum. Europace. 2019; 21(11): 1694–1702, doi: 10.1093/europace/euz188, indexed in Pubmed: 31322651.
- Huang W, Wu S, Vijayaraman P, et al. Left Bundle Branch Pacing for Cardiac Resynchronization Therapy: Nonrandomized On-Treatment Comparison With His Bundle Pacing and Biventricular Pacing. Can J Cardiol. 2021; 37(2): 319–328, doi: 10.1016/j.cjca.2020.04.037, indexed in Pubmed: 32387225.
- 9. Jiang Z, Chang Q, Wu Y, et al. Typical BBB morphology and implantation depth of 3830 electrode predict QRS correction by left bundle branch

area pacing. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol. 2020; 43(1): 110–117, doi: 10.1111/pace.13849, indexed in Pubmed: 31773756.

- Jastrzębski M, Kiełbasa G, Curila K, et al. Physiology-based electrocardiographic criteria for left bundle branch capture. Heart Rhythm. 2021; 18(6): 935–943, doi: 10.1016/j.hrthm.2021.02.021, indexed in Pubmed: 33677102.
- Cai B, Huang X, Li L, et al. Evaluation of cardiac synchrony in left bundle branch pacing: Insights from echocardiographic research. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol. 2020; 31(2): 560–569, doi: 10.1111/jce.14342, indexed in Pubmed: 31919928.
- 12. Mandawat A, Curtis JP, Mandawat A, et al. Safety of pacemaker implantation in nonagenarians: an analysis of the healthcare cost and utilization project-nationwide inpatient sample. Circulation. 2013; 127(14): 1453–65, 1465e1, doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.113.001434, indexed in Pubmed: 23513066.
- Kusumoto FM, Schoenfeld MH, Barrett C, et al. 2018 ACC/AHA/HRS Guideline on the Evaluation and Management of Patients With Bradycardia and Cardiac Conduction Delay: A Report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Clinical Practice Guidelines and the Heart Rhythm Society. Circulation. 2019; 140(8): e382–e482, doi: 10.1161/CIR.00000000000628, indexed in Pubmed: 30586772.
- 14. Michowitz Y, Kronborg MB, Glikson M, et al. 2021 ESC Guidelines on cardiac pacing and cardiac resynchronization therapy. Europace. 2022;

24(1): 71-164, doi: 10.1093/europace/euab232, indexed in Pubmed: 34455427.

- Huang W, Su L, Wu S, et al. A novel pacing strategy with low and stable output: pacing the left bundle branch immediately beyond the conduction block. Can J Cardiol. 2017; 33(12): 1736.e1–1736.e3, doi: 10.1016/j. cjca.2017.09.013, indexed in Pubmed: 29173611.
- Li Y, Chen K, Dai Y, et al. Left bundle branch pacing for symptomatic bradycardia: Implant success rate, safety, and pacing characteristics. Heart Rhythm. 2019; 16(12): 1758–1765, doi: 10.1016/j.hrthm.2019.05.014, indexed in Pubmed: 31125667.
- Ji W, Chen X, Shen J, et al. Left bundle branch pacing improved heart function in a 10-year-old child after a 3-month follow-up. Europace. 2020; 22(8): 1234–1239, doi: 10.1093/europace/euaa090, indexed in Pubmed: 32529257.
- Chen X, Wei L, Bai J, et al. Procedure-Related complications of left bundle branch pacing: a single-center experience. Front Cardiovasc Med. 2021; 8: 645947, doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2021.645947, indexed in Pubmed: 33869306.
- Ravi V, Hanifin JL, Larsen T, et al. Pros and cons of left bundle branch pacing: a single-center experience. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol. 2020; 13(12): e008874, doi: 10.1161/CIRCEP.120.008874, indexed in Pubmed: 33198496.
- Jastrzębski M, Moskal P. Reaching the left bundle branch pacing area within 36 heartbeats. Kardiol Pol. 2021; 79(5): 587–588, doi: 10.33963/KP.15914, indexed in Pubmed: 34125940.

Adherence to the 4S-AF Scheme in the Balkan region: Insights from the BALKAN-AF survey

Monika Kozieł-Siołkowska^{1, 2}, Miroslav Mihajlovic³, Milan Nedeljkovic^{3, 4}, Nikola Pavlovic⁵, Vilma Paparisto⁶, Ljilja Music⁷, Elina Trendafilova⁸, Anca Rodica Dan⁹, Zumreta Kusljugic¹⁰, Gheorghe-Andrei Dan¹¹, Gregory YH Lip^{1, 2, 4, 12*}, Tatjana S Potpara^{3, 4*}, on behalf of the BALKAN-AF Investigators

¹Liverpool Center for Cardiovascular Science, University of Liverpool and Liverpool Heart and Chest Hospital, Liverpool, United Kingdom

²1st Department of Cardiology and Angiology, Silesian Center for Heart Diseases, Zabrze, Poland

³Cardiology Clinic, Clinical Center of Serbia, Belgrade, Serbia

⁴School of Medicine, Belgrade University, Belgrade, Serbia

⁵Clinical Center Sestre Milosrdnice, Zagreb, Croatia

⁶Clinic of Cardiology, University Hospital Center Mother Theresa, Tirana, Albania

⁷Cardiology Clinic, University Clinical Center of Montenegro, University of Podgorica, Medical Faculty, Podgorica, Montenegro

⁸National Heart Hospital, Coronary Care Unit, Sofia, Bulgaria

⁹Colentina University Hospital, Cardiology Department, Bucharest, Romania

¹⁰Clinic of Internal Medicine, Cardiology Department, University Clinical Center Tuzla, Medical Faculty, Tuzla, Bosnia and Herzegovina

¹¹Medicine University "Carol Davila", Colentina University Hospital, Bucharest, Romania

¹²Department of Clinical Medicine, Aalborg University, Aalborg, Denmark

*Both authors equally contributed to the study

Correspondence to:

Tatjana Potpara, MD, PhD, FESC, Cardiology Clinic, Clinical Center of Serbia, Visegradska 26, 11000 Belgrade, Serbia, phone: +381 11 3616319, e-mail: tanjapotpara@gmail.com Copyright by the Author(s), 2022 DOI: 10.33963/KP.a2022.0053

Received: October 30, 2021

Accepted: February 17, 2022

Early publication date: February 17, 2022

ABSTRACT

Background: The 4S-AF scheme includes stroke risk, symptoms, severity of burden, and substrate severity domain.

Aim: We aimed to assess the adherence to the 4S-AF scheme in patients classified according to stroke risk in *post hoc* analysis of the BALKAN-AF dataset.

Methods: A 14-week prospective enrolment of consecutive patients with electrocardiographically documented atrial fibrillation (AF) was performed in seven Balkan countries from 2014 to 2015.

Results: Low stroke risk (CHA₂DS₂-VASc score, 0 in males or 1 in females) was present in 162 (6.0%) patients. 2 099 (77.4%) patients had CHA₂DS₂-VASc score \geq 3 in females or \geq 2 in males (high stroke risk), and 613 (22.6%) had CHA₂DS₂-VASc score <3 in females or <2 in males. Seventy-five (46.3%) patients with low stroke risk and 1555 (74.1%) patients with high stroke risk were prescribed oral anticoagulants (OAC). Two thousand six hundred and seventy-seven (98.6%) had data on European Heart Rhythm Association (EHRA) class. Among 2099 patients with high stroke risk, 703 (33.4%) had EHRA class \geq 3. Two hundred and seven (29.4%) patients with EHRA class \geq 3 and high stroke risk were offered rhythm control; 620 (55.2%) of individuals with first-diagnosed or paroxysmal AF with high stroke risk were offered rhythm control. Two or more comorbidities occurred in 1927 (91.8%) patients with high stroke risk.

Conclusions: OAC overuse was observed in patients with low stroke risk, whilst OAC underuse was evident in those with high risk of stroke. The percentage of highly symptomatic patients with high risk of stroke who were offered a rhythm control strategy was low.

Key words: atrial fibrillation, oral anticoagulants, rhythm control, risk of stroke

WHAT'S NEW?

Data on the use of the 4S-AF scheme in clinical practice are scarce. This study, therefore, provides a novel insight into the adherence to the 4S-AF scheme in real-world atrial fibrillation (AF) patients. Unfortunately, treatment decision-making was not based on the 4S-AF structured scheme in the BALKAN-AF cohort. Using the 4S-AF scheme may facilitate treatment decision-making associated with the management of patients with AF in clinical practice.

INTRODUCTION

Atrial fibrillation (AF) is a substantial source of morbidity and mortality, with a major economic burden for countries worldwide [1]. Moreover, AF is often asymptomatic (but still confers a poor prognosis) [2], and the complexity of AF needs a holistic approach with multidisciplinary, integrated management with active involvement of AF patients [3–5]. This integrated approach to patient evaluation and management is associated with improved outcomes in AF [6] and is also increasingly advocated in various other clinical settings with chronic long-term conditions [7–8].

Currently, the AF guidelines propose a structured characterization of AF including domains with management and prognostic implications to facilitate the evaluation of AF patients by healthcare professionals [9]. The 4S-AF structured scheme includes four domains: Stroke risk, Symptoms, Severity of AF burden, and Substrate severity [9].

The Stroke risk domain with stroke risk assessment is based on the CHA_2DS_2 -VASc score (congestive heart failure, hypertension, age \geq 75 years, diabetes, stroke/transient ischemic attack [TIA], vascular disease, age 65-74 years, sex category [female]). The indications for oral anticoagulants (OAC) use are based on the European Society of Cardiology guidelines or other international documents [3, 10].

The Symptom severity domain is associated with the EHRA symptom score and facilitates patient-centered, symptom-directed AF management [4]. The Severity of the AF burden domain describes the density of AF episodes in time and the proportion of time of AF. The Substrate for the AF domain relates to the complexity of AF pathophysiology including characteristics such as age, cardiovascular risk factors, and underlying comorbid conditions, as well as parameters of the left atrium (enlargement, function, and fibrosis of its myocardium) [11].

This *post hoc* analysis aimed to evaluate the adherence to the 4S-AF scheme in the BALKAN-AF cohort in patients classified according to their stroke risk.

METHODS

The design of the BALKAN-AF study has been described previously [12]. This 14-week prospective, multicenter "snapshot" registry of consecutive patients with electrocardiographically documented AF was designed and conducted by the Serbian Atrial Fibrillation Association (SAFA). Consecutive AF patients were enrolled in the survey from December 2014 to February 2015 in cooperation with individual National Cardiology Societies and Associations or Working Groups in Albania, Bosnia & Herzegovina, Bulgaria, Croatia, Montenegro, Romania, and Serbia. Universities, non-university hospitals, and outpatient health centers (a total of 49 centers) were sites involved in the BALKAN-AF study. The respective National Coordinator selected the sites. The registry was approved by the local/national institutional review board in participating countries. The study received ethical approval. A signed patient informed consent form was obligatory in the enrolment process. The study protocol was concordant with the Declaration of Helsinki.

Exclusion criteria included those aged <18 years or patients with prosthetic mechanical heart valves or significant valvular disease with indications for surgical repair.

Data on patient presentation, patient characteristics, healthcare setting, and diagnostic procedures within the last 12 months and at enrolment and AF management at enrolment and discharge were collected and stored using the electronic case report forms (eCRFs). Stroke risk was evaluated using the CHA₂DS₂-VASc score [10]. Truly low risk of stroke was defined as a CHA₂DS₂-VASc score of 0 in males, and 1 in females, whilst the intermediate risk of stroke included male patients with a CHA₂DS₂-VASc score of 2. High risk of stroke was defined as CHA₂DS₂-VASc score ≥ 3 in females or ≥ 2 in males.

Bleeding risk was assessed according to the HAS-BLED score (hypertension, abnormal renal /liver function, stroke, bleeding history or predisposition, labile International Normalized Ratio [INR], elderly [>65 years], drugs or al-cohol concomitantly) [13]. The included cardiovascular risk factors, risk scores, and diseases were defined using the individual European Society of Cardiology guidelines, other international guidelines, scientific statements, and textbooks as described previously [14].

Regular monitoring of centers and follow-up visits were not performed due to the relatively short period of the survey. National coordinators and investigators were responsible for validation of the consecutiveness of enrolled patients and correctness and completeness of entered data.

Available domains of the 4S-AF scheme were identified and assessed using data from the baseline visit.

Statistical analysis

Categorical variables were presented as absolute frequencies and percentages. Numerical variables were presented as mean (standard deviation [SD]) or median with interquartile range (IQR) and compared between groups by Student's t-test or Mann-Whitney's test where appropriate. Comparative analysis between groups was performed using Chi² for dichotomous parameters. The descriptive analysis involved stroke prevention, quality of life, management strategies, severity of AF burden, and the Substrate for AF domain in the BALKAN-AF cohort. A two-sided *P*-value of less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant. All analyses were performed using SAS software version 9.4 (SAS Institute, Inc., Cary, NC, US).

RESULTS

The Stroke risk domain

Patients with high risk of stroke were older, more likely to be female, and more likely to have concomitant diseases than those with low or intermediate risk of stroke (all P < 0.05), Table 1. Congestive heart failure, hypertension, and coronary artery disease were the most frequent concomitant diseases in individuals with high, low, and intermediate stroke risk. The baseline characteristics of patients are summarized in Table 1.

Of 2712 enrolled patients, 2712 (100.0%) had data on CHA_2DS_2 -VASc score. One hundred and sixty-two (6.0%) individuals had a truly low risk; 2550 (94.0%) patients had CHA_2DS_2 -VASc score ≥ 1 in males or ≥ 2 in females; 2099 (77.4%) patients had high risk of stroke, and 613 (22.6%) individuals had low or intermediate risk of stroke, Table 1.

Patients with high risk of stroke had a higher mean HAS-BLED score than those with intermediate or low risk of stroke (P < 0.001), Table 1.

Patients with high risk of stroke were less likely to receive no antithrombotic therapy, warfarin, and dabigatran than those with low or intermediate risk of stroke (all P < 0.05), Table 1. Among patients with truly low risk of stroke, 75 (46.3%) patients were medicated with OAC, Table 1.

The Symptom severity domain

Of 2712 patients, 2 677 (98.6%) had data on the European Heart Rhythm Association (EHRA) symptom score: (1) 571 (21.0%) patients had EHRA symptom score of 1; (2) 1254 (46.2%) of individuals had EHRA symptom score of 2; (3) 712 (26.2%) patients had EHRA symptom score of 3; and (4) 140 (5.2%) patients had EHRA symptom score of 4. Among 2 099 patients with CHA₂DS₂-VASc score \geq 3 in females or \geq 2 in males, 703 (33.4%) individuals had EHRA symptom score of 3 or 4.

Patients with high risk of stroke were more likely to have shortness of breath, chest pain, dizziness, and fatigue than those with low or intermediate risk of stroke (all P < 0.001), Table 2.

A rhythm control strategy was implemented in 207 (29.4%) patients with high risk of stroke and EHRA symptom score of 3 or 4. Notably, 620 (55.2%) of pa-

tients with high risk of stroke and paroxysmal AF or first diagnosed AF were assigned to rhythm control strategy, while 646 (57.5%) individuals with high risk of stroke and paroxysmal AF or first diagnosed AF were medicated with amiodarone, Table 3. Amiodarone was the most commonly prescribed drug in individuals with high risk of stroke, and EHRA symptom score of 3 or 4.

The Severity of AF burden domain

Patients with low or intermediate risk of stroke were more likely to have first diagnosed AF, paroxysmal AF, or persistent AF than those with high risk of stroke (all P < 0.05), Table 4.

The Substrate for AF domain

Patients with high risk of stroke were more likely to have a higher median number of comorbid diseases than those with low or intermediate risk of stroke (P < 0.05).

The mean diameter of the left atrium (LA) was higher in individuals with high risk of stroke than in those with low or intermediate risk of stroke (P < 0.001), Table 5.

DISCUSSION

The main findings of this study were as follows: (1) OAC overuse was seen in patients with truly low stroke risk, whilst OAC underuse was evident in patients with high risk of stroke; (2) the proportion of highly symptomatic patients (EHRA 3 or 4) with high risk of stroke who were offered rhythm control strategy was low; (3) the proportion of patients with first diagnosed AF or paroxysmal AF with high risk of stroke who received rhythm control was small; and (4) the majority of AF patients with high risk of stroke had \geq 2 comorbidities.

Data on the use of the 4S-AF scheme in everyday clinical practice are scarce. This study, therefore, provides a novel insight into the adherence to the 4S-AF scheme in real-world AF patients. The 4S-AF scheme facilitates our evaluation and characterization of the AF patient during the clinical consultation. Moreover, this structured characterization of AF patients provides prognostic information, and this study validates the 4S-AF scheme in the Balkan region. We found that OAC overuse in patients with low risk of stroke and OAC underuse in those with high risk of stroke was common, and seen also in recent European reports [15–17]. Efforts to improve the prescription of OACs in AF patients are, therefore, needed [18], and the availability of NOACs has improved such efforts [19, 20].

The use of NOACs has increased over time in Europe. This finding has been shown in other studies [19–24]. The risk of stroke is closely linked with bleeding risk, and thromboembolic factors such as older age, hypertension, or history of stroke have also been bleeding risk factors [25]. Thus, patients with high risk of stroke have higher bleeding risk than those with low or intermediate risk of stroke.

The EHRA symptom score expresses how physicians weigh the symptoms of AF patients, but in the BALKAN-AF

Variable	CHA ₂ DS ₂ -VASc score of 0 in males or 1 in females n = 162 (6.0%)	CHA ₂ DS ₂ -VASc score ≥1 in males or ≥2 in females n = 2550 (94.0%)	<i>P</i> -value	CHA ₂ DS ₂ -VASc score ≥3 in females or ≥2 in males n = 2099 (77.4%)	CHA ₂ DS ₂ -VASc score <3 in females or <2 in males n = 613 (22.6%)	<i>P</i> -value
Age, years, mean (SD)	49.9 (11.4)	70.1 (9.9)	<0.001	72.5 (8.6)	56,7 (9,2)	<0.001
Female gender, n (%)	41 (25.3)	1151 (45.1)	<0.001	953 (45.4)	239 (39.0)	<0.001
BMI, kg/m ² , mean (SD)	26.4 (3.3)	27.8 (4.4)	<0.001	27.8 (4.5)	27.7 (4.0)	0.848
Alcohol abuse, ≥8 units/week, n (%)	7 (4.3)	103 (4.0)	0.860	81 (3.9)	29 (4.7)	0.336
First diagnosed AF, n (%)	52 (32.1)	580 (22.7)	< 0.001	455 (21.7)	177 (28.9)	< 0.001
Paroxysmal AF, n (%)	79 (48.8)	881 (34.5)	<0.001	668 (31.8)	292 (47.6)	<0.001
Permanent AF, n (%)	17 (10.5)	1071 (42.0)	<0.001	973 (46.4)	115 (18.8)	<0.001
Concomitant diseases, n (%)						
Congestive HF	0 (0.0)	1336 (52.4)	n/a	1240 (59.1)	103 (16.8)	< 0.001
Hypertension	0 (0.0)	2121 (83.2)	n/a	1800 (85.8)	321 (52.4)	< 0.001
CAD	0 (0.0)	819 (32.1)	n/a	764 (36.4)	57 (9.3)	< 0.001
Prior MI	0 (0.0)	369 (14.5)	n/a	359 (17.1)	10 (1.6)	< 0.001
PAD	0 (0.0)	122 (4.8)	n/a	120 (5.7)	2 (0.3)	< 0.001
Diabetes	0 (0.0)	668 (26.2)	n/a	636 (30.3)	32 (5.2)	< 0.001
Prior stroke	0 (0.0)	281 (11.0)	n/a	280 (13.3)	1 (0.2)	< 0.001
Prior TIA	0 (0.0)	83 (3.3)	n/a	83 (4.0)	0 (0.0)	n/a
Anemia	7 (4.3)	366 (14.4)	< 0.001	337 (16.1)	36 (5.9)	< 0.001
Chronic kidney disease	1 (0.6)	410 (16.1)	<0.001	391 (18.6)	20 (3.3)	<0.001
Previous bleeding event	1 (0.6)	132 (5.2)	<0.001	121 (5.8)	12 (2.0)	<0.001
COPD	3 (1.9)	339 (13.3)	<0.001	305 (14.5)	37 (6.0)	<0.001
Cancer	2 (1.2)	117 (4.6)	0.096	106 (5.1)	13 (2.1)	0.004
HAS-BLED score, mean (SD)	0.31 (0.6)	2.1 (1.2)	<0.001	2.3 (1.1)	0.8 (0.8)	< 0.001
No antithrombotic therapy, n (%)	44 (27.2)	221 (8.7)	<0.001	174 (8.3)	91 (14.8)	<0.001
Overall OAC, n (%)	75 (46.3)	1890 (74.1)	< 0.001	1555 (74.1)	410 (66.9)	0.105
OAC alone, n (%)	70 (43.2)	1571 (61.6)	< 0.001	1265 (60.3)	376 (61.3)	0.633
VKA, n (%)	62 (38.3)	1565 (61.4)	< 0.001	1301 (62.0)	326 (53.2)	0.012
Warfarin, n (%)	35 (21.6)	520 (20.4)	0.128	408 (19.4)	147 (24.0)	0.002
Acenocoumarol, n (%)	27 (16.7)	1044 (40.9)	< 0.001	892 (42.5)	179 (29.2)	< 0.001
NOAC, n (%)	13 (8.0)	325 (12.7)	0.320	254 (12.1)	84 (13.7)	0.125
Dabigatran, n (%)	9 (5.6)	166 (6.5)	0.917	125 (6.0)	50 (8.2)	0.022
Rivaroxaban, n (%)	4 (2.5)	111 (4.4)	0.459	89 (4.2)	26 (4.2)	0.797
Apixaban, n (%)	1 (0.6)	48 (1.9)	0.344	40 (1.9)	9 (1.5)	0.575
Single antiplatelet therapy alone, n (%)	12 (7.4)	309 (12.1)	0.289	257 (12.2)	64 (10.4)	0.430
DAPT alone, n (%)	1 (0.6)	119 (4.7)	0.034	107 (5.1)	13 (2.1)	0.003
Dual antithrombotic therapy, n (%)	5 (3.1)	236 (9.3)	0.031	210 (10.0)	31 (5.1)	0.001
Triple antithrombotic therapy, n (%)	0 (0.0)	83 (3.3)	0.035	80 (3.8)	3 (0.5)	< 0.001

Table 1. Stroke prevention in patients according to stroke risk

Abbreviations: AF, atrial fibrillation; BMI, body mass index; CAD, coronary artery disease; COPD, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; CHA_2DS_2 -VASc, congestive heart failure, hypertension, age \geq 75 years, diabetes, stroke/transient ischemic attack (TIA), vascular disease, age 65-74 years, sex category (female); DAPT, dual antiplatelet therapy; HF, heart failure; MI, myocardial infarction; NOAC, non-vitamin K oral antagonist; OAC, oral anticoagulants; PAD, peripheral artery disease; SD, standard deviation; TIA, transient ischemic attack; VKA, vitamin K antagonists

Single antiplatelet therapy alone was defined as aspirin

Table 2. Quality of life in patients according to stroke risk

Variable	CHA₂DS₂-VASc score ≥3 in females or ≥2 in males n = 2099 (77.4%)	CHA ₂ DS ₂ -VASc score <3 in females or <2 in males n = 613 (22.6%)	<i>P</i> -value
Palpitations, n (%)	904 (43.1)	325 (53.0)	<0.001
Syncope, n (%)	99 (4.7)	21 (3.4)	0.253
Shortness of breath, n (%)	1089 (51.9)	189 (30.8)	<0.001
Chest pain, n (%)	452 (25.8)	102 (16.6)	<0.001
Dizziness, n (%)	376 (17.9)	59 (9.6)	<0.001
Fatigue, n (%)	905 (43.1)	169 (27.6)	<0.001
General not-well-being, n (%)	499 (23.8)	116 (18.9)	0.051
Fear, anxiety, n (%)	209 (10.0)	58 (9.5)	0.994

Abbreviations: see Table 1

Table 3. Management strategies in patients according to the EHRA symptom score

Variable	Patients with CHA₂DS₂-VASc score ≥3 in females or ≥2 in males with EHRA 3 or 4 n = 703	Patients with CHA₂DS₂-VASc score ≥3 in females or ≥2 in males with first diagnosed or paroxysmal AF n = 1123
Rhythm control, n (%)	207 (29.4)	620 (55.2)
Amiodarone, n (%)	199 (28.3)	646 (57.5)
Propafenone, n (%)	40 (5.7)	121 (10.8)
Flecainide, n (%)	1 (0.1)	1 (0.00
ECV, n (%)	14 (2.0)	7 (0.0)
AF ablation, n (%)	8 (1.1)	15 (0.0)

Abbreviations: ECV, electric cardioversion, EHRA, European Heart Rhythm Association; see Table 1

Table 4. Severity of AF burden domain

AF pattern	CHA ₂ DS ₂ -VASc score ≥3 in females or ≥2 in males n = 2099 (77.4%)	CHA ₂ DS ₂ -VASc score <3 in females or <2 in males n = 613 (22.6%)	<i>P</i> -value
First diagnosed, n (%)	455 (21.7)	177 (28.9)	<0.001
Paroxysmal, n (%)	668 (31.8)	292 (47.6)	<0.001
Persistent, n (%)	219 (10.4)	100 (16.3)	<0.001
Long-standing persistent, n (%)	49 (2.3)	15 (2.4)	0.872
Permanent, n (%)	973 (46.4)	115 (18.8)	<0.001

Abbreviations: see Table 1

Table 5. The substrate for AF domain in the BALKAN-AF cohort

Variable	CHA ₂ DS ₂ -VASc score ≥3 in females or ≥2 in males n = 2099 (77.4%)	CHA ₂ DS ₂ -VASc score <3 in females or <2 in males n = 613 (22.6%)	<i>P</i> -value	CHA ₂ DS ₂ -VASc score of 0 in males or 1 in females n = 162 (6.0%)	CHA2DS2-VASc score ≥1 in males or ≥2 in females n = 2550 (94.0%)	<i>P</i> -value
Number of comorbid diseases, median (IQR)	4.7 (3.0–6.0)	2.1 (1.0–3.0)	<0.001	0.9 (0.0–1.0)	4.3 (2.0–6.0)	<0.001
Age ≥75 years	946 (45.1)	112 (18.3)	< 0.001	0 (0.0)	947 (37.1)	NA
Obesity	511 (24.3)	160 (26.1)	0.256	38 (23.5)	633 (24.8)	0.536
Active smoker	228 (10.9)	112 (18.3)	< 0.001	32 (19.8)	308 (12.1)	< 0.001
Alcohol abuse	81 (3.9)	29 (4.7)	0.336	7 (4.3)	103 (4.0)	0.860
LA diameter, mm, mean (SD)	46.5 (7.8)	43.3 (7.4)	<0.001	40.4 (7.5)	46.0 (7.8)	<0.001

Abbreviations: LA, left atrium, IQR, interquartile range, SD, standard deviation; other — see Table 1

cohort, only one-third of patients with EHRA symptom score of 3 or 4 and high risk of stroke received a rhythm control strategy. Half of the patients with first diagnosed AF or paroxysmal AF were offered the strategy. Underuse of the rhythm control strategy in highly symptomatic patients was also been reported previously [26]. However, the EHRA symptom score may not adequately differentiate between AF-related and concomitant chronic conditions-related symptoms. Thus, the assessment of quality of life could be useful in the assessment of the symptom severity domain [9].

Our study used the temporal-pattern based classification of AF based on guideline recommendations. Notably, the above-mentioned classification may be imprecise in distinguishing between paroxysmal and persistent AF. Nonetheless, the utility of the 4S-AF scheme in selecting the AF patients who would be managed by rhythm or rate control strategy has been proposed [27].

Multimorbidity is common in AF, and the majority of the patients from the BALKAN-AF registry with high risk

of stroke had ≥ 2 comorbidities. Approximately half of the individuals with high risk of stroke were ≥ 75 years old. Cardiovascular risk factors, patient age, and concomitant chronic conditions all play a role in the development and progression of AF [11]. In the Substrate for AF domain, identification and management of cardiovascular risk factors and multimorbidity should be emphasized in the AF-related treatment decisions process, as part of the holistic approach to AF care (based on the Atrial fibrillation Better Care [ABC] pathway) given that this has been associated with improved clinical outcomes [28]. Unfortunately, treatment decision-making in the BALKAN-AF cohort was not based on the 4S-AF scheme may help facilitate AF management.

From a Polish perspective, AF management strategies in Poland may differ from those applied in other European countries [29]. The rhythm control strategy in individuals with AF with the use of ablation in cardiology wards seems more frequent in Poland than in other European countries. The limited use of AF ablation in the Balkans may be associated with limited access to this management option in this region [30]. Similar to patients from the BALKAN-AF registry, undertreatment was observed in a significant proportion of Polish patients at high risk of stroke, while many low-risk patients are overtreated [29–31]. The BALKAN-AF study indicates a high prevalence of co-morbidities among patients with AF, which was also reflected in another Polish registry (RecordAF) [32].

Limitations

Our study has a limitation that should be noted. Since no follow-up was planned, there was no assessment of patient outcomes. Some descriptors, risk stratification scores, and imaging tools were not available in the BALKAN-AF cohort. The 4S-AF system does not include data about bleeding risk, repeated cardioversions or AF ablations, prior and current antiarrhythmic drug therapy, etc. so the above-mentioned data were not incorporated. Data on duration of AF, density of episodes, LA dysfunction/enlargement, LA fibrosis, and data on spontaneous termination of AF were not available.

CONCLUSION

Overall, decision-making was not based on the 4S-AF scheme. OAC overuse was seen in patients with truly low stroke risk, whist OAC underuse was evident in those with high risk of stroke. The proportion of highly symptomatic patients with high risk of stroke who were offered the rhythm control strategy was low. A more widespread introduction of the 4S-AF scheme may help facilitate AF management.

Article information

Acknowledgments: We thank all BALKAN-AF investigators for their hard work.

Conflicts of interest: Milan Nedeljkovic has been a speaker for Bayer Serbia. Gregory YH Lip has been a consultant and speaker for BMS/Pfizer, Medtronic, Boehringer Ingelheim, and Daiichi-Sankyo (no personal fees). Tatjana S Potpara has been a consultant for Bayer/Jansen and BMS/Pfizer (no fees). Other authors declare no conflict of interest.

Open access: This article is available in open access under Creative Common Attribution-Non-Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) license, allowing to download articles and share them with others as long as they credit the authors and the publisher, but without permission to change them in any way or use them commercially. For commercial use, please contact the journal office at kardiologiapolska@ptkardio.pl.

REFERENCES

- Burdett P, Lip GYH. Atrial fibrillation in the United Kingdom: predicting costs of an emerging epidemic recognising and forecasting the cost drivers of atrial fibrillation-related costs. Eur Heart J Qual Care Clin Outcomes. 2020 [Epub ahead of print], doi: 10.1093/ehjqcco/qcaa093, indexed in Pubmed: 33346822.
- Wallenhorst C, Martinez C, Freedman B. Risk of ischemic stroke in asymptomatic atrial fibrillation incidentally detected in primary care compared with other clinical presentations. Thromb Haemost. 2022; 122(2): 277–285, doi: 10.1055/a-1541-3885, indexed in Pubmed: 34192776.
- Corrigendum to: 2020 ESC Guidelines for the diagnosis and management of atrial fibrillation developed in collaboration with the European

Association of Cardio-Thoracic Surgery (EACTS). Eur Heart J. 2021; 42(5): 546–547, doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehaa945, indexed in Pubmed: 33242070.

- Lip GYH. The ABC pathway: an integrated approach to improve AF management. Nat Rev Cardiol. 2017; 14(11): 627–628, doi: 10.1038/nrcardio.2017.153, indexed in Pubmed: 28960189.
- Chao TF, Joung B, Takahashi Y, et al. 2021 Focused Update Consensus Guidelines of the Asia Pacific Heart Rhythm Society on Stroke Prevention in Atrial Fibrillation: Executive Summary. Thromb Haemost. 2022; 122(1): 20–47, doi: 10.1055/s-0041-1739411, indexed in Pubmed: 34773920.
- Romiti GF, Pastori D, Rivera-Caravaca JM, et al. Adherence to the 'Atrial Fibrillation Better Care' Pathway in Patients with Atrial Fibrillation: Impact on Clinical Outcomes-A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of 285,000 Patients. Thromb Haemost. 2021 [Epub ahead of print], doi: 10.1055/a-1515-9630, indexed in Pubmed: 34020488.
- Lip GYH, Ntaios G. "Novel Clinical Concepts in Thrombosis": Integrated Care for Stroke Management-Easy as ABC. Thromb Haemost. 2021 [Epub ahead of print], doi: 10.1055/a-1632-1777, indexed in Pubmed: 34474499.
- Field M, Kuduvalli M, Torella F, et al. Integrated care systems and the aortovascular hub. Thromb Haemost. 2022; 122(2): 177–180, doi: 10.1055/a-1591-8033, indexed in Pubmed: 34407555.
- Potpara TS, Lip GYH, Blomstrom-Lundqvist C, et al. The 4S-AF Scheme (Stroke Risk; Symptoms; Severity of Burden; Substrate): A Novel Approach to In-Depth Characterization (Rather than Classification) of Atrial Fibrillation. Thromb Haemost. 2021; 121(3): 270–278, doi: 10.1055/s-0040-1716408, indexed in Pubmed: 32838473.
- Lip GYH, Nieuwlaat R, Pisters R, et al. Refining clinical risk stratification for predicting stroke and thromboembolism in atrial fibrillation using a novel risk factor-based approach: the euro heart survey on atrial fibrillation. Chest. 2010; 137(2): 263–272, doi: 10.1378/chest.09-1584, indexed in Pubmed: 19762550.
- Staerk L, Sherer JA, Ko D, et al. Atrial fibrillation: epidemiology, pathophysiology, and clinical outcomes. Circ Res. 2017; 120(9): 1501–1517, doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.117.309732, indexed in Pubmed: 28450367.
- Potpara TS, Lip GYH. Balkan-AF Investigators. Patterns in atrial fibrillation management and 'real-world' adherence to guidelines in the Balkan Region: an overview of the Balkan-atrial fibrillation survey. Eur Heart J. 2015; 36(30): 1943–1944, indexed in Pubmed: 26478929.
- Pisters R, Lane DA, Nieuwlaat R, et al. A novel user-friendly score (HAS-BLED) to assess 1-year risk of major bleeding in patients with atrial fibrillation: the Euro Heart Survey. Chest. 2010; 138(5): 1093–1100, doi: 10.1378/chest.10-0134, indexed in Pubmed: 20299623.
- 14. Potpara TS, Dan GA, Trendafilova E, et al. Stroke prevention in atrial fibrillation and 'real world' adherence to guidelines in the Balkan Region: The BALKAN-AF Survey. Sci Rep. 2016; 6: 20432, doi: 10.1038/srep20432, indexed in Pubmed: 26869284.
- Lip GYH, Laroche C, loachim PM, et al. Prognosis and treatment of atrial fibrillation patients by European cardiologists: one year follow-up of the EU-RObservational Research Programme-Atrial Fibrillation General Registry Pilot Phase (EORP-AF Pilot registry). Eur Heart J. 2014; 35(47): 3365–3376, doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehu374, indexed in Pubmed: 25176940.
- Lip GYH, Laroche C, Popescu MI, et al. Improved outcomes with European Society of Cardiology guideline-adherent antithrombotic treatment in high-risk patients with atrial fibrillation: a report from the EORP-AF General Pilot Registry. Europace. 2015; 17(12): 1777–1786, doi: 10.1093/europace/euv269, indexed in Pubmed: 26321406.
- 17. Kirchhof P, Ammentorp B, Darius H, et al. Management of atrial fibrillation in seven European countries after the publication of the 2010 ESC Guidelines on atrial fibrillation: primary results of the PREvention oF thromboemolic events--European Registry in Atrial Fibrillation (PREFER in AF). Europace. 2014; 16(1): 6–14, doi: 10.1093/europace/eut263, indexed in Pubmed: 24084680.
- Pritchett RV, Bem D, Turner GM, et al. Improving the Prescription of Oral Anticoagulants in Atrial Fibrillation: A Systematic Review. Thromb Haemost. 2019; 119(2): 294–307, doi: 10.1055/s-0038-1676835, indexed in Pubmed: 30669165.
- Hohnloser SH, Basic E, Nabauer M. Changes in Oral Anticoagulation Therapy over One Year in 51,000 Atrial Fibrillation Patients at Risk for Stroke: A Practice-Derived Study. Thromb Haemost. 2019; 119(6): 882–893, doi: 10.1055/s-0039-1683428, indexed in Pubmed: 30900220.

- Hohmann C, Hohnloser SH, Jacob J, et al. Non-Vitamin K Oral Anticoagulants in Comparison to Phenprocoumon in Geriatric and Non-Geriatric Patients with Non-Valvular Atrial Fibrillation. Thromb Haemost. 2019; 119(6): 971–980, doi: 10.1055/s-0039-1683422, indexed in Pubmed: 30900223.
- Kozieł M, Teutsch C, Bayer V, et al. GLORIA-AF Investigators. Changes in anticoagulant prescription patterns over time for patients with atrial fibrillation around the world. J Arrhythm. 2021; 37(4): 990–1006, doi: 10.1002/joa3.12588, indexed in Pubmed: 34386125.
- Proietti M, Laroche C, Opolski G, et al. AF Gen Pilot Investigators. 'Real-world' atrial fibrillation management in Europe: observations from the 2-year follow-up of the EURObservational Research Programme-Atrial Fibrillation General Registry Pilot Phase. Europace. 2017; 19(5): 722–733, doi: 10.1093/europace/euw112, indexed in Pubmed: 27194538.
- Ten Cate V, Ten Cate H, Verheugt FWA. The Global Anticoagulant Registry in the FIELD-Atrial Fibrillation (GARFIELD-AF) : Exploring the changes in anticoagulant practice in patients with non-valvular atrial fibrillation in the Netherlands. Neth Heart J. 2016; 24(10): 574–580, doi: 10.1007/s12471-016-0874-y, indexed in Pubmed: 27561277.
- Apenteng PN, Gao H, Hobbs FdR, et al. UK GARFIELD-AF Investigators and GARFIELD-AF Steering Committee. Temporal trends in antithrombotic treatment of real-world UK patients with newly diagnosed atrial fibrillation: findings from the GARFIELD-AF registry. BMJ Open. 2018; 8(1): e018905, doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2017-018905, indexed in Pubmed: 29331969.
- Roldán V, Marín F, Manzano-Fernández S, et al. The HAS-BLED score has better prediction accuracy for major bleeding than CHADS2 or CHA2DS2-VASc scores in anticoagulated patients with atrial fibrillation. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2013; 62(23): 2199–2204, doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2013.08.1623, indexed in Pubmed: 24055744.
- 26. Purmah Y, Proietti M, Laroche C, et al. Rate vs. rhythm control and adverse outcomes among European patients with atrial fibrillation. Europace.

2018; 20(2): 243–252, doi: 10.1093/europace/euw421, indexed in Pubmed: 28160483.

- Rivera-Caravaca JM, Piot O, Roldán-Rabadán I, et al. Characterization of atrial fibrillation in real-world patients: testing the 4S-AF scheme in the Spanish and French cohorts of the EORP-AF Long-Term General Registry. Europace. 2022; 24(2): 202–210, doi: 10.1093/europace/euab202, indexed in Pubmed: 34374759.
- Yoon M, Yang PS, Jang E, et al. Improved Population-Based Clinical Outcomes of Patients with Atrial Fibrillation by Compliance with the Simple ABC (Atrial Fibrillation Better Care) Pathway for Integrated Care Management: A Nationwide Cohort Study. Thromb Haemost. 2019; 119(10): 1695–1703, doi: 10.1055/s-0039-1693516, indexed in Pubmed: 31266082.
- Lenarczyk R, Mitręga K, Mazurek M, et al. Polish and European management strategies in patients with atrial fibrillation. Data from the EURObservational Research Programme-Atrial Fibrillation General Registry Pilot Phase (EORP-AF Pilot). Pol Arch Med Wewn. 2016; 126(3): 138–148, doi: 10.20452/pamw.3322, indexed in Pubmed: 27000745.
- Kozieł M, Mihajlovic M, Nedeljkovic M, et al. BALKAN-AF Investigators. Symptom management strategies: Rhythm vs rate control in patients with atrial fibrillation in the Balkan region: Data from the BALKAN-AF survey. Int J Clin Pract. 2021; 75(6): e14080, doi: 10.1111/ijcp.14080, indexed in Pubmed: 33548075.
- Stępińska J, Kremis E, Konopka A, et al. Stroke prevention in atrial fibrillation patients in Poland and other European countries: insights from the GARFIELD-AF registry. Kardiol Pol. 2016; 74(4): 362–371, doi: 10.5603/KP.a2015.0173, indexed in Pubmed: 26365937.
- Opolski G, Kosior DA, Kurzelewski M, et al. Polish RecordAF. Baseline characteristics of patients from Poland enrolled in the global registry of patients with recently diagnosed atrial fibrillation (RecordAF). Kardiol Pol. 2010; 68(5): 546–554, indexed in Pubmed: 20491018.

Management and predictors of clinical events in 75 686 patients with acute myocardial infarction

Piotr Jankowski^{1, 2}, Roman Topór-Mądry³, Mariusz Gąsior⁴, Urszula Cegłowska³, Marek Gierlotka⁵, Jacek Kubica⁶, Zbigniew Kalarus⁷, Maciej Lesiak⁸, Wojciech Wojakowski⁹, Jacek Legutko^{10, 11}, Radosław Sierpiński¹², Tomasz Zdrojewski¹³, Jarosław Pinkas¹⁴, Jarosław Kaźmierczak¹⁵, Przemysław Mitkowski⁸, Adam Witkowski¹⁶

¹Department of Internal Medicine and Geriatric Cardiology, Center of Postgraduate Medical Education, Warszawa, Poland

²Department of Epidemiology and Health Promotion, School of Public Health, Center of Postgraduate Medical Education, Warszawa, Poland ³Agency for Health Technology Assessment and Tariff System, Warszawa, Poland

- ⁴3rd Department of Cardiology, Faculty of Medical Sciences in Zabrze, Medical University of Silesia, Katowice, Poland
- ⁵Department of Cardiology, University Hospital, Institute of Medical Sciences, University of Opole, Opole, Poland
- ⁶Department of Cardiology and Internal Medicine, Collegium Medicum, Nicolaus Copernicus University, Bydgoszcz, Poland
- ⁷Department of Cardiology, Congenital Heart Diseases and Electrotherapy, Division of Medical Sciences in Zabrze, Silesian Medical University, Zabrze, Poland
- ^{81st} Department of Cardiology, Poznań University of Medical Sciences, Poznań, Poland
- ⁹Department of Cardiology and Structural Heart Diseases, Medical University of Silesia, Katowice, Poland
- ¹⁰Department of Interventional Cardiology, Institute of Cardiology, Jagiellonian University Medical College, Kraków, Poland
- ¹¹John Paul II Hospital, Kraków, Poland
- ¹²Faculty of Medicine, Cardinal Stefan Wyszyński University, Warszawa, Poland
- ¹³Department of Preventive Medicine and Education, Medical University of Gdansk, Gdańsk, Poland
- ¹⁴School of Public Health, Center of Postgraduate Medical Education, Warszawa, Poland
- ¹⁵Department of Cardiology, Pomeranian Medical University, Szczecin, Poland
- ¹⁶Department of Interventional Cardiology and Angiology, Institute of Cardiology, Warszawa, Poland

Correspondence to:

Prof. Piotr Jankowski, MD, PhD, Department of Internal Medicine and Geriatric Cardiology, Center of Postgraduate Medical Education, Czernakowska 231, 00–416 Warszawa, Poland, phone: +48 22 628 69 50, e-mail: piotrjankowski@interia.pl

Copyright by the Author(s), 2022

DOI: 10.33963/KP.a2022.0058 **Received:** August 19, 2021

Accepted: February 21, 2022 Early publication date:

February 21, 2022

ABSTRACT

Background: Although mortality in patients with acute myocardial infarction (MI) has decreased substantially over the last few decades in many countries, MI remains a major threat to public health.

Aims: To assess the number and outcomes of patients hospitalized for acute MI in Poland in 2018 as well as proportions of patients participating in cardiac rehabilitation and undergoing invasive cardiac procedures following discharge.

Methods: We used public databases. We included all patients hospitalized for acute MI in Poland in 2018 and assessed event-free survival along with uptake of invasive cardiac procedures, cardiac rehabilitation, and consultations with cardiologists.

Results: A total of 75868 patients (mean age, 68.8 years) were hospitalized for acute MI in Poland in 2018 (the admission rate, 197.0 per 100000 inhabitants). In-hospital mortality was 8.4%, while one-year mortality was 17.3% (one-year post-discharge mortality was 9.8%). Approximately 75% and 96% of discharged patients consulted a general practitioner, whereas 12% and 62% consulted a cardiologist, 5% and 19% underwent percutaneous coronary intervention, 0.6% and 2.9% underwent coronary artery bypass grafting, while 0.04% and 1.9% had an implantable cardioverter defibrillator implanted within 30 days and 365 days following discharge was 11%, within the first 30 days was 19%, and within 365 days was 35%.

Conclusions: In-hospital and post-discharge mortality is still high in Poland. The access to cardiac consultations and cardiac rehabilitation following MI is insufficient. There is considerable potential for a further decrease in mortality in patients suffering from MI in Poland.

Key words: cardiac rehabilitation, cardiovascular events, coronary artery disease, mortality, myocardial infarction

WHAT'S NEW?

We found that in 2018, 75 868 patients were hospitalized for acute myocardial infarction (MI) in Poland. This means a decrease compared to previously published estimates for 2012. The admission rate was 197.0 per 100 000 inhabitants: 255.2/100 000 among men and 142.5/100 000 among women. Among patients hospitalized for acute myocardial infarction in 2018, in-hospital mortality was 8.4%, while one-year mortality (counted starting from the admission to the hospital) was 17.3%, and one-year post-discharge mortality was 9.8%. These estimates are considerably lower compared to 2009–2010. Approximately 75% of discharged patients consulted a general practitioner, and 12% consulted a cardiologist within 30 days (37% within 90 days) following discharge. About 16% of MI survivors underwent percutaneous coronary intervention and 2.5% underwent coronary artery bypass grafting within the first 180 days, while 1.4% had an implantable cardioverter defibrillator implanted.

INTRODUCTION

Although mortality in patients with acute myocardial infarction (MI) has decreased substantially over the last few decades in many countries, MI remains the most serious complication of coronary artery disease [1, 2]. Several countries, including France, Japan, Korea, Poland, Sweden, and the United Kingdom have presented nationwide population-based studies [3-4]. The recent report from a countrywide population-based study analyzed the data of patients hospitalized for MI from 2009 to 2012 [3]. In addition, several reports analyzing subgroups of MI patients have also been published [2, 5-6]. Recently, an analysis of long-term outcomes of acute MI survivors was published [7]. There is convincing evidence of temporal changes in risk factor control as well in the invasive and non-invasive management of patients with MI in Poland since 2012 [8-9]. Therefore, the present study aimed to assess the number of patients hospitalized for acute MI in 2018 in Poland, in-hospital mortality, event-free survival following discharge, predictors of clinical events, and proportions of patients participating in cardiac rehabilitation programs and undergoing invasive cardiac procedures following discharge.

METHODS

We included all adult patients hospitalized for acute MI in Poland between January 1, 2018 and December 31, 2018 and reported to the National Health Fund database. We included all patients with reported ST-elevation MI, non-ST-elevation MI, and unspecified MI (see Supplementary material, *Table S1*). The study population consisted of patients who experienced acute MI for the first time during the study period, irrespective of a history of MI in the past. We analyzed only records of patients with Polish personal identification numbers (PESEL).

A patients' history was determined using data from the National Health Fund. A patient was coded as having a disease (e.g. diabetes or heart failure) if the disease was reported by any hospital or outpatient clinic to the National Health Fund database. The department classifications were based on the Polish Ministry of Health data. Survival was determined according to the national database of deaths (Central Statistical Office). Consultations with cardiologists and general practitioners and recurrent hospitalizations, including hospitalizations for acute MI, stroke, and invasive cardiac procedures, were determined using the National Health Fund database. Hospitalization was defined as admission to a health care facility lasting >24 hours unless the patient died within 24 hours. The index hospitalization for MI was defined as a continuous hospital stay, including all possible transfers between wards or hospitals for any reason until a patient's discharge home or death. If the time delay between hospital discharge and the subsequent admission for MI was ≤ 1 day, both admissions were considered due to the same MI.

Ethics committee approval was not needed as the authors analyzed the national database. Informed consent was not required.

Endpoints

The primary endpoint was defined as death from any cause, whereas secondary endpoints were (1) all-cause death or myocardial infarction or stroke; and (2) all-cause death or hospitalization for any cardiovascular disease.

Statistical analysis

Continuous variables are presented as means (standard deviations [SD]) or medians (interquartile ranges [IQRs]), while categorical values are presented as percentages with 95% confidence intervals (CI) when appropriate. The Shapiro-Wilk test was used to assess the normality. Normally distributed continuous variables were compared using Student's t-test. The Mann-Whitney U test was used in the case of variables without normal distribution. The Pearson χ^2 test was applied to all categorical variables. A *P*-value of less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant. To calculate the admission rate for MI (number of admissions per 100 000 inhabitants) we used data provided by the Polish Central Statistical Office [10].

Multivariable, stepwise logistic analysis was used to assess factors independently related to in-hospital mortality. Kaplan-Meier methods were used to construct unadjusted survival curves for each outcome. Cox proportional hazard regression analysis was used to assess the independent predictors of the endpoints. Beginning with all the variables presented in Table 1, stepwise analysis was conducted

Table 1. Characteristics of the analyzed groups.

Variable	Number (%)
Age, years, mean (SD)	68.8 (12.0)
Sex	
Males, n (%)	47420 (62.7)
Females, n (%)	28266 (37.3)
Patients' history	
Hypertension, n (%)	55735 (73.6)
Diabetes, n (%)	23510 (31.1)
Atrial fibrillation, n (%)	9807 (12.6)
Previous stroke, n (%)	2358 (3.1)
Previous myocardial infarction, n (%)	5062 (6.7)
Previous PCI, n (%)	7982 (10.4)
Previous CABG, n (%)	640 (0.8)
Heart failure, n (%)	16675 (22.0)
Chronic kidney disease, n (%)	6345 (8.4)
Neoplasm in the history, n (%)	17058 (22.5)
Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, n (%)	8283 (10.9)
Index hospitalization	
Coronary angiography, n (%)	66943 (87.9)
PCI, n (%)	54767 (72.4)
CABG, n (%)	3016 (4.0)
Department	
Cardiology, n (%)	65336 (86.3)
Internal medicine, n (%)	7437 (9.8)
Other, n (%)	2913 (3.8)

Values are presented as mean (standard deviation [SD]) or n (%)

Abbreviations: CABG, coronary artery by pass grafting; $\ensuremath{\mathsf{PCI}}$, percutaneous coronary intervention

using the probability value <0.05. The statistics were calculated with STATISTICA 13 software (TIBCO Software, Palo Alto, CA, US).

RESULTS

A total of 75 868 patients (mean age, 68.8 [12.0] years) were hospitalized for acute MI from January 1, 2018 to Decem-

ber 31, 2018 in Poland, including 47420 men (mean age, 66.3 [11.6] years) and 28266 women (mean age, 73.1 [11.5] years). Admission rates due to myocardial infarction in Poland in 2018 in relation to age and sex are presented in Figure 1. In total, the admission rate was 197.0 per 100 000 inhabitants (255.2/100 000 among men and 142.5/100 000 among women). Overall, 86.3% of patients were hospitalized in a department of cardiology (Table 1).

Most patients were hospitalized in only one hospital (82.6%), while 14.8%, 2.4%, 0.3%, and 0.05% patients were hospitalized consecutively in two, three, four, and at least five hospitals. The median length of hospitalization was 6 (4–9) days, while the mean duration of hospitalization was 8.0 (8.8) days (median 6 [4–9] days). Invasive management (at least coronary angiography) was introduced in 87.9% of patients, percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI) in 72.4%, and coronary artery bypass grafting (CABG) in 4.0% of patients (Table 1).

In-hospital mortality was 8.4% (95% CI, 8.2%-8.6%) and 69 310 patients were discharged alive from the hospital. Figure 2 presents in-hospital mortality by age group. Mortality among patients hospitalized in a department of cardiology was 7.0 (6.8-7.2)%, among those hospitalized in departments of internal medicine the corresponding rate was 15.0 (14.2-15.8)%, and among patients hospitalized in other departments 22.9 (21.3–24.4)%; P < 0.001. Among patients hospitalized in one hospital only, mortality was 8.1 (7.9-8.3)%, while among patients hospitalized consecutively in two, three, four, and at least five hospitals mortality was 9.1 (8.5-9.6)%, 14.4 (12.8-16.0)%, 13.7 (9.0-18.5)%, and 28.9 (13.8-44.1)%, respectively. Mortality was 6.4 (6.2-6.6)% in patients managed invasively and 22.9 (22.0-23.7)% in patients managed non-invasively (P < 0.001), 6.6 (6.4–6.8)% in patients who underwent PCI, 6.8 (5.9-7.7)% in those who underwent CABG, and 5.7 (5.3-6.2)% in patients who



Figure 1. Crude admission rates due to myocardial infarction in Poland in 2018 in relation to age and sex


Figure 2. In-hospital mortality by age groups

Table 2. Factors independently related to in-hospital dea	ath
(n = 75686)	

Variable	OR (95% CI)
Age per 10 years	1.61 (1.57–1.65)
Hypertension	0.70 (0.66–0.75)
Diabetes	1.21 (1.14–1.28)
Previous stroke	1.43 (1.27–1.62)
Heart failure	1.24 (1.16–1.32)
Chronic kidney disease	1.31 (1.21–1.42)
Neoplasm in the history	0.78 (0.73–0.83)
Invasive management (at least coronary angiography)	0.40 (0.37–0.43)
Department	
Cardiology	0.37 (0.33-0.41)
Internal medicine	0.44 (0.39–0.49)
Other	1.00

Abbreviations: CI, confidence interval; OR, odds ratio

underwent coronary angiography only (without revascularization procedures). Supplementary material, *Figures S1* and *S2* present in-hospital mortality in patients managed invasively and non-invasively by age groups. Table 2 presents variables independently related to in-hospital mortality.

Overall, 5810 died during the observation period. In addition, the endpoint consisting of all-cause death, MI, or stroke occurred in 9253 patients, while the endpoint consisting of all-cause death or hospitalization for cardiovascular reasons occurred in 27100 patients. One-year all-cause mortality among patients hospitalized for MI (including in-hospital and post-discharge events) was 17.3 (17.0–17.6)%. Figure 3 presents the estimated event-free survival probability following discharge. The proportion of patients suffering from recurrent myocardial infarction within one year following discharge was 7.0 (6.8-7.2)%, the proportion of patients suffering from a stroke was 1.6 (1.5-1.7)%, and the proportion of patients hospitalized at least once for cardiovascular reasons was 40.4 (40.0-40.8)%. One-year death probability following discharge from hospital was 2.2 (1.9-

-2.6)% among patients aged <55 years, 5.0 (4.6–5.3)% among patients aged 55–65 years, 8.5 (8.1–9.0)% among patients aged 65–75 years, 15.5 (14.8–16.2)% among patients aged 75–85 years, and 27.4 (26.0–28.7)% among those aged ≥85 years. The corresponding proportions for endpoint consisting of all-cause death or MI or stroke were 6.6 (6.0–7.2)%, 10.6 (10.0–11.1)%, 15.0 (14.4–15.5)%, 21.9 (21.1–22.7)%, and 31.3 (29.8–32.7)%, respectively, while for endpoint consisting of all-cause death or hospitalization for any cardiovascular cause: 32.8 (31.7– -34.0)%, 39.1 (38.3–40.0)%, 45.8 (45.0–46.6)%, 51.5 (50.5– -52.5)%, and 53.3 (51.7–54.9)%. Supplementary material, *Figures S3–55* present proportions of patients with MI, stroke, and patients hospitalized for cardiovascular reasons by age groups.

The independent predictors of the endpoints are presented in Table 3. About half of discharged patients consulted their general practitioners within 14 days following discharge, while 12% of patients consulted a cardiologist within 30 days following discharge (Figure 4). Overall, 0.06%, 0.14%, 0.27%, 0.33%, and 0.34% of the patients began telerehabilitation within 14, 30, 90, 180, and 365 days of discharge, respectively. The participation rate in any form of cardiac rehabilitation within first the 14 days following discharge was 11% and within the first 30 ways was 19% (Figure 4). In addition, 13% of MI survivors underwent PCI within the first 90 days following discharge, 2.5% underwent CABG within 180 days, and 1.9% had an implantable cardioverter-defibrillator implanted within 365 days following discharge (Figure 5).

DISCUSSION

This countrywide analysis included data on all patients hospitalized for acute MI in Poland in 2018. The main strength of our study is the fact that we analyzed all patients who had the Polish personal identification number and whose hospitalization for MI had been reported to the National



Figure 3. Kaplan-Meier curves displaying the estimated event-free survival probability

Table 3. Independent predictors of all-cause death, all-cause death or myocardial infarction or stroke, and all-cause death or hospitalization for cardiovascular reasons following discharge (n = 69310)

Variable	HR (95% CI)			
	All-cause death	All-cause death or myocar- dial infarction or stroke	All-cause death or hospitaliza- tion for cardiovascular reasons	
Age per 10 years	1.62 (1.57–1.66)	1.34 (1.31–1.37)	1.13 (1.12–1.14)	
Sex				
Female	1.0	1.0	1.0	
Male	1.21 (1.14–1.28)	1.19 (1.14–1.25)	1.18 (1.15–1.21)	
Hypertension	0.82 (0.76-0.88)	—	—	
Diabetes	1.22 (1.15–1.29)	1.22 (1.17–1.28)	1.09 (1.06–1.12)	
Atrial fibrillation	1.08 (1.01–1.15)	—	1.07 (1.03–1.11)	
Previous stroke	1.61 (1.45–1.79)	1.60 (1.47–1.75)	1.15 (1.08–1.23)	
Previous myocardial infarction	—	1.19 (1.09–1.29)	_	
Previous PCI	_	1.15 (1.06–1.23)	1.08 (1.04–1.12)	
Previous CABG	0.73 (0.55–0.97)	—	_	
Heart failure	1.59 (1.49–1.69)	1.46 (1.39–1.53)	1.20 (1.17–1.24)	
Chronic kidney disease	1.41 (1.32–1.52)	1.30 (1.23–1.38)	1.19 (1.14–1.24)	
Neoplasm in the history	1.15 (1.09–1.22)	1.11 (1.06–1.16)	_	
Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease	1.28 (1.19–1.37)	1.10 (1.04–1.17)	1.07 (1.03–1.11)	
Invasive management (at least coronary angiography) during index hospitalization	0.60 (0.56–0.65)	0.65 (0.61–0.69)	0.82 (0.78–0.85)	
PCI during index hospitalization	0.68 (0.64-0.73)	0.87 (0.83–0.92)	1.08 (1.05–1.12)	
CABG during index hospitalization	0.51 (0.42-0.61)	0.58 (0.50-0.67)	0.79 (0.74–0.85)	
Hospitalization in a department of cardiology	0.52 (0.48-0.59)	0.67 (0.61–0.73)	0.85 (0.82–0.88)	
Hospitalization in a department of internal medicine	0.68 (0.61–0.76)	0.84 (0.76–0.93)	_	

Abbreviations: CABG, coronary artery bypass grafting; HR, hazard ratio; PCI, percutaneous coronary intervention; other — see Tables 1 and 2

Health Fund database. We found that in 2018, 75 868 patients were hospitalized for acute MI in Poland. This means a decrease in the number of patients hospitalized for MI by 3532 (about 4.4%) compared to 2012 [3]. Several possible factors may have led to a reduction in the number of patients admitted for MI: the revised definition of MI, changed habits of physicians in diagnosing and reporting MI, an increase in the prescription rate of cardiovascular drugs in patients with established coronary artery disease, as well as improvements in the control of main cardiovascular risk factors in the general Polish population [11–15]. A gradual decrease in the admission rates for MI in Poland from 2009 to 2012 was shown previously [3]. We could not analyze patients who died outside the hospital due to MI,



Figure 4. Cumulative proportions of patients consulted by a cardiologist, a general practitioner, and starting a cardiac rehabilitation programme by number of days following discharge



Figure 5. Cumulative proportions of patients undergoing selected invasive procedures by number of days following discharge Abbreviations: CRT-D, cardiac resynchronization therapy defibrillator; CRT-P, cardiac resynchronization therapy pacemaker; ICD, implantable cardioverter defibrillator; CABG, coronary artery bypass grafting; PCI, Percutaneous coronary intervention

before their admission to the hospital. The proportion of patients who died outside the hospital due to MI among all cases of MI in 2012 was estimated to be 6.6% [3]. If we apply this figure to our data, we could estimate the number of patients suffering from MI in 2018 to be about 81250. The admission rates increase with age in men and women, but the increase was steeper in women, although the admission rate was higher among men in every age group. These relations agree with the previous findings [3].

In-hospital mortality among patients hospitalized for MI was 8.4% in 2018. This estimate is considerably lower compared to 2009–2010 [3, 13]. This reduction may be due to improvements in the management of patients with acute MI, including an increase in the proportion of patients undergoing coronary angiography (from 72.5% in 2009 to 87.9% in 2018), percutaneous coronary intervention (from 59.1% to 72.4%), and coronary artery bypass grafting (from 1.9% to 4.0%) [3]. Other factors, such as progress in the pharmacotherapy of MI patients or better organizational standards of pre-hospital and in-hospital medical care, may also have played a significant role [12, 13].

The diagnosis of hypertension was not related to increased mortality in our analysis. The previous scientific evidence is contradictory: some studies show increased risk among postinfarction patients with hypertension, some show no significant association between hypertension and mortality, while some analyses show even higher mortality among patients with low blood pressure [14–15]. It is possible that in some cases the lack of diagnosis of hypertension may be a marker of heart failure or other systemic, severe disease. Age, sex, diabetes, atrial fibrillation, stroke, heart failure, chronic kidney disease, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, management in the acute phase of MI, and hospitalization in cardiology and general medicine departments were all independently related to the risk of the endpoints.

The estimate for 2009 suggested one-year mortality following discharge at a level of 10.1% [3]. We found one-year all-cause mortality to be slightly lower, although the cohort of MI survivors in 2018 was approximately 1.4 years older compared to patients discharged in 2009 and 2010 [13]. Although the prescription rate for cardiovascular drugs in patients with established coronary artery disease increased a high proportion of patients following MI still have cardiovascular risk factors uncontrolled [15, 16]. Indeed, only 2.3% of patients with coronary artery disease, including those after MI, had all the main risk factors well-controlled [24]. Furthermore, a significant increase has been observed in the proportion of coronary patients with obesity and diabetes in Poland [17]. Moreover, most patients still do not participate in cardiac rehabilitation programs, and only 37% of MI survivors consulted a cardiologist within 90 days of their discharge. It has been shown that patients who consulted a cardiologist have a lower risk of death compared to those consulted by a general practitioner alone [18].

The main healthcare payer in Poland is the National Health Fund. In the case of hospitalizations and procedures related to acute MI treatment, the National Health Fund is virtually the only payer that signs contracts with public and private healthcare providers. Therefore, the underestimation of the number of patients hospitalized for MI is not probable. On the other hand, some post-infarction patients could consult cardiologists omitting the National Health Fund system. Indeed, every tenth patient hospitalized for coronary artery disease consulted a cardiologist after discharge from the hospital [19].

Importantly, the recently launched MAnaged Care for Acute Myocardial Infarction Survivors (MACAMIS) system has been accompanied by increased access to early cardiac rehabilitation (odds ratio of starting cardiac rehabilitation within the first 14 days following discharge was 16.89), cardiac consultations (odds ratio of cardiac consultation within first 6 weeks following discharge was 7.28), and a lower risk of death and cardiovascular events [20, 21]. The improved concordance could also improve the MI survivors' prognosis. Our results suggest considerable potential for a further decrease in mortality in patients suffering from MI in Poland.

Limitations

The present analysis has some limitations. Firstly, this is a cohort study. Hence, only a statistical association rather than any causal relationships could be confirmed. Secondly, we were unable to analyze patients' lifestyles or the prescription rates for cardioprotective drugs. The inclusion of such data in the present analysis could have increased the impact of our results. Thirdly, we had no access to data on the utilization of fibrinolysis in the acute phase of myocardial infarction. However, the proportion of patients with acute MI administered fibrinolysis in 2009 in Poland was 1% [3]. One could expect an even lower proportion in 2018 as the utilization of invasive management increased significantly. Finally, the present results are based on the robustness of the public databases we used. Moreover, the database used in this study was an administrative registry, created mainly to reimburse medical procedures, which provided a limited number of clinical variables available for analysis. The diagnoses of MI and co-morbidities were not externally verified. In addition, we had no access to data on migration. Some patients may have emigrated from Poland and were lost to follow-up. On the other hand, a major advantage of the present study is the analysis of a large, nationwide database covering virtually all patients hospitalized for MI in 2018 in Poland. Thus, the data regarding therapy, readmissions, and deaths provide a summary of current everyday clinical practice and its outcomes.

CONCLUSION

The in-hospital and post-discharge mortality in patients suffering from MI in Poland, though lower than in the first decade of the 21st century, is still high. Access to cardiac consultations and cardiac rehabilitation following myocardial infarction is insufficient. There is considerable potential for a further decrease in mortality in this population of patients.

Supplementary material

Supplementary material is available at https://journals. viamedica.pl/kardiologia_polska.

Article information

Conflict of interest: None declared.

Open access: This article is available in open access under Creative Common Attribution-Non-Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) license, allowing to download articles and share them with others as long as they credit the authors and the publisher, but without permission to change them in any way or use them commercially. For commercial use, please contact the journal office at kardiologiapolska@ptkardio.pl.

- Chatterjee P, Maddox KJ. US National Trends in Mortality From Acute Myocardial Infarction and Heart Failure. JAMA Cardiology. 2018; 3(4): 336–340, doi: 10.1001/jamacardio.2018.0218, indexed in Pubmed: 29541764.
- Gasior M, Gierlotka M, Pyka Ł, et al. Temporal trends in secondary prevention in myocardial infarction patients discharged with left ventricular systolic dysfunction in Poland. Eur J Prev Cardiol. 2018; 25(9): 960–969, doi: 10.1177/2047487318770830, indexed in Pubmed: 29692221.
- Gierlotka M, Zdrojewski T, Wojtyniak B, et al. Incidence, treatment, in-hospital mortality and one-year outcomes of acute myocardial infarction in Poland in 2009-2012--nationwide AMI-PL database. Kardiol Pol. 2015; 73(3): 142–158, doi: 10.5603/KP.a2014.0213, indexed in Pubmed: 25371307.
- Mori H, Suzuki H, Nishihira K, et al. In-hospital mortality associated with acute myocardial infarction was inversely related with the number of coronary risk factors in patients from a Japanese nation-wide real-world database. Int J Cardiol Hypertens. 2020; 6: 100039, doi: 10.1016/j. ijchy.2020.100039, indexed in Pubmed: 33447765.
- Bęćkowski M, Gierlotka M, Gąsior M, et al. Factors Affecting Early Mortality and 1-Year Outcomes in Young Women With ST-Segment-Elevation Myocardial Infarction Aged Less Than or Equal to 45 Years. Curr Probl Cardiol. 2021; 46(3): 100419, doi: 10.1016/j.cpcardiol.2019.03.008, indexed in Pubmed: 31047713.
- Piegza J, Poloński L, Desperak A, et al. Myocardial Infarction in Centenarians. Data from The Polish Registry of Acute Coronary Syndromes. J Clin Med. 2020; 9(10), doi: 10.3390/jcm9103377, indexed in Pubmed: 33096868.
- Wojtyniak B, Gierlotka M, Opolski G, et al. Incidence, treatment, in-hospital mortality and one-year outcomes of acute myocardial infarction in Poland in 2009-2012--nationwide AMI-PL database. Kardiol Pol. 2015; 73(3): 142–158, doi: 10.5603/KP.a2014.0213, indexed in Pubmed: 25371307.
- Kleczyński P, Siudak Z, Dziewierz A, et al. The network of invasive cardiology facilities in Poland in 2016 (data from the ORPKI Polish National Registry). Kardiol Pol. 2018; 76(4): 805–807, doi: 10.5603/KP.2018.0081, indexed in Pubmed: 29652427.
- Pęksa JW, Jankowski P, Kozieł P, et al. Changes over time in the prevention of recurrent coronary artery disease in everyday practice. Pol Arch Intern Med. 2021; 131(7-8): 673–678, doi: 10.20452/pamw.16001, indexed in Pubmed: 34002973.
- Statistical Yearbook of the Republic of Poland. Zakład Wydawnictw Statystycznych, Warszawa 2019.
- Thygesen K, Alpert JS, Jaffe AS, et al. Third universal definition of myocardial infarction. Eur Heart J. 2012; 33(20): 2551–2567, doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehs184, indexed in Pubmed: 22922414.

- Puymirat E, Cayla G, Cottin Y, et al. Twenty-year trends in profile, management and outcomes of patients with ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction according to use of reperfusion therapy: Data from the FAST-MI program 1995-2015. Am Heart J. 2019; 214: 97–106, doi: 10.1016/j. ahj.2019.05.007, indexed in Pubmed: 31181374.
- Szummer K, Wallentin L, Lindhagen L, et al. Relations between implementation of new treatments and improved outcomes in patients with non-ST-elevation myocardial infarction during the last 20 years: experiences from SWEDEHEART registry 1995 to 2014. Eur Heart J. 2018; 39(42): 3766–3776, doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehy554, indexed in Pubmed: 30239671.
- Gouda P, Savu A, Bainey KR, et al. Long-term risk of death and recurrent cardiovascular events following acute coronary syndromes. PLoS One. 2021; 16(7): e0254008, doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0254008, indexed in Pubmed: 34197547.
- Cho KH, Han X, Ahn JHo, et al. Long-Term outcomes of patients with late presentation of st-segment elevation myocardial infarction. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2021;77(15): 1859–1870, doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2021.02.041, indexed in Pubmed: 33858622.
- Jankowski P, Kosior DA, Sowa P, et al. Secondary prevention of coronary artery disease in Poland. Results from the POLASPIRE survey. Cardiol J. 2020; 27(5): 533–540, doi: 10.5603/CJ.a2020.0072, indexed in Pubmed: 32436589.
- Kozieł P, Jankowski P, Mirek-Bryniarska E, et al. Obesity in patients with established coronary artery disease over a 20-year period (1997-2017). Pol Arch Intern Med. 2021; 131(1): 26–32, doi: 10.20452/pamw.15742, indexed in Pubmed: 33522218.
- Pęksa JW, Storman D, Jankowski P, et al. Mortality in patients after acute myocardial infarction managed by cardiologists and primary care physicians: a systematic review. Pol Arch Intern Med. 2020; 130(10): 860–867, doi: 10.20452/pamw.15542, indexed in Pubmed: 32749827.
- Jankowski P, Czarnecka D, Badacz L, et al. Practice setting and secondary prevention of coronary artery disease. Arch Med Sci. 2018; 14(5): 979–987, doi: 10.5114/aoms.2017.65236, indexed in Pubmed: 30154878.
- Jankowski P, Gąsior M, Gierlotka M, et al. Coordinated care after myocardial infarction. The statement of the Polish Cardiac Society and the Agency for Health Technology Assessment and Tariff System [article in Polish]. Kardiol Pol. 2016; 74(8): 800–811, doi: 10.5603/KP.2016.0118, indexed in Pubmed: 27553352.
- Jankowski P, Topór-Mądry R, Gąsior M, et al. Innovative managed care may be related to improved prognosis for acute myocardial infarction survivors. Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes. 2021; 14(8): e007800, doi: 10.1161/CIRCOUTCOMES.120.007800, indexed in Pubmed: 34380330.

Comparison of fusion imaging and two-dimensional angiography to guide percutaneous pulmonary vein interventions

Sebastian Góreczny^{1, 2}, Gareth J Morgan^{2, 3}, Daniel McLennan², Rizwan Rehman⁴, Jenny E Zablah^{2, 3}

¹Department of Pediatric Cardiology, University Children's Hospital, Jagiellonian University Medical College, Kraków, Poland ²Children's Hospital of Colorado, Aurora, CO, United States

³University of Colorado Hospital, Aurora, CO, United States

⁴Birmingham Children's Hospital, Birmingham, United Kingdom

Correspondence to:

Sebastian Góreczny, MD, PhD, Department of Pediatric, Cardiology, University Children's Hospital, Faculty of Medicine, Jagiellonian University Medical College, Wielicka 265, 30–669 Kraków, Poland, phone: +48 12 333 90 50, e-mail: sebastian.goreczny@uj.edu.pl Copyright by the Author(s), 2022 DOI: 10.33963/KP.a2021.0197

Received: October 20, 2021

Accepted: December 29, 2021

Early publication date: December 31, 2021

INTRODUCTION

Primary and acquired pulmonary vein (PV) stenoses comprise a group of complex conditions often requiring numerous interventions in early childhood [1]. Despite advancements in surgical techniques, often repeated transcatheter interventions are common in this patient population [2]. Balloon dilation has demonstrated limited long-term efficacy, whereas stent implantation requires repeat dilations to match somatic growth or in-stent restenosis [3].

Modern angiographic imaging platforms allow three-dimensional (3D) guidance with a fusion of transesophageal echocardiography or pre-operative datasets like computed tomography (CT) and magnetic resonance imaging [4–6]. Early experiences showed promising reductions in contrast and radiation dose, fluoroscopy, and study times [7, 8].

We report our initial experience with fusion imaging (FI) to guide percutaneous PV interventions, and we compare FI and PV interventions that use traditional 2D angiography.

METHODS

A retrospective review of the institutional database was performed to identify all patients who underwent percutaneous PV interventions. The study protocol was approved by the institutional review board (no. 19-2892) and patients' guardians provided written informed consent to participate in the study. Patient demographics including catheterization risk score for pediatrics (CRISP) and the risk for severe adverse events, pre-procedural cross-sectional imaging, and catheterization data were collected.

Computed tomography scans were performed as a routine diagnostic workup according to the standard institutional protocol for the visualization of PV. Therefore, radiation and contrast dose-related to CT imaging were not included in this analysis as patients would have been exposed to it regardless of whether scans were reutilized during cardiac catheterization.

The application of fusion software (VesselNavigator, Philips Healthcare, Eindhoven, The Netherlands) was described in detail elsewhere [9]. Briefly, it includes 4 steps: (1) segmentation of a previously obtained 3D dataset; (2) labeling key anatomy with marking rings/points, taking measurements, and saving optimal angulations; (3) registration of fluoroscopy with the labeled 3D reconstruction, and finally (4) guidance of the procedure with the 3D roadmap overlaid in the anterior-posterior plane (monoplane) and presented in one of several rendering modes.

Patients who underwent fusion of pre-catheter CT scans (available for the last 9 months of the studied period) for procedural guidance were matched (1:1) to those with standard 2D angiography. The following parameters were used for matching: the body surface area, a type of intervention (balloon dilation \pm stent implantation), the number of treated veins. All matched patients had inter-atrial communication, hence there was



Figure 1. Fusion imaging for percutaneous pulmonary vein recanalization and stenting. VesselNavigator (Philips Healthcare, Eindhoven, The Netherlands) assisted the segmentation of contrast computed tomography scan (**A**). Pink and green marking points were placed to highlight the track between the left atrium and the right upper pulmonary vein (**B**). Previously placed coils were used for the registration of the 3D volume with stored fluoroscopy in two perpendicular projections (**C**). Three-dimensional reconstruction with marking points was used to guide pulmonary vein perforation and subsequent stent implantation (**D**–**F**)

no need for trans-septal puncture. The procedural time was calculated from the moment of vessel cannulation to sheath removal. Registration of fluoroscopy and 3D roadmap was performed after obtaining vessel access, during the setting up of the isocenter.

Statistical analysis

Analyses were performed using JMP Pro 13.0 (SAS Institute, Cary, NC, US). Data are reported as number and percentage for qualitative values and median (interquartile range) for quantitative values. All comparisons were performed using the Wilcoxon-matched pairs signed-rank test. The *P*-value <0.05 was considered significant.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Over a period of 18 months, 24 patients with PV stenosis underwent 64 catheterizations: 8 diagnostic and 56 interventional. Fusion imaging was utilized during 7 interventional catheterizations (Figure 1). One case of radiofrequency PV perforation with FI was excluded from further analysis due to the lack of a matching example in the 2D group. There were no significant differences between those with 2D guidance (n = 6) and FI (n = 6) in terms of body surface area (median 0.38 vs. 0.4 m²; P = 0.81), weight (7.5 vs. 7.8 kg; P = 0.99), or age (13.5 vs. 19 months; P = 0.625) (Supplementary material, Table S1). There were no differences in the CRISP score (11 vs. 10 points; P = 0.56) or the risk for severe adverse events (14.4 vs. 14.4 %; P = 0.99). All patients in each group underwent balloon dilation, with 3 patients in each group having additional stent implantation. Using FI resulted in lower contrast utilization (3.7 vs. 2.4 ml/kg,

decrease of 31.5%; P = 0.22) and radiation exposure (Air kerma: 288 vs. 53 mGy, decrease of 82%; P = 0.22; Dose area product: 8852 vs. 1020 mGy × cm², decrease of 88.5%; P = 0.31). Fluoroscopy (71 vs. 52 min, decrease of 27%; P = 0.44) and total study times (256 vs. 165 min, decrease of 35.5%; P = 0.22) were also shorter in the cases guided with Fl. However, the obtained differences were not statistically significant.

Percutaneous treatment of PV remains a challenging task requiring repeated anesthesia, contrast, and radiation exposure in the most vulnerable early stages of life [2, 3]. In addition to evolving transcatheter techniques and the availability of improved equipment, efforts have been made to improve non-invasive imaging for diagnosis and follow-up of PV stenosis [1]. Computed tomography provides precise information for diagnosis and procedural planning of PV interventions; however, it comes at a cost of exposing patients to radiation and contrast. Re-utilization of CT 3D data sets might allow reduction of the number of diagnostic 2D angiographies and, consequently, lower radiation and contrast usage during cardiac catheterization.

Until recently 2D imaging was the gold standard for the guidance of PV interventions. We have applied our experience in 3D guidance for cardiac catheterization in various congenital heart defects to PV interventions to reduce the catheterization burden to the patients [8–10]. Our initial, limited experience shows a possibility for lower contrast utilization and radiation exposure and shorter fluoroscopy and study times with the FI guidance compared to 2D angiography. Larger patient groups may allow us to determine if these differences are statistically significant.

Supplementary material

Supplementary material is available at https://journals. viamedica.pl/kardiologia_polska.

Article information

Acknowledgments: SG would like to thank the Polish-US Fulbright Commission for supporting his research projects with a Senior Award Scholarship.

Conflict of interest: None declared.

Open access: This article is available in open access under Creative Common Attribution-Non-Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) license, allowing to download articles and share them with others as long as they credit the authors and the publisher, but without permission to change them in any way or use them commercially. For commercial use, please contact the journal office at kardiologiapolska@ptkardio.pl.

- Frank DB, Levy PT, Stiver CA, et al. Primary pulmonary vein stenosis during infancy: state of the art review. J Perinatol. 2021; 41(7): 1528–1539, doi: 10.1038/s41372-021-01008-7, indexed in Pubmed: 33674714.
- Feins EN, Callahan R, Baird CW. Pulmonary vein stenosis-evolving surgical management of a challenging disease. Children (Basel). 2021; 8(8): 631, doi: 10.3390/children8080631, indexed in Pubmed: 34438522.
- Callahan R, Gauvreau K, Marshall AC, et al. Outcomes in establishing individual vessel patency for pediatric pulmonary vein stenosis. Children (Basel). 2021; 8(3): 210, doi: 10.3390/children8030210, indexed in Pubmed: 33802089.

- McLennan D, Goreczny S, Jone PN, et al. Left ventricular outflow tract pseudoaneurysm occlusion with fusion of live 3-dimensional transesophageal echocardiography and fluoroscopy. Kardiol Pol. 2019; 77(6): 647–648, doi: 10.33963/KP.14841, indexed in Pubmed: 31124541.
- Góreczny S, Krings G, Hijazi ZM, et al. Pros, cons and future perspectives — three questions on three dimensional guidance for cardiac catheterization in congenital heart disease. Adv Interv Cardiol. 2019; 15(3): 263–273, doi: 10.5114/aic.2019.87688, indexed in Pubmed: 31592250.
- Bruckheimer E, Góreczny S. Advanced imaging techniques to assist transcatheter congenital heart defects therapies. Progr Pediatr Cardiol. 2021; 61: 101373, doi: 10.1016/j.ppedcard.2021.101373.
- Ehret N, Alkassar M, Dittrich S, et al. A new approach of three-dimensional guidance in paediatric cath lab: segmented and tessellated heart models for cardiovascular interventions in CHD. Cardiol Young. 2018; 28(5): 661– 667, doi: 10.1017/S1047951117002840, indexed in Pubmed: 29345604.
- Goreczny S, Moszura T, Dryzek P, et al. Three-dimensional image fusion guidance of percutaneous pulmonary valve implantation to reduce radiation exposure and contrast dose: A comparison with traditional two-dimensional and three-dimensional rotational angiographic guidance. Neth Heart J. 2017; 25(2): 91–99, doi: 10.1007/s12471-016-0941-4, indexed in Pubmed: 27966187.
- Goreczny S, Dryzek P, Morgan GJ, et al. Novel three-dimensional image fusion software to facilitate guidance of complex cardiac catheterization: 3D image fusion for interventions in CHD. Pediatr Cardiol. 2017; 38(6): 1133–1142, doi: 10.1007/s00246-017-1627-4, indexed in Pubmed: 28551818.
- Goreczny S, Morgan GJ, Dryzek P, et al. Initial experience with live three-dimensional image overlay for ductal stenting in hypoplastic left heart syndrome. EuroIntervention. 2016; 12(12): 1527–1533, doi: 10.4244/EIJ-D-15-00101, indexed in Pubmed: 27998845.

The use of remote monitoring of patients with cardiac implantable electronic devices in Poland

Mateusz Tajstra¹, Maciej Dyrbuś¹, Marcin Grabowski², Jakub K Rokicki², Marcin Nowak³, Mariusz Gąsior¹

¹3rd Department of Cardiology, School of Medical Sciences in Zabrze, Medical University of Silesia, Katowice, Poland ²1st Chair and Department of Cardiology, Medical University of Warsaw, Warszawa, Poland ³Biotronik Polska. Poznań, Poland

Correspondence to:

Maciej Dyrbuś, MD, Silesian Center for Heart Diseases, M Skłodowskiej-Curie 9, 41–800 Zabrze, Poland, phone: + 48 32 373 38 60, e-mail: mdyrbus@op.pl

Copyright by the Author(s), 2022 DOI: 10.33963/KP.a2022.0050

Received: December 4, 2021

Accepted: February 14, 2022

Early publication date: February 16, 2022

INTRODUCTION

Remote monitoring (RM) of patients with cardiac implantable electronic devices (CIED) allows physicians to regularly gather detailed information concerning the functioning of the devices, without the necessity for patients to present for an in-person examination (IPE) [1]. With the use of RM, vital parameters, such as the arrhythmia burden, pacing percentage, or thoracic congestion indicators, already proven to predict heart failure decompensation and worsen the patient's prognosis, can be routinely measured, and an appropriately timed response can be initiated. The recent guidelines of the European Society of Cardiology on cardiac pacing and resynchronization have introduced three recommendations regarding the use of RM in patients with CIEDs, including, for the first time, the possibility of increasing the periods between IPEs up to 24 months if the patient is monitored remotely [2]. Despite such recommendations, RM of patients with CIEDs in Poland is used in the minority of facilities, although exact data regarding this issue are not available. The purpose of this analysis was to investigate the implementation of RM in patients with CIEDs in Poland at the beginning of the third decade of the 21st century.

METHODS

The survey consisting of six brief either singleor multiple-choice questions was dispatched with the support of the Biotronik Polska (Poznań, Poland) among all electrotherapy centers which were on the correspondence list of the company in Poland between July and August 2021. The questions were designed to assess the utilization of RM, causes for the lack of its implementation, and perspectives of its initiation. The detailed survey can be found in the Supplementary material. Fifty centers sent their responses from 50. Approval of an ethics committee was not required for this analysis.

Statistical analysis

The data have been summarized and presented as absolute and relative frequencies.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Of 50 centers that answered the questionnaire, 48% performed more than 300 procedures per year, while 36% between 100 and 300, as presented in Table 1. Among the 50 centers, 14 (28%) used RM; 57.1% used it for more than 5 years, while 28.6% introduced RM in the last 1–5 years. The primary form of RM utilization was as an addition to the conventional approach, as 50% of centers maintained the routine schedule of IPEs, and 42.9% of centers prolonged the periods between the consecutive IPEs if the patient was monitored remotely. Only in one center, RM was used as an equivalent of the conventional approach, and patients did not present for routine IPEs. In 72% of centers, RM was not used. The primary reasons for not implementing RM were the feasible generation of additional workload (94.4%) and lack of RM reimbursement (88.9%), while other reasons that were chosen much less frequently included legal uncertainties or no scientific evidence of RM effectiveness. Finally, 58.1% of respondents declared that their centers would introduce RM when its reimbursement was introduced. while 25.8% declared no such intention.

Although the IN-TIME randomized trial, as well as the TRUECOIN meta-analysis, which included IN-TIME and two other large ran-

Table 1. The answers to the survey regarding the use of RM in patients with CIEDs

Que	Number, n (%) of total (n = 50), if not indicated differently	
Use of RM of CIEDs within the facility	Yes	14 (28)
	No	36 (72)
Duration of using RM	More than 5 years	8/14 (57.1)
	1–5 years	4/14 (28.6)
	Less than 1 year	2/14 (14.3)
The form in which RM is used	Patients attending IPEs as often as without RM	7/14 (50)
	Patients attending IPEs visits less frequently than without RM	6/14 (42.9)
	Patients not attending FU visits	1/14 (7.1)
Reasons for not using RM (may be more than one)	Lack of reimbursement	32/36 (88.9)
	Uncertainties from the legal point of view	3/36 (8.3)
	Generation of additional workload	34/36 (94.4)
	Unawareness of RM possibility	1/36 (2.8)
	Lack of sufficient evidence supporting RM	1/36 (2.8)
Number of electrotherapy procedures (implanta-	More than 300	24 (48)
tions/replacements/lead extractions) performed	From 100 to 300	18 (36)
per year	Less than 100	8 (16)
If reimbursement is introduced in Poland will RM	Yes	18/31 (58.1)
be implemented in your center (for centers not	No	8/31 (25.8)
using KM)?	Maybe	5/31 (16.1)

Abbreviations: CIED, cardiac implantable electronic device; IPE, in-person examination; RM, remote monitoring

domized trials, demonstrated the survival benefit of daily RM transmissions over conventional IPEs, the data on the improvement of outcomes with RM are conflicting [3, 4]. In Poland, the randomized trials demonstrated a reduction in the combined endpoint of all-cause mortality and hospitalization for cardiovascular reasons in patients with implantable cardioverter-defibrillator (ICD) and cardiac resynchronization therapy-defibrillator (CRT-D) monitored remotely [5], while in another single-center trial, the number of hospitalizations for progression of HF and all-cause death in patients with CRT was reduced with the use of multiparameter RM [6]. Therefore, it can be assumed that with the introduction of more advanced algorithms and technologies, including synchronising devices with patients' smartphones instead of the presently used transmitters, the number of patients monitored remotely might increase.

Nonetheless, the results of the European Heart Rhythm Association (EHRA) survey conducted in 2015 demonstrated that in 43 centers that responded to the questionnaire, RM was available in 74% of patients with ICD, 69% of patients with CRT, and only 22% of patients with a pacemaker [7]. In our survey, which did not assess the type of devices, RM was not used in 72% of centers, with the most frequent causes being concern about generating additional workload and the lack of RM reimbursement. It has been demonstrated that the mean (standard deviation [SD]) annual workload for every patient monitored remotely is approximately 1.1 (0.15) hours, and in the recent analysis of the large cohort, more than 50% of patients transmitted at least 1 alert during one year [8, 9]. Therefore, with no doubt, in the case of RM introduction, there is a great need to create dedicated facilities with established workflows to

effectively monitor patients and properly identify those in the greatest need of a rapid clinical reaction.

In 2018, the Polish Agency for Health Technology Assessment and Tariff System (AOTMiT) positively recommended the reimbursement of RM in patients with ICD or CRT-D, giving the green light for wider adoption of RM in the Polish electrotherapy facilities [10]. However, since then, no reimbursement has been introduced, which according to our survey, is one of the most important obstacles for RM implementation. The results from the SILCARD registry demonstrated that during the three-year follow-up, the RM of patients with ICD and CRT-D resulted in a median cost reduction of 33.5%, which was more prominent in patients with a CRT-D (P < 0.001) [11]. In the Health Technology Assessment report of the Health Quality Ontario, the estimated cost reduction achieved with RM could be approximately \$14 million during the first five years of its use [12]. Therefore, apart from a probable improvement in patients' outcomes, reimbursement and wide adoption of RM could result in large savings for the national healthcare provider.

The primary limitation of our study is that it reflects the experiences of a fraction of electrotherapy facilities in Poland, as only 50 centers responded to the survey. Moreover, the lack of differentiation between types of devices prohibits generalizing the data to different device types. Such differentiation is important as the frequency of remote transmissions and the contents of the alert transmissions could vary depending on the type of the device, therefore generating different workloads for monitoring centers. Finally, the article describes the overall utilization of RM in the Polish electrotherapy facilities; however, the detailed characteristics of the motivation for RM introduction were not evaluated. For instance, in some facilities RM could have been introduced as a result of a device recall. That means that the decision to introduce RM was not prompted by the facility's interest in RM but by the necessity to monitor the possibly malfunctioning device more closely.

In conclusion, our study demonstrates that only a minority of centers in Poland use RM of patients with CIEDs, and the primary barriers for its wider implementation are concerns about additional workload and lack of RM reimbursement.

Supplementary material

Supplementary material is available at https://journals.viamedica.pl/kardiologia_polska.

Article information

Conflict of interest: MT: scientific consultations for Boston Scientific, Biotronik, Abbott, Medtronic. MD: lecture honoraria from Biotronik. MG: lecture and consultations honoraria from Biotronik, Medtronic, Abbott, Boston Scientific. JK: educational support (course fees) from Biotronik. MN is an employee of Biotronik Polska; MG: none declared.

Open access: This article is available in open access under Creative Common Attribution-Non-Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) license, allowing to download articles and share them with others as long as they credit the authors and the publisher, but without permission to change them in any way or use them commercially. For commercial use, please contact the journal office at kardiologiapolska@ptkardio.pl.

REFERENCES

- Kurek A, Tajstra M, Gadula-Gacek E, et al. Impact of Remote Monitoring on Long-Term Prognosis in Heart Failure Patients in a Real-World Cohort: Results From All-Comers COMMIT-HF Trial. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol. 2017; 28(4): 425–431, doi: 10.1111/jce.13174, indexed in Pubmed: 28176442.
- Michowitz Y, Kronborg MB, Glikson M, et al. 2021 ESC Guidelines on cardiac pacing and cardiac resynchronization therapy. Europace. 2022; 24(1): 71–164, doi: 10.1093/europace/euab232, indexed in Pubmed: 34455427.
- Hindricks G, Taborsky M, Glikson M, et al. Implant-based multiparameter telemonitoring of patients with heart failure (IN-TIME): a randomised

controlled trial. Lancet. 2014; 384(9943): 583–590, doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(14)61176-4, indexed in Pubmed: 25131977.

- Hindricks G, Varma N, Kacet S, et al. Daily remote monitoring of implantable cardioverter-defibrillators: insights from the pooled patient-level data from three randomized controlled trials (IN-TIME, ECOST, TRUST). Eur Heart J. 2017; 38(22): 1749–1755, doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehx015, indexed in Pubmed: 29688304.
- Tajstra M, Sokal A, Gadula-Gacek E, et al. Remote Supervision to Decrease Hospitalization Rate (RESULT) study in patients with implanted cardioverter-defibrillator. Europace. 2020; 22(5): 769–776, doi: 10.1093/europace/euaa072, indexed in Pubmed: 32304216.
- Wita M, Orszulak M, Szydło K, et al. The usefulness of telemedicine devices in patients with severe heart failure with an implanted cardiac resynchronization therapy system during two years of observation. Kardiol Pol. 2022; 80(1): 41–48, doi: 10.33963/KP.a2021.0175, indexed in Pubmed: 34883524.
- Mairesse GH, Braunschweig F, Klersy K, et al. Implementation and reimbursement of remote monitoring for cardiac implantable electronic devices in Europe: a survey from the health economics committee of the European Heart Rhythm Association. Europace. 2015; 17(5):814–818, doi: 10.1093/europace/euu390, indexed in Pubmed: 25713012.
- Papavasileiou LP, Forleo GB, Panattoni G, et al. Work burden with remote monitoring of implantable cardioverter defibrillator: is it time for reimbursement policies? J Cardiovasc Med (Hagerstown). 2013; 14(2): 114–119, doi: 10.2459/JCM.0b013e328354e3e1, indexed in Pubmed: 22644407.
- O'Shea CJ, Middeldorp ME, Hendriks JM, et al. Remote Monitoring Alert Burden: An Analysis of Transmission in >26,000 Patients. JACC Clin Electrophysiol. 2021; 7(2): 226–234, doi: 10.1016/j.jacep.2020.08.029, indexed in Pubmed: 33602404.
- Recommendation of the Agency for Health Technology Assessment and Tariff System (AOTMiT) no 101/2018 from 25 October 2018 entitled "Telemetric monitoring of patients with an implanted cardioversion-defibrillation system (ICD) or cardiac resynchronization therapy with defibrillation function (CRT-D)" as a guaranteed outpatient specialised care service. Available online: https: //bipold.aotm.gov.pl/assets/files/zlecenia_mz/2018/173/REK/RP_101_2018_nadzor_telemetryczny.pdf. (Access: December 14, 2021).
- Buchta P, Tajstra M, Kurek A, et al. The impact of remote monitoring of implanted cardioverter-defibrillator (ICD) and cardiac resynchronisation therapy device (CRT-D) patients on healthcare costs in the Silesian population: three-year follow-up. Kardiol Pol. 2017; 75(6): 573–580, doi: 10.5603/KP.a2017.0019, indexed in Pubmed: 28150288.
- Health Quality Ontario . Remote Monitoring of Implantable Cardioverter-Defibrillators, Cardiac Resynchronization Therapy and Permanent Pacemakers: A Health Technology Assessment. Ont Health Technol Assess Ser. 2018; 18(7): 1–199, indexed in Pubmed: 30443279.

Genotype-phenotype correlations in Polish patients with hypertrophic cardiomyopathy: Preliminary report

Tadeusz Osadnik^{1, 2}, Anna Frycz-Kurek³, Mateusz Lejawa¹, Martyna Fronczek^{1, 4}, Justyna Małyszek-Tumidajewicz⁵, Wioletta Szczurek-Wasilewicz³, Karolina Macioł-Skurk³, Mariusz Gąsior⁶, Bożena Szyguła-Jurkiewicz⁶

¹Department of Pharmacology, Faculty of Medical Sciences in Zabrze, Medical University of Silesia, Katowice, Poland

²2nd Department of Cardiology and Angiology, Silesian Center for Heart Diseases, Zabrze, Poland

³3rd Department of Cardiology, Silesian Center for Heart Diseases, Zabrze, Poland

⁴Kardio-Med Silesia, Zabrze, Poland

⁵Department of Cardiac, Vascular and Endovascular Surgery and Transplantology in Zabrze, Medical University of Silesia in Katowice, Silesian Center for Heart Diseases, Zabrze, Poland

⁶3rd Department of Cardiology, Faculty of Medical Sciences in Zabrze, Medical University of Silesia, Katowice, Poland

Correspondence to:

Tadeusz Osadnik, MD, PhD, Department of Pharmacology, Faculty of Medical Sciences in Zabrze, Medical University of Silesia in Katowice, Jordana 38, 41–800 Zabrze, phone: +48 32 272 26 83, e-mail: tadeusz.osadnik@icloud.com Copyright by the Author(s), 2022 DOI: 10.33963/KP.a2022.0052 **Bacceived:**

January 24, 2022

Accepted: February 17, 2022

Early publication date: February 17, 2022

INTRODUCTION

Hypertrophic cardiomyopathy (HCM) is commonly defined by the presence of increased left ventricular (LV) wall thickness which cannot be explained by abnormal loading conditions such as arterial hypertension and/or aortic valve stenosis. The prevalence of HCM is 1:500, which makes it one of the most common genetic cardiological diseases [1]. According to the literature, the isolated form of HCM is most often caused by the occurrence of pathogenic variants in genes encoding sarcomere proteins. Until now around 1500 pathogenic variants in 11 genes encoding sarcomere proteins were identified [2]. In this report, we present the clinical characteristics and the results of genetic testing of HCM patients diagnosed and treated in the 3rd Department and Clinical Department of Cardiology, the Silesian Center for Heart Diseases.

METHODS

Forty-eight consecutive patients with HCM were recruited during their routine follow-up visit in the 3rd Department of Cardiology, the Silesian Center for Heart Diseases in Zabrze. Blood for biochemical analyses was collected after 8–10 hours of fasting; additionally, blood for genetic analyses was secured and stored in –80°C. The family history of each patient was collected in detail. Two patients were excluded because the diagnosis of HCM was negatively verified. The HCM sudden cardiac death risk score (HCM SCD risk score) was calculated for all patients [1]. Information regarding genetic and bioinformatics analysis is presented in Supplementary material.

Statistical analyses

Fisher's exact test was used for detection of differences between categorical variables, whilst the Kruskal-Wallis test was used for detection of differences between continuous variables. The Dunn test was used as a *post hoc* test for the Kruskal-Wallis test. Two-sided *P*-value <0.05 was considered statistically significant for all comparisons, except for the *post-hoc* test where the Bonferroni correction was used. Continuous variables were reported as medians and interquartile ranges, categorical variables were reported as counts and percentages. Statistical analyses were carried out in R software [3].

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

We were able to identify the pathogenic/likely pathogenic variants associated with the occurrence of HCM in 15 (32.6%) patients. We have also found 16 additional variants that were classified as VUS (variant of uncertain significance). Interestingly 7 (44%) of those variants were predicted to have a significant damaging effect on coded protein by both SIFT and PolyPhen-2 prediction algorithms (PolyPhen-2 score \geq 0.74 and Sift score \leq 0.04).

Table 1. Clinical characteristics of the study population, and variants identified as disease-causing in the studied population

	Pathogenic/likely pathogenic variant positive (n = 15)	Variant of uncertain significance (n = 16)	No identified pathoge- nic/VUS variant (n = 15)	<i>P-</i> value
Age, years, median (IQR)	51 (37–59)	58 (46–68)	55 (40–65)	0.15
Male gender, n (%)	9 (60)	8 (50)	9 (60)	0.81
Heart failure, n (%)	9 (60)	9 (56)	7 (47)	0.81
Alcohol ablation or myectomy of IVS, n (%)	1 (7)	3 (19)	2 (13)	0.86
Implantable cardioverter defibrillation, n (%)	6 (40)	5 (33)	5 (33)	0.93
Atrial fibrillation, n (%)	6 (40)	6 (38)	2 (13)	0.23
Ventricular tachycardia, n (%)	7 (47)	5 (31)	4 (27)	0.54
HCM-SCD risk score, median (IQR)	5.7 (4.5–9.4)	3.4 (2.1–7.1)	3.7 (2.3–5.4)	0.15
NT-proBNP, pg/ml, median (IQR)	906 (177–1651)	657 (404–1025)	349 (139– 959)	0.25
Max. thickness of LV, mm, median (IQR)	20 (17.5–21)	19.5 (16–21.3)	18.0 (15.5–21)	0.55
LVOT Vmax (Valsalva), mm Hg, median (IQR)	9 (5–68)	15 (6–63)	22 (10–43)	0.73

Identified pathogenic/likely pathogenic variants (n = 15)

Gene symbol	Gene name	Identified variants
MYBPC3	Myosin-binding protein C	Transcript: NM_000256.3
		c.3490+1G>T ^a (2), c.3697C>T ^a , c.821+1G>A ^a , c.3040delC ^a , c.3407_3409delACT ^b , c.2449C>T ^b (2×)
MYH7	Myosin 7	Transcript: NM_000257.3
		c.2555T>C¹, c.5135G>Aª, c.2011C>T⁵
MYL3	Essential myosin light chain 3	Transcript: NM_000258.2
		c.170C>G ^b ,
TNNI3	Troponin I3	Transcript: NM_000363.5
		c.407G>Aª
TNNT2	Troponin T	Transcript: NM_000364.3
		c.311G>Tª
RYR2	Ryanodine receptor 2	Transcript: NM_001035.2 c.1069G>A ^c

^aReported as pathogenic and/or likely pathogenic by multiple sources; ^bReported as pathogenic and/or likely pathogenic and as VUS with *in-silico* analyses predicting damaging effect and/or functional studies; ^Variant pathogenic for CPVT, we cannot exclude that this is not a causative variant of HCM. Dichotomous variables are presented as counts and percentages. Values are presented as the median and interquartile range (IQR)

Abbreviations: HCM, hypertrophic cardiomyopathy; IVS, interventricular septum; LVOT, left ventricular outflow tract; LVOTO, left ventricular outflow tract obstruction, VUS, variant of uncertain significance

There were no significant differences in clinical characteristics between the groups. There was, however, a trend toward a higher HCM SCD risk score in patients with pathogenic/likely pathogenic variants (Table 1).

HCM is one of the most common cardiomyopathies. Despite this, only in 40%–60% of patients, it is possible to identify the variant responsible for the disease [1]. The reason why it is not possible to identify causative variants in a large proportion of patients may be due to the involvement of other genes not yet identified as associated with HCM. Oligo- or even polygenic inheritance may be another cause. In rare cases, copy number variations, microdeletions, as well as incorrect classification of myocardial hypertrophy as HCM, may be the reason [4, 5].

The most common pathogenic/likely pathogenic variants responsible for the occurrence of HCM in our population were identified in genes encoding proteins of the sarcomere, in particular, *MYBPC3* and *MYH7*. This is consistent with the results of genetic testing of HCM patients in other populations [2, 4]. Our data suggested a possible relationship between a higher risk of SCD assessed using the HCM SCD risk score [1, 6] in patients with a confirmed pathogenic variant. This may reflect ob-

servations from other cohorts that in patients with identified causative variant the disease tends to have a more aggressive course [5]. The frequency of alcohol ablation or surgical myectomy was similar in both groups. Similar results were reported by Loar et al. [5]. In general, genotype-phenotype correlations in patients with HCM are modest [7, 8]. Interestingly in one case, we found a variant in the *RYR2* gene pathogenic for catecholaminergic ventricular tachycardia (CPVT) and not HCM. We did not find any other variants in this patient in genes typically associated with HCM. This patient was burdened with recurrent ventricular arrhythmias and his HCM-SCD risk score was calculated to be 24.7. In literature, RYR2 variants were reported as a possible rare cause of HCM [9, 10]. The pathogenic variant in this gene was also proved to be associated with the HCM phenotype in animal studies [11]. Nonetheless, this variant will be subjected to segregation analysis, and we will try to carry out whole-exome sequencing in this patient.

CONCLUSIONS

In the studied population, we identified variants that might be responsible for the phenotype in 33% of patients. Further analysis is required to assess the potential pathogenicity of identified VUS found in 35% of cases.

Supplementary material

Supplementary material is available at https://journals. viamedica.pl/kardiologia_polska.

Article information

Acknowledgments: This work was supported by an internal grant (KNW-1-124/N/8/0) from the Medical University of Silesia for statutory activity.

Ethical approval: The study was approved by the Bioethical Committee of the Medical University of Silesia (KNW/0022/KB1/102/18) and by the Bioethical Committee of the Chamber of Physicians (KBCz-0018/2015). The study was conducted according to the guidelines of the Declaration of Helsinki.

Conflict of interest: None declared.

Open access: This article is available in open access under Creative Common Attribution-Non-Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) license, allowing to download articles and share them with others as long as they credit the authors and the publisher, but without permission to change them in any way or use them commercially. For commercial use, please contact the journal office at kardiologiapolska@ptkardio.pl.

REFERENCES

 Elliott PM, Anastasakis A, Borger MA, et al. 2014 ESC Guidelines on diagnosis and management of hypertrophic cardiomyopathy: the Task Force for the Diagnosis and Management of Hypertrophic Cardiomyopathy of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). Eur Heart J. 2014; 35(39): 2733–2779, doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehu284, indexed in Pubmed: 25173338.

- Pysz P, Rajtar-Salwa R, Smolka G, et al. Mavacamten a new disease-specific option for pharmacological treatment of symptomatic patients with hypertrophic cardiomyopathy. Kardiol Pol. 2021; 79(9): 949–954, doi: 10.33963/KP.a2021.0064, indexed in Pubmed: 34268723.
- Team RC. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing [Internet]. Vienna: R Foundation for Statistical Computing; 2019. Available online: https://www.r-project.org/ (Access: January 2022).
- Sabater-Molina M, Pérez-Sánchez I, Hernández Del Rincón JP, et al. Genetics of hypertrophic cardiomyopathy: A review of current state. Clin Genet. 2018; 93(1): 3–14, doi: 10.1111/cge.13027, indexed in Pubmed: 28369730.
- Loar RW, Bos JM, Will ML, et al. Genotype-phenotype correlations of hypertrophic cardiomyopathy when diagnosed in children, adolescents, and young adults. Congenit Heart Dis. 2015; 10(6): 529–536, doi: 10.1111/chd.12280, indexed in Pubmed: 26061417.
- Steriotis AK, Sharma S. Risk stratification in hypertrophic cardiomyopathy. Eur Cardiol. 2015; 10(1): 31–36, doi: 10.15420/ecr.2015.10.01.31, indexed in Pubmed: 30310420.
- Kuusisto J. Genetics of hypertrophic cardiomyopathy: what is the next step? Heart. 2020; 106(17): 1291–1292, doi: 10.1136/heartjnl-2020-317043, indexed in Pubmed: 32546508.
- Teekakirikul P, Zhu W, Huang HC, et al. Hypertrophic cardiomyopathy: an overview of genetics and management. Biomolecules. 2019; 9(12), doi: 10.3390/biom9120878, indexed in Pubmed: 31888115.
- Fujino N, Ino H, Hayashi K, et al. et al.. A novel missense mutation in cardiac ryanodine receptor gene as a possible cause of hypertrophic cardiomyopathy: Evidence from familial analysis. Circulation. 2006; 114(18): II-165–915.
- Landstrom AP, Ackerman MJ. Beyond the cardiac myofilament: hypertrophic cardiomyopathy- associated mutations in genes that encode calcium-handling proteins. Curr Mol Med. 2012; 12(5): 507–518, doi: 10.2174/156652412800620020, indexed in Pubmed: 22515980.
- 11. Alvarado FJ, Bos JM, Yuchi Z, et al. Cardiac hypertrophy and arrhythmia in mice induced by a mutation in ryanodine receptor 2. JCl Insight. 2019; 5, doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.126544, indexed in Pubmed: 30835254.

Psychological burden of the COVID-19 pandemic 6 months after the outbreak — the voice of the young doctors' generation: An international survey

Katarzyna Czerwińska-Jelonkiewicz^{1, 2}, Anna Beneria³, Jordi Bañeras⁴, Przemysław Kwasiborski⁵, Poonam Velagapudi⁶, Nkechinyere Ijioma⁷, Maria Trêpa⁸, Chala Fekadu⁹, Christophe Vandenbriele¹⁰, Maria Stratinaki¹¹, Han Naung Tun¹², Diego Araiza Garaygordobil¹³, Monica Verdoia¹⁴, Sara Moscatelli¹⁵, Anastasia Shchendrygina¹⁶, Alice Wood¹⁷, Victoria Johnson¹⁸, Sebastian Reinstadler¹⁹, Milica Aleksic²⁰, Michał Pazdernik²¹, Alex Rosenberg¹, on behalf of the COVID-19 — Young Doctors Working Group

¹Cardiothoracic Intensive Care Unit, Harefield Hospital, Royal Brompton and Harefield Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, London, United Kingdom ²Andrzej Frycz Modrzewski Krakow University, Kraków, Poland

- ⁴Acute Cardiovascular Care Unit, Department of Cardiology, Center de Simulacio² Cli²nica Avancada VHISCA, Vall d'Hebron Barcelona Hospital Campus, Barcelona, Spain
- ⁵3rd Department of Internal Diseases and Cardiology, Warsaw Medical University, Warszawa, Poland

⁶University of Nebraska Medical Center, Omaha, NE, United States

⁷Mayo Clinic, Rochester, MN, United State

⁸Cardiology Department, Centro Hospitalar Universitário do Porto, Porto, Portugal

- ⁹Addis Ababa University, College of Health Sciences, School of Medicine, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia
- ¹⁰Campus Gasthuisberg, UZ Leuven, Belgium
- ¹¹Department of Cardiology, General Hospital Venizeleio, Heraklion, Crete, Greece
- ¹²Heart and Vascular Center, Victoria Hospital, Yangon, Myanmar and Tufts Medical Center, Boston, MA, United States
- 13 Coronary Care Unit, Instituto Nacional de Cardiología "Ignacio Chávez", México City, México
- ¹⁴Cardiology and ICU, Ospedale degli Infermi, ASL Biella, Università del Piemonte Orientale, Biella, Italy
- ¹⁵Department of Pediatric Cardiology, Royal Brompton and Harefield hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, London, United Kingdom
- ¹⁶1st Department of Hospital Therapy, Sechenov University, Moscow, Russian Federation
- ¹⁷Cardiology Department, Glenfield Hospital, University Hospitals of Leicester, Leicester, United Kingdom
- ¹⁸Department of Cardiology, University Giessen, Giessen, Germany
- ¹⁹University Clinic of Internal Medicine III, Cardiology and Angiology, Medical University of Innsbruck, Innsbruck, Austria
- ²⁰Department of Cardiology, University Hospital Medical Center Bezanijska kosa, Belgrade, Serbia

²¹Department of Cardiology, Clinical and Experimental Medicine (IKEM), Prague, Czech Republic

Correspondence to:

Katarzyna Czerwińska--Jelonkiewicz, MD, PhD, Adults Intensive Therapy Unit, Royal Brompton and Harefield NHS Foundation Trust, Sydney Street, London, SW3 6NP, United Kingdom, phone: +44 207 352 8121, email: k.czerwinska--jelonkiewicz@rbht.nhs.uk Copyright by the Author(s), 2022

DOI: 10.33963/KP.a2022.0065

Received: February 13, 2022

Accepted:

March 2, 2022

Early publication date: March 2, 2022

INTRODUCTION

Young doctors have made up a substantial part of the healthcare workforce during the COVID-19 pandemic [1–3]. Given their lower level of professional experience, redeployment, frequent exposure to COVID-19 patients, and unpredictable course of the infection in this age group, young doctors seem to be particularly vulnerable to psychological disorders in this context [1–3]. Despite actual threats and potential long-term consequences on their future clinical practice, the emotional impact of COVID-19 on young doctors has not been investigated. The main aim of the study was to assess the rate and level of anxiety, depression, and stress among young doctors working clinically during the pandemic and to define the risk factors for this psychological distress.

METHODS

This was an international, cross-sectional cohort study performed as a survey between September and November 2020. The survey was dedicated to young doctors, at or below the age of 40. For detailed information about participating countries and numbers of participants see Supplementary material,

³Department of Psychiatry, Vall d'Hebron Hospital Universitari, Vall d'Hebron Barcelona Hospital Campus, Barcelona, Spain

Figure S1. The survey was structured in 5 domains. See Supplementary material, *Table S1* for the full list of questions.

Potential risk factors for psychological suffering included demographics, direct contact with COVID patients, redeployment, change in salary or work hours, work organization, prior training in protective measures, and the chance to influence the work organization (Supplementary material, *Tables S2–S3*).

Psychological distress was assessed with the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HADS) and Perceived Stress Scale 10 (PSS-10) [4, 5]. The cut-off values were >13 for HADS and >14 for PSS-10 based on the previous literature [4–7].

All data were entered into a SurveyMonkey platform, a secure data capture web-based application. Participation in the survey was voluntary. Access to questions was only granted if informed consent was completed and no sensitive information was requested. The data were anonymized at the level of the questionnaire.

Statistical analysis

Categorical variables were expressed as numbers and percentages. Continuous variables were presented as mean and standard deviations or median and interquartile range (IQR) for Gaussian and non-Gaussian distribution, respectively. Comparative analyzes between prespecified subgroups of the study population were performed with the U Mann-Whitney, Kruskal-Wallis ANOVA, and the Fisher exact tests or the χ^2 test. Logistic regression analyzes were performed to define predictors of depression/anxiety, and stress. Variables significantly associated with outcomes in univariable analyzes entered multivariable logistic models with stepwise backward elimination. The *P*-value <0.05 was considered statistically significant. Statistica 13.1 (TIBICO Software Inc., 2016) was used for analyses.

The study was approved by the National Healthcare Service Health Research Authority (NHS HRA) and Care Research Wales (HCRW) (IRAS ID 287542, REC reference:20/HRA/3845). The study was performed in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki for research with humans.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

A total of 1186 young doctors from 62 countries participated in the survey (Supplementary material, *Figure S1*). The median age of these respondents was 32 (28–39) years; with 675 (44.5%) being females.

Among the respondents, 73.47% managed COVID--19 patients; however, only 59.1% of young doctors reported being provided with full personal protective equipment (PPE). Training in donning and doffing of PPE was provided to only 53.04% of young doctors and only 48.5% had daily briefings to plan work on COVID units. Importantly, 52.78% of young doctors were redeployed. Work hours increased for 61.32% of the respondents, including more night shifts. Despite the increased workload, the salaries did not change for 71.6% and even decreased for 16% of those who managed COVID-19 patients (Supplementary material, *Table S2*).

The median level of HADS among young doctors was 20 (18–23) years, with 96% of the respondents having values above 13, indicating a high level of psychological distress (Supplementary material, *Figure S2*). The median value of the PSS-10 score was 25 (22–28), with 97% of the respondents reporting values >14 and being predominantly moderately and severely stressed (Supplementary material, *Figure S3*).

Results of comparative analysis for the level of anxiety/depression and stress among the specific subgroups of respondents are presented in Supplementary material, *Table S3*.

Multivariable logistic regression analysis proved that increased work hours and loss of pay were associated with significantly higher scores for anxiety/depression, while reduced work hours, increased salaries, good teamwork, and full PPE were associated with lower scores. In the case of stress, being more advanced in specialty training, having reduced salaries due to the pandemic, and living with a partner were significantly associated with a higher level of stress (Table 1).

Our study is the first worldwide analysis of COVID-19 related mental suffering among the population of young doctors. Based on our findings, high levels of anxiety, depression, and stress affected nearly all of the respondents. These numbers exceeded twofold the rate and cut-off value identified for the general and clinical population before the COVID-19 era, as well as for all healthcare workers during the pandemic [5-8]. Our results are consistent with the limited evidence in the field, which revealed that the combination of age, profession, and the range of the pandemic put more than half of young doctors in high psychological distress that substantially outweighed the levels noted during the previous outbreaks [1-3, 9-13]. Surprisingly, the enormously high frequency of relevant mental disorders was reported more than 6 months after the initial outbreak. This confirms the previous observation that high-risk healthcare workers may present not only sustained but growing levels of mental disorders that persist beyond the health care emergency [12, 13]. Similarly to our outcomes, the adverse impact of increasing work hours and reduced salaries, as well as the beneficial effect of efficient organizational support, infection control measures, and adequate training were previously identified as relevant modifying factors of psychological wellbeing among healthcare workers during the pandemic [10, 11, 14, 15]. Importantly, the recent workload of young doctors has been considerable with the working pattern of a guarter of junior doctors being associated with a doubled risk of common mental health problems and suicidal ideation [15].

In conclusion, our findings reflect the lack of support and loss of control in young doctors' personal and professional lives. Healthcare leaders should be aware of

Table 1. Risk factors for psychological disorders in the population of young doctors

Variables	HADS>13			
	Univariable analysis OR (95% CI)	P-value	Multivariable analysis OR (95% CI)	<i>P</i> -value
Opinion on effectiveness of COVID-19 training	0.99 (0.990–0.999)	0.016	0.99 (0.993 –1.003)	0.002
Opinion on teamwork during the pandemic	0.98 (0.983–0.994)	0.0001	0.99 (0.987–0.999)	0.003
Opinion on effectiveness of briefings to plan teamwork	0.98 (0.99–1.00)	0.03	1.00 (0.996–1.006)	0.66
Debriefings after emergencies	0.67 (0.49–0.89)	0.006	0.73 (0.52-1.01)	0.06
Increase in work hours, including night shifts	1.62 (1.14–2.3)	0.006	1.61 (1.116–2.341)	0.01
Decrease in work hours	0.71 (0.51–0.99)	0.04	0.687 (0.484–0.976)	0.03
Loss of pay during the pandemic	5.36 (1.55–18.53)	0.008	5.53 (1.575- 19.468)	0.008
Increase in salaries during the pan- demic	0.56 (0.36–0.83)	0.008	0.54 (0.345 –0.846)	0.003
Full PPE ^a	0.70 (0.510-0.963)	0.02	0.81 (0.578–1.152)	0.24
Variables	PSS-10 score >14			
	Univariable analysis OR (95% CI)	P-value	Multivariable analysis OR (95% CI)	P-value
Year of training	1.078 (1.019 –1.141)	0.008	1.05 (0.992–1.117)	0.09
Loss of pay during the pandemic	1.74 (1.007–2.916)	0.04	1.54 (0.887–2.722)	0.13
Living with partner	1.536 (1.087–2.171)	0.01	1.39 (0.976 –2.002)	0.06
Living with flat mates ^a	0.50 (0.257- 0.995)	0.04	0.68 (0.435–1.034)	0.05

^aDoctors directly managing COVID-19 patients

Abbreviations: Cl, confidence interval; HADS, Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale; PPE, personal protective equipment; PSS-10, Perceived Stress Scale 10; OR, odds ratio

a potential mental health crisis amongst young doctors that might evolve as a direct result of their involvement in clinical care during the pandemic. Improvements in work organization, including safe work hours and conditions, as well as protected salaries, are essential to prevent further psychological suffering among young doctors worldwide.

This work was performed without any financial support.

Supplementary material

Supplementary material is available at https://journals.viamedica.pl/kardiologia_polska

Article information

Acknowledgments: Acknowledgements can be found in the Supplementary File.

Conflict of interest: None declared.

Open access: This article is available in open access under Creative Common Attribution-Non-Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) license, allowing to download articles and share them with others as long as they credit the authors and the publisher, but without permission to change them in any way or use them commercially. For commercial use, please contact the journal office at kardiologiapolska@ptkardio.pl.

- Li W, Frank E, Zhao Z, et al. Mental health of young physicians in China during the novel coronavirus disease 2019 outbreak. JAMA Netw Open. 2020; 3(6): e2010705, doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.10705, indexed in Pubmed: 32478846.
- Vallée M, Kutchukian S, Pradère B, et al. Prospective and observational study of COVID-19's impact on mental health and training of young surgeons in France. Br J Surg. 2020; 107(11): e486–e488, doi: 10.1002/bjs.11947, indexed in Pubmed: 32790175.
- Rao P, Diamond J, Korjian S, et al. The Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Cardiovascular Fellows-in-Training: A National Survey. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2020; 76(7): 871–875, doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2020.06.027, indexed in Pubmed: 32561407.
- Bjelland I, Dahl AA, Haug TT, et al. The validity of the hospital anxiety and depression scale. An updated literature review. J Psychosom Res. 2002; 52(2): 69–77, doi: 10.1016/s0022-3999(01)00296-3, indexed in Pubmed: 11832252.
- Salari N, Hosseinian-Far A, Jalali R, et al. Prevalence of stress, anxiety, depression among the general population during the COVID-19 pandemic: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Global Health. 2020; 16(1): 57, doi: 10.1186/s12992-020-00589-w, indexed in Pubmed: 32631403.
- Crawford JR, Henry JD, Crombie C, et al. Normative data for the HADS from a large non-clinical sample. Br J Clin Psychol. 2001; 40(4): 429–434, doi: 10.1348/014466501163904, indexed in Pubmed: 11760618.
- Hinz A, Brähler E. Normative values for the hospital anxiety and depression scale (HADS) in the general German population. J Psychosom Res. 2011; 71(2): 74–78, doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2011.01.005, indexed in Pubmed: 21767686.
- 8. Wang C, Pan R, Wan X, et al. A longitudinal study on the mental health of general population during the COVID-19 epidemic in China. Brain

Behav Immun. 2020; 87: 40–48, doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2020.04.028, indexed in Pubmed: 32298802.

- Preti E, Di Mattei V, Perego G, et al. The psychological impact of epidemic and pandemic outbreaks on healthcare workers: rapid review of the evidence. Curr Psychiatry Rep. 2020; 22(8): 43, doi: 10.1007/s11920-020-01166-z, indexed in Pubmed: 32651717.
- Lai J, Ma S, Wang Y, et al. Factors associated with mental health outcomes among health care workers exposed to coronavirus disease 2019. JAMA Netw Open. 2020; 3(3): e203976, doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.3976, indexed in Pubmed: 32202646.
- Hummel S, Oetjen N, Du J, et al. Mental health among medical professionals during the COVID-19 pandemic in eight European countries: cross-sectional survey study. J Med Internet Res. 2021; 23(1): e24983, doi: 10.2196/24983, indexed in Pubmed: 33411670.
- McAlonan GM, Lee AM, Cheung V, et al. Immediate and sustained psychological impact of an emerging infectious disease outbreak on health care workers. Can J Psychiatry. 2007; 52(4): 241–247, doi: 10.1177/070674370705200406, indexed in Pubmed: 17500305.
- Lancee WJ, Maunder RG, Goldbloom DS. Prevalence of psychiatric disorders among Toronto hospital workers one to two years after the SARS outbreak. Psychiatr Serv. 2008; 59(1): 91–95, doi: 10.1176/ps.2008.59.1.91, indexed in Pubmed: 18182545.
- Elbay RY, Kurtulmuş A, Arpacıoğlu S, et al. Depression, anxiety, stress levels of physicians and associated factors in Covid-19 pandemics. Psychiatry Res. 2020; 290: 113130, doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2020.113130, indexed in Pubmed: 32497969.
- Petrie K, Crawford J, LaMontagne AD, et al. Working hours, common mental disorder and suicidal ideation among junior doctors in Australia: a cross-sectional survey. BMJ Open. 2020; 10(1): e033525, doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2019-033525, indexed in Pubmed: 31964674.

Intravascular lithotripsy for ostial left main coronary artery disease

Michał Kosowski^{1, 2}, Piotr Kübler^{1, 2}, Wiktor Kuliczkowski^{1, 2}, Wojciech Zimoch^{1, 2}, Jędrzej Reczuch², Krzysztof Reczuch^{1, 2}, Marcin Protasiewicz^{1, 2}

¹Institute of Heart Diseases, Wroclaw Medical University, Wrocław, Poland ²Institute of Heart Diseases, University Hospital, Wrocław, Poland

Correspondence to:

Michal Kosowski, MD, Institute of Heart Diseases, University Hospital, Borowska 213, 50–556 Wrocław, Poland, phone: +48 71 733 11 12, e-mail: michal.kosowski@umw.edu.pl Copyright by the Author(s), 2022 DOI: 10.33963/KP.a2022.0033

Received: November 21, 2021

Accepted: February 3, 2022 Early publication date: February 3, 2022 Heavily calcified coronary lesions pose a challenge in adequate percutaneous treatment. Proper plaque preparation is crucial to ensure successful stent implantation without increasing the risk of stent thrombosis or restenosis [1, 2]. Left main (LM) coronary artery interventions carry a higher risk, compared to other coronary territories. Due to the large diameter of the vessel, the usefulness of well-recognized calcified plaque modification techniques, such as rotational atherectomy, may be limited.

Intravascular lithotripsy (IVL) is a method of plaque modification that uses sonic waves to selectively fracture intimal and medial calcium deposits without any damage to soft vascular tissue. The Shockwave C2 IVL catheter (Shockwave Medical, Santa Clara, CA, US) is a device based on a semi-compliant rapid exchange coronary balloon catheter, advanced over any 0.014" guidewire. The catheter contains two-wave emitters and the sonic energy is transferred after low-pressure (4-6 atm) balloon inflation. The Shockwave C2 IVL usage results in both circumferential and longitudinal calcium fracture thanks to its construction. The recent data from clinical trials and registries are encouraging [3, 4], and evidence on the successful usage of the device in LM disease has already been published [5].

We present a case of an 85-year-old female hospitalized for non-ST-elevation myocardial infarction. Coronary angiography revealed a severely calcified unprotected ostial LM stenosis. The Heart Team chose percutaneous treatment. A Judkins left (JL) 3.5 6-Fr catheter (Launcher, Medtronic, Minneapolis, MS, US) was used to engage LM. Left anterior descending (LAD) and circumflex (Cx) arteries were wired (Sion blue, Asahi Intecc, Japan). Baseline intravascular ultrasonography (IVUS) was not available as the catheter did not cross the lesion. A predilation with 2.0 × 10 mm and 3.5 × 10 mm semi-compliant balloon catheters (Solarice, Medtronic, Minneapolis, MS, US) was done without complete expansion of the latter catheter (a "dogbone" image). To avoid dissection and compromised flow, which might result in hemodynamic instability, an IVL device was chosen to modify the plaque instead of further predilation with non-compliant, cutting, or scoring balloon catheters. A Shockwave C2 IVL 3.5×12 mm catheter was introduced without complications (the crossing profile of the device before inflation is 0.044-0.047 inch) and inflated to 4 atm. Since the patient tolerated each inflation and shockwave energy application without any signs of hemodynamic instability or ischemia worsening, a total number of 80 applications (8 series \times 10 applications) were done followed by a complete expansion of a non-compliant 3.5×12 mm balloon catheter (NC Solarice, Medtronic) at 12 atm. A 3.5 × 12 mm zotarolimus-eluting coronary stent (Resolute Onyx, Medtronic) was deployed and fully expanded at 14 atm. A postdilation with a 3.75×8 mm non-compliant balloon catheter (NC Solarice, Medtronic) at 18 atm was done.

Final angiography and IVUS (Opticross, Boston Scientific, Marlborough, MA, US) confirmed proper stent apposition and expansion. The patient made an uneventful recovery and was discharged home two days after the procedure (Figure 1).



Figure 1. A. Baseline angiography. B. Shockwave C2 IVL catheter inflation. C. Stent deployment. D. Final angiogram. E. Final IVUS result

Abbreviations: IVL, intravascular lithotripsy; IVUS, intravascular ultrasonography

Article information

Conflict of interest: None declared.

Open access: This article is available in open access under Creative Common Attribution-Non-Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) license, allowing to download articles and share them with others as long as they credit the authors and the publisher, but without permission to change them in any way or use them commercially. For commercial use, please contact the journal office at kardiologiapolska@ptkardio.pl.

- Neumann FJ, Sousa-Uva M, Ahlsson A, et al. 2018 ESC/EACTS Guidelines on myocardial revascularization. Eur Heart J. 2019; 40(2): 87–165, doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehy394, indexed in Pubmed: 30165437.
- Kübler P, Zimoch W, Kosowski M, et al. Acute coronary syndrome Still a valid contraindication to perform rotational atherectomy? Early and one-year outcomes. J Cardiol. 2018; 71(4): 382–388, doi: 10.1016/j. jjcc.2017.10.012, indexed in Pubmed: 29174598.
- Hill JM, Kereiakes DJ, Shlofmitz RA, et al. Intravascular lithotripsy for treatment of severely calcified coronary artery disease. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2020; 76(22): 2635–2646, doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2020.09.603, indexed in Pubmed: 33069849.
- Rola P, Włodarczak A, Kulczycki JJ, et al. Feasibility of the intravascular lithotripsy in coronary artery disease. Short-term outcomes of the Lower-Silesia Shockwave Registry. Kardiol Pol. 2021; 79(10): 1133–1135, doi: 10.33963/KP.a2021.0093, indexed in Pubmed: 34415567.
- Salazar CH, Travieso A, Gonzalo N, et al. Intracoronary lithotripsy in percutaneous treatment of calcific left main coronary stenoses. JACC Case Rep. 2019; 1(1): 46–49, doi: 10.1016/j.jaccas.2019.05.008, indexed in Pubmed: 34316740.

High-risk percutaneous coronary angioplasty with rotational atherectomy and left ventricular assist device of chronically occluded left ascending artery in an obese patient with very low ejection fraction

Artur Pawlik¹, Rafał Januszek¹, Łukasz Rzeszutko¹, Stanisław Bartuś^{1, 2}, Leszek Bryniarski^{1, 2}

¹Department of Cardiology and Cardiovascular Interventions, University Hospital, Kraków, Poland ²Institute of Cardiology, Jagiellonian University Medical College, Kraków, Poland

Correspondence to:

Leszek Bryniarski, MD, PhD, Department of Cardiology and Cardiovascular Interventions, University Hospital in Kraków, Jakubowskiego 2, 30–688 Kraków, Poland, phone: +48 12 400 22 50, e-mail: I_bryniarski@poczta.fm Copyright by the Author(s), 2022 DOI: 10.33963/KP.a2022.0034

Received:

October 17, 2021 Accepted: February 3, 2022 Early publication date: February 3, 2022 Successful percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI) of chronic total occlusion (CTO) remains one of the most challenging procedures in interventional cardiology. Combining various percutaneous techniques allows procedural and clinical success in the most severe cases.

A 58-year-old male patient was admitted to the cardiology department having a history of progressive exertional dyspnea with exercise capacity of functional class III/IV according to the New York Heart Association (NYHA). He was treated with maximally tolerated doses of an angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor and aldosterone antagonist. The β-blocker was not administered due to bradycardia. Echocardiography showed severely decreased left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF) of 15% with akinesia of the inferior wall and post-myocardial infarction scar characteristics. Coronary angiography revealed diffused atherosclerosis with occlusions in the left descending artery (LAD) and right coronary artery (RCA) (Figure 1). Stress echocardiography with dobutamine confirmed the viability of the myocardium territory supplied by the LAD and an increase of LVEF from 15% to 37%. Nonetheless, the RCA territory remained acinetic. The patient was referred to PCI LAD CTO with a percutaneous left ventricle support device (pLVAD) and rotational atherectomy under the control of intravascular ultrasound (IVUS).

After obtaining left femoral access, the angiography was performed to confirm proper conditions for insertion of the pLVAD. Then,

the Perclose ProGlide System (Abbott Vascular, Santa Clara, CA, US) was partially deployed and large bore access was used to deliver the Impella System (Abiomed, Danvers, MA, US) to the left ventricle. The right femoral artery was used to introduce the 7-French extra backup guide catheter to the LAD ostium. The Gaia Second guidewire was swapped to the Sion Blue S after crossing the lesion. During pre-dilation, the balloon stuck to calcifications and eventually ruptured. Consequently, rotational atherectomy was conducted. The Rotawire was used to cross the lesion with the assistance of the Caravelle microcatheter. Subsequently, couple pecking motions with a 1.5 burr were carried out, allowing pre-dilatation with 2.5×20 mm and 3.0×20 mm non-compliant balloons. Afterwards, the OCT probe was used to assess the anatomy and dimensions of the LAD. Three drug-eluting stents: 2.5×33 mm, 3.0×48 mm, and 3.0×12 mm were implanted consecutively, from the distal end to the ostium of the vessel. After post-dilation, optimal stent apposition was confirmed via OCT. The pLVAD was withdrawn and the large bore access was sealed with PP System deployment and the 6-French Angioseal (AS; St. Jude Medical, St. Paul, MN, US).

During ambulatory observation, the patient showed improvement on the NYHA functional scale, from class III to class II. Moreover, his LVEF raised by 5%, which is a result comparable to observational data indicating an increase in LVEF by 6.4% [4, 5]. The pharmacological treatment was optimized by the implementation of a beta-blocker and nepri-



Figure 1. A. Initial left descending artery (LAD) arteriography. B. LAD arteriography after recanalization with intravascular ultrasonography (IVUS) showing significant stenosis in the medial segment of LAD. C. Final effect with proper stent apposition confirmed via IVUS

lysin inhibitor. After 3 months of optimal medical treatment, the patient will be re-assessed for cardioverter-defibrillator implantation.

Despite some studies showing no benefits of PCI CTO in comparison with optimal medical therapy, there is a growing body of evidence from randomized controlled trials indicating that PCI CTO may improve quality of life due to less residual angina, better exercise tolerance, and even improvement in depression [1–3]. Moreover, there are some studies in which improvement in long-term outcomes is suggested following successful CTO revascularization [4, 5]. Therefore, we assume that such technically challenging procedures are worth trying after careful clinical evaluation, assessment of myocardial viability, and comprehensive discussion with a patient about the procedure.

Article information

Conflict of interest: None declared.

Open access: This article is available in open access under Creative Common Attribution-Non-Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) license, allowing to download articles and share them with others as long as they credit the authors and the publisher, but without permission to change them in any way or use them commercially. For commercial use, please contact the journal office at kardiologiapolska@ptkardio.pl.

- Werner GS, Martin-Yuste V, Hildick-Smith D, et al. A randomized multicentre trial to compare revascularization with optimal medical therapy for the treatment of chronic total coronary occlusions. Eur Heart J. 2018; 39(26): 2484–2493, doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehy220, indexed in Pubmed: 29722796.
- Obedinskiy A, Kretov E, Boukhris M, et al. The IMPACTOR-CTO Trial. JACC Cardiovasc Interv. 2018; 11(13): 1309–1311, doi: 10.1016/j. jcin.2018.04.017, indexed in Pubmed: 29976368.
- Bruckel JT, Jaffer FA, O'Brien C, et al. Angina severity, depression, and response to percutaneous revascularization in patients with chronic total occlusion of coronary arteries. J Invasive Cardiol. 2016; 28(2): 44–51, indexed in Pubmed: 26477043.
- George S, Cockburn J, Clayton TC, et al. Long-term follow-up of elective chronic total coronary occlusion angioplasty: analysis from the U.K. Central Cardiac Audit Database. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2014; 64(3): 235–243, doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2014.04.040, indexed in Pubmed: 25034057.
- Hoebers LP, Claessen BE, Elias J, et al. Meta-analysis on the impact of percutaneous coronary intervention of chronic total occlusions on left ventricular function and clinical outcome. Int J Cardiol. 2015; 187: 90–96, doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2015.03.164, indexed in Pubmed: 25828320.

Ultrasound diagnostics of dilated thoracic lymphatic vessels in a newborn with PIEZO-1 defect

Jacek Kuźma¹, Wojciech Mądry¹, Magdalena Zarlenga², Bożena Kociszewska-Najman², Mariusz Kuśmierczyk¹, Maciej Aleksander Karolczak¹, Jacek Pająk¹, Michał Zawadzki¹, Michał Buczyński¹

¹Department of Cardiac and General Pediatric Surgery, Medical University of Warsaw, Warszawa, Poland ²Department of Neonatology, Medical University of Warsaw, Warszawa, Poland

Correspondence to:

Jacek Kuźma, MD, Department of Cardiac and General Pediatric Surgery, Medical University of Warsaw, Żwirki i Wigury 63A, 02–091 Warszawa, Poland, phone: +48 22 317 98 81, e-mail: kuzmajacek@yahoo.com Copyright by the Author(s), 2022

DOI: 10.33963/KP.a2022.0040

Received: January 13, 2022

Accepted: February 8, 2022 Early publication date: February 9, 2022 Lymphangiectasia represents lymphatic vessels dilation following infections, radiation therapy, mastectomy, or Fontan operation when damaged lymphatic vessels or increased central venous pressure impair lymph drainage.

Congenital lymphedema is a condition in which lymph vessels dysfunction leads to hydrops fetalis. Generalized lymphatic dysplasia (GLD) is a rare form of primary lymphoedema. There are several disorders with lymphangiectasias including cystic hygroma, nonimmune hydrops, tumors (e.g. teratoma), genetic syndromes (e.g. Turner, Noonan, Prader-Willi, Angelman), Milroy disease, congenital pulmonary lymphangiectasia, or neurofibromatosis [1, 2]. The abnormal development of lymphatic structures may be due to PIEZO-1 mechanosensory transduction protein mutation [3], which was found in patients with GLD and hereditary hemolytic anemia - xerocytosis [4]. The autosomal recessive mutation is responsible for GLD with hydrops fetalis, childhood-onset lymphedema, and less pronounced hemolytic anemia. The signs of lymph congestion are peripheral edema, pleural or pericardial effusion, ascites, or protein-losing enteropathy. Postnatal edema may resolve spontaneously within the weeks but, in severe cases, may cause neonate demise. All patients present with abnormal lymphoscintigraphy [3].

Case presentation: We present a case of a 3-week-old baby boy with chronic generalized edema and respiratory failure referred for cardiological evaluation. In medical history, the prenatal course was complicated due to hydrops fetalis requiring multiple cordocenteses with blood and albumin transfusions and pleura drainage with pleuro-amniotic shunts. The prenatal microarray assessment was normal.

A preterm newborn (35 weeks of gestation) was born by urgent Caesarean section with a bodyweight of 3000 g. Physical examination revealed prominent nuchal fold, dysmorphia, peripheral edema, and symptoms of dyspnea.

Ultrasonography showed bilateral interstitial syndrome with multiple B lines and left pleural effusion. Postnatal screening transthoracic echocardiography (TTE) revealed normal heart anatomy, myocardial contractility, patent foramen ovale, and persistent arterial duct. The child presented signs of pulmonary distress requiring respiratory support, oxygen supply, and left pleural drainage.

In a 3-week cardiological follow-up, the condition was moderate with dyspnea, tachycardia 160/min without any heart murmur. Blood pressure was 76/47 mm Hg with mean arterial pressure of 57 mm Hg and SaO_2 95% on oxygen delivery. Peripheral edema in the lower extremities was prominent.

TTE revealed features of arterial pulmonary hypertension with an abnormal profile of pulse wave Doppler pulmonary flow with decreased acceleration time (Act) and the ratio of Act to pulmonary ejection time <0.3. On two-dimensional echocardiography, as well as color Doppler flow (Figure 1A–C) in suprasternal view, dilated lymphatic vessels were visual-



Figure 1. A, B. Suprasternal notch view, 2DE and color Doppler flow: dilated lymphatic vessels draining from lower (the yellow arrow) and right (the white arrow) side of the body *via* the thoracic duct into the innominate vein (the star). **C.** Dilated lymphatic vessel (the white star) below the left subclavian artery (the white dots) draining from the left side of the body. **D.** Pulse wave Doppler flow in a lymphatic vessel. **E.** Pulse wave Doppler pulmonary flow with features of pulmonary hypertension. **F.** Subcostal view, left pleural effusion

ized (Supplementary material, *Video S1–S4*). The presented figure suggested the diagnosis of persistent arterial duct or systemic — pulmonary — anastomoses. However, the color and wave Doppler flow indicated dilated lymphatic vessels with drainage via the thoracic duct into the innominate vein. The medical history of hydrops fetalis and lymphor-rhea was crucial in the final diagnosis. Postnatal genetic consultation indicated PIEZO-1 lymphatic dysplasia with autosomal recessive inheritance. Progressive pulmonary and multiorgan failure caused the neonate's demise before heart catheterization and lymphoscintigraphy. The autopsy was not acceptable to the parents, and the diagnosis of generalized lymphatic vessels dysplasia was not confirmed.

Ultrasonography is a highly valuable tool in the differential diagnosis of congenital lymphedema with the possibility of abnormal lymphatic vessels visualization.

Supplementary material

Supplementary material is available at https://journals. viamedica.pl/kardiologia_polska.

Article information

Conflict of interest: None declared.

Open access: This article is available in open access under Creative Common Attribution-Non-Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) license, allowing to download articles and share them with others as long as they credit the authors and the publisher, but without permission to change them in any way or use them commercially. For commercial use, please contact the journal office at kardiologiapolska@ptkardio.pl.

- Bellini C, Boccardo F, Campisi C, et al. Hennekam syndrome presenting as nonimmune hydrops fetalis, congenital chylothorax, and congenital pulmonary lymphangiectasia. Am J Med Genet A. 2003; 120A(1): 92–96, doi: 10.1002/ajmg.a.20180, indexed in Pubmed: 12794699.
- Reiterer F, Grossauer K, Pfleger A, et al. Severe primary pulmonary lymphangiectasis in a premature infant: management and follow up to early childhood. Pediatr Int. 2015; 57(1): 166–169, doi: 10.1111/ped.12416, indexed in Pubmed: 25711257.
- Fotiou E, Martin-Almedina S, Simpson MA, et al. Novel mutations in PIEZO1 cause an autosomal recessive generalized lymphatic dysplasia with non-immune hydrops fetalis. Nat Commun. 2015; 6: 8085, doi: 10.1038/ncomms9085, indexed in Pubmed: 26333996.
- Merguerian MD, Gallagher PG. Hereditary Stomatocytosis. in: Nelson Textbook of Pediatrics, Kliegman RM, St Geme JW, Blum NJ et al. (ed.). Elsevier 2020.: 2536–2538.

Edge-to-edge mitral repair with the Pascal system in a patient with corrected tetralogy of Fallot and bilateral hip joint contractures due to poliomyelitis

Aleksandra Mioduszewska, Adam Witkowski, Patrycjusz Stokłosa, Jerzy Pręgowski

Department of Interventional Cardiology and Angiology, National Institute of Cardiology, Warszawa, Poland

Correspondence to:

Aleksandra Mioduszewska, MD, Department of Interventional Cardiology and Angiology, National Institute of Cardiology, Alpejska 42, 04–628 Warszawa, Poland, phone: +48 22 34 34 272, e-mail: amioduszewska@ikard.pl Copyright by the Author(s), 2022 DOI: 10.33963/KP.a2022.0049

Received: January 15, 2022

Accepted: February 14, 2022 Early publication date: February 16, 2022 A 62-year-old male with a medical history of anatomical correction of tetralogy of Fallot and simultaneous tricuspid and aortic valve replacement at the age of 52 was admitted to our hospital with progressive dyspnea and fatigue that had gradually worsened during the last few months. As the sequence of poliomyelitis that the patient had suffered in early childhood, he developed hip joint contractures. Transthoracic echocardiography (TTE) revealed significant functional mitral regurgitation (MR) with posterior leaflet restriction (effective regurgitant orifice 0.4 cm², regurgitant volume 52 ml), systolic dysfunction of the dilated left ventricle (ejection fraction, 42%: left ventricular end-diastolic diameter, 62 mm), hypokinetic right ventricle (S'9 cm/s; tricuspid annular plane systolic excursion [TAPSE], 12 mm) and biatrial enlargement. The function of the previously replaced tricuspid and aortic valves was fine. Coronary angiography did not show any significant coronary lesions. The patient was on optimal guideline-driven pharmacotherapy over the past few months and was not a candidate for a heart transplant. Given the high surgical risk, the patient was qualified for MR transcatheter edge-to-edge repair (TEER) with the MitraClip system (Abbott Vascular, Santa Clara, CA, US) [1]. However, the pre-procedural checkup revealed that the stand stabilizing the MitraClip delivery catheter could not be placed over the patient's lower extremity because of severe hip contractures; positioning the MitraClip stand in between the patient's legs was unmanageable. Nevertheless, it was possible to place the smaller stand for the PASCAL (Edwards Lifesciences, Irvine, CA, US) TEER system in an unusual fashion between the patient's legs (Figure 1A), and the successful procedure was then performed in a standard manner. A Single PASCAL ACE device was implanted with good immediate echocardiographic results (Figure 1B-E). The patient



Figure 1. Patient's positioning and Pascal delivery stand (**A**). Baseline, severe mitral regurgitation demonstrated on 2-dimensional transesophageal echocardiography (TEE) (**B**) and 3-dimensional TEE (**C**). Reduction in mitral regurgitation to mild with two separate, small residual jets after implantation of the device demonstrated on 2-dimensional TEE (**D**) and 3-dimensional TEE (**E**)

was discharged home uneventfully in the New York Heart Association functional class II. TTE performed at 30-day follow-up documented stable and good procedural results.

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first case report of the PASCAL device implantation in a patient with congenital heart disease. The progression of left ventricular heart failure and functional MR occurs in patients after tetralogy of Fallot correction [2, 3] and the TEER procedure may be a viable therapeutic option for those patients. Moreover, we described a practical solution for the unusual procedural obstacle related to the hip joint contractures.

Article information

Conflict of interest: None declared.

Open access: This article is available in open access under Creative Common Attribution-Non-Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) license, allowing to download articles and share them with others as long as they credit the authors and the publisher, but without permission to change them in any way or use them commercially. For commercial use, please contact the journal office at kardiologiapolska@ptkardio.

- Vahanian A, Beyersdorf F, Praz F, et al. ESC/EACTS Guidelines for the management of valvular heart disease. Eur Heart J. 2021; 43(7): 561–632, doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehab395, indexed in Pubmed: 34453165.
- Broberg CS, Aboulhosn J, Mongeon FP, et al. Prevalence of left ventricular systolic dysfunction in adults with repaired tetralogy of Fallot. Am J Cardiol. 2011; 107(8): 1215–1220, doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2010.12.026, indexed in Pubmed: 21349477.
- Nemes A, Kormányos Á, Havasi K, et al. Mitral annulus is enlarged and functionally impaired in adult patients with repaired tetralogy of Fallot as assessed by three-dimensional speckle-tracking echocardiography-results from the CSONGRAD Registry and MAGYAR-Path Study. Cardiovasc Diagn Ther. 2019; 9(Suppl 2): S221–S227, doi: 10.21037/cdt.2019.06.08, indexed in Pubmed: 31737530.

Atrioventricular sequential pacemaker implantation in an adult patient with a Fontan circulation

Krzysztof Boczar¹, Andrzej Ząbek¹, Lidia Tomkiewicz-Pająk^{2, 3}, Jacek Gajek⁴, Agnieszka Sławuta⁵, Maciej Dębski⁶, Barbara Małecka^{1, 7}

¹Department of Electrocardiology, John Paul II Hospital, Kraków, Poland

²Department of Cardiac and Vascular Diseases, Institute of Cardiology, Jagiellonian University Medical College, Kraków, Poland ³John Paul II Hospital, Kraków, Poland

⁴Department of Emergency Medical Service, Wroclaw Medical University, Wrocław, Poland

⁵Department of Internal and Occupational Disease, Hypertension and Clinical Oncology, Wroclaw Medical University, Wrocław, Poland

⁶Norfolk and Norwich University Hospital, University of East Anglia, Norwich, United Kingdom

⁷Institute of Cardiology, Jagiellonian University Medical College, Kraków, Poland

Correspondence to:

Krzysztof Boczar, MD, PhD, Department of Electrocardiology, John Paul II Hospital, Prądnicka 80, 31–202 Kraków, Poland, phone: +48 12 614 22 77, e-mail: krzysiek.boczar@gmail.com Copyright by the Author(s), 2022 DOI: 10.33963/KP.a2022.0063 **Received:**

January 24, 2022

Accepted: March 8, 2022

Early publication date: March 8, 2022 A 29-year-old female was referred to our hospital with recurrent syncope and heart failure symptoms. She had been born with tricuspid atresia, right ventricular hypoplasia, an atrial septal defect, ventricular septal defect, pulmonary valve stenosis, right retroesophageal subclavian artery, and persistent left superior vena cava. The patient had undergone Blalock-Taussig (BT) shunt in infancy, hemi-Fontan operation at five years of age, and fenestrated Fontan completion one year later. Electrocardiographic (ECG) monitoring showed episodes of sino-atrial dissociation and chronotropic incompetence (Figure 1A). The patient was listed for dual-chamber pacemaker implantation. Pre-procedural planning included a heart catheterization with a detailed hemodynamic and angiographic evaluation (Figure 1B, Supplementary material, Figure S1) and ECG-gated cardiac contrast computed tomography (CT). For a precise evaluation of intracardiac anatomy, we created a computed tomography reconstruction and printed a three-dimensional model of the Fontan circulation, heart chambers, and coronary sinus with its tributaries (Supplementary material, Figure S2). Pacemaker implantation was carried out under light analgosedation in a hybrid operating room. Venous access was gained by puncture of the left subclavian vein. Fenestration in the Fontan baffle was cannulated with the Medtronic Attain Command[™] delivery system (Medtronic, Minneapolis, MN, US), and the leads were advanced into the atrium [1]. A coronary sinus lead Biotronik Sentus OTW BP was positioned in a posterior cardiac vein using a sub-selection catheter Medtronic Attain Select[™] II. Finally, the lumenless Medtronic SelectSecure[™] 3830 lead was placed in the right atrium via Medtronic C315HIS Delivery Catheter.

The procedure and postoperative period were uneventful. The chest radiograph showed the correct position of both leads (Figure 1C). Pacing parameters were excellent, and appropriate pacemaker function was confirmed on ECG monitoring (Figure 1D). Echocardiography showed no intracardiac thrombi or pericardial effusion. Warfarin was commenced for thromboprophylaxis [2]. This case shows that transvenous pacemaker implantation can successfully and safely accomplish restoring atrioventricular synchrony and chronotropic competence.

Supplementary material

Supplementary material is available at https://journals.viamedica.pl/kardiologia_polska.



Figure 1. A. Electrocardiographic (ECG) monitoring with episodes of sino-atrial dissociation and chronotropic incompetence. **B.** Fluoroscopy of a heart catheterization with detailed hemodynamic and angiographic evaluation of the Fontan circulation. The arrow indicates fenestration between the Fontan circulation and the atrium. **C.** The chest radiograph after the procedure, showing the correct position of both pacing leads. **D.** ECG registration showing dual-chamber pacing

Article information

Acknowledgments: The authors would like to thank Mateusz Hołda MD, PhD, for preparing a 3D heart model.

Conflict of interest: None declared.

Open access: This article is available in open access under Creative Common Attribution-Non-Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) license, allowing to download articles and share them with others as long as they credit the authors and the publisher, but without permission to change them in any way or use them commercially. For commercial use, please contact the journal office at kardiologiapolska@ptkardio.pl.

- Okólska M, Skubera M, Matusik P, et al. Chronotropic incompetence causes multiple organ complications in adults after the Fontan procedure. Kardiol Pol. 2021; 79(4): 410–417, doi: 10.33963/KP.15853, indexed in Pubmed: 33687864.
- Umamaheshwar KL, Singh AS, Sivakumar K. Endocardial transvenous pacing in patients with surgically palliated univentricular hearts: A review on different techniques, problems and management. Indian Pacing Electrophysiol J. 2019; 19(1): 15–22, doi: 10.1016/j. ipej.2018.11.013, indexed in Pubmed: 30508590.

Chronic thromboembolic pulmonary hypertension complicated by left main compression syndrome

Sylwia Sławek-Szmyt¹, Aleksander Araszkiewicz¹, Marek Grygier¹, Dariusz Zieliński², Maciej Lesiak¹, Tatiana Mularek-Kubzdela¹

¹1stDepartment of Cardiology, Poznan University of Medical Sciences, Poznań, Poland ²Department of Cardiac Surgery, Medicover Hospital, Warszawa, Poland

Correspondence to:

Sylwia Śławek-Szmyt, MD, PhD, 1st Department of Cardiology, Poznan University of Medical Sciences, Długa 1/2, 61–848 Poznań, Poland, phone: +48 61 854 91 46, e-mail: sylwia.slawek@skpp.edu.pl Copyright by the Author(s), 2022 DOI: 10.33963/KP.a2022.0067

Received: December 5, 2021

Accepted: March 8, 2022

Early publication date: March 8, 2022 A 55-year-old-female was admitted with exertional dyspnea (World Health Organization functional class [WHO-FC] III/IV). Clinical evaluation revealed increased N-terminal-pro--brain-type natriuretic peptide (NT-proBNP, 3994 pg/ml) and reduced the six-minute walk test (6MWT, 330 meters). Echocardiography showed enlargement of the right atrium (area, 26.4 cm²) and right ventricle (RV, 54 mm) with high-velocity tricuspid regurgitation (4.7 m/s), pulmonary artery (PA) dilatation (80 mm), elevated estimated RV systolic pressure (96 mm Hg) and mean pulmonary arterial pressure (mPAP, 56 mm Hg). Electrocardiogram indicated RV hypertrophy and overload (Supplementary material, Figure S1). Magnetic resonance imaging ruled out congenital heart defects. The right heart catheterization (the thermodilution method) indicated: mPAP of 58 mm Hg, PA wedge pressure of 12 mm Hg, pulmonary vascular resistance (PVR) of 10.8 Wood units (Wu), and cardiac index of 2.6 l/min \times m². The patient's pulmonary angiography (Axiom Artis Zee, Siemens, Germany) and computed tomography scan (LightSpeed VCT 64 scanner GE, Chicago, IL, US) revealed a large main PA aneurysm (PAA, 86 mm), along with right and left PAAs (69 mm), and multiple organized thromboembolic lesions in lobar and segmental arteries, which allowed the diagnosis of chronic thromboembolic pulmonary hypertension (CTEPH) (Figure 1A–D). Coronary angiography demonstrated severe left main coronary artery (LMCA) stenosis due to compression by PAA, confirmed by intravascular ultrasound (IVUS, Eagle Eye Platinum, Philips, Netherlands) (Figure 1E, Supplementary material, Video S1).

The case was carefully analyzed by the multidisciplinary CTEPH team, and the patient was not qualified for endarterectomy with PA reconstruction due to high risk. The combined pulmonary vasodilators, along with LMCA percutaneous intervention (PCI), were offered for the patient as bridging therapy before lung transplantation (LTx). PCI was performed and the LMCA ostium was expanded with a 4.0 mm × 28 mm drug-eluting stent (Synergy Megatron[™], Boston Scientific, Marlborough, MA, US) and post-dilated with a 5.0 mm × 15 mm balloon (Pantera Pro, Biotronik, Berlin, Germany). The final angiogram and IVUS showed good stent expansion with relief of LMCA extrinsic compression (Figure 1F, Supplementary material, Video S2). The combined specific treatment was also subsequently introduced. The patient was started on oral riociguat titrated from 3 mg to 7.5 mg daily, along with a continuous subcutaneous infusion of treprostinil titrated to the maximum tolerated dosage (30 ng/kg/min).

A six-month follow-up examination demonstrated a significant reduction of mPAP (47 mm Hg) and PVR (6.25 Wu) without PAA diameter progression. The patient improved to II/III WHO-FC with a 390 m distance at 6MWT and NT-proBNP of 1007 pg/ml.

We describe a rare case of CTEPH-related PAA causing LMCA compression. In CTEPH, PAA seems to be associated with mural thickening, webs, or intramural calcified thrombi [1]. PAA may lead to life-threatening complications, including PAA dissection or acute coronary syndrome [2, 3]. To date, the optimal treatment of PAA has not been established. There are no criteria indicating urgent recon-



Figure 1. A, B. Angiography of the left **(A)** and right **(B)** pulmonary artery (PA) showing dilatation and calcified thromboembolic lesions. **C, D.** Computed tomography scan **(C)** with volume rendering reconstruction **(D)** showing a pulmonary artery aneurysm (PAA) (the arrow). **E.** Coronary angiography (CA) with an intravascular ultrasound (IVUS) showing critical stenosis of the left main coronary artery (LMCA) attributed to the PAA compression (the arrow). LMCA minimal lumen area (MLA) was 4.9 mm². **F.** CA with IVUS after LMCA stenting, with normal LMCA shape and size (the arrow). LMCA MLA after stenting was 15.9 mm²

structive surgery or waiting for LTx, especially in asymptomatic patients [1, 3]. In the case of LMCA, the accumulated experience suggests stenting might be a first-choice strategy [3, 4]. Recently, treprostinil was proven to increase the exercise capacity in CTEPH [5]. In the presented case, LMCA stenting and pulmonary vasodilators led to the improvement of the patient's hemodynamic status.

Supplementary material

Supplementary material is available at https://journals.viamedica.pl/kardiologia_polska.

Article information

Conflict of interest: None declared.

Open access: This article is available in open access under Creative Common Attribution-Non-Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) license, allowing to download articles and share them with others as long as they credit the authors and the publisher, but without permission to change them in any way or use them commercially. For commercial use, please contact the journal office at kardiologiapolska@ptkardio.pl.

- Kreibich M, Siepe M, Kroll J, et al. Aneurysms of the pulmonary artery. Circulation. 2015; 131(3):310–316, doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.114.012907, indexed in Pubmed: 25601950.
- Maj D, Kopiec T, Wieteska M, et al. Acute coronary syndrome due to extrinsic left main compression. Kardiol Pol. 2021; 79(9): 1034–1035, doi: 10.33963/KP.a2021.0045, indexed in Pubmed: 34166517.
- Florczyk M, Wieteska M, Kurzyna M, et al. Acute and chronic dissection of pulmonary artery: new challenges in pulmonary arterial hypertension? Pulm Circ. 2018; 8(2): 2045893217749114, doi: 10.1177/2045893217749114, indexed in Pubmed: 29251549.
- Demkow M, Kalińczuk Ł, Kepka C, et al. Left main artery compression by pulmonary artery aneurysm and ostial athero-stenosis of left anterior descending artery in a young female with pulmonary arterial hypertension. Eur Heart J. 2012; 33(20): 2621, doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehs195, indexed in Pubmed: 22782942.
- Sadushi-Kolici R, Jansa P, Kopec G, et al. Subcutaneous treprostinil for the treatment of severe non-operable chronic thromboembolic pulmonary hypertension (CTREPH): a double-blind, phase 3, randomised controlled trial. Lancet Respir Med. 2019; 7(3): 239–248, doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(18)30367-9, indexed in Pubmed: 30477763.

Giant left ventricular aneurysm following arterial switch operation

Michał Buczyński¹, Maciej Aleksander Karolczak¹, Barbara Motylewicz¹, Wojciech Mądry¹, Mariusz Kuśmierczyk¹, Katarzyna Szymańska-Beta², Paulina Kopacz¹, Michał Zawadzki¹, Jacek Kuźma¹

¹Department of Cardiac and General Pediatric Surgery, Medical University of Warsaw, Warszawa, Poland ²Department of Pediatric Anesthesiology and Intensive Therapy, Medical University of Warsaw, Warszawa, Poland

Correspondence to:

Jacek Kuźma, MD, Department of Cardiac and General Pediatric Surgery, Medical University of Warsaw, Żwirki i Wigury 63A, 02–091 Warszawa, Poland, phone: +48 22 317 98 81, e-mail: kuzmajacek@yahoo.com Copyright by the Author(s), 2022

DOI: 10.33963/KP.a2022.0068
Received:

February 15, 2022

Accepted: March 8, 2022 Early publication date: March 8, 2022 Arterial switch operation (ASO) with coronary artery translocation and the Lecompte maneuver (positioning of the pulmonary artery anteriorly to the aorta) are the treatment of choice in newborns with d-transposition of the great arteries (d-TGA). The aorta and pulmonary trunk are transected and transferred with coronary arteries to the opposite semilunar valves. Early postoperative complications include excessive pericardial and pleural drainage, heart failure, cardiac arrhythmias, distortion of pulmonary arteries, infections, endocarditis, and coronary artery occlusion causing ischemia with contractility impairment, cardiac aneurysm formation, which necessitate surgical treatment [1-4].

We demonstrate an unusual presentation of a life-threatening left ventricular aneurysm which was successfully operated on with a noncellular xenogeneic extracellular matrix patch without sequelae.

A 2-week-old female infant was diagnosed with a congenital heart defect: d-TGA with large ventricular septal defect (VSD). The child underwent, at the age of 9 days, arterial switch operation, VSD closure, and simultaneous coronary artery translocation during cross-clamp. Epicardial intraoperative echocardiography showed mild distortion of pulmonary arteries, wide coronary arteries with sufficient flow, and normal myocardial contractility. Pericardial drainage was provided routinely. The general condition of the patient was poor with symptoms of cardiac compromise requiring vasopressors (dopamine, adrenaline) and inotrope (milrinone) infusions. On the first postoperative day, chest revision was necessary. The heart stimulation was established via temporary epicardial electrodes due to complete atrioventricular block (CAVB). The patient also required peritoneal dialysis with a Tenckhoff catheter. On the fifth postoperative day, CAVB converted into sinus rhythm. The electrocardiogram (ECG) revealed normal sinus rhythm, right axis deviation, right ventricular hypertrophy (positive T wave in lead V1) without signs of ischemia. Recurrent tachyarrhythmias with wide QRS complexes were treated effectively with amiodarone infusion.

Postoperative transthoracic echocardiography (TTE) revealed right diaphragm dysfunction, small residual VSD with L-R shunting, mild pulmonary artery stenosis, mild pulmonary and aortic regurgitation, and hyperechoic 5-mm cistern above the lateral wall of the left ventricle (LV) (Figure 1A–C). The contractility of the myocardium was slightly decreased (LV ejection fraction 50% using Simpson formula with the normal range of 55%–65%).

TTE suggested the diagnosis of localized pericardial effusion. However, the hyperechoic cistern communicated with the LV via two fistulae (Supplementary material, *Videos S1–S3*). The gradual distention of the aneurysm up to 12 mm provided a high risk of rupture with cardiac tamponade which prompted the reoperation on the 12th postoperative day. A noncellular xenogeneic extracellular matrix patch was used for fistulae and aneurysm closure and strengthening of the lateral wall. The postoperative course was uneventful.

The most probable causes of the aneurysm formation were technical difficulties during coronary arteries mobilization and



Figure 1. Transthoracic echocardiography. **A.** Five chamber view. Two-dimensional echocardiography. Large lateral ventricular wall aneurysm (white star) with a left ventricular fistula below the mitral annulus. **B.** Five chamber view with color Doppler flow through the fistula communicating the left ventricle with the aneurysm. **C.** Five chamber view. Left ventricular lateral wall view with the giant aneurysm distended up to 12 mm

Abbreviations: RV, right ventricle; LV, left ventricle

translocation, although the leading mechanism of aneurysm development is myocardial ischemia, which requires interventional or surgical procedures [5].

This is the first case in the literature on cardiac aneurysm with ventricular fistulae following arterial switch operation with successful surgical embolization.

In a 6-month follow-up, the condition of the patient was good. TTE revealed an occluded aneurysm without a residual shunt, normal contractility of the myocardium, and right diaphragm (Supplementary material, *Video S4*).

Supplementary material

Supplementary material is available at https://journals. viamedica.pl/kardiologia_polska.

Article information

Conflict of interest: None declared.

Open access: This article is available in open access under Creative Common Attribution-Non-Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) license, allowing to download articles and share them with others as long as they credit the authors and the publisher, but without permission to change them in any way or use them commercially. For commercial use, please contact the journal office at kardiologiapolska@ptkardio.pl.

- Jonas K, Jakutis V, Sudikienė R, et al. Early and late outcomes after arterial switch operation: a 40-year journey in a single low case volume center. Medicina. 2021; 57(9): 906, doi: 10.3390/medicina57090906, indexed in Pubmed: 34577829.
- Khairy P, Clair M, Fernandes SM, et al. Cardiovascular outcomes after the arterial switch operation for D-transposition of the great arteries. Circulation. 2013; 127(3): 331–339, doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.112.135046, indexed in Pubmed: 23239839.
- Vargo P, Mavroudis C, Stewart RD, et al. Late complications following the arterial switch operation. World J Pediatr Congenit Heart Surg. 2011; 2(1): 37–42, doi: 10.1177/2150135110386976, indexed in Pubmed: 23804931.
- Habertheuer A, Andreas M, Wiedemann D, et al. Giant lateral left ventricular wall aneurysm sparing the submitral apparatus. J Cardiothorac Surg. 2013; 8: 201, doi: 10.1186/1749-8090-8-201, indexed in Pubmed: 24172071.
- Bednarek A, Wieczorek J, Elżbieciak M, et al. Treatment strategies for a giant left ventricular aneurysm and developing ventricular septal defect in a patient after anterior wall myocardial infarction. Kardiol Pol. 2020; 78(1): 86–88, doi: 10.33963/KP.15076, indexed in Pubmed: 31782751.

The extracorporeal membrane oxygenation as a bridge to delayed minimally invasive surgical treatment of a postinfarction papillary muscle rupture

Karolina Żbikowska¹, Katarzyna Kurnicka², Ryszard Wojdyga³, Ewelina Pirsztuk⁴, Jakub Zieliński³, Marcin Zygier³, Dariusz Zieliński³, Krzysztof Wróbel³

¹Department of Cardiac Surgery, Medical University of Warsaw, Warszawa, Poland ²Department of Internal Medicine and Cardiology, Medical University of Warsaw, Warszawa, Poland ³Department of Cardiac Surgery, Medicover Hospital, Warszawa, Poland ⁴Department of Anesthesia and Intensive Care, Medicover Hospital, Warszawa, Poland

Correspondence to:

Katarzyna Kurnicka, MD, PhD, Department of Internal Medicine and Cardiology, Medical University of Warsaw, Lindleya 4, 02–005 Warszawa, Poland, phone: +48 22 502 11 44, e-mail: kkurnicka@yahoo.pl Copyright by the Author(s), 2022 DOI: 10.33963/KP.a2022.0064

Received: January 7, 2022 Accepted:

March 1, 2022

Early publication date: March 2, 2022 There is an ongoing discussion in the literature on the role of temporary mechanical circulatory support in the treatment of mechanical complications of myocardial infarction (MI) [1]. We present the use of venoarterial extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (V-A ECMO) as a bridge to surgery for patients with papillary muscle rupture to obtain hemodynamic and metabolic stabilization, unload the left ventricle for muscle regeneration, and reduce antiplatelet therapy effect to minimize perioperative bleeding. The 47-year-old patient was admitted to the cardiac surgery department with a cardiogenic shock and pulmonary edemadue to acute mitral regurgitation following a postinfarction rupture of the posteromedial papillary muscle. Coronary angiography performed 7 days earlier (on the third day after acute cardiac pain onset) revealed total right coronary artery occlusion in the second seqment (Figure 1A). There were no significant lesions in the remaining coronary vessels. After an unsuccessful attempt at revascularization, the patient was discharged home in good condition and re-admitted two days later due to pulmonary edema requiring mechanical ventilation. Transthoracic echocardiography unveiled severe mitral regurgitation due to rupture of the head of the posteromedial papillary muscle (Figure 1B) and deep anterior leaflet prolapse (Figure 1C), as well as extensive akinesis of the inferior wall and posterior part of the interventricular septum. The left ventricle ejection fraction was 40%. The patient was qualified for peripheral V-A ECMO as a bridge to delayed surgical treatment because of severe cardiogenic shock, antiplatelet therapy (ASA, prasugrel), and a recent MI. The risk of postoperative mortality, according to EuroSCORE II and STS scores, was 14.03% and 21.13%, respectively. ECMO was instituted under transesophageal echocardiography and ultrasound guidance through femoral vessels. In addition, a control chest X-ray was performed, which confirmed the correct position of the venous cannula (Figure 1D). The hemodynamical and metabolic status of the patient improved, and after 3 days of mechanical circulatory support, a mechanical mitral valve prosthesis was implanted through right-sided minithoracotomy without removal of the subvalvular apparatus (Figure 1E, F). The choice of the type of intervention and the prosthesis was motivated by the patient's age and the uncertain results of native valve repair shortly after MI. Importantly, the latest data indicate unfavorable results of the edgeto-edge transcatheter mitral valve repair in patients with cardiogenic shock demanding mechanical circulatory support [2]. V-A ECMO was weaned. The patient required inotropic support in a perioperative period. A gradual improvement in the general condition was observed. On day 10 after the operation, the patient was discharged home in a good overall condition.

Papillary muscle rupture is a rare and serious mechanical complication typically of transmural inferior MI [3]. Acute surgical intervention remains the treatment of choice,



Figure 1A. Total occlusion of the right coronary artery in the second segment (the arrow); coronary angiography. **B.** Ruptured head of the posteromedial papillary muscle (the arrow); 2D TTE, long-axis view. **C.** Anterior mitral leaflet prolapse (the arrow); 3D TEE. **D.** Venous cannula of venoarterial extracorporeal membrane oxygenation placed thorough femoral vein, reaching the superior vena cava (the arrow); chest radiograph. **E.** Echo of implanted mechanical mitral valve prosthesis (the arrow); 2D TTE, four-chamber view. **F.** Mechanical mitral valve prosthesis (the arrow) implanted through right-sided mini-thoracotomy (lack of sternal wires); chest radiograph

Abbreviations: AML, anterior mitral leaflet; LA, left atrium; LV, left ventricle; RCA, right coronary artery; 2D TTE, two-dimensional transthoracic echocardiography; 3D TEE, three-dimensional transesophageal echocardiography

reducing the mortality rate in the course of this disease from approximately 80% to 39% in a large, experienced center series [5] with a high risk of other complications, often due to the patient's hemodynamic instability and increased risk of bleeding [3–5]. Preoperative V-A ECMO may increase the survival rate by improving the patient's hemodynamical status, protecting against tissue ischemia, reducing the antiplatelet effect, and getting time to enable postinfarction myocardial recovery.

Article information

Acknowledgments: The patient's treatment process took place in the Department of Cardiac Surgery, Medicover Hospital, Warszawa, Poland. Conflict of interest: None declared.

Open access: This article is available in open access under Creative Common Attribution-Non-Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) license, allowing to download articles and share them with others as long as they credit the authors and the publisher, but without permission to change them in any way or use them commercially. For commercial use, please contact the journal office at kardiologiapolska@ptkardio.pl.

- Gambaro A, Rosenberg A, Galiatsou E, et al. Pros and cons of different types of mechanical circulatory support device in case of postinfarction ventricular septal defect. ASAIO J. 2021; 67(6): e110–e113, doi: 10.1097/MAT.00000000001290, indexed in Pubmed: 33060409.
- Tang GHL, Estevez-Loureiro R, Yu Y, et al. Survival following edge-to-edge transcatheter mitral valve repair in patients with cardiogenic shock: a nationwide analysis. J Am Heart Assoc. 2021; 10(8): e019882, doi: 10.1161/JAHA.120.019882, indexed in Pubmed: 33821669.
- Burton LV, Beier K. Papillary Muscle Rupture. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing. 2022 Jan., indexed in Pubmed: 29763151.
- Valle JA, Miyasaka RL, Carroll JD. Acute mitral regurgitation secondary to papillary muscle tear: is transcatheter edge-to-edge mitral valve repair a new paradigm? Circ Cardiovasc Interv. 2017; 10(6), doi: 10.1161/CIR-CINTERVENTIONS.117.005050, indexed in Pubmed: 28607001.
- Schroeter T, Lehmann S, Misfeld M, et al. Clinical outcome after mitral valve surgery due to ischemic papillary muscle rupture. Ann Thorac Surg. 2013; 95(3): 820–824, doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2012.10.050, indexed in Pubmed: 23219255.

Unusual cardiac magnetic resonance findings in a young patient, years after the diagnosis of hypertrophic cardiomyopathy

Karolina Dorniak¹, Agnieszka Sabisz², Edyta Szurowska², Kamil Gorczewski³, Rafał Pawlaczyk⁴, Marta Żarczyńska-Buchowiecka¹

¹Department of Noninvasive Cardiac Diagnostics, Medical University of Gdańsk, Gdańsk, Poland ²2nd Department of Radiology, Medical University of Gdańsk, Gdańsk, Poland

³Siemens Healthineers, Erlangen, Germany

⁴Department of Cardiac and Vascular Surgery, Medical University of Gdansk, Gdańsk, Poland

Correspondence to:

Karolina Dorniak, MD, Department of Noninvasive Cardiac Diagnostics, Medical University of Gdańsk, Dębinki 7, 80–211 Gdańsk, Poland, phone: +48 605 856 315, e-mail: kdorniak@gumed.edu.pl Copyright by the Author(s), 2022

DOI: 10.33963/KP.a2022.0084

Received: March 4, 2022

Accepted: March 25, 2022

Early publication date: March 28, 2022 A twenty-four-year-old man who had been diagnosed with hypertrophic cardiomyopathy (HCM) at the age of 12, based on echocardiography findings of massive hypertrophy of the septum, anterior and inferior wall (maximum wall thickness of 31 mm) with typical electrocardiographic (ECG) features (Supplementary material, Figure S1), was intermittently followed up for over 12 years before cardiac magnetic resonance was performed. The family history was negative, the patient was asymptomatic, and at the age of 18, the 5-year sudden cardiac death risk score assessed by the online tool recommended by 2014 European Society of Cardiology (ESC) guidelines on HCM [1] was calculated at 2.6%. Hence, implantable cardioverter-defibrillator (ICD) placement was not indicated. Subsequently, the patient had been lost to follow-up for several years. At the age of 24, he contacted his cardiologist again and a cardiac magnetic resonance exam was scheduled for risk assessment. The study showed good biventricular function with normal chamber size. However, the images presented in Figure 1 and Supplementary material, *Videos S1–S3*, unexpectedly changed the long-established diagnosis of HCM. These findings were consistent with primary cardiac tumors — fibromas.

Primary cardiac tumors are rare (0.0017%– -0.019% in the autopsy series), and fibromas constituted only 3.2 % of a large pathology study of 533 cardiac tumors [2]. They present as solitary tumors in most cases, and the initial



Figure 1. A. Mid-ventricular SAX bSSFP cine still-frame showing marked hypertrophy of the anterior, septal, inferior, and inferolateral segments. B. Native myocardial T1 mapping (MOLLI sequence) at the same slice location; no regional variation was visually apparent and the mean T1 time was 998 ms (the institutional reference range: 951-1035 ms). C. LGE image acquired at the same slice location at 10 min post-contrast administration (gadobutrol 0,1 mmol/kg), showing multiple highly enhanced lump tumors in the anterior, septal, inferior, and inferolateral segments. D. Post-contrast T1 mapping (MOLLI sequence) at the same slice location, showing marked homogenous shortening of post-contrast T1 within the tumors (Siemens Aera 1.5 T, Erlangen, Germany)

Abbreviations: bSSFP, balanced steady-state free precession; LGE, late gadolinium enhancement; MOLLI, modified Look-Locker inversion recovery; SAX, short axis diagnosis of HCM is not uncommon based on asymmetric hypertrophy in echocardiography [3]. Conversely, multiple fibromas are an extremely rare finding. A single case of multiple fibromas in the left ventricle was found in a series of 18 symptomatic fibroma patients referred for surgical excision [4]. According to a large literature review, multiple fibromas can be found in one out of ten fibroma cases [5]. Cardiac fibromas are thought to be generally benign tumors with the greatest prevalence in the left ventricle followed by the right ventricle or the septum, and extremely rare in the atrial walls. However, younger age at diagnosis and larger relative tumor size have been linked to poor prognosis [5]. Moreover, tumors that involve the septum are more likely to cause arrhythmia and sudden cardiac death [5].

The management tends to be limited to watchful waiting in asymptomatic cases, and the pace of growth is generally very low after the age of 20 [5]. Conversely, surgical excision is the treatment of choice when either ventricular or valvular function is impaired or if significant arrhythmia occurs, with excellent early and late results in most cases [4]. Sudden death was reported to occur in a proportion of previously asymptomatic patients, and, therefore, the optimal management in these patients is still a matter of debate. Considering multiple tumor locations with massive septal involvement in this case, management options, including surgery, were discussed despite the asymptomatic course, good exercise tolerance, and uneventful 24-hour ECG monitoring. As the patient refused to consider an ICD as a treatment option, watchful waiting was finally recommended.

Supplementary material

Supplementary material is available at https://journals. viamedica.pl/kardiologia_polska.

Article information

Conflict of interest: KG is currently employed by Siemens Healthineers. The remaining authors declare no conflict of interest concerning this publication

Open access: This article is available in open access under Creative Common Attribution-Non-Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) license, allowing to download articles and share them with others as long as they credit the authors and the publisher, but without permission to change them in any way or use them commercially. For commercial use, please contact the journal office at kardiologiapolska@ptkardio.pl.

- Elliott PM, Anastasakis A, Borger MA, et al. 2014 ESC Guidelines on diagnosis and management of hypertrophic cardiomyopathy: the Task Force for the Diagnosis and Management of Hypertrophic Cardiomyopathy of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). Eur Heart J. 2014; 35(39): 2733–2779, doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehu284, indexed in Pubmed: 25173338.
- McAllister HA, Fenoglio JJ Jr. Tumors of the cardiovascular system. In: Atlas of Tumor Pathology. Washington, DC, Armed Forces Institute of Pathology, 1978, second series: 1–39.
- Ateńska-Pawłowska JI, Sterliński M, Oręziak A, et al. Left ventricular tumour masquerading as hypertrophic cardiomyopathy: how one can be misled by transthoracic echocardiography. Kardiol Pol. 2017; 75(3): 280, doi: 10.5603/KP.2017.0053, indexed in Pubmed: 28326528.
- Cho JM, Danielson GK, Puga FJ, et al. Surgical resection of ventricular cardiac fibromas: early and late results. Ann Thorac Surg. 2003; 76(6): 1929–1934, doi: 10.1016/s0003-4975(03)01196-2, indexed in Pubmed: 14667615.
- Torimitsu S, Nemoto T, Wakayama M, et al. Literature survey on epidemiology and pathology of cardiac fibroma. Eur J Med Res. 2012; 17: 5, doi: 10.1186/2047-783X-17-5, indexed in Pubmed: 22472419.
Massive atrial thrombus in sinus rhythm cardiac amyloidosis is not a wild goose chase?

Piotr Gościniak^{1, 2}, Bartłomiej Baumert^{3, 4}, Justyna Rajewska-Tabor ⁵, Joanna Jędrzychowska-Baraniak¹, Małgorzata Pyda⁵, Bogusław Machaliński^{3, 4}

Laboratory for Non-Invasive Cardiac Imaging, Tomasz Sokolowski Public Hospital, Pomeranian Medical University, Szczecin, Poland

²Department of Endocrinology and Internal Diseases, Pomeranian Medical University, Szczecin, Poland

³Department of General Pathology, Pomeranian Medical University, Szczecin, Poland

⁴Department of Hematology and Transplantology, Pomeranian Medical University, Szczecin, Poland

⁵1st Department of Cardiology, Poznań University of Medical Sciences, Poznań, Poland

Correspondence to:

Piotr Gościniak, MD, PhD, Laboratory for Non-Invasive Cardiac Imaging, Department of Endocrinology and Internal Diseases, Tomasz Sokolowski Public Hospital, Pomeranian Medical University, Unii Lubelskiej 1, 71-252 Szczecin, Poland, phone: +48 914 250 559, e-mail: piotrgosciniak1@gmail.com Copyright by the Author(s), 2022 DOI: 10.33963/KP.a2022.0073 Received:

November 17, 2021 Accepted: March 19, 2022 Early publication date:

March 22, 2022

The recent diagnostic guidelines and therapeutic recommendations [1] in patients with cardiac amyloidosis (CA) have changed the approach to modern cardiological diagnosis of the causes of myocardial hypertrophy while facilitating hematological evaluation [2].

We present probably the first case in the Polish population of a massive thrombus of the left atrium appendage in a patient with IgG lambda multiple myeloma with concomitant CA in the presence of sinus rhythm.

In a 54-year-old woman, a significant deterioration in exercise tolerance (New York Heart Association [NYHA] class III), hypotension, and weight loss were observed for about a year. Echocardiography revealed concentric myocardial hypertrophy, good left ventricular systolic function, and impaired grade-II diastolic function. After five months, due to the persistence of symptoms, coronary angiography was performed, which showed no narrowing of the coronary arteries. Due to the lack of clinical improvement, the patient was referred to the cardiac magnetic resonance unit. T1 time mapping during stress perfusion was carried out before and after a gadobutrol injection. Cine images showed a decreased ejection fraction (41%) and concentric hypertrophy of the myocardium. Native T1 sequences and extracellular volume (ECV) maps showed diffused fibrosis with high native T1 values (mean, 1095 ms; normal values, 953-981 ms) and extended ECV (mean 51%) (Figure 1A, B). The late gadolinium enhancement images revealed subendocardial and transmural fibrosis.

The diagnostics were extended to a histopathological examination of the adipose tissue, in which amyloid deposits were found, and the bone marrow examination, which showed 15% infiltration of clonal plasma cells. Specific tests showed: protein M 1.17 g/dl, free light chain (FLC) λ 330 mg/l, FLC ratio κ/λ 0.03, monoclonal protein IgG λ and trace λ band in serum immunofixation, troponin T 31.78 pg/ml, N-terminal pro-brain natriuretic peptide (NT-proBNP) 2544 pg/ml, IgG 19.1 g/l, and urine protein 16.9 mg/dl. The treatment included four cycles of cyclophosphamide, bortezomib, and dexamethasone (CyBorD). Hematological response at the PR level was achieved, with a reduction in the NT-proBNP level from 2653 to 2037 pg/ml in the cardiac response.

The resting electrocardiography showed a sinus rhythm and a low voltage of the QRS complexes. The observation showed no atrial fibrillation. Echocardiography revealed a granular structure of the myocardium, left and right ventricular hypertrophy, a thickened interatrial septum, pericardial fluid, an apical sparing in global longitudinal strain (Figure 1C), and impaired diastolic function of the LV. The peak longitudinal left atrial strain was reduced (Figure 1D). Moreover, an additional echo in the left atrial appendage (LAA) was observed.

For this reason, 3D transesophageal echocardiography was performed, revealing a massive thrombus modeling the entire LAA (Figure 1E, F). Apixaban treatment was initiated and autologous hematopoietic stem



Figure 1. A. Diffusely increased T1 values on CMR native T1 map (1095 ms), *pericardial effusion, short axis view. **B.** Increased ECV values (51%) in extracellular volume map, short axis view. **C.** TTE global longitudinal strain — "apical sparing". **D.** TTE reduced longitudinal left atrial strain. **E.** TEE — an additional echo in the LAA (the red arrow). **F.** 3D TEE — a massive thrombus (the red arrow) modeling the LAA

Abbreviations: CMR, cardiac magnetic resonance; ECV, extracellular volume; LAA, left atrial appendage; TEE, transesophageal echocardiography; TTE, transthoracic echocardiography

cell transplantation (aHSCT) was temporarily postponed. On control transesophageal echocardiography at 8 weeks, only self-contrast in the blood was observed in the LAA. Nowadays the patient is undergoing aHSCT with melphalan 200 mg/m² conditioning and low molecular weight heparin prophylaxis.

The most common form of amyloidosis is light chain amyloidosis, which accounts for about 70%–80% of all forms of the disease [3]. In untreated light-chain cardiac amyloidosis, survival is estimated to be less than six months from diagnosis. The prognosis may also be influenced by the presence of a thrombus in the LAA despite the presence of a sinus rhythm [4, 5]. Therefore, detailed and modern cardiac imaging should become the standard approach.

Article information

Conflict of interest: None declared.

Open access: This article is available in open access under Creative Common Attribution-Non-Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) license, allowing to download articles and share them with others as long as they credit the authors and the publisher, but without permission to change them in any way or use them commercially. For commercial use, please contact the journal office at kardiologiapolska@ptkardio.pl.

REFERENCES

- Garcia-Pavia P, Rapezzi C, Adler Y, et al. Diagnosis and treatment of cardiac amyloidosis: a position statement of the ESC Working Group on Myocardial and Pericardial Diseases. Eur Heart J. 2021; 42(16): 1554–1568, doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehab072, indexed in Pubmed: 33825853.
- Giannopoulos K, Jamroziak K, Usnarska-Zubkiewicz L, et al. Recommendations of the Polish Myeloma Group regarding the diagnosis and treatment of multiple myeloma and other plasma cell dyscrasias for 2021 [article in Polish]. Polish Myeloma Group 2021. Available online: https://hematoonkologia.pl/polska-grupa-szpiczakowa/zalecenia/id/4420-zalecenia-polskiej-grupy-szpiczakowej-dotyczace-rozpoznawania-i-leczenia-szpiczaka-plazmocytowego-oraz-innych-dyskrazji-plazmocytowych-na-rok-2021 [Access: April 21, 2022].
- Wechalekar A, Gillmore J, Hawkins P. Systemic amyloidosis. Lancet. 2016; 387(10038): 2641–2654, doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(15)01274-x, indexed in Pubmed: 26719234.
- Martinez-Naharro A, Gonzalez-Lopez E, Corovic A, et al. High prevalence of intracardiac thrombi in cardiac amyloidosis. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2019; 73(13): 1733–1734, doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2019.01.035, indexed in Pubmed: 30947929.
- Ballantyne B, Manian U, Sheyin O, et al. Stroke risk and atrial mechanical dysfunction in cardiac amyloidosis. ESC Heart Fail. 2020; 7(2): 705–707, doi: 10.1002/ehf2.12602, indexed in Pubmed: 31965737.

Clinical use of intracoronary imaging modalities in Poland. Expert opinion of the Association of Cardiovascular Interventions of the Polish Cardiac Society

Tomasz Pawłowski¹, Jacek Legutko^{2, 3}, Janusz Kochman⁴, Tomasz Roleder⁵, Jerzy Pręgowski⁶, Zbigniew Chmielak⁶, Jacek Kubica⁷, Andrzej Ochała⁸, Radosław Parma⁸, Marek Grygier⁹, Dariusz Dudek¹⁰, Wojciech Wojakowski⁸, Stanisław Bartuś¹⁰, Adam Witkowski⁶, Robert Gil¹

Reviewers: Maciej Lesiak⁹, Krzysztof Reczuch¹¹, Paweł Kleczyński^{2,3}

¹Department of Invasive Cardiology, Central Clinical Hospital of the Ministry of Interior and Administration, Center of Postgraduate Medical Education, Warszawa, Poland ²Department of Interventional Cardiology, Institute of Cardiology, Jagiellonian University Medical College, Kraków, Poland

⁴1st Chair and Department of Cardiology, Medical University of Warsaw, Warszawa, Poland

⁶Department of Interventional Cardiology and Angiology, National Institute of Cardiology, Warszawa, Poland

⁷Department of Cardiology and Internal Medicine, Collegium Medicum, Nicolaus Copernicus University, Bydgoszcz, Poland

⁸Division of Cardiology and Structural Heart Diseases, Medical University of Silesia, Katowice, Poland

⁹Chair and 1st Department of Cardiology, Poznan University of Medical Sciences, Poznań, Poland

¹⁰2nd Department of Cardiology, Collegium Medicum, Jagiellonian University, Kraków, Poland

¹¹Department of Heart Disease, Wroclaw Medical University, Wrocław, Poland

Correspondence to:

Tomasz Pawłowski, MD, PhD, FESC, Department of Invasive Cardiology, Central Clinical Hospital of the Ministry of Interior and Administration, Center of Postgraduate Medical Education, Wołoska 137, 02–507 Warszawa, Poland, phone: +48 477 221 100, e-mail: pawtom@gmail.com Copyright by the Polish Cardiac Society, 2022

DOI: 10.33963/KP.a2022.0071

Received: March 11, 2022

Accepted: March 11, 2022 Early publication date:

March 15, 2022

ABSTRACT

The article presents the most common, current indications for the use of intravascular invasive imaging diagnostic techniques, i.e. intravascular ultrasound and optical coherence tomography in Polish invasive cardiology centers. The application of the above-mentioned techniques in the diagnosis of stenosis of the left main coronary artery, optimization of stent implantation procedures, treatment of calcified lesions, and other clinically important issues are discussed.

Key words: intravascular ultrasound, optical coherence tomography, stent implantation, left main coronary artery

INTRODUCTION

This expert opinion presents the current views and indications for the clinical use of intravascular invasive diagnostic imaging techniques, i.e. intravascular ultrasound (IVUS) and optical coherence tomography (OCT). The document was developed by experts appointed by the Board of the Association of Cardiovascular Interventions of the Polish Cardiac Society.

According to the published registry of Polish authors [1], IVUS/OCT techniques are rarely used, as an experienced operator uses them every 5 weeks, while the results of the registry conducted by the European Association of Percutaneous Cardiovascular Interventions (EAPCI) [2] indicate that half of the operators use these techniques only in over 15% of patients. The main indications for the use of IVUS/OCT were optimization of stent implantation and angioplasty procedures in the area of the left coronary artery. The authors of the listed registries indicate that the main factors limiting the use of IVUS/OCT in clinical practice are costs and the duration of the procedure.

³John Paul II Hospital, Kraków, Poland

⁵Cardiology Department, Specialist Hospital in Wrocław, Research and Development Center, Wrocław, Poland



Figure 1. A. Ultrasound images obtained with a 40 MHz mechanical probe (Boston Scientific) (left panel) and a 20 MHz electronic probe (Philips IGT Co, Volcano Co) (right panel). In the first case, a single crystal emitting an ultrasound wave is mounted on a rotating shaft, which scans the vessel's circumference at an appropriate speed the reflected echo is processed in the IVUS machine. In the second case (on the right), the probe is made of 64 piezoelectric crystals, which are electrically activated and send successively ultrasound waves, which are then processed in the IVUS machine. B. Examples of IVUS cross-sectional measurements — on the left side, there are examples of vessel diameter measurements - vessel diameter (external elastic membrane diameter, FEMD) and minimal lumen diameter (MLD). At least two measurements are made in perpendicular lines, determining the maximum and minimum dimensions — their quotient is the vessel/lumen symmetry index. On the right, measurements of the vessel area (external elastic membrane area, EEMA) and measurements of the vessel lumen area (minimal lumen area, MLA)

Abbreviations: IVUS, intravascular ultrasound

Table 1. A c	comparison (of intravascula	r imaging mo	odalities (IV	US vs. OCT)

Intravascular ultrasound			Optical coherence tomography	
Greyscale	High definition			
Ultrasound (20–45 MHz)	Ultrasound (60 MHz)	Image source	Near-infrared light	
100–200 μm/200–300 μm	40–60 μm/90–150 μm	Resolution (axial/lateral)	15–20 μm/20–40 μm	
10 mm	4–8 mm	Tissue penetration	1–2.5 mm	
+++	+ + +	Stent expansion	+ + +	
++	+ +	Malapposition	+++	
+	++	Thrombus	+++	
+	++	Lipids	++	
+ +	+ +	Calcifications	+ + +	
++	+ ++	Edge dissection	+++	

INTRAVASCULAR ULTRASOUND AND OPTICAL COHERENCE TOMOGRAPHY

Intravascular ultrasound is based on coronary tissue-mediated sound wave reflection and image acquisition [3]. A miniaturized ultrasound transducer generates ultrasound waves that reflect from structures in a coronary artery, return to the transducer, and are converted into an image (a two-dimensional and grayscale cross-section, Figure 1A and B). Detailed information on analyzing IVUS images can be found in expert documents describing this methodology [4]. In recent years, high-definition intravascular ultrasound modalities have been widely introduced into clinical practice [5].

OCT is a technique utilizing a near-infrared light source with a wavelength range of 1250–1350 nm. The use of a light beam allows for the acquisition of images with ten times higher resolution than IVUS (from 10 to 20 μ m) and enables an OCT probe to move quickly inside a vessel at a speed of 40 mm per second, depending on the OCT

system used [6]. A comparison of IVUS and OCT systems is presented in Table 1.

Examples of various types of atherosclerotic plaques on IVUS and OCT imaging are presented in Figure 2.

ASSESSMENT OF INTERMEDIATE LEFT MAIN LESIONS

Intermediate lesions of the left main coronary artery can be assessed using both invasive functional and imaging methods. However, the latter provides additional data for patients who have unstable plaques resulting in acute coronary syndrome or who are suspected of having spasm within the left main coronary artery. Moreover, they enable the visualization of the advancement of atherosclerosis both in the left coronary artery stem and its branches [7], which is essential when planning percutaneous revascularization.

Jasti et al. [8] showed that the minimum lumen area in the left main coronary artery, which correlates with the



Figure 2. Examples of atherosclerotic plaques in intravascular ultrasound (top line) and optical coherence tomography (bottom line) imaging

fractional flow reserve (FFR) value <0.75, is 5.9 mm² with high sensitivity and specificity of the results. Based on these observations, Hernandez et al. [9] proved in the LITRO study that postponing the revascularization procedure based on the IVUS result (>6.0 mm²) is safe within a 2-year follow-up period. Data from the publications of Polish authors indicate that the minimum left main coronary artery lumen area correlating with a negative FFR result (>0.75) is 8.9 mm² [10].

On the other hand, Kang et al. [11] showed in a population of 55 patients that the cut-off value for FFR < 0.80 is the left main lumen area of 4.8 mm², while for FFR <0.75 it should be 4.1 mm² for the Asian population assessed in this study. It has been calculated that in patients with BMI <24 kg/m² or left ventricular mass <156 g, the surface area of the vessel lumen corresponding to FFR < 0.80 should be at least 4.1 mm² [12]. This observation is consistent with the general opinion of experts who point out that the results obtained by the Korean authors are related to the demographic characteristics of Asian populations (body weight, height, overweight), which translates into smaller dimensions of the left main and coronary vessels in general. Recently, it has also been found that ethnic differences can influence the size of coronary arteries independently of parameters that determine body size, such as body weight, height, or body surface area (BSA) [13]. For this reason, the authors of the European position paper on intracoronary imaging recommend treating the interval 4.5–6.0 mm² as a gray zone and, in each case, consider the functional assessment of stenosis in the left main coronary artery [14] (Figure 3).

The use of OCT to assess the significance of intermediate left main stenosis cannot currently be recommended in everyday clinical practice. Data in this regard are limited to one study — Dato et al. [15]. Based on the criteria from their center, the authors assumed that the patient requires revascularization in the case of large plaque volume or the



Figure 3. Schematic representation of borderline left main minimal lumen area seen on an intravascular ultrasound. According to [14], a lumen area less than 4.5 mm² (**A**) requires revascularization, but the lumen presented in subpanel **C** could be deferred from treatment. Values in between should be diagnosed with additional techniques (**B**, i.e. fractional flow reserve)

presence of ulceration in the left main or significant lesions in the left anterior descending (LAD) and/or circumflex (Cx) artery ostium [15].

ASSESSMENT OF INTERMEDIATE NON LEFT MAIN LESIONS

The use of intracoronary imaging methods to assess the significance of stenosis in non-left main lesions is not currently recommended in the European position paper [14] mainly due to large discrepancies in the results obtained by different authors. A functional evaluation should be the method of choice. In some cases (20%–25%), the results of the significance assessment based on imaging methods were false positive, which was confirmed by the FIRST study [16] and a meta-analysis of clinical trials with IVUS and FFR [17].

OPTIMIZATION OF CORONARY ANGIOPLASTY PROCEDURES

Non left main lesions

Published studies and meta-analyses of studies using IVUS clearly indicate its benefits during coronary angioplasty procedures with stent implantation [18–25], including a reduction in long-term mortality and the frequency of re-revascularization and restenosis [18–21]. It should be emphasized that this also applies to patients undergoing



Figure 4. Optimization criteria after implantation of stents into non-LMS lesions. The minimal stent area (MSA) should be >5.5 mm² by intravascular ultrasound or >4.5 mm² by optical coherence tomography (red circle). Alternatively, MSA should be >80% of average reference lumen areas (i.e. distal reference — green circle). Additional criteria as follows: no significant dissection (<60 degrees, flap limited to the intima and <2 mm in length), no extensive protrusion, no significant strut malapossition (<1 mm in length, axial distance <0.4 mm), and finally plaque burden at stent edge <50 % without lipid pool) [26]









Figure 5. Intracoronary periprocedural imaging using optical coherence tomography and examples of post-percutaneous coronary intervention. **A**. Malapposition of stent struts (the malapposition distance was determined). **B**. Edge dissection (the blue arrows). **C**. Tissue protrusion (the red arrows). **D**. Thrombus (the green arrow)

*Wire shadow

comprehensive procedures (bifurcations, left main lesions, long lesions, etc.) [21]. Such clinical trial results and meta-analyzes are influenced by at least the following factors — a reduction of the frequency of underexpanded stenting and of the risk of wrong stent position ("geographic miss" [GM], the stent does not cover the entire atherosclerotic plaque), and the treatment of edge dissections [26]. Consequently, the risk of stent failure (STF) is reduced [27], as well as the incidence of periprocedural infarction, which ultimately improves the prognosis in long-term follow-up.

The benefits of optimizing PCI procedures with OCT have been confirmed in the articles by Prati et al. [28], the DOCTORS [29], and ILUMIEN III studies [30]. The meta-analysis by Buccheri et al. [23] confirmed that the risk of death and other cardiovascular events is lower with IVUS or OCT than with procedures performed under angiography guidance. Researchers note that the OCT resolution allows for the identification of abnormalities that require correction, such as malapposition >400 μ m and length >1 mm, marginal dissection above 60 degrees of vessel circumference, length >2 mm, or disturbance in the structure of the medial/outer membrane of the vessel [26] (Figures 4 and 5).

In the opinion of the authors of the report, operators who decide to use intracoronary imaging should pay attention to several aspects, such as the reference size of the vessel and the composition of the atherosclerotic plaque (in terms of the occurrence of calcifications and the selection of the technique of lesion preparation). When choosing the method, i.e., IVUS or OCT, it should be remembered that in the OCT examination, the size of the vessel lumen is about 10% smaller than in IVUS [31]. Additionally, the reference segments (without changes observed on angiograms) usually have atherosclerotic plaque covering about 30%–50% of the vessel area [32]. The optimal site selected as the reference segment in the IVUS/OCT assessment should be the section of the vessel in which the plaque covers less than 50% of the vessel area. Both edges of the stent should be in such places. If this is not possible, the area with the smallest burden of the atherosclerotic plaque should be chosen. In the opinion of the authors of the report, it is additionally necessary to pay attention to the morphological features of the plaque — avoiding calcification, "soft" plaques (with a high lipid load), which could be responsible for a greater risk of dissection or flow disorders [26].

In the opinion of the authors, the selection of the stent diameter should be based on the criteria taken from the OPINION study [33]. The size (diameter) of the implanted stent should not exceed the obtained vessel diameter measurement (EEM diameter, the so-called media-to-media diameter measurement, dimension based on the outer membrane) increased by a maximum of 0.25 mm [33]. Dimensioning based on the averaged dimensions of two diameters (maximum and minimum) was also allowed – it is a good solution when the shape of the vessel is far from the circle [21].

Analyzing the results of clinical trials in terms of the minimum stent lumen area reducing the risk of adverse events during the observation period, it was found that it should be 5.5 mm² [34] in the case of IVUS studies and 4.5 mm² in the case of OCT [35], which also was confirmed by the European recommendations [14]. Alternatively, the second method of assessing the minimum stent area (MSA) is a reference vessel lumen area criterion (Figure 4) of at least 80% of the averaged proximal and distal lumen area of the vessel. It is also known that obtaining an MSA value larger than the lumen area in the distal reference segment allowed reducing the incidence of cardiac events by up to 1.5% per year [20].

At this point, it is necessary to mention the more and more widely used mnemonic principle of minimal lumen diameter (MLD) MAX, which helps in optimizing angioplasty procedures using OCT. More information can be found in the literature [36].

Another context, in which the authors of the opinion recommend the use of intracoronary imaging, especially OCT, is the failure of stent implantation (STF). It applies not only to in-stent restenosis, but primarily to stent thrombosis and the identification of pathologies such as stent underexpansion, edge dissection, GM, neoatherosclerosis, and stent struts fractures in OCT [37]. The use of IVUS/OCT imaging is, in the opinion of the authors, very useful in planning the re-treatment of revascularization and in identifying potential threats to these procedures (calcification, TCFA, etc.). Additionally, the resolution of OCT helps to identify



Figure 6. Schematic representation of optimal minimal lumen areas after left main stent implantation. The different values were shown in the Asian (Kang criteria) and in the European (EXCEL study) populations; **A** represents minimal stent area at the left main trunk (8.2 mm² for Kang and 9.3 mm²); **B** indicates POC-transitional zone (polygon of confluence) and the 7.0 mm² for Kang criteria and no data for Excel study; **C** represents left anterior descending artery with 6.3 mm² of Kang criteria and 6.9 mm² for EXCEL trial; **D** indicates ostium of the circumflex artery and 5.0 mm² of Kang data and 5.3 mm² for EXCEL data

EXCEL data presented during Fellow Course 2021 (unpublished)

the causes of acute coronary syndromes associated with neoatherosclerosis [38].

Left main lesions

The use of intra-coronary ultrasound during stent implantation in the left main coronary artery resulted in a significant reduction of the composite endpoint compared to angiography-guided procedures, including those performed in the distal segment of the left coronary artery [39, 40]. In other studies, the use of IVUS by operators reduced the incidence of stent thrombosis during the long-term follow-up [41, 42].

In a study assessing the mechanisms of in-stent restenosis, Kang et al. [43] showed that immediately after stent implantation in the two-stent technique in the left main coronary artery, the minimum lumen area should be 8.2 mm² in the left main coronary artery, 6.3 mm² at the ostium of the LAD and 5.0 mm² at the ostium of the Cx. The literature refers to it as the Kang criteria (Figure 6). They are now commonly used in the clinical practice of invasive cardiologists to evaluate the outcome of stent implantation in the left main coronary artery. However, they are obtained in populations of patients with lower body weight, and, due to ethnic differences, they may be of limited use in the Polish population. At this point, it should be noted that the reports from a conference based on European and American patients indicate higher values of the minimum stent surface areas after left main coronary artery angioplasty. In the work of the Spanish authors [44], using predefined optimization criteria for left main coronary artery angioplasty significantly reduced the frequency of

Table 2. A summary of the experts' opinion on the clinical use of intravascular imaging

Clinical scenario	Statement	Choice IVUS/OCT
Optimization of native coro- nary artery stenting	In the case of native coronary artery stenting, intracoronary imaging should be considered both before (for vessel sizing, assessment of calcifications, etc.) and after the procedure (assessment of stent expansion, edge dissections, geographic miss, etc.). It is recommended to achieve 5.5 mm ² (MLA) (in IVUS) or 4.5 mm ² (in OCT) and/or >80% of a vessel lumen area in its distal reference segment. An operator should be focused on correcting struts' malapposition and large edge dissections. In the case of long lesions and CTO recanalization procedures, it is recommended to use intracoronary imaging at every stage of the procedures	IVUS = OCT
Optimization of revascu- larization in patients with coronary calcifications	Intracoronary imaging is recommended to select an appropriate therapeutic technique, including ablation, in selected patients with moderate to severe coronary calcifications. Its use after stent implantation allows for optimizing prosthesis expansion	OCT >IVUS
Assessment of intermediate left main lesions	IVUS is recommended to assess an intermediate left main stenosis. The examination should evaluate the orifices of both main vessels, as well as morphology and extent (plaque continuity) of athero-sclerosis. It is recommended to consider 6 mm ² as the cut-off point for revascularization/deferral. In questionable cases, the examination may be supplemented with an FFR assessment	IVUS
Guidance of left main stenting	IVUS should be mandatory in every case of the left main stenting procedure, particularly for two-stent techniques. It is recommended to use IVUS both before (planning) and after stent implantation (verifying stent expansion, malapposition, etc.). OCT imaging for stenting is feasible but has some limitations due to the acquisition technique	IVUS >OCT
Intracoronary imaging in acute coronary syndromes	Intracoronary imaging is recommended in every case of suspected acute coronary syndrome with no obvious evidence of a culprit lesion. It should be performed to rule out abnormalities, such as plaque erosion or rupture, intravascular thrombus, or spontaneous dissection of a coronary artery. OCT is preferred for diagnosis and treatment of acute coronary syndrome related to stent failure caused by edge dissection, large malappositons, plaque prolapse, and neoatherosclerosis	OCT >IVUS
Imaging for spontaneous coronary artery dissection	Intravascular ultrasound is preferred due to no-contrast imaging that could expand intramural hematoma	IVUS >OCT
Stent failure	Intracoronary imaging is recommended to rule out mechanical causes of restenosis or stent thrombo- sis, such as stent underexpansion, edge dissection, acquired malapposition, and neoaterosclerosis. It can help choose an appropriate therapy	OCT >IVUS
Cardiac allograft vasculo- pathy	Intracoronary imaging (particularly IVUS) is recommended as a routine diagnostic tool for CAV after heart transplantation according to the recommendations of transplant societies	IVUS >OCT
Assessment of neoathero- sclerosis	Intracoronary imaging is recommended in every patient with suspected transformation to neoathero- sclerosis to diagnose the nature of the lesion and plan a revascularization strategy	OCT >IVUS
Other applications	CTO procedures (wire advancement, true/false lumen navigation) — studies on progression/regression of atherosclerosis	IVUS/OCT

Abbreviations: CAV, cardiac allograft vasculopathy; CTO, chronic total occlusion; FFR, fractional flow reserve; IVUS, intravascular ultrasound; OCT, optical coherence tomography

the composite endpoint compared to procedures guided only by angiography [44].

In the opinion of the authors of the statement, IVUS in conjunction with the above-mentioned optimization criteria should take place in each case of left main coronary angioplasty. Operators should also take into account ethnic differences and strive for maximum optimization of the stent dimensions in accordance with the principle "bigger is better". Indeed, this issue requires further research.

The work of Fujino et al. [45] showed that it is possible to perform OCT in the left main both before and after angioplasty. However, visualizing the entire left main segment is relatively tricky (ostial lesions), although detecting malapposition is significantly more frequent than in the case of intracoronary ultrasound. A recent report by Cortese et al. [46] revealed that the correction of underexpansion and malapposition of the stent struts might affect the angiographic outcome of the procedure in distal stenosis, although without a statistically significant change in the clinical prognosis.

It should be mentioned here that publications of the first clinical trials in which OCT was used to optimize left main stem (LMS) stent implantation procedures are already

available in the literature. We talk about the LEMON [47] and ROCK II [48] studies.

Identification of culprit lesions in acute coronary syndrome

Invasive imaging should be recommended in patients with acute coronary syndrome who do not present typical coronary changes on angiography. It has been shown that the incidence of unstable lesions in patients with MINOCA reaches 25% despite angiographically normal coronary arteries or with a slight intensity of atherosclerotic lesions [49] in the vessel responsible for acute coronary syndrome (ACS). Unstable plaques are also found in patients with Tako-tsubo cardiomyopathy [50, 51], as described above.

In patients with acute coronary syndromes, it has been shown that changes that may be responsible for ACS affect many places in the coronary arteries [52], and the type of pathology associated with its occurrence may include atherosclerotic rupture or erosion, spontaneous coronary dissection, or coronary spasm [53]. Moreover, it should be emphasized that intracoronary imaging plays a significant role in the diagnosis of spontaneous dissection of the coronary artery [54].

The resolution of the OCT examination allows for the detection of a small thrombus, invisible in other imag-



Figure 7. An algorithm for the management of calcified lesions and technique preference

Abbreviations: PCI, percutaneous coronary intervention; other — see Table 2

ing tests, and therefore should be recommended as an additional diagnostic tool in the case of suspected acute coronary syndrome and no significant lesions on the coronary angiography.

The OCT resolution also allows direct measuring of the thickness of the fibrous cap of the plaque. Sawada et al. [55] showed in a population of 56 patients that neither VH-IVUS nor OCT used alone were sufficient for reliable identification of TCFA (thin cap fibrous atheroma). Moreover, the use of OCT enables the detection of intracoronary thrombus, ruptured plaque, and TCFA in vessels not responsible for ACS [55, 56]. This finding confirmed previous IVUS observations that plaque instability is a general coronary phenomenon [52].

THE ROLE OF INVASIVE IMAGING IN CALCIFIED LESIONS

Calcifications are a risk factor for abnormal stent deployment [57]. The work of Hoffmann et al. [58] and Fujino et al. [59] clearly showed that the presence of calcifications covering >180 degrees of the vessel circumference and the length of these calcifications >5 mm in the OCT assessment increase the risk of stent underexpansion. The recently published work by Wang et al. [60] shows that intracoronary ultrasound is more sensitive in detecting calcifications than optical coherence tomography and, of course, contrast angiography. On the other hand, the advantage of OCT is the possibility of measuring the thickness of the calcification [59], which is impossible in the case of IVUS due to the acoustic shadow. This makes it possible, together with the volumetric evaluation, to use OCT as a tool for the stent underexpansion prediction algorithm. The research of Yamamoto et al. [61] shows that high-speed rotablation and orbital atherectomy are effective in the case of superficial calcifications and vessels in which the lumen cross-section is smaller than the size of the devices as mentioned above (burr and orbital crown). At the same time, lithotripsy is effective in the case of lesions with calcifications of both superficial and deep localization [62], which may be necessary in the case of lesions within the left main coronary artery [63]. Figure 7 presents a diagram of the procedure depending on the anatomical conditions and the properties of both methods in detecting calcifications. Examples of other algorithms for dealing with calcified lesions are available in the literature [64].

OTHER APPLICATIONS — CARDIAC ALLOGRAFT VASCULOPATHY

Coronary vasculopathy (CAV) following cardiac transplantation [65] presents as progressive changes in epicardial arteries, often in the absence of lumen-narrowing lesions. For this reason, the use of intracoronary imaging is recommended, along with angiographic examination 4–6 weeks after heart transplantation to exclude coronary artery disease in the donor and its repeat after one year to assess disease progression. The use of OCT requires further research, but the results so far have been promising [66].



Figure 8. Long-term follow-up after percutaneous coronary angioplasty. **A–D.** Examples of neoatherosclerosis after bare-metal stent/drug-eluting stent implantation. The red arrows — calcifications; the blue arrows — lipid accumulation; the yellow arrows — macro-phage accumulation, the green arrow — thrombus

*Wire shadow

Table 3. Reimbursement conditions in Poland

- Left main lesion severity assessment
- · Proximal left anterior descendent artery lesion severity assessment
- Multivessel coronary artery lesion severity assessment
- Follow-up of left main stenting
- Assessment of mechanisms and treatment selection in case of stent failure (in-stent restenosis, stent thrombosis, suboptimal acute result suspicion)
- Diagnosis of myocardial infarction in case of ambiguous angiography result
- Diagnosis of cardiac allograft vasculopathy

OTHER APPLICATIONS — NEOATHEROSCLEROSIS

Long observation periods of patients with implanted coronary stents revealed a new phenomenon — neoaterosclerosis [67]. It often takes the form of in-stent restenosis when the degree of narrowing of the vessel exceeds 50% of the vessel lumen. However, only intravascular imaging allows for precise visualization of the vessel wall pathology (Figure 8), consisting of TCFA lesions, plaque ruptures, calcification, or stent thrombus [68]. For this reason, OCT is the technique of choice to visualize the changes mentioned above.

REFUND POLICY

The reimbursement of intravascular imaging in Poland is carried out based on Regulation No. 38/2017/DSOZ of the President of the National Health Fund of May 29, 2017. The reimbursement covers only intravascular ultrasound, both for chronic and acute coronary syndromes, and is assigned to the code: ICD-9 00.241. However, at the beginning of 2022, OCT was introduced by the Ministry of Health to the list of guaranteed benefits, which gives hope that it might

be included in the reimbursement of the National Health Fund. Table 3 presents anatomical and clinical conditions of reimbursement in Poland.

CONCLUSIONS

Data from clinical trials and large registries demonstrate the benefits of intracoronary imaging. The long-term outcomes may be significantly improved with these modalities. In many cases, both these techniques complement each other in obtaining information on pathologies of a coronary artery wall. It should also be emphasized that cost-effectiveness analysis provided arguments in favor of using intracoronary imaging in everyday clinical practice [69], which should translate directly into financing of both intracoronary imaging methods. Nowadays, only intravascular ultrasound is reimbursed in Poland, but it should be highlighted that optical coherence tomography should also be reimbursed with a similar indication as IVUS.

Article information

Conflict of interest: TP reports speaking honoraria from Philips IGT and Abbott Vascular. JL reports speaking honoraria from Philips IGT and Abbott Vascular. JK reports Philips IGT and Abbott Vascular. JP reports speaking honoraria from Boston Scientific. WW reports speaking honoraria from Abbott Vascular and Boston Scientific. AW reports speaking honoraria from Abbott Vascular and Boston Scientific and proctoring fee from Boston Scientific. RG reports Philips IGT, Abbott Vascular, and proctoring fees from Philips IGT.

Open access: This article is available in open access under Creative Common Attribution-Non-Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) license, allowing to download articles and share them with others as long as they credit the authors and the publisher, but without permission to change them in any way or use them commercially. For commercial use, please contact the journal office at kardiologiapolska@ptkardio.pl.

REFERENCES

- Gąsior P, Bryniarski K, Roleder M, et al. Knowledge of intravascular imaging in interventional cardiology practice: results of a survey on Polish interventional cardiologists. Kardiol Pol. 2019; 77(12): 1193–1195, doi: 10.33963/KP.15077, indexed in Pubmed: 31782752.
- Koskinas KC, Nakamura M, Räber L, et al. Current use of intracoronary imaging in interventional practice — Results of a European Association of Percutaneous Cardiovascular Interventions (EAPCI) and Japanese Association of Cardiovascular Interventions and Therapeutics (CVIT) Clinical Practice Survey. EuroIntervention. 2018; 14(4): e475–e484, doi: 10.4244/EIJY18M03_01, indexed in Pubmed: 29537966.
- Yock PG, Linker DT, Angelsen BA. Two-dimensional intravascular ultrasound: technical development and initial clinical experience. J Am Soc Echocardiogr. 1989; 2(4): 296–304, doi: 10.1016/s0894-7317(89)80090-2, indexed in Pubmed: 2697308.
- Mintz G, Garcia-Garcia H, Nicholls S, et al. Clinical expert consensus document on standards for acquisition, measurement and reporting of intravascular ultrasound regression/progression studies. EuroIntervention. 2011; 6(9): 1123–1130, doi: 10.4244/eijv6i9a195.
- Ono M, Kawashima H, Hara H, et al. Advances in IVUS/OCT and Future Clinical Perspective of Novel Hybrid Catheter System in Coronary Imaging. Front Cardiovasc Med. 2020; 7: 119, doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2020.00119, indexed in Pubmed: 32850981.
- Prati F, Regar E, Mintz GS, et al. Expert review document on methodology, terminology, and clinical applications of optical coherence tomography: physical principles, methodology of image acquisition, and clinical application for assessment of coronary arteries and atherosclerosis. Eur Heart J. 2010; 31(4): 401–415, doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehp433, indexed in Pubmed: 19892716.
- Oviedo C, Maehara A, Mintz GS, et al. Intravascular ultrasound classification of plaque distribution in left main coronary artery bifurcations: where is the plaque really located? Circ Cardiovasc Interv. 2010; 3(2): 105–112, doi: 10.1161/CIRCINTERVENTIONS.109.906016, indexed in Pubmed: 20197513.
- Jasti V, Ivan E, Yalamanchili V, et al. Correlations between fractional flow reserve and intravascular ultrasound in patients with an ambiguous left main coronary artery stenosis. Circulation. 2004; 110(18): 2831–2836, doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000146338.62813.E7, indexed in Pubmed: 15492302.
- Hernandez Jd, Hernandez FH, Alfonso F, et al. Prospective application of pre-defined intravascular ultrasound criteria for assessment of intermediate left main coronary artery lesions. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2011; 58(4): 351–358, doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2011.02.064, indexed in Pubmed: 21757111.
- Legutko J, Dudek D, Jakala J, et al. TCT-309 Correlation between fractional flow reserve and intravascular ultrasound in patients with isolated ambiguous left main stenosis. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2012; 60(17): B88, doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2012.08.333.
- Kang S, Lee J, Ahn JI, et al. intravascular ultrasound-derived predictors for fractional flow reserve in intermediate left main disease. J Am Coll Cardiol Intv. 2011; 4: 1168–1174, doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2011.08.009, indexed in Pubmed: 22115656.
- Park SJ, Ahn JM, Kang SJ, et al. Intravascular ultrasound-derived minimal lumen area criteria for functionally significant left main coronary artery stenosis. J Am Coll Cardiol Cardiovasc Interv. 2014; 7(8): 868–874, doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2014.02.015, indexed in Pubmed: 25147031.
- Skowronski J, Cho I, Mintz GS, et al. Inter-ethnic differences in normal coronary anatomy between Caucasian (Polish) and Asian (Korean) populations. Eur J Radiol. 2020; 130: 109185, doi: 10.1016/j.ejrad.2020.109185, indexed in Pubmed: 32771813.
- Johnson TW, Räber L, Di Mario C, et al. Clinical use of intracoronary imaging. Part 2: acute coronary syndromes, ambiguous coronary angiography findings, and guiding interventional decision-making: an expert consensus document of the European Association of Percutaneous Cardiovascular Interventions. EuroIntervention. 2019; 15(5):434–451, doi: 10.4244/EIJY19M06_02, indexed in Pubmed: 31258132.
- Dato I, Burzotta F, Trani C, et al. Optical coherence tomography guidance for the management of angiographically intermediate left main bifurcation lesions: Early clinical experience. Int J Cardiol. 2017; 248: 108–113, doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2017.06.125, indexed in Pubmed: 28709701.

- Waksman R, Legutko J, Singh J, et al. FIRST: Fractional Flow Reserve and Intravascular Ultrasound Relationship Study. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2013;61(9): 917–923, doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2012.12.012, indexed in Pubmed: 23352786.
- Nascimento B, de Sousa M, Koo B, et al. Diagnostic accuracy of intravascular ultrasound- derived minimal lumen area compared with fractional flow reserve — meta-analysis pooled accuracy of IVUS luminal area versus FFR. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv. 2014; 84(3): 377–385, doi: 10.1002/ccd.25047, indexed in Pubmed: 23737441.
- Gil RJ, Pawłowski T, Dudek D, et al. Comparison of angiographically guided direct stenting technique with direct stenting and optimal balloon angioplasty guided with intravascular ultrasound. The multicenter, randomized trial results. Am Heart J. 2007; 154(4):669–675, doi: 10.1016/j. ahj.2007.06.017, indexed in Pubmed: 17892989.
- Parise H, Maehara A, Stone GW, et al. Meta-analysis of randomized studies comparing intravascular ultrasound versus angiographic guidance of percutaneous coronary intervention in pre-drug-eluting stent era. Am J Cardiol. 2011; 107(3): 374–382, doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2010.09.030, indexed in Pubmed: 21257001.
- Hong SJ, Mintz GS, Ahn CM, et al. Effect of intravascular ultrasound-guided drug-eluting stent implantation: 5-year follow-up of the IVUS-XPL randomized trial. J Am Coll Cardiol Cardiovasc Interv. 2020; 13(1): 62–71, doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2019.09.033, indexed in Pubmed: 31918944.
- Gao XF, Ge Z, Kong XQ, et al. Intravascular ultrasound versus angiography-guided drug-eluting stent implantation: the ULTIMATE trial. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2018; 72(24): 3126–3137, doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2018.09.013, indexed in Pubmed: 30261237.
- Choi KiH, Song YB, Lee JM, et al. Impact of intravascular ultrasound-guided percutaneous coronary intervention on long-term clinical outcomes in patients undergoing complex procedures. J Am Coll Cardiol Cardiovasc Interv. 2019; 12(7): 607–620, doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2019.01.227, indexed in Pubmed: 30878474.
- 23. Buccheri S, Franchina G, Romano S, et al. Clinical outcomes following intravascular imaging-guided versus coronary angiography-guided percutaneous coronary intervention with stent implantation: a systematic review and bayesian network meta-analysis of 31 studies and 17,882 patients. J Am Coll Cardiol Cardiovasc Interv. 2017; 10(24): 2488–2498, doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2017.08.051, indexed in Pubmed: 29153502.
- Ahn JM, Kang SJ, Yoon SH, et al. Meta-Analysis of outcomes after intravascular ultrasound–guided versus angiography-guided drug-eluting stent implantation in 26,503 patients enrolled in three randomized trials and 14 observational studies. Am J Cardiol. 2014; 113(8): 1338–1347, doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2013.12.043, indexed in Pubmed: 24685326.
- Gao XF, Ge Z, Kong XQ, et al. 3-Year outcomes of the ULTIMATE trial comparing intravascular ultrasound versus angiography-guided drug-eluting stent implantation. J Am Coll Cardiol Cardiovasc Interv. 2021; 14(3): 247–257, doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2020.10.001, indexed in Pubmed: 33541535.
- Räber L, Mintz GS, Koskinas KC, et al. Clinical use of intracoronary imaging. Part 1: guidance and optimization of coronary interventions. An expert consensus document of the European Association of Percutaneous Cardiovascular Interventions. Eur Heart J. 2018; 39(35): 3281–3300, doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehy285, indexed in Pubmed: 29790954.
- 27. Doi H, Maehara A, Mintz GS, et al. Impact of post-intervention minimal stent area on 9-month follow-up patency of paclitaxel-eluting stents: an integrated intravascular ultrasound analysis from the TAXUS IV, V, and VI and TAXUS ATLAS Workhorse, Long Lesion, and Direct Stent Trials. JACC Cardiovasc Interv. 2009; 2(12): 1269–1275, doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2009.10.005, indexed in Pubmed: 20129555.
- Prati F, Di Vito L, Biondi-Zoccai G, et al. Angiography alone versus angiography plus optical coherence tomography to guide decision-making during percutaneous coronary intervention: the Centro per la Lotta contro l'Infarto-Optimisation of Percutaneous Coronary Intervention (CLI-OPCI) study. EuroIntervention. 2012; 8(7): 823–829, doi: 10.4244/EIJV8I7A125, indexed in Pubmed: 23034247.
- 29. Meneveau N, Souteyrand G, Motreff P, et al. Optical coherence tomography to optimize results of percutaneous coronary intervention in patients with non-st-elevation acute coronary syndrome: results of the multicenter, randomized DOCTORS study (Does Optical Coherence Tomography

Optimize Results of Stenting). Circulation. 2016; 134(13): 906–917, doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.116.024393, indexed in Pubmed: 27573032.

- Ali ZA, Karimi Galougahi K, Maehara A, et al. Optical coherence tomography compared with intravascular ultrasound and with angiography to guide coronary stent implantation (ILUMIEN III: OPTIMIZE PCI): a randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2016; 388(10060): 2618–2628, doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(16)31922-5, indexed in Pubmed: 27806900.
- Kubo T, Akasaka T, Shite J, et al. OCT compared with IVUS in a coronary lesion assessment: the OPUS-CLASS study. J Am Coll Cardiol Cardiovasc Imaging. 2013; 6(10): 1095–1104, doi: 10.1016/j.jcmg.2013.04.014, indexed in Pubmed: 24011777.
- Mintz GS, Painter JA, Pichard AD, et al. Atherosclerosis in angiographically "normal" coronary artery reference segments: an intravascular ultrasound study with clinical correlations. J Am Coll Cardiol. 1995; 25(7): 1479–1485, doi: 10.1016/0735-1097(95)00088-l, indexed in Pubmed: 7759694.
- Otake H, Kubo T, Takahashi H, et al. Optical frequency domain imaging versus intravascular ultrasound in percutaneous coronary intervention (OPINION trial): results from the OPINION imaging study. J Am Coll Cardiol Cardiovasc Imaging. 2018; 11(1): 111–123, doi: 10.1016/j. jcmg.2017.06.021, indexed in Pubmed: 28917678.
- Hong MK, Mintz GS, Lee CW, et al. Intravascular ultrasound predictors of angiographic restenosis after sirolimus-eluting stent implantation. Eur Heart J. 2006; 27(11): 1305–1310, doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehi882, indexed in Pubmed: 16682378.
- Prati F, Romagnoli E, Burzotta F, et al. Clinical impact of OCT findings during PCI: the CLI-OPCI II study. J Am Coll Cardiol Cardiovasc Imaging. 2015; 8(11): 1297–1305, doi: 10.1016/j.jcmg.2015.08.013, indexed in Pubmed: 26563859.
- Ali ZA, Galougahi KK, Mintz GS, et al. Intracoronary optical coherence tomography: state of the art and future directions. EuroIntervention. 2021; 17(2):e105–e123, doi: 10.4244/EIJ-D-21-00089, indexed in Pubmed: 34110288.
- Hong SJ, Lee SY, Hong MKi. Clinical implication of optical coherence tomography-based neoatherosclerosis. J Korean Med Sci. 2017; 32(7): 1056–1061, doi: 10.3346/jkms.2017.32.7.1056, indexed in Pubmed: 28581259.
- Lee SY, Hur SH, Lee SG, et al. Optical coherence tomographic observation of in-stent neoatherosclerosis in lesions with more than 50% neointimal area stenosis after second-generation drug-eluting stent implantation. Circ Cardiovasc Interv. 2015; 8(2): e001878, doi: 10.1161/CIRCINTERVEN-TIONS.114.001878, indexed in Pubmed: 25613674
- Park SJ, Kim YH, Park DW, et al. Impact of intravascular ultrasound guidance on long-term mortality in stenting for unprotected left main coronary artery stenosis. Circ Cardiovasc Interv. 2009; 2(3): 167–177, doi: 10.1161/CIRCINTERVENTIONS.108.799494, indexed in Pubmed: 20031713.
- de la Torre Hernandez J, Alonso JB, Hospital JG, et al. Clinical impact of intravascular ultrasound guidance in drug-eluting stent implantation for unprotected left main coronary disease. JACC Cardiovasc Interv. 2014; 7(3): 244–254, doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2013.09.014, indexed in Pubmed: 24650399.
- Andell P, Karlsson S, Mohammad MA, et al. Intravascular ultrasound guidance is associated with better outcome in patients undergoing unprotected left main coronary artery stenting compared with angiography guidance alone. Circ Cardiovasc Interv. 2017; 10(5), doi: 10.1161/CIRCINTERVEN-TIONS.116.004813, indexed in Pubmed: 28487356.
- 42. Gao XF, Kan J, Zhang YJ, et al. Comparison of one-year clinical outcomes between intravascular ultrasound-guided versus angiography-guided implantation of drug-eluting stents for left main lesions: a single-center analysis of a 1,016-patient cohort. Patient Prefer Adherence. 2014; 8: 1299–1309, doi: 10.2147/PPA.S65768, indexed in Pubmed: 25278749.
- 43. Kang SJ, Ahn JM, Song H, et al. Comprehensive intravascular ultrasound assessment of stent area and its impact on restenosis and adverse cardiac events in 403 patients with unprotected left main disease. Circ Cardiovasc Interv. 2011;4(6): 562–569, doi: 10.1161/CIRCINTERVENTIONS.111.964643, indexed in Pubmed: 22045969.
- de la Torre Hernandez JM, Garcia Camarero T, Baz Alonso JA, et al. Outcomes of predefined optimisation criteria for intravascular ultrasound guidance of left main stenting. EuroIntervention. 2020; 16(3): 210–217, doi: 10.4244/EIJ-D-19-01057, indexed in Pubmed: 32011286.
- 45. Fujino Y, Bezerra HG, Attizzani GF, et al. Frequency-domain optical coherence tomography assessment of unprotected left main coronary artery disease-a comparison with intravascular ultrasound. Catheter Car-

diovasc Interv. 2013; 82(3): E173–E183, doi: 10.1002/ccd.24843, indexed in Pubmed: 23359350.

- Cortese B, Burzotta F, Alfonso F, et al. Role of optical coherence tomography for distal left main stem angioplasty. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv. 2020; 96(4): 755–761, doi: 10.1002/ccd.28547, indexed in Pubmed: 31631525.
- Amabile N, Rangé G, Souteyrand G, et al. Optical coherence tomography to guide percutaneous coronary intervention of the left main coronary artery: the LEMON study. EuroIntervention. 2021; 17(2): e124–e131, doi: 10.4244/EIJ-D-20-01121, indexed in Pubmed: 33226003.
- Cortese B, de la Torre Hernandez JM, Lanocha M, et al. Optical coherence tomography, intravascular ultrasound or angiography guidance for distal left main coronary stenting. The ROCK cohort II study. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv. 2022; 99(3): 664–673, doi: 10.1002/ccd.29959, indexed in Pubmed: 34582631.
- Opolski M, Spiewak M, Marczak M, et al. Mechanisms of Myocardial Infarction in Patients With Nonobstructive Coronary Artery Disease. J Am Coll Cardiol Cardiovasc Imaging . 2019; 12(11): 2210–2221, doi: 10.1016/j. jcmg.2018.08.022, indexed in Pubmed: 30343070.
- Eitel I, Stiermaier T, Graf T, et al. Optical coherence tomography to evaluate plaque burden and morphology in patients with Takotsubo syndrome. J Am Heart Assoc. 2016; 5(12), doi: 10.1161/JAHA.116.004474, indexed in Pubmed: 28007746.
- Pawłowski T, Mintz G, Kulawik T, et al. Virtual histology intravascular ultrasound evaluation of the left anterior descending coronary artery in patients with transient left ventricular ballooning syndrome. Kardiol Pol. 2010; 68(10): 1093–1098.
- Vergallo R, Ren X, Yonetsu T, et al. Pancoronary plaque vulnerability in patients with acute coronary syndrome and ruptured culprit plaque: a 3-vessel optical coherence tomography study. Am Heart J. 2014; 167(1): 59–67, doi: 10.1016/j.ahj.2013.10.011, indexed in Pubmed: 24332143.
- Shin ES, Ann SH, Singh GB, et al. OCT-Defined morphological characteristics of coronary artery spasm sites in vasospastic angina. J Am Coll Cardiol Cardiovasc Imaging. 2015; 8(9): 1059–1067, doi: 10.1016/j. jcmg.2015.03.010, indexed in Pubmed: 26298073.
- Kądziela J, Kochman J, Grygier M, et al. The diagnosis and management of spontaneous coronary artery dissection — expert opinion of the Association of Cardiovascular Interventions (ACVI) of Polish Cardiac Society. Kardiol Pol. 2021; 79(7-8): 930–943, doi: 10.33963/KP.a2021.0068, indexed in Pubmed: 34292564.
- Sawada T, Shite J, Garcia-Garcia HM, et al. Feasibility of combined use of intravascular ultrasound radiofrequency data analysis and optical coherence tomography for detecting thin-cap fibroatheroma. Eur Heart J. 2008; 29(9): 1136–1146, doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehn132, indexed in Pubmed: 18397871.
- 56. Fujii K, Masutani M, Okumura T, et al. Frequency and predictor of coronary thin-cap fibroatheroma in patients with acute myocardial infarction and stable angina pectoris a 3-vessel optical coherence tomography study. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2008; 52(9): 787–788, doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2008.05.030, indexed in Pubmed: 18718429.
- Hong MK, Mintz GS, Lee CW, et al. Intravascular ultrasound predictors of angiographic restenosis after sirolimus-eluting stent implantation. Eur Heart J. 2006; 27(11): 1305–1310, doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehi882, indexed in Pubmed: 16682378.
- Hoffmann R, Mintz GS, Popma JJ, et al. Treatment of calcified coronary lesions with Palmaz-Schatz stents. An intravascular ultrasound study. Eur Heart J. 1998; 19(8): 1224–1231, doi: 10.1053/euhj.1998.1028, indexed in Pubmed: 9740344.
- Fujino A, Mintz G, Matsumura M, et al. TCT-28 a new optical coherence tomography-based calcium scoring system to predict stent underexpansion. EuroIntervention. 2017; 13(18): e2182–e2189, doi: 10.4244/EIJ-D-17-00962, indexed in Pubmed: 29400655.
- 60. Wang X, Matsumura M, Mintz GS, et al. In vivo calcium detection by comparing optical coherence tomography, intravascular ultrasound, and angiography. J Am Coll Cardiol Cardiovasc Imaging. 2017; 10(8): 869–879, doi: 10.1016/j.jcmg.2017.05.014, indexed in Pubmed: 28797408.
- Yamamoto MH, Maehara A, Karimi Galougahi K, et al. Mechanisms of orbital versus rotational atherectomy plaque modification in severely calcified lesions assessed by optical coherence tomography. J Am Coll Cardiol Cardiovasc Interv. 2017; 10(24): 2584–2586, doi: 10.1016/j. jcin.2017.09.031, indexed in Pubmed: 29268891.

- Ali ZA, Brinton TJ, Hill JM, et al. Optical coherence tomography characterization of coronary lithoplasty for treatment of calcified lesions: first description. J Am Coll Cardiol Cardiovasc Imaging. 2017; 10(8):897–906, doi: 10.1016/j.jcmg.2017.05.012, indexed in Pubmed: 28797412.
- Cosgrove CS, Wilson SJ, Bogle R, et al. Intravascular lithotripsy for lesion preparation in patients with calcific distal left main disease. EuroIntervention. 2020; 16(1): 76–79, doi: 10.4244/EIJ-D-19-01052, indexed in Pubmed: 32224480.
- Shlofmitz E, Ali ZA, Maehara A, et al. Intravascular imaging-guided percutaneous coronary intervention: a universal approach for optimization of stent implantation. Circ Cardiovasc Interv. 2020; 13(12): e008686, doi: 10.1161/CIRCINTERVENTIONS.120.008686, indexed in Pubmed: 33233934.
- Calé R, Rebocho M, Aguiar C, et al. Diagnosis, prevention and treatment of cardiac allograft vasculopathy. Rev Port Cardiol. 2012; 31(11): 721–730, doi: 10.1016/j.repce.2012.09.007.
- Dyrbuś M, Gąsior M, Szyguła-Jurkiewicz B, et al. The role of optical coherence tomography and other intravascular imaging modalities in cardiac allograft vasculopathy. Adv Interv Cardiol. 2020; 16(1): 19–29, doi: 10.5114/aic.2020.93909, indexed in Pubmed: 32368233.
- Park SJ, Kang SJ, Virmani R, et al. In-stent neoatherosclerosis: a final common pathway of late stent failure. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2012; 59(23): 2051–2057, doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2011.10.909, indexed in Pubmed: 22651862.
- Joner M, Koppara T, Byrne R, et al. Neoatherosclerosis in patients with coronary stent thrombosis. J Am Coll Cardiol Cardiovasc Interv. 2018; 11(14): 1340–1350, doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2018.02.029.
- Mueller C, Hodgson JM, Schindler C, et al. Cost-effectiveness of intracoronary ultrasound for percutaneous coronary interventions. Am J Cardiol. 2003; 91(2): 143–147, doi: 10.1016/s0002-9149(02)03099-0, indexed in Pubmed: 12521624.

Barbara Werner, MD, PhD (1924–2022) In memoriam

Bożena Werner

Department of Pediatric Cardiology and General Pediatrics, Medical University of Warsaw, Warszawa, Poland

Correspondence to: Prof. Bożena Werner, MD, PhD, Department of Pediatric Cardiology and General Pediatrics, Medical University of Warsaw, Zwirki i Wigury 61, 02–091 Warszawa, Poland, phone: + 48 22 317 95 88, e-mail: bozena.werner@wum.edu.pl Copyright by the Author(s), 2022 DOI: 10.33963/KP.a2022.0105

Received: April 18, 2022

Accepted: April 18, 2022

Early publication date: April 30, 2022 Barbara Werner née Szurig was born on April 10, 1924 in Warsaw (Figure 1) [1, 2]. Before World War II, she graduated from the renowned Słowacki Secondary School for Girls. During the war, she continued her education at clandestine courses for physicians under the aegis of the Private Vocational School for Auxiliary Sanitary Personnel of Doctor Jan Zaorski (subordinated to the clandestine Council of the Faculty of Medicine) of the University of Warsaw.

After the war, she completed her medical studies at the Faculty of Medicine of the University of Warsaw, graduating from it in June 1947 and receiving her medical diploma in 1949.

After completing her internship at the surgical ward of the hospital in Płońsk, she took up a job as a volunteer and fellow at the surgical ward of the Institute of Tuberculosis in Warsaw led by prof. Leon Manteuffel-Szoege. During her 26 years of work at the Institute, she went through successive steps of her



Figure 1. Barbara Werner

professional career, from the post of teaching assistant to the Head of the Department of Surgery.

In 1953, she completed first-degree, and in 1960 second-degree specialty training in surgical diseases, and in 1961 she completed specialty training in thoracic surgery. She was among the first female cardiac surgeons in Poland. She participated in many pioneering heart surgeries.

On October 7, 1966, she was awarded the title of Doctor of Medical Sciences on the basis of a dissertation entitled: "Surgical treatment of constrictive pericarditis (based on the experience with 100 pericardiectomies)".

In the years 1973–1980, she worked at the surgical ward of the Hospital at 17 Kasprzaka St. in Warsaw; from July 1975, she was its Deputy Head. From December 1980 until her retirement, she worked at the Institute of Cardiology in Warsaw as the Deputy Head of the 2nd Department of Cardiac Surgery headed by Professor Wacław Sitkowski.

She was an active member of the Warsaw Medical Society and the Polish Society of Cardiology. She was a co-author of scientific publications on the cardiosurgical treatment of constrictive pericarditis and mitral stenosis published in the *Kardiologia Polska* (Polish Heart Journal).

Barbara Werner had a beautiful war record [1–4]. She was a sanitary instructor of the Union of Polish Youth Future "Pet", then she served as a liaison officer in the Assault Groups of the Grey Regiments in the Warsaw District of the Home Army. From September 1943, she was a soldier of the "Zośka" battalion of the 2nd Rudy Company; her pseudonym was "Basia". She took part in the first assault of the battalion, codenamed "Wilanów", in the autumn of 1943, as a liaison officer of the commander Władysław Cieplak, pseudonym "Giewont". During the assault, she was apprehended while carrying a gun by a German patrol. She saved herself by jumping into a moat in the courtyard of the Wilanów Palace [2, 3].

She participated in the Warsaw Uprising as a liaison officer of the legendary Andrzej Romocki "Morro" [1, 2, 4]. She took part in battles in Wola and the Old Town as a rifleman in the ranks of the "Broda 53" Regiment of the Home Army Grouping "Radoslaw". On 19 August 1944, she was seriously wounded. Treated at the hospital at Miodowa St., she miraculously survived bombardment of this insurgent hospital.

After the war, just like other soldiers of the "Zośka" battalion, she was victimized by the security services. She refused to collaborate despite the threat of being taken to the Vistula embankment "from which you could take a good jump into the river" [5].

She devoted herself to her work and family. She married Andrzej Werner, a maxillofacial surgeon and a Home Army soldier. They raised two sons, Stanisław and Jan.

Until the last moments of her life, she was interested in the achievements of modern medicine. She participated in the activities of medical societies, gave interviews, and took part in ceremonies commemorating the Warsaw uprising.

For her merits during World War II, she was honored with the Cross of Valour, the Cross of the Warsaw Uprising, and the Officer's Cross of the Order of Polonia Restituta. She also received the *Digno Laude* Medal: "To One Worthy of Glory", which is awarded by the Warsaw Medical Society and the Association of Warsaw Insurgents to recognize soldiers of the Insurgent Sanitary Service for their outstanding bravery and sacrifice [1, 2].

Barbara Werner died on March 23, 2022. She was buried at the Old Powązki Cemetery in Warsaw.

She will always remain in the memory of those who knew her as a righteous and modest person, a charismatic doctor dedicated to her patients, a beloved mother, grandmother, and great-grandmother.

For me, she was a model of patriotic attitudes and professional commitment, and also my best friend.

Article information

Conflict of interest: None declared.

Open access: This article is available in open access under Creative Common Attribution-Non-Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) license, allowing to download articles and share them with others as long as they credit the authors and the publisher, but without permission to change them in any way or use them commercially. For commercial use, please contact the journal office at kardiologiapolska@ptkardio.pl.

REFERENCES

- Insurgents' biographies [in Polish]. Available online: https://www.1944. pl/powstancze-biogramy/barbara-szurig,44534.html [Access: April 21, 2020].
- Barbara Szurig-Werner [article in Polish]. Wikipedia. Available online: https://pl.wikipedia.org/wiki/Barbara_Szurig-Werner [Access: April 21, 2022].
- Iwasieczko B. Operation Wilanów [article in Polish]. Available online: https://docplayer.pl/150300444-Bartosz-iwasieczko-akcja-wilanow.html [Access: April 21, 2022].
- Barbara Szurig-Werner. TVP3 Warszawa. TV report [in Polish] available online: https://warszawa.tvp.pl/35874370/wawa-bohaterom [Access: April 23, 2022].
- Pietrzak A. Soldiers of the "Zośka" battalion victimized in 1944–1956 [in Polish], ed. 2, Społeczny Komitet Opieki nad Grobami Poległych Żołnierzy Batalionu "Zośka", Warszawa 2016.

C O R R E C T I O N S

In the Review entitled "Mavacamten — a new disease-specific option for pharmacological treatment of symptomatic patients with hypertrophic cardiomyopathy" (Pysz P, Rajtar-Salwa R, Smolka G, et al. Kardiol Pol. 2021; 79 [9]: 949–954) an author's affiliation was missing. The correct affiliations for Prof. Paweł Petkow-Dimitrow are:

- Department of Cardiology and Cardiovascular Interventions, University Hospital, Kraków, Poland
- 2nd Department of Cardiology, Jagiellonian University Medical College, Kraków, Poland.

The online version of the article at https://journals.viamedica.pl/kardiologia_polska is correct.

XI Zaawansowany kurs hipertensjologii dla specjalistów



Szczegółowe informacje oraz rejestracja:

www.zaawansowanykurs.viamedica.pl

ORGANIZATOR

V M VIA MEDICA PATRONAT MEDIALNY



PARTNER

闘





Konferencja jest skierowana tylko do osób uprawnionych do wystawiania recept lub osób prowadzących obrót produktami leczniczymi — podstawa prawna: ustawa z dnia 6 września 2001 r. Prawo farmaceutyczne (t.j. Dz.U. z 2020 r. poz. 944).

Repetytorium z Kardiologii i Hipertensjologii 2022



5 marca 2022 roku

🔶 LETNIE

Trójmiasto 4–5 czerwca 2022 roku

JESIENNE
Warszawa
15 października 2022 roku

Więcej informacji i rejestracja na stronie internetowej: **www.kardio.viamedica.pl**



Cykl konferencji jest skierowany do wszystkich osób zainteresowanych tematyką. Sesje satelitarne firm farmaceutycznych, sesje firm farmaceutycznych oraz wystawy firm farmaceutycznych są skierowane tylko do osób uprawnionych do wystawiania recept lub osób prowadzących obrót produktami leczniczymi — podstawa prawna: Ustawa z dnia 6 września 2001 r. Prawo farmaceutyczne (Dz. U. z 2017 r. poz. 2211. z późn. zm.).

ORGANIZATOR



BEZPŁATNE UCZESTNICTWO

PATRONAT



X Forum Chorób Sercowo-Naczyniowych z Lipidologią 2022

PRZEWODNICZĄCY KOMITETU NAUKOWEGO:

prof. dr hab. n. med. Beata Wożakowska-Kapłon prof. dr hab. n. med. Krzysztof J. Filipiak, FESC

VIRTUAL MEETING

Terminy spotkań:

- GDAŃSK 11.03.2022
- KIELCE 12.03.2022
- KRAKÓW 18.03.2022
- BYDGOSZCZ 19.03.2022
- POZNAŃ 25.03.2022
- OLSZTYN 26.03.2022
- KATOWICE 20.05.2022
- WARSZAWA 21.05.2022
- LUBLIN 30.09.2022
- BIAŁYSTOK 01.10.2022
- WROCŁAW 07.10.2022
- ŁÓDŹ 08.10.2022

www.forum.viamedica.pl



PARTNER

PATRONAT MEDIALNY





tymed



Virtual Meeting jest skierowane tylko do osób uprawnionych do wystawiania recept lub osób prowadzących obrót produktami leczniczymi — podstawa prawna: Ustawa z dnia 6 września 2001 r. Prawo farmaceutyczne (Dz. U. z 2017 r. poz. 2211. z późn. zm.).



Skrócona informacja o leku JARDIANCE®

Nazwa produktu leczniczego, dawka i postać farmaceutyczna: Jardiance" 10 mg, 25 mg tabletki powlekane. Każda tabletka zawiera 10 mg empagliflozym, Jud 25 mg empagliflozym, Jardiance" 10 mg okrąda tabletka powlekana barwy bładzółte, obustronnie wypukła zawiera 106 kato za toka tabletka zawiera 105 mg empagliflozym, Jardiance "10 mg okrąda tabletka powlekana barwy bładzółte, obustronnie wypukła tazwiera 106 kato za toka tabletka powlekane kazda tabletka powlekane kazda tabletka powlekane zawiera 106 mg empagliflozym, Jardiance" 10 mg okrąda tabletka powlekane zawiera 106 mg empagliflozym, Jardiance w za toka powlekane zawiera 106 mg empagli możym. Jardiance w za toka powlekane zawiera 106 mg empagli ma o za logo Bochnienje (Ingelima ma drugie), Każda tabletka powlekane za wytoczonym i w starcając na za logo Bochnienje, Ingelim ma na drugie (Jaugota tabletki: 11, mm, szeroksć: 5, 6 mm, Każda tabletka zawiera 106 tabletka z

Wskazanie	eGFR [ml/min/1,73 m²] lub CrCL [ml/min]	Całkowita dawka dobowa	
Cukrzyca typu 2	≥60	Rozpocząć od dawki 10 mg empagliflozyny. U pacjentów tolerujących dawkę 10 mg empagliflozyny i wymagających dodatkowej kontroli glikemii dawkę można zwiększyć do 25 mg empagliflozyny.	
	45 do <60	Rozpocząć od dawki 10 mg empagliflozyny. [±] Kontynuować stosowanie dawki 10 mg empagliflozyny u pacjentów, którzy już przyjmują produkt leczniczy Jardiance [®] .	
	30 do <45 ⁶	Rozpocząć od dawki 10 mg empagliflozyny. Kontynuować stosowanie dawki 10 mg empagliflozyny u pacjentów, którzy już przyjmują produkt leczniczy Jardiance®.	
	<30	Nie zaleca się stosowania empagliflozyny.	
Niewydolność serca (z cukrzycą	≥20	Zalecana dawka dobowa to 10 mg empagliflozyny.	
typu 2 lub bez cukrzycy typu 2)	<20	Nie zaleca się stosowania empagliflozyny.	

* Patrz punkty Specjalne ostrzeżenia i środki ostrożności dotyczące stosowania, Działania niepożądane * Pacjenci z cukrzycą typu 2 i z potwierdzoną chorobą sercowo-naczyniową

W przypadku leczenia niewydolności serca u pacjentów z cukrzycą typu 2 lub bez cukrzycy typu 2 stosowanie dawki 10 mg empagliflozyny można rozpocząć lub kontynuować leczenie do wartości eGFR równej 20 ml/min/1.73 m² lub wartości CrCl równej 20 ml/min. Nie należy stosować empagliflozyny u pacientów na zkoly mować rezenie ov narose ce in nomi z za minimi z za mowa i osece ce na mezy so sovere empoginicy ny pogeniov ze schylkową niewydolnością nerek (SNN), ani u pacjentów dializowanych. Nie ma wystarczających danych, aby uzasadnić stosowanie w tej grupie pacjentów. Upośledzenie czynności wątroby liw ma konieczności dostowania dawki u pacjentów z upośledzeniem czynności wątroby. U pacjentów z ciężkim upośledzeniem czynności wątroby le spozycja na empagliflozynę jest zwiększona. Doświadczenie w leczeniu pacjentów z ciężkim upośledzeniem czynności wątroby jest ograniczone, w związku z czym nie załeca się stosowania empagliflozyny w tej populacji pacjentów. *Dzieci ni w podeszłym wieku Ni* ki ma konieczność dostosowania dawki w zależności od wieku pacjenta. U pacjentów w wieku 75 lat i starszych należy wziąć pod uwagę zwiększone ryzyko zmniejszenia objętości płynów. *Dzieci i młodzież* Nie określono dotychczas bezpieczeństwa stosowania ani skuteczności empagliflozyny u dzieci i młodzieży. Dane nie są dostępne. Sposób podawania Tabletki moga być przyjmowane jednocześnie z posiłkiem lub niezależnie od niego. Tabletki należy połykać w całości popijając woda Przeciwwskazania: Nadwrażliwość na substancję czynną lub na którąkolwiek substancję pomocniczą wymienioną w punkcie Wykaz substancji pomocniczych ChPL. Specjalne ostrzeżenia i środki ostrożności dotyczące stosowania: <u>Kwasica ketonowa</u> U pacjentów z cukrzycą leczonych inhibitorami SGLT2, w tym empaqliflozyną, zgłaszano rzadkie przypadki kwasicy ketonowej, w tym przypadki zagrażające życiu i zakończone zgonem. W niektórych przypadkach obraz Charles and a statistical control of the plant motics is extended by a statistical control of the plant control W razie wystąpienia takich objawów należy niezwłocznie zbadać pacientów, czy nie występuje u nich kwasica ketonowa, niezależnie od stężenia glukozy we In taze mystępienia ukani obyworu naczy miesty miesty miesty bujeniowy, szy nie nystępie u mie wosta nekonowej. Niesty miesty m nach wiesty miesty ketonowych będzie prawidłowe, a stan pacjenta ustabilizuje się. Przed rozpoczęciem leczenia empagilfozyną należy rozważyć czynniki w wywiadzie predysponujące pacjenta do kwasicy ketonowej. Do pacjentów ze zwiększonym ryzykiem kwasicy ketonowej zalicza się osoby z małą rezerwą czynnościową komórek beta (np. pacjenci z cukrzycą typu 2 i małym stężeniem peptydu C lub późno ujawniającą się cukrzycą autoimmunologiczną dorosłych – ang. latent autoimmune diabetes in adults – LADA lub pacjenci z zapaleniem trzustki w wywiadzie), pacjentów ze stanami prowadzącymi do ograniczenia przyjmowania Autominia dostručni kali z ciętkim odwodnieniem pacjentów, którym zmiejszowad kawkę insuliny oraz pacjentów ze zwiększonym zapotrzebowaniem na insuline z powodu ostrej choroby, zabiegu chirurgicznego lub nadużywania alkoholu. U tych pacjentów należy ostrożnie stosować inhibitory SGLT2. Nie zaleca się wznawiania leczenia inhibitorem SGLT2 u pacjentów, u których wcześniej wystąpiła kwasica ketonowa podczas stosowania inhibitora SGLT2, chyba że And interference of the second sec z wartością eGFR poniżej 60 ml/min/1,73 m² lub CrCl <60 ml/min dawka dobowa empagliflozyny piest ograniczona do 10 mg. Nie zaleca się stosowania empagliflozyny w przypadku wartości eGFR poniżej 30 ml/min/1,73 m² lub CrCl poniżej 30 ml/min. We wskazaniu niewydolnością ecera nie zaleca się stosowania produktu leczniczego Jardiance" u pacjentów z wartością eGFR <20 ml/min/1,73 m². Nie należy stosować megagliflozyny u pacjentów z schyłkową niewydolnością neck (SNN) ani u pacjentów dializowanych. Nie ma wystarczających danych aby uzsadnić stosowanie w tej grupie pacjentów. Monitzowanie <u>czynności nerek</u> Załęca się ocenę czynności nerek w następujący sposób: przed rozpoczęciem leczenia empagliflozyną i okresowo podczas leczenia, tem najmniej raz na rok; przed rozpoczęciem leczenia jakimkolwiek innym jednocześnie stosowanym produktem leczniczym, który może mieć niekorzystny wpływ na czynność nerek. <u>Ryzyko zmniejszenia objętości płynów</u> Z uwagi na mechanizm działania inhibitorów SGLT2, diureza osmotyczna towarzysząca glukozurii może spowodować nieznacznie zmniejszenie ciśnienia krwi. W związku z tym należy zachować ostrożność u pacjentów, dla których taki spadek ciśnienia krwi spowodowany przez empaglifikozynę mógłby stanowić zagrożenie, takich jak pacjenci z rozpoznaną chorobą układu krążenia, pacjeni stosujący leczenie przeciwnadciśnieniowe z epizodami niedociśnienia w wywiadzie lub pacjenci w wieku 75 i więcej lat. W przypadku stanów, które mogą prowadzić do utraty płynów przez organizm (np. choroba przewodu pokarmowego) zaleca się dokładne monitorowanie stanu nawodnienia (np. badanie przedmiotowe, pomiar y jour province w strawnie w strawnie w strawn w Straisnia krwy, i stry laboratoryjne w kłąznie z oznaczeniem hematokryt bi strzenia elektrolitów u padjentów przyjmujących empagliflozyme. Należy u czważy tymczasowe w strzymanie leczenia empagliflozymą do czasu wyrównania utraty płynów. <u>Pacjenci w podeszłym wieku</u> Wpływ empagliflozyme w awydałanie glukozy z moczem związany jest z diurezą osmotyczną, co może mieć wpływ na stan nawodnienia. Pacjenci w wieku 75 twięcej lat mogą być w większym stopniu zagrożeni wystąpieniem zmniejszenia objętości płynów. Większa liczba takich pacjentów leczonych empagliflozyną miała działania niepożądane stopina zajvezni ny zapisnim nimi przemio objętość py now niękzeż niedza nie zastwar posychie w costy i czesty i czest moczopędne, inhibitory ACE). <u>Powiklane zakażenia dróg moczowych</u> U pacjentów otrzymujących empagliflozynę zgłaszano przypadki powiklanych zakażeń dróg moczowych, w tym odmiedniczkowe zapalenie nerek i posocznice moczopochodna. Należy rozważyć tymczasowe wstrzymanie leczenia empagliflozyna u ugo mocupy original meneralizativne zapanienie retecki posocianne mocuportowają nareży to wraz y to mocasowe nast zapanienie recenia e impaginimez jiną u pacjentów z powikłanym zakażeniem dróg moczowych. <u>Martiwicze zapalenie powięzi krocca i zgorzel Fourniera</u>) zgłaszano przypadki martwiczego zapalenie powięzi krocza (znanego także jako zgorzel Fourniera u pacjentów plći żeńskiej i męskiej z ukrzycą przyjmujących inhibitory SGI Z. Jest to rzadkie, ale ciężkie i mogące zagrażać życiu zdarzenie, które wymaga pilnej interwencji chirurgicznej i antybiotykoterapii. Pacjentom należy zalecić, aby zgłosili się do lekarza, jeśl wystąbi u nich zespół oblawów, takich jak bół, wrażliwość na dotyk, rumień lub obrzęk w okolicy zewnętrznych narządów picłowych lub krocza, z jednoczesną gorączką lub uczuciem rozbicia. Należy pamiętać o tym, że martwicze zapalenie powięzi może być poprzedzone zakażeniem narządów układu moczowo-piciowego lub ropniem krocza. Jeśli podejrzewa się wystąpienie zgorzeli Fourniera, należy przerwać stosowanie produktu lardiance[®] niezwłocznie rozpoczać leczenie (w tym antybiotykoterapie oraz chirurgiczne opracowanie zmian chorobowych). Amputacje w obrebie kończyn dolnych W długoterminowych naproząteczenie (w tyriani y but y kolegaje wazkumi w jednie polacowanie zmiani tronowowych, <u>mnoprache w tyria z wodze konkrzy</u> do jednie za konkrzy w trok w tyria za konkrzy w Za konkrzy w tyria za kon prominstrych przystawa pod zakowania protoży z przewiekta protoży z produktych przewiekta przez produktych przyszymow z przewiekta przewiekt Przewiekta prz bardziej skuteczne u pacjentów z albuminuria. Choroba naciekowa lub kardiomiopatia takotsubo Nie prowadzono specyficznych badań u pacjentów z choroba unitació wy takie na porcinicio z dosimino za transversiona za provincio za posicio za provincio na porcinica y anticio de la porcinica y de la porcinica y anticio de la p nie jest miarodajne w ocenie kontroli glikemii u pacjentów przyjmujących inhibitory SGLT2. Załeca się stosowanie innych metod monitorowania kontroli glikemii. <u>Laktoza</u> Tabletki produktu leczniczego zawierają laktozę. Produkt leczniczy nie powinien być stosowany u pacjentów z rzadko występującą dziedziczną nietolerancją galaktozy, brakiem laktazy lub zespołem zlego wchlaniania glukozy-galaktozy. <u>Sód</u> Każda tabletka zawiera mniej niż 1 mmol (23 mg) sodu, to znaczy lek uznaje się za "wolny od sodu". Działania niepożadane: Podsumowanie profilu bezpieczeństwa Cukrzyca typu 2 Łacznie 15 582 pacientów z cukrzyca anaczy rewaniaje się za "woniy do sobo – szanama metpoządone – <u>robolni wywine promu u zapieczeni w tawa za warzy u prze z do nie 15 soż</u> pojeniu w z konzy o typu z wziejo udziel w badaniach klinicznych oceniających bezpieczeństwo stosowania e mpagilifozyny, z czego 1000 pagientów otrzymywało empagilifozynę w monoterapii lub w skojarzeniu z metforminą, pochodną sulfonylomocznika, pioglitazone, inhibitorami DPP-4 lub insuliną. W 6 badaniach przeprowadzonych z kontrolą placebo trwających od 18 do 24 tygodni wzięło udział 3 534 pacientów, z których 1 183 otrzymywało placebo, a 2 351 – empagilifozynę. Ogólna częstość występowania zdarzeń niepożądanych u pacietów leczonych empagilifizzyną była podobna do częstość w grupie otrzymującej placebo. Najczęście obserwowanym działaniem niepożądanym była hipoglikemia przy stosowaniu w skojarzeniu z pochodną sulfonylomocznik a lubi nisulina. <u>Miewydolności serca</u> Do badań EMPEROR Wądczono pacjentów z niewydolnością sercai zredukowaną frakcją wyrzutową (N=3 726) lub zachowaną frakcją wyrzutową (N=3 985), Którzy otrzymywali leczenie 10 mg enaglifozyny lub placebo. U około polowy pacjentów występowala cutrzyca typu z. Najczęście zgłaszanym działaniem niepożądanym łącznie w badaniach EMPEROR-Reduced i EMPEROR-Preserved było zmniejszenie objętości płynów (10 mg empagliflozyny: 11,4%; placebo:

9,7%). Ogólny profil bezpieczeństwa stosowania empagliflozyny był zasadniczo spójny w badanych wskazaniach. <u>Wykaz działań niepożądanych w postaci</u> <u>tabeli</u> W poniższej tabeli prześtstwiono działania niepożądane – sklasyfikowane według grup układowo-narządowych oraz według preferowanych terminów MedDRA – zgłaszane u pacjentów, którzy otrzymali empagliflozyny w badaniach prowadzonych z kontrolą placebo (Tabela 2). Działania niepożądane sz wymienione według bezwzględnej częstości występowania. Częstości występowania żdefniowana jest następująco: bardzo często (> 1/10); często (> 1/10) do < 1/100); niezbyt często (> 1/100 do < 1/1000 do < 1/1000), bardzo rzadko (< 1/10 000), nieznana (częstość nie może być określona na podstawie dostępnych danych). Tabela 2: Wykaz działań niepożądanych (MedDRA) obserwowanych w badaniach prowadzonych z kontrolą placebo i zołosowych opo wtrowadzeniu produktu do botru, w ostaci tabeli

Klasyfikacja układów i narzadów	Bardzo często	Często	Niezbyt często	Rzadko	Bardzo rzadko
Zakażenia i zarażenia pasożytnicze		kandydoza pochwy, zapalenie pochwy i sromu, zapalenie żołędzi i inne zakażenia narządów płciowych' zakażenie dróg moczowych (w tym odmiedniczkowe zapalenie nerek i posocznica moczowychodna) ⁴		martwicze zapalenie powięzi krocza (zgorzel Fourniera)*	
Zaburzenia metabolizmu i odżywiania	hipoglikemia (przy stosowaniu w skojarzeniu z pochodną sulfonylomocznika lub insuliną) ^a	pragnienie	cukrzycowa kwasica ketonowa*		
Zaburzenia żołądka i jelit		zaparcie			
Zaburzenia skóry i tkanki podskórnej		świąd (uogólniony) wysypka	pokrzywka obrzęk naczynioruchowy		
Zaburzenia naczyniowe	zmniejszenie objętości płynów ^a				
Zaburzenia nerek i dróg moczowych		zwiększone oddawanie moczu ^a	dyzuria		cewkowo- -śródmiąższowe zapalenie nerek
Badania diagnostyczne		zwiększenie stężenia lipidów w surowicy ^a	zwiększenie stężenia kreatyniny we krwi i (lub) zmniejszenie współczynnika filtracji kłębuszkowej ^a zwiększenie hematokrytu ³		

patrz dodatkowe informacje podane poniżej * patrz punkt Specjalne ostrzeżenia i środki ostrożności dotyczące stosowania

Opis wybranych działań niepożadanych Hipoglikemia Częstość występowania hipoglikemii zależała od leczenia podstawowego stosowanego w poszczególnych u oprozna za na prozna Na prozna za n Prozna za na prozna za na prozna za na prozna za na prozna prozna za na prozna z Prozna za na prozna z Creational or portex in their storeman subjection and subjectio 28,4%; placebo: 20,6% w ciągu pierwszych 18 tygodni leczenia, gdy nie można było dostosowywać dawki insuliny; 10 mgi 25 mg empagliflozym: 26,5% placebo: 35,3% w ciągu 78 tygodni badania) i jako leczenie skojarzone z insuliną MDI w skojarzeniu z metforminą lub bez niej (empagliflozyna 10 mg: 39,8%, empagliflozyna 25 mg: 41,3%, placebo: 37,2% podczas pierwszych 18 tygodni leczenia, gdy nie można było dostosować dawki insuliny; empagliflozyna 10 mg: 51,1%, empagliflozyna 25 ma; 57,7%, placebo; 58% w ciagu 52 tygodni badania). W badaniach niewydolności serca EMPEROR obserwowano podobną częstoś 5) rycepnyania kyna z may zy zy na pieceso z ow w dagó z z ysoum zoumania, in zoumachnik w ysoumach za tek na pieceso z z ysou w dagó z z ysoum zoumania, in zoumachnik w ysoumach z z ysou z y w porównaniu do placebo, w monoterapii, w leczeniu skojarzonym z metforminą, w leczeniu skojarzonym z metforminą i pochodą sulfonylomocznika, w porvinnima od praceto, w iniciocapie, w rececima soprazoji z incrostinija z meconima z mecon Meconima z me opódstawową w skojarzeniu z metforminą lub bez niej oraz w skojarzeniu z pochodną sulfonylomocznika lub bez niego (10 mg empagliflozyny; 0%; 25 mg empagliflozyny; 1,3%; placebo: 0% w ciągu pierwszych 18 tygodni leczenia, gdy nie można było dostosowywać dawki insuliny; 10 mg empagliflozyny; 0%; 25 mg empagliflozyny; 1,3%; placebo: 0% w ciągu 78 tygodni badania) i jako leczenie skojarzone z insuliną MDI w skojarzeniu z metforminą lub bez niego (empagliflozyna 10 mg: 0.5%, empagliflozyna 25 mg: 0.5%, placebo: 0.5% podczas pierwszych 18 tygodni leczenia, gdy nie można było dostosować dawk (cmpagina mig-us), cmpaginacyna 2 mg 0,5% piactou 0,5% piacebor 1,6% w ciagu 52 tygodni badania). W badaniach dotyczących niewyddiności insuliny: empaglificzym 10 mg - 1,6%, empaglificzym 25 mg 0,5%, placebor 1,6% w ciagu 52 tygodni badania). W badaniach dotyczących niewyddiności serca EMPEROR (ciężką hipoglikemię obserwowano z podobną częstością wysiępowania u pagientów z cukrzycą podzas lecenia empaglificzym i placebo w skojarzeniu z sulfonylomocznikiem lub insuliną (10 mg empaglificzymy: 2,2%, placebor 1,9%). <u>Kandydoza pochwy zapolenie pochwy i sromu, zapolenie żołędzi</u> n s*koja ze čina z suomojomiczi nikelim ud instanija (ub nje impoginou ji) z z za njenecou i, 7 nj<u>e nimer pozed pozim z zapreti pozim zapreti na zakože</u>nia narządów plciowych było yberewowane i <u>nime zakażenia na zakożenia zakoże zakoje zakoje s stanijska se stanijska je na zakażenia narządów plciowych było yberewowane</u> częściej u pacjentów leczonych empagilflozyną (10 mg empagilflozyny: 4,0%; 25 mg empagilflozyną s 39%) w porównaniu z pacientami u trzymującymi placko (1,0%). Zakażenia takie obserwowano częściej u kobiet leczonych empagilflozyną w porównaniu z placebo. Różnica ta była mniej wyraźna w przypadku* ny zakradni da na zrądów pickowych miały nasilenie łagodne lub umiarkowane. W badaniach dotyczących niewydolności sera EMPERDR częstość występowania tego typu zakażeń pickowych miały nasilenie łagodne lub umiarkowane. W badaniach dotyczących niewydolności sera EMPERDR częstość występowania tego typu zakażeń była większa u pacjentów z cukrzycą (10 mg empagliflozyny: 2,3%, placebo: 0,8%) niż u pacjentów bez cukrzycy (10 mg empagliflozyny: 1,7%, placebo 0,7%) w trakcie leczenia empagliflozyną w porównaniu z placebo. <u>Zwiększone oddawanie moczu</u> Zwiększone oddawanie moczu (obeimujące określone wcześniej takie terminy jak częstomocz, wielomocz i oddawanie moczu w nocy) były obserwowane częściej u pacientów leczonych empaglificzyną (10 mg empaglificzyny: 3,5%; 25 mg empaglificzyny: 3,3%) w porównaniu z pacjentami otrzymującymi placebo (1,4%). Wwiększone oddawań moczu miało przeważnie nasilenie łagodne lub umiarkowane. Obserwowana częstość oddawania moczu w nocy była podobna dla empaglificzyny i dla placebo (< 1%). W badaniach niewydolności serca EMPEROR zwiększone oddawanie moczu obserwowano z podobną częstością występowania u pacjentów leczonych na paglifikozyna i placebo (10 mg empaglifikozyny: 0.9%, placebo 0.5%). <u>Zakażenie dróg moczowych</u> Ogólna częstość występowania zakażeń dróg moczowych zgłaszanych jako zdarzenie niepożądane była podobna u pacjentów otrzymujących 25 mg empaglifikozyny i placebo (7,0% i 7,2%), i wyższa u pacjentów otrzymujących 10 mg empaglifikozyny (8,8%). Podobnie jak w przypadku placebo, zakażenia dróg moczowych były zgłaszane częściej u pacjentów leczonych oto j miętych o na przewiektym lub nawcającymi zakżeniami dróg moczowych w wywiadzie. Kasilenie (łagoke, umiarkowane, cięża je posicio z naciony o moczowych było podobne u pacjentów otrzymujących empagliflozynę i placebo. Zakażenia dróg moczowych były zgłaszane częściej u kobiet leczonych empagliflozyną w porównaniu z placebo; nie było takiej różnicy w przypadku mężczym. <u>Zmniejszenie objętości płynów</u> Ogólna częstość występowania zmniejszenia objętości płynów (obejmującego określone wcześniej takie terminy jąk spądek ciśnienią krwi (określony ambulatoryjnie), spądek skurczowego zamiejzenia wyjeski pi niow (worjinującego wiesione wczenie j sakretenimi jak spacek Santenia w (wnesiow) aniomatoji mie, spacek Santerwego ścienia ktwi, odwodnienie, niedocinienie, hipowolemia, hipotonia ortsztyczna oraz omdlenie) była podobna u pacjentów otrzymujących empagilflozynę (10 mg empagilflozyny: 0,5%; 25 mg empagilflozyny: 0,4%) i placebo (0,3%). Częstość występowania zmiejszenia objętość i płynów była zwiększona u pacjentów w wieku 75 lat i starszych leczonych empagilflozyną (10 mg empagilflozyny: 2,3%; 25 mg empagilflozyny: 4,3%) w porównaniu z pacjentami o przymującymi pisacebo (2,1%). Zwiększenie stężenia kreatyminy we krwi (1/bb) obniżenie współczymnika filtracji klębuszkowej Ogólna częstość występowania przypadków zwiększenia stężenia kreatyminy we krwi i obniżenie współczynnika filtracji klębuszkowej była podobna u pacjentów otrzymujących empagliflozynę lub placebo (zwiększenie stężenia kreatyniny: empagliflozyna 10 mg 0,6%, empagliflozyna 25 mg 0,1%, placebo 0,5%; zmniejszenie szybkości filtracji u o piece o province i maguli na postava n I u postava na postava n I u postava na postava empagliflozna obserwowano występujący początkowo spadek eGFR (średnia: 3 m/min/1,73 m²). Następnie wartość eGFR utrzymywała się w czasie trwania leczenia, Srednia wartość eGFR powracłał do wartości początkowej po zakończeniu leczenia, co sugeruje, że w patogenezie tych zmian czymościowych nerek mogą odgrywać rolę ostre zmiany hemodynamiczne. Zwjększenie st<u>reienia lipidów w surwicy</u> Srednie zwiększenie procentowe od punktu początkowej do 10 mgi 25 mg empagliflozyny w porównaniu z placebo wynoślo odpowiechnio dla cholesterolu całkowitego 4,9% i 5,7% w porównaniu z 3,5%, dla cholesterolu biologi z zmig singgi my ny boromaniu z 0,9 % dla cholesterolu LDI 9,5% i 10,0% w porównaniu z 7,5%, dla trójglicerydów 9,2% i 9,9% w porównaniu z 0,5%, <u>Zwiększenie wrotoci hematokrytu</u> Średnia zmiana wartości hematokrytu od punktu początkowego wynosiła odpowiednio 3,4% i 3,6% dla 10 mg i 25 mg empagliflozyny w porównaniu z 0,1% dla placebo. W badaniu EMPA-REG Outcome wartości hematokrytu powróciły do wartości wyjściowych po 30-dniowym chrysianiczy w powiad z przed powiad z przed pod zakowa na obad w pod powiad powia Powiad powi Powiad powia Monitorowania Niepożądanych Działań Produktów Leczniczych Urzędu Rejestracji Produktów Leczniczych, Wyrobów Medycznych i Produktów Biobójczych Market and the second secon 173, 55216 Ingelheim am Rhein, Niemcy. Numery pozwoleń na dopuszczenie do obrotu: Jardiance[®] 10 mg tabletki powlekane: EU/1/14/930/013 (28 tabletek), Jardiance[®] 10 mg tabletki powlekane: EU/1/14/930/014 (30 tabletek) wydane przez komisję Wspólnot Europejskich. Data zatwierdzenia lub częściowej zmiany tekstu ChPL O amacz 2022 Kategoria dostępności[®] Produkt lecniczy wydawany na receptę – Rp. Cena urzędowa detaliczna: Jardiance[®] 10 mg z 28 tabl. – 170,38 zł. Wysokość Goplaty pacjenta: 54,00 zł we wskazaniach: <-1 > Cukrzyca typu z, u pacjentów przed włączeniem insuliny. dla meżczyzn. > 60 lat dla kobiet.-dyslipidemia.-nadciśnienie tetnicze.-palenie tytoniu.-otykość: <2> Przewlekła niewydolność serca u dorosłych pacientów automatica spiration of the spiration obwieszczenia Ministra Zdrowia z dnia 20 kwietnia 2022 r. w sprawie wykazu refundowanych leków, środków spożywczych specjalnego przeznaczenia żywieniowego oraz wyrobów medycznych na 1 maja 2022 r. (DZ. URZ. Min. Zdr. 2022.41).



PATRONAT MERYTORYCZNY



VII Konferencja CARDIOLIPID

pod patronatem

Sekcji Farmakoterapii Sercowo-Naczyniowej Polskiego Towarzystwa Kardiologicznego

GDYNIA, 9-10 WRZEŚNIA 2022 ROKU

Przewodniczący Komitetu Naukowego:

prof. dr hab. n. med. Krzysztof J. Filipiak, FESC dr hab. n. med. Iwona Gorczyca-Głowacka



www.cardiolipid.viamedica.pl

ORGANIZATOR

PATRONAT MEDIALNY

PARTNER

V M VIA MEDICA

tvmed

Konferencja jest skierowana tylko do osób uprawnionych do wystawiania recept lub osób prowadzących obrót produktami leczniczymi — podstawa prawna: ustawa z dnia 6 września 2001 r. Prawo farmaceutyczne (t.j. Dz.U. z 2020 r. poz. 944).



Jardiance® (empagliflozyna)



"Przewlekła niewydolność serca u dorosłych pacjentów z obniżoną frakcją wyrzutową lewej komory serca (LVEF ≤ 40%) oraz utrzymującymi się objawami choroby w klasie II-IV NYHA pomimo zastosowania terapii opartej na ACEi (lub ARB/ARNi) i lekach z grupy beta-adrenolityków oraz jeśli wskazane antagonistach receptora mineralokortykoidów"

Poziom odpłatności¹:



Cena dla pacjenta¹:





HFrEF – niewydolność serca z obniżoną frakcją wyrzutową; LVEF – frakcja wyrzutowa lewej komory.

Obwieszczenie Ministra Zdrowia z dnia 20 kwietnia 2022 r. w sprawie wykazu refundowanych leków, środków spożywczych specjalnego przeznaczenia żywieniowego oraz wyrobów medycznych na 1 maja 2022 r. (DZ. URZ. Min. Zdr. 2022.41).

Boehringer Ingelheim Sp. z o.o., ul. Franciszka Klimczaka 1, 02-797 Warszawa, tel.: (22) 699 0 699, fax: (22) 699 0 698 www.boehringer-ingelheim.pl • info.waw@boehringer-ingelheim.com PC-PL-103213

